~ ~

KENT AND MEDWAY STROKE REVIEW JOINT HEALTH
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Friday, 14th December, 2018

2.00 pm

Council Chamber - Sessions House, Maidstone,
Kent, ME14 1XQ

N !

East Sussex
County Council

ey
A AR

Kent P§- ;
Co%ntE Medway

COunCII L) I- COUNCIL
kent.gov.uk i’ ) Serving You

70’ LONDON BOROUGH OF

WA BEXLEY



https://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwj-9eOI2uTbAhXE1hQKHadrA0MQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://twitter.com/eastsussexcc&psig=AOvVaw3iS1ln-maRLWXy5S8D_a6E&ust=1529668674186107
http://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjV0a742uTbAhUElxQKHYS1BsAQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=http://www.boroughphotos.org/bexley/&psig=AOvVaw2lnHN9f3G-y3hCCtOzTG3B&ust=1529668919140962
https://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjp7qP_2-TbAhVFvBQKHS6pDKkQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://www.kentinvictachamber.co.uk/events/kicc-start-medway-3-day-business-start-up-course-33/&psig=AOvVaw2qTkO4cplBko6B9axcflev&ust=1529669121846975




East Sussex

Kent ) County Council a

3 A B0 op
County . Medway w e, LONDON BOROUGH OF
Counail | e

YN MABEXLEY

kent.gov.uk SEWing You

AGENDA

KENT AND MEDWAY STROKE REVIEW JOINT HEALTH OVERVIEW
AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Friday, 14th December, 2018, at 2.00 pm Ask for: Jill Kennedy-Smith
Council Chamber - Sessions House Telephone: 03000 416343

Tea/coffee will be available 15 minutes before the start of the meeting

Membership
Kent County Council (4) Mr P Bartlett, Mrs S Chandler, Ida Linfield, Mr K Pugh
Medway Council (4) Clir T Murray, Clir W Purdy, Clir D Royle, Clir D Wildey

East Sussex County Council (2) Clir C Belsey, Clir J Howell

Bexley Council (2) Clir R Diment, Clir A Downing

Webcasting Notice

Please note: this meeting may be filmed for the live or subsequent broadcast via the
Council’s internet site or by any member of the public or press present. The Chair will
confirm if all or part of the meeting is to be filmed by the Council.

By entering into this room you are consenting to being filmed. If you do not wish to have
your image captured please let the Clerk know immediately.

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public)

ltem
1.  Substitutes

2. Declarations of Interests by Members in items on the Agenda for this
meeting


https://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjp7qP_2-TbAhVFvBQKHS6pDKkQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://www.kentinvictachamber.co.uk/events/kicc-start-medway-3-day-business-start-up-course-33/&psig=AOvVaw2qTkO4cplBko6B9axcflev&ust=1529669121846975
https://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwj-9eOI2uTbAhXE1hQKHadrA0MQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://twitter.com/eastsussexcc&psig=AOvVaw3iS1ln-maRLWXy5S8D_a6E&ust=1529668674186107
http://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjV0a742uTbAhUElxQKHYS1BsAQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=http://www.boroughphotos.org/bexley/&psig=AOvVaw2lnHN9f3G-y3hCCtOzTG3B&ust=1529668919140962

3. Minutes (Pages 5 - 18)

Members are asked to approve the minutes of the following meetings
as a correct record:

e 5July 2018
e 5 September 2018

4. Kent and Medway Stroke Review (Pages 19 - 324)

e NHS Report (pages 25 - 45)

¢ Draft Decision-Making Business Case — unvalidated and as such
will be subject to change (pages 47 - 229)

¢ Integrated Impact Assessment (pages 231 — 287)

e South East Clinical Senate Review (pages 289 - 324)

5. Date of the next programmed meeting - To be confirmed

EXEMPT ITEMS

(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items. During any such items
which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public)

*Timings are approximate

Benjamin Watts
General Counsel
03000 416814

06 December 2018

Please note that any background documents referred to in the accompanying papers
maybe inspected by arrangement with the officer responsible for preparing the relevant
report.



Agenda Item 3

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

KENT AND MEDWAY STROKE REVIEW JOINT HEALTH OVERVIEW AND
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

MINUTES of a meeting of the Kent and Medway Stroke Review Joint Health
Overview and Scrutiny Committee held in the Council Chamber - Sessions
House, Maidstone on Thursday, 5 July 2018.

PRESENT: Mrs S Chandler (Chair), Clir D Wildey (Vice-Chair), Mr P Bartlett, Clir
C Belsey, Mr D S Daley (Substitute) (Substitute for Ida Linfield), Clir R Diment,
Clir A Downing, Clir J Howell, Clir T Murray, Mr K Pugh, Clir W Purdy and Clir D
Royle

ALSO PRESENT: Mr S Inett and Mr Chris McKenzie

IN ATTENDANCE: Ms L Adam (Scrutiny Research Officer), Mr J Pitt (Democratic
Services Officer, Medway Council), Ms L Peek and Mr H Winder (Democratic
Services Officer, East Sussex County Council)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

Membership
(ltem 1)

(1) Members of the Kent & Medway Stroke Review Joint Health Overview and
Scrutiny Committee noted the membership listed on the Agenda.

Election of Chair
(Item 2)

(1) Clir Wildey proposed and Mr Pugh seconded that Mrs Chandler be elected as
Chair of the Committee.

(2) RESOLVED that Mrs Chandler be elected as Chair.

Election of Vice-Chair
(ltem 3)

(1) The Chair proposed and Clir Diment seconded that Clir Wildey be elected as
Vice-Chair of the Committee.

(2) RESOLVED that Clir Wildey be elected as Vice-Chair.

Page 5



Declarations of Interests by Members in items on the Agenda for this
meeting
(ltem 5)

(1) There were no declarations of interest.

Kent and Medway Stroke Review
(Item 6)

(1) The Chair noted that the meeting was being held on the 70t anniversary of the
launch of the NHS on 5 July 1948 which provided the Committee with the
opportunity to reflect on its achievements in delivering significant medical
advances and improvements to the nation's health and to thank NHS staff for
their hard work and dedication in delivering care to patients.

(2) Clir Purdy added her thanks to past and present Members involved in health
scrutiny.

(a) Minutes of the Kent and Medway NHS Joint Overview and
Scrutiny Committee held on 22 January 2018 (for information)
(ltem 6a)

(1) RESOLVED that the minutes of the Kent and Medway NHS Joint
Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 22 January 2018 be
noted.

(b) Terms of Reference for Kent and Medway Stroke Review Joint
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee
(ltem 6b)

(1) RESOLVED that the Terms of Reference for Kent and Medway
Stroke Review Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee be
noted.

(c) Local Authorities' responses to Kent & Medway Stroke Review
Public Consultation
(ltem 6¢)

(1) RESOLVED the responses to the public consultation from Bexley
Council’'s People Overview and Scrutiny Committee; East Sussex
County Council's Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee; Medway
Council’'s Cabinet; Medway Council’'s Health & Wellbeing Board; and
Our Healthier South East London Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny

Page 6



(d)

Committee be noted.

Stroke Review Post-Consultation Update
(Item 6d)

Patricia Davies (Senior Responsible Officer, Kent & Medway Stroke Review)
and Steph Hood (STP Communications and Engagement Lead, Kent &
Medway STP) were in attendance.

(1)

(@)

(3)
report:

(4)
report:

The Chair stated that the Stroke Consultation Analysis and Activity
Reports had been added to the agenda, via a supplement, as she
had agreed that they should be considered at this meeting as a
matter of urgency, as permitted under section 100B of the Local
Government Act 1972. She explained that this was to enable the
Committee to consider the reports and to avoid any possible delay in
this; the reports were not available for despatch as part of the main
agenda on 27 June 2018 as they required consideration at an NHS
Committee which took place on 28 June 2018.

The Chair welcomed the guests to the Committee. Ms Davies and
Ms Hood began by stating that the two reports covered the public
consultation activity and independent analysis of the feedback. Ms
Davies noted that the formal public consultation on five three-site
options had lasted for 11 weeks.

Ms Hood highlighted the following key themes from the activity

= The consultation had the potential to have been seen by 2 million
people which had exceeded the target; the total registered
population of Kent & Medway, Bexley and High Weald Lewes
Havens was 2.2 million.

= 5000 responses to the consultation were received which had
exceeded the target. Response mechanisms included emails,
questionnaires, social media, listening events, focus groups,
telephone surveys and outreach engagement with hard-to-reach
groups. She noted that a petition with 3500 signatures had also
been received.

Ms Hood highlighted the following key themes from the analysis

= The maijority of responses supported the establishment of a
hyper acute stroke units (HASUs) in Kent & Medway

= Respondents felt that the two most important questions to ask, in
order to assess the proposals, were whether it would improve the
quality and access to specialist urgent stroke services.

= Respondents understood the reasoning for having three units;
some felt that staffing should not be a driver in decision-making
and many felt that four units would provide fairer access.

Page 7



®)

(6)

(7)

= The key area of concerns were location and travel times to units
particularly in the Thanet area

= Respondents were asked to rank the five options. Whilst option A
(Darent Valley, Medway Maritime and William Harvey Hospitals)
was the most preferred option followed by option B (Darent
Valley, Maidstone and William Harvey Hospitals); the rankings for
all options were close. Respondents indicated that their preferred
option included their favoured hospital and had the greatest
potential reach. She noted that the consultation was not a vote
but provided an important opportunity to gain insight and receive
feedback from local people.

= A number of people in CT postcode area did not feel any of the
five options were suitable and requested that Kent & Canterbury
and the Queen Elizabeth The Queen Mother Hospitals be
reconsidered.

= Concerns about aftercare, rehabilitation and prevention were also
raised.

Ms Hood concluded that the consultation was felt to have gathered a
representative view from the local communities; the consultation was
delivered as planned and exceeded its targets in terms of reach and
response; and the views had been triangulated with consistent
themes and feedback being received across all the engagement
methods and communities.

Ms Davies explained the next steps; all the data would be reviewed,
including the need to consider any alternative options and their
viability; financial activity; travel times; and workforce, prior to the
identification of a preferred option by the Joint CCG Committee
(JCCCG) in 8 — 9 weeks. She assured the Committee that
mitigations to address concerns raised by stakeholders and
members of the public were being developed.

Members enquired about prevalence and incidences of stroke in
relation to deprivation, and travel times. Ms Davies explained that
prevalence was the likelihood of developing ill health which
deprivation influenced and caused whilst incidence was the
frequency of stroke which increased with age. She noted that the
incidences of stroke were lower in the Thanet area. She stated the
importance of prevention in reducing prevalence and incidences of
stroke through methods such as weight loss and blood pressure
reduction. Ms Davies confirmed that SECAmb had provided
assurance that they would be able to get to 99% of the population to
the five options within 60 minutes; she recognised that travel times
was still a concern for members of the public. She noted that a report
by University College London about the implementation of stroke
service reconfigurations in London and Greater Manchester, which
included urban and rural areas, had concluded that the centralisation
of stroke services reduced deaths; only 15% of patients required
thrombolysis so a whole system model, which included a range of
services such speech & language assessments and chest x-rays,
was required. She highlighted that the travel times would be rerun as
part of the decision making.

Page 8



(8)

9)

(10)

Members commented about the importance of local rehabilitation. Ms
Hood noted that detailed clinical pathways would be developed as
part of the implementation planning. Ms Davies explained that a
rehabilitation sub-group, made up of clinicians and patients, had
been established. The sub-group had linked with Greater
Manchester; the key learning was the development of integrated
rehabilitation service as part of implementation planning. Ms Davies
noted that the JCCCG would make recommendations to the
commissioners about the rehabilitation pathway. In response to a
Member’s suggestion that rehabilitation services should be prioritised
in Thanet, Ms Hood welcomed the proposal and noted that
mitigations to address concerns raised during the public consultation
would be considered by the JCCCG.

Members asked about providing safe services in the interim and
workforce. Ms Davies stated that whilst it was important to make the
decision soon particularly in terms of staffing, due process needed to
be followed. She reported that the Clinical Reference Group was
looking at maintaining safety and standards in the current system in
addition to implementation planning. Ms Davies acknowledged that
workforce was challenging; evidence from stroke centralisations in
Greater Manchester, London and Northumbria had shown
improvements to workforce. She noted that whilst two units in Kent &
Medway would have been sufficient in terms of patient volumes, it
would have been challenging in terms of access, travel and
resilience. She acknowledged that staffing more than two units was
more challenging. She reported that the workforce group was
engaging with unions, HR directors and staff themselves to support
existing staff and retain their skills. She stated that if staff were
unable to move, their skills could be utilised in a different way such
as a network model for smaller specialities. She noted that the
establishment of the medical school would be helpful in terms of
staffing and the inclusion of deliverability as an evaluation criteria.
Clir Belsey noted that East Sussex had been involved in similar
reconfigurations within East Sussex and Brighton and had seen
evidence of improved quality of service including improved
recruitment.

Members commented about unique social media responses,
distribution of flyers and the completion of the online questionnaire.
Ms Hood noted that the company commissioned to analyse the data
had reviewed it very thoroughly; she could not guarantee that all
responses were unique. She noted that there was an ongoing
dialogue with a number of people who were very engaged in the
process. She recognised that it was important to hear all views
including those not engaged with the process; a telephone survey
had been commissioned to capture a representative view. Ms Hood
reported that there had been a request for a flyer to be distributed to
all homes. She stated that this request had to be balanced against
budget. It was therefore agreed that a flyer would be sent to 98,000
households who were most affected by extended travel time. Ms
Hood stated that the response target had been exceeded and was
pleased with the response to online questionnaire as there was lots
of information for the respondent to work through. She highlighted

Page 9



(11)

(12)

(13)

that the online questionnaire was one of many mechanisms to
respond to the consultation.

Members enquired about the use of NHS logo by a campaign group,
the number of East Sussex residents who responded to the
telephone survey and preferences of respondents from RH and BN
postcode areas. With regards to the use of NHS logo on a petition by
a campaign group, Ms Hood stated that the petition provided an
opportunity to hear local feedback and indicate strength of feeling.
She stated that there had been engagement with the campaign
group and a response to the petition had been provided. Ms Davies
noted that a meeting between the commissioners and the campaign
group had been offered, and still stood, but had not yet been taken
up. Ms Hood explained that 169 out of 701 responses to the
telephone survey were from East Sussex. Ms Hood committed to
sharing the postcode preferences of respondents from RH and BN
postcode areas with Clir Belsey.

Members commented about London Ambulance Service (LAS),
consultation feedback on Darent Valley Hospital and the importance
of friends and family supporting recovery. Ms Davies confirmed that
the LAS had provided a response to the public consultation and were
involved in the data analysis. She reported that LAS would prefer to
convey patients with the London area but would convey patients to
Darent Valley as they currently do for several medical and surgical
reasons. She noted that the data for travel and ambulance response
times were being rerun and being checked by providers. With
regards to consultation feedback that suggested that Darent Valley
Hospital did not need a HASU due to its adjacency to Princess Royal
University Hospital, Ms Hood noted that this was a perception of
respondents and adjacency was subjective. Ms Davies noted that
mitigations to support carers, from harder to reach groups and those
in financial difficulties, with travel were being considered.

Members asked about the number of units following the inclusion of
Bexley and East Sussex areas, population growth and impact of
SECAmb performance on responses to public consultation. Ms
Davies explained that throughout the review stroke activity provided
at each site, which included patients from border areas accessing
services in Kent & Medway, had been taken into account and a
review of additional units for these areas was therefore not required.
Ms Hood clarified that it was not all stroke patients in Bexley or East
Sussex who would be using a new service in Kent and Medway, it
would only be those patients living close to the Kent boundary who
would be closer to a Kent and Medway Hospital. Ms Davies
confirmed that there had been disease profiling and engagement
with Borough Councils and KCC about population growth over the
next 5 — 10 years. Ms Davies noted that concerns about travel times
were not unique to the Kent & Medway review. She reported that
whilst SECAmb’s performance had been challenged, there had been
a considerable improvement over the last 12 months. She noted that
the capital investment would include a £1 million for SECAmb to
support improved access times. She stated that the implementation
of a clear stroke pathway would improve access as patients could be

Page 10



(14)

(19)

taken directly to a HASU rather than being taken to their nearest
A&E, be assessed and referred onwards; paramedics who attended
consultation events had provided assurance on the importance of the
new stroke pathway.

There was a discussion about implementation and the timetable. Ms
Davies explained that the units would be up and running within a
maximum of 18 months; factors which would affect implementation
were capital, with William Harvey Hospital requiring the greatest
investment; recruitment; training and support to staff. Ms Hood
reported that the JCCCG Preferred Option Workshop scheduled for
16 August had been deferred until September. The Chair noted the
Committee’s intention to meet again before the workshop. She stated
that once the preferred option had been announced, the Committee
would meet again to give their view on the preferred option and there
was the option for majority and minority views to be submitted to
JCCCG. She noted that the power to make a referral to the Secretary
of State was delegated to the four health scrutiny committees in
Kent, Medway, East Sussex and Bexley.

RESOLVED that:
(a) the consultation analysis and activity reports be noted;
(b) the following comments be referred to the JCCCG:

(i) the Stroke JHOSC requests that the rehabilitation
pathway be implemented at the same time as the
HASUs and the JHOSC be presented with the draft
pathway at its next meeting;

(i) the Stroke JHOSC requests that the JCCCG gives
further consideration to, and assurance about, travel
times particularly in the Thanet area;

(iii) the Stroke JHOSC notes that the public consultation
was comprehensive and well managed.

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

KENT AND MEDWAY STROKE REVIEW JOINT HEALTH OVERVIEW AND
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

MINUTES of a meeting of the Kent and Medway Stroke Review Joint Health
Overview and Scrutiny Committee held in the Council Chamber - Sessions
House on Wednesday, 5 September 2018.

PRESENT: Mrs S Chandler (Chair), Clir D Wildey (Vice-Chairman), Mr P Bartlett,
Ida Linfield, Clir T Murray, Clir W Purdy, Clir D Royle, Clir C Belsey,
Clir R Diment and Clir A Downing

ALSO PRESENT:

IN ATTENDANCE: Ms L Adam (Scrutiny Research Officer), Mr J Pitt (Democratic
Services Officer, Medway Council) and Claire Lee

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

Substitutes
(ltem 1)

(1) Apologies were received from Mr Pugh and Clir Howell.

Declarations of Interests by Members in items on the Agenda for this
meeting
(Item 2)

(1) There were no declarations of interest.

Minutes
(Iltem 3)

(1) The Chair explained that the minutes would be brought back to the next meeting
of the Committee for approval, to enable a query to be resolved.

Kent and Medway Stroke Review: Update
(Item 4)

Patricia Davies (Senior Responsible Officer, Kent & Medway Stroke Review), Rachel
Jones (Acute Strategy Programme Director, Kent & Medway STP), Alice Caines
(Principal, Carnall Farrar), Ellie Davies (Senior Analyst, Carnall Farrrar) and Steph Hood
(STP Communications and Engagement Lead, Kent & Medway STP) were in attendance
for this item.

Page 13



(1)

(2)

3)

The Chair stated that an updated report had been added to the agenda, via a
supplement, as she had agreed that it should be considered at this meeting as a
matter of urgency, as permitted under section 100B of the Local Government Act
1972. This was to enable the Committee to consider the updated report which
was not available for despatch as part of the main agenda on 28 August 2018 as
it required the approval of an NHS Committee taking place on the same day. She
noted the updated document replaced the NHS report in the original Agenda
pack.

The Chair welcomed the guests to the Committee. Ms Davies began by giving an
overview of the review process to date including the development of the case for
change and model of care; engagement with stakeholders; the development of
the five three-site options and pre-consultation business case (PCBC) and the
delivery of the public consultation; she advised that the Joint Committee of
Clinical Commissioning Groups (JCCCGs) had reviewed and considered the
outputs from the public consultation and was now working towards the application
of the evaluation criteria to identify the preferred option and the development of
the decision making business case (DMBC).

The Chair advised that the item would be taken in three parts: travel times,
evaluation criteria and model for community rehabilitation.

Travel Times

(4)

)

(6)

Ms E Davies introduced the additional information on travel times, as requested

by the Committee at its previous meeting, and proceeded to give a presentation

(attached as a supplement to the Agenda pack, pp. 6 — 15) which covered the

data source used; the approach to travel time modelling; validation exercises;

evaluation criteria and a deep dive into travel times for Thanet. She highlighted

the following key points:

= the data had been refreshed using 2017/18 average travel times;

» the use of car off-peak travel data as the blue light proxy had been agreed as
the most appropriate measure with SECAmb;

= the maximum travel time from any location was 63 minutes.

Members enquired about thrombolysis eligibility and benefits of stroke
centralisation. Ms P Davies explained that there were two main types of stroke:
clot and bleed. 70 — 80% of patients experienced a stroke as a result of a clot; of
those patients, only 15 — 20% were eligible for thrombolysis. She noted that
thrombolysis was not appropriate for a bleed stroke. She confirmed that a target
of 120-minute call to needle time for patients had been set on the advice of the
South East Coast Clinical Senate. Ms P Davies highlighted a UCL study, which
reviewed reconfigured stroke services in London and Greater Manchester; it had
found that the centralisation of stroke services reduced death and disability for
the whole population.

A Member expressed concerns about population growth and the impact on travel
times from additional cars on the road. Ms P Davies explained that throughout the
review, extensive work had been undertaken with local authorities with regards to
population growth and this had been factored into the total resource required. Ms
E Davies noted that work had been undertaken with the public health teams in
Kent & Medway to look at increased car activity in relation to new housing
developments and the mitigations put in place; there was no evidence for
additional time to be added to the travel time from growth areas. Ms Jones stated
as part of the methodology, baseline data from consecutive years had been used;

Page 14


https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/b19412/Item%204%20-%20Update%20NHS%20Report%2005th-Sep-2018%2013.00%20Kent%20and%20Medway%20Stroke%20Review%20Joint%20Health%20Overview.pdf?T=9

(7)

(8)

(9)

for ambulances, additional cars on the road, did not make a difference as they
were able to use blue lights. She highlighted that despite population growth, the
number of strokes were flatlining due to prevention measures. The Chair
enquired about the involvement of SECAmb in the development of travel times.
Ms P Davies explained that SECAmb had been involved in the process and their
isochrone data had been cross-referenced with the Basemap data. She
recognised that whilst there may occasionally be delays due to traffic, the
creation of HASUs would enable paramedics to carry out an initial assessment
and ring ahead to the HASU to prepare them and admit the patient directly, rather
than attending A&E which would create a significant time saving.

A Member asked about engagement with the London Ambulance Service (LAS)
and the impact of HASUs in London if Darent Valley Hospital was not chosen as
a HASU site. Ms Caines confirmed that there had been engagement with LAS
who supported the use of car off-peak travel times as the blue light proxy; it was
recognised that the closer to London, the slower the travel time. Ms P Davies
stated that South East London patients could access a London HASU within 45
minutes and if Darent Valley was not chosen, it would not have a detrimental
affect on South East London patients. She explained that there had been
extensive discussions with the Princess Royal University Hospital (PRUH). She
reported that PRUH was able to provide stroke services to the South East
London patients but was concerned about additional patients from Kent if Darent
Valley was not chosen as an option. She noted that 54 patients from South East
London a year were taken to Darent Valley Hospital; they had been assessed by
paramedics as not requiring a London HASU.

Members enquired about the use of periphery hospitals such as Basildon
Hospital in the data set, traffic flow being faster in peak periods and the
percentages of population accessing sites within 30 and 45 minutes by private
car. Ms E Davies explained that the data set had initially been over procured and
had therefore included periphery sites. She confirmed that Basildon Hospital was
not the first, second or third closest hospital for patients in the Kent & Medway
catchment area. Ms E Davies reported that in a few cases, the data showed that
traffic flow was faster in peak periods. She explained that Basemap data showed
flows both ways, so it was unable to differentiate the flow each way; she gave the
example of faster traffic flow coming out of London than going into London. Ms E
Davies stated that private peak travel times had been run following the
publication of the paper and had not been included. She confirmed that the
percentages for 45-minute travel time by private car were similar to the blue light
proxy; the percentages were lower for the 30-minute travel time, fewer patients
would be access a site within 30 minutes by private car. Ms Davies stated it was
safest for patients to be conveyed by ambulance if a stroke was suspected and
public messaging supported this.

In response to a specific question about accuracy of the data following an
increase in the percentage of the population accessing sites within a 45-minute
travel time by blue light proxy in Option E from 91.9% in the consultation
document to 98.9% in the updated report; and the use of revised data, Ms E
Davies explained that there had been a consultation commitment to refresh the
data to ensure accuracy prior to option evaluation. She committed to rechecking
all the travel times and sending the revised travel times for blue light proxy and
private car to the Committee prior to the JCCCG Options Evaluation on 13
September 2018.

Page 15



(10)

(11)

A Member asked about stroke diagnosis. Ms P Davies explained that the 999-
triage process was able to identify potential strokes however diagnosis was not
definitive until a CT scan had been undertaken. She noted that stroke mimics had
been built into the model of care in terms of beds and attendances. She reported
that centralisation of services into HASUs in London had demonstrated that those
units were effective in identifying those who had experienced a stroke and
screened out patients who had had a mimic.

A Member commented about the length of the process and the importance of a
decision being made by the JCCCG. The Chair read a statement from Ms
Constantine, KCC Member for Ramsgate, regarding travel times; a petition in
Thanet, signed by 5000 people, stated that a 120-minute door to needle time was
too long and did not have the confidence of the public. Ms P Davies highlighted
that the 120-minute target for thrombolysis was for call to needle time and had
been set by the South East Coast Clinical Senate. She noted only 15% of stroke
patients were eligible for thrombolysis and the first 72 hours in a HASU was the
most important aspect of care. She stated that whilst thrombolysis was licenced
for 4 hours, it could be administered beyond this time if appropriate.

Evaluation Criteria

(12)

(13)

(14)

Ms Jones gave a presentation on the evaluation criteria being used to identify the
preferred option on 13 September by the JCCCG (attached as a supplement to
the Agenda pack, pp. 16 — 36) which covered the original and additional
evaluation principles; the development and agreement of the quality, access,
workforce, ability to deliver, affordability and value for money criteria.

She highlighted the following key points:

» The evaluation criteria used within the PCBC would be applied to maintain
consistency; additional criteria had only been added as a result of the
consultation or a change to national policy.

» The options would be evaluated rather than scored; the preferred option
would not be identified by a mathematical score.

= Mechanical thrombectomy was not currently provided in Kent & Medway; new
national stroke guidance about the provision of this procedure was
anticipated.

» The national recommendation for patient volume at a HASU was expected to
rise from 500 — 1500 to 600 — 1500 patients; the revised stroke guidance had
been delayed.

= The Deliverability Panel met on 4 September 2018. The panel included
Regional Director (South East) for NHS England & NHS Improvement, NHS
England Medical Director (Kent, Surrey & Sussex), an external stroke
consultant and a patient representative.

Members enquired about the national shortage of interventional radiologists, the
impact of health inequalities on stroke incidences and workforce gaps. Ms P
Davies noted that workforce was a national issue particularly for technical staff.
She stated that Kent & Medway would benefit from the opening of the new
medical school. She reported that evidence showed that areas which had
implemented centres of excellence providing specialist services had improved
their ability to recruit and retain staff. She noted that a piece of work, looking at
how to retain staff, was being undertaking by the HR directors, chief nurses and
medical directors of the acute trusts. Ms Caines explained that the level of
deprivation for each Lower Layer Super Output Area (LSOA), based on Lower

Page 16


https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/b19412/Item%204%20-%20Update%20NHS%20Report%2005th-Sep-2018%2013.00%20Kent%20and%20Medway%20Stroke%20Review%20Joint%20Health%20Overview.pdf?T=9

(15)

(16)

(17)

Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD), combined with the over 75 population was
used as an accurate indicator of future stroke incidences. Ms P Davies noted that
a Prevention Strategy Group, which included the Directors of Public Health from
Kent County Council and Medway Council, were looking at stroke risk factors
such as hypertension and stroke prevention strategies such as reducing diabetes
and obesity. Ms Jones confirmed that the workforce gap was calculated by
comparing best practice requirements to staff in post.

Members asked about the application of the same rating if two sites were within
5% of each other with regards to travel time percentages; ranking feedback from
public consultation; and outcome of deliverability panel. Ms E Davies explained
that the same rating would be applied if two values, rather than percentages,
were within 5% of each other; the example of a 5% difference in capital costs was
given. Ms P Davies stated that respondents to the public consultation were asked
to rank the five options in preference order; whilst option D was the highest
ranked in this process, there was a very small percentage difference between the
five options, so respondents’ ranked feedback had not been included as an
evaluation criteria. Ms Jones confirmed that each evaluation criteria had equal
weighting. Ms P Davies applauded the time and effort put in by all providers who
presented at the Deliverability Panel. Providing verbal feedback to each provider
was underway and Ms P Davies stated that she was unable to provide further
feedback at this time; she highlighted that this was one aspect of the evaluation
process. She noted that the Deliverability Panel had been independently chaired
by Anne Eden (Regional Director (South East), NHS England & NHS
Improvement).

In response to specific questions about capital investment, Ms P Davies
explained that as part of the PCBC development, a need for a £38 million
investment had been identified which had subsequently been agreed by NHS
England Investment Committee as the maximum envelope. She noted that if
additional capital was identified through the DMBC, it would require the JCCCG to
go back to the Investment Committee for approval. Ms Caines stated that all
sources of capital were being explored. She noted that whilst NHS Trusts did
have access to small provisions of capital, each Trust would need to complete a
business case to demonstrate that it was a priority area and complied with
Treasury guidance. Ms P Davies explained that the methodology to use £38
million as a midpoint for the evaluation criteria was on the advice of the Chief
Finance Officer Group; whilst the capital envelope was recognised, it was
considered important not to retrofit services to capital size.

Members enquired about the three evaluation scores for travel times and the use
of a 10-year Net Present Value (NPV). Ms Caines explained that the three
evaluation scores had been identified as part of the PCBC. However, since the
development of the paper, there had been a proposal to change the double
negative score to a neutral score so that there was not such an extreme
differentiation between the options. Ms P Davies stated that a 10-year NPV was
used as it gave a greater indication of the economic and patient benefit in terms
of reduced mortality and disability which impacted on health and social care
costs. Ms Caines noted that the NPV was normally calculated over 20 years; NPV
had been calculated for both 10 & 20 years but a 10-year measure had been
chosen on the advice of the Finance Group as it was easier to differentiate
between options over 10 years in terms of patient and economic benefit.

Page 17



Model for Community Rehabilitation

(18)

(19)

(20)

(22)

Ms P Davies began by noting that rehabilitation was highlighted as an area of
focus by the Committee at its previous meeting. She reported that this view was
shared by the Stroke Programme Board and Clinical Reference Group; a clear
pathway for rehabilitation which runs in parallel to the stroke service and
introduced at the same time was required. She stated that the rehabilitation sub-
group was chaired by Fiona Lloyd Davies, the wife of a stroke survivor who had
produced a BBC documentary detailing her husband’s recovery. The proposed
pathway, based on the South East Coast Clinical Network Model, was due to be
signed off by the Clinical Reference Group on 7 September.

A Member requested greater member input into the proposed model for
rehabilitation pathway in Kent & Medway. Ms P Davies stated that she would
welcome member input; once the model of care had been agreed by the Clinical
Reference Group it would be subject to appropriate consultation with a range of
stakeholder including the Kent HOSC and Medway HASC.

Members enquired about rehabilitation services for patients who lived alone and
in over-the-border areas. For patients who lived alone, Ms Davies highlighted the
important of multifaceted services including the provision of health and social
care. For patients in over-the-border areas, Ms P Davies confirmed that there
were no plans to change rehabilitation services in East Sussex and Bexley.

The Chair enquired about the ability of members of the public to input the process
prior to the final decision being made in January 2019. She also read a statement
from Ms Constantine, KCC Member for Ramsgate, regarding meaningful and
ongoing communication and consultation with Thanet residents. Ms Hood
explained that there was an ongoing communication and engagement
programme which would communicate information at key points such as the
identification of the preferred option. She stated that there would be good patient
and public engagement in design of the rehabilitation pathway.

RESOLVED that:
(@) the updated report be noted
(b) the following comments be referred to the JCCCG:

(i) the Stroke JHOSC requests that the travel times are checked for
accuracy prior to their application at the Options Evaluation on 13
September 2018;

(i) the Stroke JHOSC requests that the JCCCG takes into account
population growth and the impact of additional cars on travel
times;

(iii) the Stroke JHOSC requests that there be further stakeholder

engagement with regards to the proposed model for community
rehabilitation.

Page 18



Agenda Item 4
Item 4: Kent and Medway Stroke Review

By: Jill Kennedy-Smith, Scrutiny Research Officer to the Kent Health
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

To: Kent and Medway Stroke Review Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny
Committee, 14 December 2018

Subject: Kent and Medway Stroke Review

Summary: This report invites the Kent and Medway Stroke Review Joint Health
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Stroke JHOSC) to consider the
information provided by the Kent & Medway STP.

It provides additional background information which may prove useful to
Members.

PLEASE NOTE the draft Decision Making Business Case provided as a
paper for this item by the Kent & Medway STP is draft and un-validated
and as such will be subject to change.

1. Introduction

(1) Regulation 23 of the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing
Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 requires relevant NHS bodies
and health service providers (“responsible persons”) to consult a local
authority about any proposal which they have under consideration for a
substantial development of or variation in the provision of health services in
the local authority’s area. This obligation requires notification and publication
of the date on which it is proposed to make a decision as to whether to
proceed with the proposal and the date by which Overview and Scrutiny may
comment.

(2) Regulation 30 of the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing
Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 states that where relevant
NHS bodies and health service providers consult more than one local
authority on any proposal which they have under consideration for a
substantial development of or variation in the provision of health services in
the local authorities’ areas, those local authorities must appoint a Joint
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (JHOSC) for the purposes of the
consultation and only the JHOSC may:

= make comments on the proposal;

= require the provision of information about the proposal;

= require the relevant NHS bodies and health service providers to attend
before it to answer questions in connection with the consultation.

(2) In Summer 2015 Kent County Council’s Health Overview and Scrutiny
Committee and Medway Council’'s Health and Adult Social Care Overview
and Scrutiny Committee determined that changes being proposed by the NHS

Page 19



Item 4: Kent and Medway Stroke Review

3)

(7)

to Hyper Acute and Acute Stroke Services in Kent and Medway amounted to
a proposal for a substantial variation to the health service across both areas.

The Kent and Medway NHS Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee was
therefore convened and met during 2016 and 2017 to consider and comment
on the review of Hyper Acute and Acute Stroke Services, the emerging case
for change and possible options for a new model of care.

On 12 December 2017 the Kent and Medway Joint HOSC was formally
notified that the Joint Committee of Clinical Commissioning Groups
overseeing the Stroke Review (initially comprising of the eight Kent and
Medway CCGs) had been expanded to include Bexley CCG and High Weald
Lewes Havens CCG as activity modelling had highlighted the extent of
external flows of stroke patients to Kent and Medway from Bexley and East
Sussex.

As a consequence of this further analysis the Health Overview and Scrutiny
Committees in East Sussex and Bexley were advised of the review and both
determined that the emerging proposals to reconfigure stroke services in Kent
and Medway constituted a substantial variation to these services for their
areas. This generated a statutory requirement to set up a new Joint Health
Overview and Scrutiny Committee involving Kent County Council, East
Sussex County Council, Medway Council and Bexley Council for the purpose
of consultation by the NHS with Overview and Scrutiny on the Stroke Review.

Prior to the establishment of the new JHOSC and to enable the public
consultation to proceed as planned, representatives of Bexley Council's
People Overview and Scrutiny Committee and East Sussex County Council's
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee were invited to attend and speak at
the Kent and Medway NHS Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 22
January as non-voting guests. The Committee met to consider the proposed
options and consultation plan for the Kent & Medway Stroke Review.

The Terms of Reference and membership of the new Kent and Medway
Stroke Review Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Stroke
JHOSC) were agreed by Bexley Council's People Overview and Scrutiny
Committee; East Sussex County Council's Health Overview and Scrutiny
Committee; and the full councils of Kent County Council and Medway Council
in February and March 2018.

The Kent & Medway Stroke Review’s public consultation ran from 2 February
— 20 April 2018.

The inaugural meeting of the Stroke JHOSC was held on 5 July 2018. The
Committee met to consider a post-consultation update which included NHS
consultation activity and feedback reports. The Committee agreed the
following recommendation:

= RESOLVED that:

(a) the consultation analysis and activity reports be noted;

Page 20



Item 4: Kent and Medway Stroke Review

(10)

(11)

(1)

(b) the following comments be referred to the JCCCG:

(i) the Stroke JHOSC requests that the rehabilitation
pathway be implemented at the same time as the HASUs
and the JHOSC be presented with the draft pathway at its
next meeting;

(ii) the Stroke JHOSC requests that the JCCCG gives further
consideration to, and assurance about, travel times
particularly in the Thanet area;

(i) the Stroke JHOSC notes that the public consultation was
comprehensive and well managed.

The Committee met on 5 September 2018 to receive an update on the review
with the meeting taken in three parts: travel times, evaluation criteria and
model for community rehabilitation. The Committee agreed the following
recommendation:

RESOLVED that:
(a) the updated report be noted
(b) the following comments be referred to the JCCCG:

(i) the Stroke JHOSC requests that the travel times are checked
for accuracy prior to their application at the Options Evaluation
on 13 September 2018;

(ii) the Stroke JHOSC requests that the JCCCG takes into
account population growth and the impact of additional cars on
travel times;

(iii) the Stroke JHOSC requests that there be further stakeholder
engagement with regards to the proposed model for community
rehabilitation.

The Committee Members met informally on 22 November 2018 to receive an
update from the NHS.

Legal Implications

The Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health
Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 govern the local authority health scrutiny function.
The provisions in the regulations relating to proposals for substantial health
service developments or variations are set out in the body of this report.

Financial Implications

There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.

Page 21



Item 4: Kent and Medway Stroke Review

4, Recommendation
The Stroke JHOSC is invited to:
= CONSIDER and COMMENT on the report.

» REFER for consideration any relevant comments relating to the
information provided by the NHS on the Stroke Review to the Joint
Committee of Clinical Commissioning Groups

Background Documents

Kent County Council (2015) ‘Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (17/07/2015)’,
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=112&MId=5841&Ver=4

Kent County Council (2015) ‘Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (04/09/2015)’,
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?1D=32939

Medway Council (2015) ‘Health and Adult Social Care Overview and Scrutiny
Committee (11/08/2015)’,
http://democracy.medway.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=131&MId=3255&Ver=4

Kent County Council (2016) ‘Kent and Medway NHS Joint Overview and Scrutiny
Committee (08/01/2016)’,
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=757&MId=6314&Ver=4

Kent County Council (2016) ‘Kent and Medway NHS Joint Overview and Scrutiny
Committee (29/04/2016)’,
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=757&MId=6357&Ver=4

Kent County Council (2016) ‘Kent and Medway NHS Joint Overview and Scrutiny
Committee (04/08/2016)’,
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=757&MId=7405&Ver=4

Kent County Council (2016) ‘Kent and Medway NHS Joint Overview and Scrutiny
Committee (28/11/2016)’, https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=42592

Bexley Council (2017) 'People Overview and Scrutiny Committee (29/11/2017)’,
http://democracy.bexley.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=31671

Kent County Council (2017) ‘Kent and Medway NHS Joint Overview and Scrutiny
Committee (12/12/2017)’, https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?1D=46699

Kent County Council (2018) ‘Kent and Medway NHS Joint Overview and Scrutiny
Committee (22/01/2018)’,
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=757&MId=7997&Ver=4

Page 22


https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=112&MId=5841&Ver=4
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=112&MId=5841&Ver=4
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=32939
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=32939
http://democracy.medway.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=131&MId=3255&Ver=4
http://democracy.medway.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=131&MId=3255&Ver=4
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=757&MId=6314&Ver=4
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=757&MId=6357&Ver=4
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=757&MId=7405&Ver=4
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=42592
http://democracy.bexley.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=31671
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=46699
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=757&MId=7997&Ver=4

Item 4: Kent and Medway Stroke Review

Medway Council (2018) ‘Council (22/02/2018)’
https://democracy.medway.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=122&MId=3775

Kent County Council (2018) ‘Council (15/03/2018)’
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=113&MId=7573&Ver=4

East Sussex County Council (2018) 'Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee
(29/03/2018)",
https://democracy.eastsussex.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=154&MId=3156&V
er=4

Kent County Council (2018) ‘Kent and Medway Stroke Review Joint Health Overview
and Scrutiny Committee (05/07/18)’,
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=909&MId=8095&Ver=4

Kent County Council (2018) ‘Kent and Medway Stroke Review Joint Health Overview
and Scrutiny Committee (05/09/18)’,
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=909&MId=8117&Ver=4

Contact Details

Jill Kennedy-Smith

Scrutiny Research Officer
jill.kennedy-smith@kent.gov.uk
03000 416343

Page 23


https://democracy.medway.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=122&MId=3775
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=113&MId=7573&Ver=4
https://democracy.eastsussex.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=3156&Ver=4
https://democracy.eastsussex.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=3156&Ver=4
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=909&MId=8095&Ver=4
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=909&MId=8117&Ver=4
mailto:jill.kennedy-smith@kent.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank



Kent and Medway Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

P Transforming

. a
\.') health and social care
J

In Kent and Medway

0
QD
@
N n n n
> Kent and Medway Sustainability
and Transformation Partnership
Stroke Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Discussion Document
14th December 2018
Transforming health and social care in Kent and Medway is a partnership of all the NHS
organisations in Kent and Medway, Kent County Council and Medway Council. We are working m

together to develop and deliver the Sustainability and Transformation Plan for our area.



2 Kent and Medway Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Agenda

ltem
Welcome, introductions and objectives
Responses to questions from JHOSC

Overview of draft DMBC

Key changes since informal JHOSC in November

Integrated Impact Assessment and planned mitigations

Sign off process and next steps




Kent and Medway Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Objectives

The Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee is asked to:

a) NOTE and DISCUSS responses to the supplementary questions from
JHOSC members

R) NOTE the content of the Decision Making Business Case
®) NOTE the changes made to the DMBC since the November JHOSC

OB NOTE the findings of the Integrated Impact Assessment and planned
mitigations
e) NOTE the sign off process for the DMBC

@)



4 Kent and Medway Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

ltem
Welcome, introductions and objectives
Responses to questions from JHOSC

Overview of draft DMBC

Key changes since informal JHOSC in November

Integrated Impact Assessment and planned mitigations

Sign off process and next steps




S Kent and Medway Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

ltem
Welcome, introductions and objectives
Responses to questions from JHOSC

Overview of draft DMBC

Key changes since informal JHOSC in November

Integrated Impact Assessment and planned mitigations

Sign off process and next steps




Overview of draft DMBC

Kent and Medway Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Chapter 1: Introduction

Chapter 2: Case for change

Chapter 3: Clinical vision for
the future

0¢ abed

Chapter 4: Shortlisting
options for consultation

Chapter &6: Identifying the
preferred option

*This chapterdescribes thework that has beendonein Kent and

Medway on stroke servicesthrough the Stroke Review and within
the 5TP

*This chapterintroduces the context for stroke services in Kentand

Medway and describes why change is necessary and why it must
start now.

*+This chapterdescribes how patients will be treated inthefuture to

ensure theyreceive the highest standards of care for strokein
prevention, urgent care and rehabilitation.

*+This chapterdetailsthe process that was undertaken in order to

arrive ata shortlist of optionsfor consultation and the feedback
from consultationon this process

*+This section describes the public consultationon the five

shortlisted options that took place between 2 February and 20
April 2018 (11 weeks).

*This chapterdescribes the process undertaken toidentify a
preferred optionfor service change.

O




Overview of draft DMBC

TE abed

Chapter 7: Assuring the
preferred option

Chapter 8: Assessing the
implications of the
preferred option

Chapter 9: Implementation
plan

Chapter 10: Benefits of the
proposed changes

Kent and Medway Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

*This chapter describes the external
assurance and scrutiny thatthe Stroke
Review has undergone to ensure that the
proposals are robust.

*This chapter details the implications of the
recommended preferred option on quality,
activity, travel and access, equalities,
workforce and finance.

*This chapter details the implementation plan
for the recommended preferred option.

*This chapter describes the benefits that are
expected to be achieved as a result of
implementing the recommendations.

*This chapter outlines the decisions that need
to be taken by the JCCCG to determine the
final configuration of stroke services and the
expected timeline for decision making.

O




8 Kent and Medway Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

ltem
Welcome, introductions and objectives
Responses to questions from JHOSC

Overview of draft DMBC

Key changes since informal JHOSC in November

Integrated Impact Assessment and planned mitigations

Sign off process and next steps




Kent and Medway Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Key developments and changes

The following slides detail the key changes made to the DMBC since the informal JHOSC in November.

Recommendation Action taken
Provide a clearer overview and | A summary of the preferred option has been added to the Executive Summary and in more detail in
summary of the preferred option Section 6.4.

Explicithy state the ambition and | The JCCCG agreed that the ambition should be to achieve SSMAF Grade A. The CRG recommended

timescales for every Trust to achieve | that this could be done within @ manths of go-live for the new model of care (+3 months for reporting).

SSHNAP grade A This was agreed by the SFB on 28 Movember 2018 and has been added to the DMBC in the benefits

section (see Section 10.4).

To make clearer the intention to | This has always been the intention and has now been clarified in Section 3.3.3. |

comply with the Royal College of

Physicians’ recommendations for

L stroke care

olo provide a statement of the STP | Details of the STP prevention targets can be found at Appendix CC.

‘%Jreventinn targets around the risk

cdactors for stroke (obesity, physical

°‘inactivit}', diabetes, atrial fibrillation
and hypertension)

Make clear how the risks to worsening | This is further detailed in Section 8.4. They include;

inequalities might be mitigated by the

better patient outcomes that will result « A focus on health promotion and prevention particularly for deprived populations as a way of
from the improved stroke care reducing the number of people having a stroke and therefore requiring treatment.

« (Close monitoring of activity and outcome information during implementation and beyond ta
ensure that gquality standards are being met and the benefits of the changes are being realised,
especially for deprived populations.

* Engagement with stroke care staff to support them through the changes and encourage them
to remain in Kent and Medway.

« Continued engagement and clear communication with the public to ensure they understand the
changes and where to access services.

« ‘Work with voluntany transport services to ensure remote and deprived populations can access “
services and visit patients. [

« Review of the costfavailability of car parking spaces for patients and garers as part of the
implementation of the plans.

— — - = — = - — — — - - - —_—— - - — C - = — - g ‘ ‘_~




Kent and Medway Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Key developments and changes

Recommendation

To take note of the longer term predicted
trend in the incidence of strokes and explore
what the implications of this could be.

Action taken

The Clinical Senate report notes on p{2 that “The bed modelling based an the current stroke
incidence rates, and length of stay of stroke, TIA and stroke mimic patients is considered
appropriate”. Various things have previously been done to take account of activity growth
that is different to predictions:

- Sensitivity analysis

- Risk identification and management

The Programme Team commissioned Public Health to undertake further analysis around siroke
incidence. The outcome of this work will be considered and any mitigations put in place.

To re-examine the data for the under 75s
especially in relation to health inequalities
|_and areas of deprivation

The impacton peoplefromdeprived areas will be further examined during implementation, and
appropriate mitigations putin place.

o

bTo clarify the catchment populations for each
%HA.SU and of the neighbouring| HASUs outside
oot K&M so that capacity is aligned with
“demand.

This wark has already been completed and is shown in Appendix X

To demonstrate the ability to deliver the
additional beds for the HASUs and ASUs on
time and with sufficient capital needs careful
review once plans are presented

This wark has been completed andis shownin Section 9.4.

To emphasise that longer traveltimes can be
mitigated by slicker processes onarrival at
the HASU hospital, helping to address the
concerns of those faced with longer
ambulance travel times to get to their nearest
HASU hospital

This isfurther detailedin Section 8.4. It has been made clearerthatwhile the changes will
resultin more patients having to travel further to access fully functioning hyper acute stroke
Lnits, it is consideredthatthis is offset by the guality benefits of having access to a streamlined
andfully resourced hvper acute stroke uniton arrival

To review actual SECAmbdata for pPCl as it
is expected that this would be less than that
estimated by Basemap.

SECAmMb have reviewedthe blue lightfor pPCl andtrauma andthe travel times are slightly
sharterthan the ones usedfor stroke from base map, and all withinthe 60 mins. See Appendix
BE forfurther information.

Provide greater transparency about the travel
times for residents living furthestfrom
HASUs.

Traveltimes have been a key part of the wark to date and have been part of the evaluation
process at all stages.

Traveltimes for people in Thanet have been reviewed extensively and further details are
shown in Section 8.3 .3_The travel time map fromthe Integrated Impact Assessment has been
includedinthe DMBC in Section 8.3 2.




Kent and Medway Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Key developments and changes

Recommendation

Gg abed

Clarify additional funding to SECAmbto
enable the consistentachievement of the
Category 2 response time target

Action taken

This will be detailed in the financial section of the DMBC.

Clarify that all HASUs will have at leasttwo
functioning CT scanners,and that they
prioritise new stroke patients accordingly

This has been confirmed by EKHUFT and DGT. One scanner at MGH is cutside the ED but
MTW have confirmedthatitis guickly accessible and will be staffed to allow 24/7 imaging for
HASL.

To provide more detail on future plans around
the provision of Mechanical Thrombectomy

Thrombectomy is not currently part of this DMBC and activity analysis would be considered as
part of any separate business case. However, EKHUFT are developing this business casein
anticipation of proposing to undertake a thrombectomy service in the future, and details of this
are shown at Appendix AA.

To confirm that all three HASUs will be able to
provide 24/7 CT angiography, as this is
required to select patients urgently for
thrombectomy

This has been confirmed by all trusts.

Explicitly confirm that all three HASU s will
meet the recommendations inthe South East
Clinical Senate’s report The clinical co-
dependencies of acute hospital services'and
to state the co-adjacent services

Allthe HASUs inthe preferred option meetthis guidance as one of the hurdle criteria faor site
options was that sites must have these co-located services. Thisis shown in Section 4.2.2.
e major emergency centre requirements are setoutin AppendixM and are:

» Acute cardiac ppci

» ALE

*  Emergency surgery

» Fullobstetrics

The CRG recommendthat, although a reguiredservice for a major emergency centre, a level 3
MICU has marginal clinical relevance to a HASU soits availability was notconsidered in the
evaluation.

5

(



Kent and Medway Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Key developments and changes

Recommendation Action taken

To clarify the clinical pathway for
stroke mimics

A pathway for stroke mimic patients has been developed and is detailed in the DMBC. This has been
agreed by the CRG and the SFPB. More detail is shown in Section 3.3.3.

To reflect the ongoing pathway for
stroke mimic patients after admission
to a HASU, and to demonstrate the
impact of stroke mimics in the bed
modelling assumptions

Further work will be done as part of the implementation phase.

The impact an the bed base was considered by the CRG who agreed that the impact is likely to be 2-3
beds per site. This has not been included in the HASLIASL bed base but was includedin provider
presentations to the deliverability panel and in the provider business cases (see Appendix G and
Appendix V).

To ensure that Inpatient rehabilitation
cgpacity is considered alongside ASU
#d requirements

o

Inpatient rehabilitation capacity that sits alongside current acute stroke beds (e.g. at MTW) has
already been included in the modelling (as ring-fenced beds). Inpatient rehabilitation capacity will be
further reviewed as part of the rehab business case that is currently being prepared (see Section 3.4).

&y define the social work input
required around rehabilitation and
ensure Local Authority ASC input to
the development of plans for
rehabilitation

Aagreed. This is being discussed as part of the wark on the rehabilitation business case, as detailedin
Section 3.4

There is representation from local authority adult social care on the rehabilitation working group
(RWG).

To recognise and demonstrate the
risks and timescales around the
development of the rehabilitation
business case

This has been added to the programme risk register (see Section 9.4).

Confirm the commitment of the K&M
commissioners to the rehabilitation
commissioning principles

The JCCCG has discussed rehabilitation on a number of occasions. There is a firm commitmentto
developing a business case for rehabilitation.

To reflect the palliative care pathway in
the model for rehabilitation

All providers currently have palliative care pathways forstroke and CRG agreed that these will
continue to be used.

_—

To further detail the risks around the

delivery of the workforce
implementation plan

The risks have been more explicit and are shown in Section 9.4,

(

3




Kent and Medway Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Key developments and changes

Recommendation Action taken

To provide more assurance around the ability
to address the workforce gaps in the
timescales being proposed, and detail the
creative interim solutions planned

It is essentialthatthere is an agreed, robust monitoring process of the workforcegap and a
collective focus on drivingand delivering the recruitment and retention plan. Froviders will
consider how to better utilise theirtemporary waorkforce (bank and agency staff) and how staff
are redeployed from other areas within the Trust. This work will be done as part of
implementation, following a decision.

A Kent and Medway network recruitment camgpaign is being developed, supported bvthe STF.

Consider the upskilling of other medical
specialties in stroke competencies to support
stroke units and on call rotas

Agreed Work has started on considering arange of roles, as set outin Section 3.5.1_Further
waorkwill be done as part of implementation, following a decision.

o

JASELY

Detailthe steps that will be taken to ensure
sustainability of services at Medway hospital
gt)u:luring transition

Wark has been done to support Medway and the immediate workforce issues have been
resolved.

Fhasingwas considered as part of the work on implementation. It was agreed thatthe

disadvantages of transferring patients earlier to Maidstone outweighed the advantages (see
Section 8.1). However, capacity could be available at Maidstone, if required.

To qualify the assumptions about transferring
staff from hospitals losing their stroke units
gualified and consider alternative ways of
staffing the HASU/ASU s

Froviders are developing plans to transfer staff between hospitals. Itis expectedthat providers
will continue to engage and involve staff in this work. Providers mayinitiate a staff consultation
alignedtotheir HR policy. This work will be done as part of implementation, followinga
decision.

Consider rotational posts for stroke nursing
and therapies staff. This would develop broad
skills, and may enhance recruitment and
retention.

Flans for rotational posts are being developed including a Kent and Medway Education and
Training Competency Framewark. There is also an opportunity to work with the deanery and
the new Medical School regarding trainee doctors' rotation to stroke services across Kent and
Medway. Inthe firstinstance, work will be undertaken with Health Education England on the
steps requiredto achieve this goal.

Furtherwork will be completed as part of implementation, following a decision.

To consider the SEC guidance for stroke
networks on hospitals without acute stroke
units and define pathways for stroke patients
at non HASU hospitals

This documentwas considered by the CRG at their meeting of 13/11 andformedthe basis for
proposals for pathways for non-HASL patienttransfer (see Section3.3.4). These were
considered and agreed by SFB on 28/11.

<

_—

(



Kent and Medway Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Key developments and changes

Recommendation Action taken

To clarify how detailed discussions
with stroke care staff is taking place to
explain the transition, and to
understand the opportunities for and
plans of such staff

Detailed on-going engagement is taking place with stoke care staff. This is plannedto continue
throughout implementation, as outlined in Section 9.5.

The many benefits of centralising
stroke services to patient outcomes
following a stroke must be clearly
communicated to the public

This message has been a key part of communications throughout the Stroke Review and this will
continue during implementation. Further details of the communications and engagement plan for
implementation is shown in Section 9.5.

4o further detail the steps that could be
@hen to mitigate the impact on
melatives and carers who may have to
avel longer distances to visit the
patient whilst in the HASU or ASU

A Transport Advisory Group including stroke patients, carers and patient representatives is being set
up. This group is part of the programme governance structure (see Section 9.3) and will continue to
meet and make recommendations throughout implementation.

The implementation period should be
minimised.

Agreed. This was discussed as part of the work on implementation planning and phasing. The local
ambitionis to implementthe new services as quickly as possible whilst ensuring that guality and
patient safety are not compromised. Further details are in Section 9.1,

To detail any impact of the future
configuration of acute hospitals in East
Kent, with an alternative major
emergency hospital located in
Canterbury being considered.

Workl is underway to review services and develop options for a clinically and financially sustainable
model for East Kent University Hospitals WHS Foundation Trust. The outputs of this wark will in time
be subject to publicconsultation. It is noted this will need to be kept under review, but given Kent and
Canterbury Hospital cannot currently provide a HASU and a model for improved care is urgent, it is
recommendedthat Kent and Canterbury Hospital should not be considered as a potential hyper acute
and acute stroke unit at this time.

This reference is already includedin the DMBC and was in the FCBC. See, for example, Section
4.3 2 It was clearly communicated during consultation.

To define the strong and effective
clinical leadership and programme
management that will be in place to
support the implementation of
HASU/ASUs within Kent and Medway

A clinical director lead across Kent and Medway will be appointed across Kent and Medway. In

addition, each provider has appointed strong clinical leadership for the individual HASUASUS. See
Section 9.3 for more details.

&)



15 Kent and Medway Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

ltem
Welcome, introductions and objectives
Responses to questions from JHOSC

Overview of draft DMBC

Key changes since informal JHOSC in November

Integrated Impact Assessment and planned mitigations

Sign off process and next steps




Kent and Medway Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Consideration of Integrated Impact Assessment

The aim of an integrated impact assessment (l1A) is to explore the potential positive
and negative consequences of implementing the preferred option.

The objectives of the IIA are to;

» Understand the overall demography and the protected characteristic groups (as

defined by the Equality Act 2010) of the different CCG populations affected.

Undertake a HIA: Identify the impact on patient outcomes, safety, effectiveness of

£are and patient experience.

%Jndertake an EqlA, critical in supporting the CCGs in meeting their obligations

under the Equality Act 2010. Understand the impacts on protected characteristic

groups across the CCG populations through a programme of stakeholder
engagement.

« Undertake a travel and access impact assessment: Consider increases and
decreases in journey times and changes in journey patterns for the overall impacts
and consider travel and access impacts for protected characteristic groups.

« Undertake a sustainability impact assessment: ldentify any sustainability impacts

by reporting on the carbon footprint change.
7
(:'Z



17

Kent and Medway Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Consideration of Integrated Impact Assessment

Summary of the positive impacts identified;

* The proposed changes will improve

Equality

patient outcomes and remove the - Patients identified as having a

_ Variation currently experienced. disproportionate need for stroke

& The consolidation of workforce services are likely to use these services

~ resources will enable the three stroke more and, therefore, experience the

" units to achieve recommended benefits of improved health outcomes to
workforce standards, creating a more a greater extent. These groups are:
sustainable workforce. - Age (older people aged 65 and over)

* Rehabilitation services for stroke .

Disabled people

Pregnancy and maternity

Race and ethnicity

People from deprived communities

patients will be improved, supporting .
patients to regain their independence
and overall quality of life.

%
\-)'




18 Kent and Medway Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Consideration of Integrated Impact Assessment

Summary of the potential negative impacts identified and planned mitigations;

Potential negative impact Planned Mitigation

Patients who experience a stroke at a
non-HASU site will require transfer to

Pathway for patients suffering a stroke at a non-HASU

a HASU. This could potentially have a site has been developed.
negative impact on patient outcomes

v ARSI LUCULCRAIN - Activity and bed modelling has applied necessary
hospital sites so capacity could be A
constrained sensitivities

If links to co-dependent services are  Need to maintain a Strong STP focus and plan aCross

not managed this could have wider acute strategy including East Kent and Vascular
implications on the safety of care reviews

| .Rt‘?col”(;i.?f.uraltti.on ?OU'? fﬁ#'t "} « Recruitment and workforce plans in place including
EChlitsadiuieeiidsdenbll  support for existing staff and developing a multi-faceted

increased turnover and loss of

expertise recruitment campaign across K&M o
Q
J




19

Kent and Medway Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Consideration of Integrated Impact Assessment

Summary of the potential negative impacts identified and planned mitigations;

Potential negative impact

Planned Mitigation

Some patients will have to travel further to
access stroke services

Longer journey times may impact on the
capacity of the ambulance service

The changes will result in higher transport
costs for some people; may result in them
not choosing not to use cars

The preferred option will mean people
from deprived areas have
disproportionately longer journey times

* We continue to reinforce that our criteria is that 95% of people should
be within 60 minutes and thrombolysis within 120 minutes of calling for
an ambulance. Also it is being cared for on a specialist unit for the first
72 hours that improves patient outcomes, not the journey time to
hospital

» Additional resource agreed with SECAmb to mitigate this.

 Travel Advisory Group will meet to consider impacts on different
population groups and ensure solutions are developed to mitigate any
adverse impacts.

» Journey times will be longer for some areas, whether they are
deprived or not

 Travel Advisory Group will meet to consider impacts on different
population groups and ensure solutions are developed to mitigate any
adverse impacts.

(@



20 Kent and Medway Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

ltem
Welcome, introductions and objectives
Responses to questions from JHOSC

Overview of draft DMBC

Key changes since informal JHOSC in November

Integrated Impact Assessment and planned mitigations

Sign off process and next steps

s




Kent and Medway Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Sign off process and next steps

6t December2018
DVH and EKHUFT y
Trust Boards 20t December2018 3" January 2019

MTW Trust Board Submission of final

DMBC to JCCCG

G abed

Timeline to final decision

W

215t December 2018
y Deadline for 10t January 2019
14t December 2018 feedback/comments JCCCG Final decision
Formal JHOSC on draft DMBC

review of DMBC

<Y,



This page is intentionally left blank



DRAFT v0.6

Kent and Medway
Stroke Review
Decision Making Business Case

Draft v0.6
4 December 2018

Page 47



DRAFT v0.6

EXECULIVE SUMIMAIY ittt et e e e e e e s bbbttt e e e e e e s asre bttt e e e e e e sanneseeeeeeesesannnnnes 4
R [ 4o Yo [1T o1 4T o S SRTUPPN: 9
1.1 Stroke ReView BacKgIroUNd ........occviiiiiiiiii ittt e s satee e s snaeee e sanes 9
1.2 Introduction to Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Partnership ....... 9
1.3 Overview of Stroke Review and purpose of doCUMEeNt..........ceeevevveeeeiiieeeciiieee e, 10
1.4 Purpose and sCOPe Of DIMIBC ......ccoiiiiiiiiiiiieecciree ettt e et e s bee e s e svee e e s svee e s ssaneeas 13
D - 1Y (o] g @1 o - Yo V- TSP 14
2.1 Background £0 STrOKE SEIVICES ....cciiiiiiiiiiiiie ettt e e e e sbee e e s ereeas 14
2.2 Stroke in Kent and MEAWAY .......cccuiiiiiiiiieicciiee et ectee e e esrae e s esare e s ssaareeesenraeaean 15
2.3 Providers of hospital stroke services in Kent and Medway..........ccccocevevvcieeincieeeeeenneen. 17
2.4 KEY CNAllENEES. . veiei ittt st e e e e e e e ee e s e snbee e e e sbee e e e areeas 19
2.5 (6073 ol [T o T HO SRS 23
3 Clinical vision for the fULUIE.......oei i e e sree e e e e 24
3.1 L0117 | RV o] o ST SR 24
3.2 AMDItion fOr STrOKE SEIVICES ...uvviiiiciiiiieiiee et s e s e e ebee e e e eneeas 24
33 The Stroke PatWaAY ....cococuiie e e e re e e e e e e eabee e e e eaneeas 25
3.4 Community rehabilitation..........oocuiiiiece e e e 36
35 0T o] 1= PSPPI 44
3.6 PatiENT STOIIES et e e e e e e e e e e e 47
4 Shortlisting options for CONSUIATION ....cccccuiiiiiiiiie et e e e e 51
4.1 Feedback received about the process during consultation...........cccccceeeecieeeecciieecennen. 51
4.2 Development Of OPLIONS .....ccoicciiei i e 51
4.3 Options appraisal (Medium liSt).......ccceeiciiiiiieiie e et 53
4.4 Evaluation of the options (Shortlisting) ........coccueiiieiiii e e 61
5 PUDIIC CONSUIAtION. ..o ittt ettt et et e e st e st e s bt eesabeeesabeesabeesneeesareess 81
5.1 Overview of CONSUILATION.......uei i e 81
5.2 (@00 o[ U1 =1 o] 0 IF- 1§ VA1 Y USSP 81
5.3 Key themes from the coNSUITation ..........cceeoeeiiiii i 84
5.4 Consideration of the consultation activity and resSponses ........ccccceeeeecveeeeiiieeeeccnveeenn. 90
6  Identifying @ preferred Option ... e 92
6.1 Development of the evaluation criteria to arrive at the preferred option ................... 92
6.2 Evaluation of the preferred OptioN.......ccccveei i 97
6.3 Choosing a preferred OPtioN........c..ii e e et e e e 102
6.4 Preferred OPtioN ... et e et e e e ebrae e e enes 103
7 Assuring the preferred OPLioN ... e e et e e e e e e e e e 104
7.1 Background to quality @SSUIaNCe........ccieccuiiieiiiiiiee ettt e e e iee e e s sareee e enes 104
7.2 Clinical Senate review and feedback ........cccuveviireiiieccee e 104
7.3 Consultation with local authority overview and scrutiny committees..........c.ccuueee... 127
7.4 NHS ENgIand @SSUMANCE.......cceiccuiieeieiiieeeiiieeeeeciteeeesitteeeestteeeeesteeessseaeessssesessnseneesases 127
7.5 Four tests and three coNditioNS.......c.viviiiiiieiiiiiee e e 128
8 Assessing the implications of the preferred option.........cccveeeeiiiiccci e, 137
8.1 Description of preferred option.......... e 137
2



DRAFT v0.6

8.2 ACtiVity IMPIICAtIONS...ciiiiiee e e e 137
8.3 Travel and access iIMPliICAtIONS. ....coivciiiiiiiiiie e 139
8.4 EqUalities iIMPlICAtIONS ..o e e e e sbae e e e enes 142
8.5 WoOrkforce impliCatioNs.......ooccieiiiciee e e e e e e e eree e e areeas 144
8.6 Financial impact of preferred Option.......cccceeiviiii i 147
9 IMPIlEMENLALION PIAN oo e e st e e e s rraeeesnes 148
9.1 Outline programme implementation plan ... 148
9.2 Key implementation activities and programme plan .........cccecveeeieiiieeccciee e 152
9.3 Governance arrangements for implementation..........ccccceeeciiiiiiiie e, 156
9.4 IMPIEMENTALION FISKS .ueiiiiiiieietiiee et e e s sbae e e e snes 158
9.5 Communication and engagement Plan .......ccueee e 162
10 Benefits of the Proposed ChANEES .........ueiiiiiiieeee et e e e re e e s e eareeas 169
10.1 Feedback from cONSUILAtION ......ceevuiiiiiieciie et 169
10.2 OVEIVIBW .. eiiiii ittt ettt e ettt e e e s e s sttt aeeeeeseesaanbabaeeeesssssassbeaaaeeesssnsssreaaaeens 169
10.3 Engagement in the development of the benefits........cccocviiiiiiiieiici e 170
10.4 Development of the BENETitS. ... 170
10.5 Monitoring the BeNefits........ou i e 171
10.6 Monitoring the realisation of benefits.......cccoeciiiiiiiiiiic s 176
10.7 N XL S S it 178
11 Conclusion and recomMmMENatioNs .....c.uueeiiiriiiiiiiiee e sree e e sbee e e e sareeas 179
11.1 SUMMArY Of CONCIUSIONS ..ceiiiiieiiciiee et et e e e e ee e e e earae e e e nreeas 179
11.2 T o] (VL a oY o Kol o =T T4 YT [ PPN 180

A glossary of terms is shown in Appendix A.

Page 49



DRAFT v0.6

Executive summary

Chapter 1: Introduction

This chapter describes the work that has been done in Kent and Medway on stroke services through
the Stroke Review and within the Sustainability and Transformation Partnership. The eight clinical
commissioning groups (CCGs) in Kent and Medway (and more recently the CCGs outside Kent and
Medway whose populations use stroke services in Kent and Medway) have been working together
on this review since late 2014, specifically for hospital stroke care. The review is being led by a
Stroke Programme Board supported by a Clinical Reference Group, which provides clinical leadership
and input to the Stroke Review, a Public and Patient Advisory Group (PPAG) which provides a patient
and public perspective and a Finance Group which provides financial leadership and strategic advice.
This Decision Making Business Case (DMBC) sets out the information necessary for the JCCCG to
make informed decisions about the future configuration of stroke services in Kent and Medway,
following public consultation on proposed changes

Chapter 2: Case for change

This chapter introduces the context for stroke services in Kent and Medway and describes why
change is necessary and why it must start now. Clinicians have looked at the current and future
demand for stroke services in Kent and Medway and how the current configuration of services is not
delivering the best clinical outcomes and positive patient experience. Although hospital staff in Kent
and Medway provide the best service they can, the way stroke services are set up currently, along
with staff shortages, mean local hospitals do not consistently meet the national standards for clinical
quality. Hospital stroke services are also currently running at an estimated £7.8 million loss. The case
for change shows that stroke services need to be reconfigured to improve quality and sustainability.

Chapter 3: Clinical vision for the future

This chapter describes how patients will be treated in the future to ensure they receive the highest
standards of care for stroke in prevention, urgent care and rehabilitation. The ambition is to deliver
clinically sustainable, high quality stroke services that are accessible to Kent and Medway residents
24 hours a day, 7 days a week. The key to successful outcomes for stroke patients is a high-quality
stroke unit with rapid access to diagnostics, specialist assessment and intervention. Evidence shows
that rapid specialist assessment and intervention in the hyper acute phase (the first 72 hours after a
stroke) reduces mortality and improves long term outcomes for stroke patients. Clinicians have
agreed a hospital stroke patient pathway for Kent and Medway which will provide care 24 hours a
day, 7 days a week utilising a multi-disciplinary team and incorporating national guidance and best
practice. Substantial work has also been completed on the care model for stroke rehabilitation
services and a business case for the development of these services will be completed in Spring 2019.
The model of care will be supported by the development of key enablers such as workforce, estates
and digital. The NHS South East Clinical Network Stroke Service Specification has been adopted as
the minimum standard for the stroke workforce at each HASU/ASU.

Chapter 4: Shortlisting options for consultation
This chapter details the process that was undertaken in order to arrive at a shortlist of options for
consultation and the feedback from consultation on this process:

* Development of the options: details the process by which the options were developed and
evaluated. To deliver the vision, and following detailed engagement with stroke survivors,
their families, the public, stroke doctors and nurses and other key stakeholders since the
Stroke Review started in 2014, CCGs proposed the creation of specialist hyper acute and
acute stroke units in Kent and Medway. It was agreed that these units should be based in

4
Page 50



DRAFT v0.6

one or more of the hospitals in Kent and Medway that currently provide acute stroke
services (Darent Valley Hospital, Kent and Canterbury Hospital, Maidstone Hospital, Medway
Hospital, Queen Elizabeth the Queen Mother Hospital, Tunbridge Wells Hospital and William
Harvey Hospital), due to the co-dependencies with other services. Stakeholders were fully
engaged throughout the development of the options for where these units will be located.

Options appraisal (medium list): details the process for determining a shortlist of options
for more detailed evaluation. A set of hurdle criteria, developed by clinicians and the public,
was used to establish the optimal number of stroke units and, based on this, clinicians
believe Kent and Medway needs three co-located hyper acute and acute stroke units
alongside 7-day TIA clinics for high risk patients. Any fewer would mean units would be too
large and inaccessible and any more would lead to insufficient staff and throughput to meet
quality standards. Further analysis of access, the size of units and the flows out of and into
Kent and Medway resulted in the creation of a medium list of thirteen site-specific options
for locating the co-located hyper acute and acute stroke units.

Evaluation of the options (shortlisting): describes the detailed evaluation that was done on
the medium list of thirteen site-specific options. This evaluation led to a recommendation by
clinicians that five options should go forward for public consultation. These options are to
site co-located hyper acute and acute stroke units alongside 7-day TIA clinics for high risk
patients at:
Option A. Darent Valley Hospital, Medway Hospital, William Harvey Hospital
Option B. Darent Valley Hospital, Maidstone General Hospital, William Harvey
Hospital
Option C. Maidstone General Hospital, Medway Hospital, William Harvey Hospital
Option D. Tunbridge Wells Hospital, Medway Hospital, William Harvey Hospital
Option E. Darent Valley Hospital, Tunbridge Wells Hospital, William Harvey Hospital

These options gave the best combination of quality, accessibility, workforce, deliverability
and affordability. This means changing services at seven hospital sites in Kent and Medway.
William Harvey Hospital was in all options with some combinations from amongst Medway
Hospital, Darent Valley Hospital, Maidstone General Hospital and Tunbridge Wells Hospital
as the second and third sites. Under all options, urgent stroke services would no longer be
provided at Queen Elizabeth the Queen Mother Hospital and Kent and Canterbury Hospital.

Chapter 5: Public consultation

This section describes the public consultation on the five shortlisted options that took place between
2 February and 20 April 2018 (11 weeks). A wide-reaching consultation was delivered which fully
met its objectives as set out in the consultation plan published as part of the pre-consultation
business case (PCBC). The consultation activity was comprehensive, reaching in excess of 2 million
people, and generating over 5000 responses to the consultation. Awareness-raising and promotion
activity included:

the distribution of 15,000 consultation documents and 35,000 summary documents to
around 850 locations

Information cascaded to 43,500 health and social care staff

A nine-week paid-for advertising campaign

A telephone survey across Kent and Medway

An online consultation questionnaire

28 public listening events

Attendance at public meetings and events

Outreach work with seldom heard groups.

5
Page 51



DRAFT v0.6

The responses to the consultation were collated and independently analysed. The key themes that
emerged include:
* people agreed with the proposal to establish HASU/ASUs in Kent and Medway;
* people understood that current services are not good enough and are not on a par with
other areas of the country;
* people generally agreed it is better to be treated by specialists and that HASU/ASUs would
improve access to specialist care;
* many people understood the reasoning behind having three units in the area; and
* there were concerns about the proposals, particularly travel times to the new HASU/ASUs
and the location of the HASU/ASUs.

The consultation activity and responses were carefully considered by the JCCCG and JHOSC to make
sure that statutory responsibilities had been fulfilled and that the responses to the consultation had
been properly addressed. The JCCG agreed that no new evidence or viable alternative models had
been put forward and that plans to establish a HASU/ASU on three sites in Kent and Medway could
proceed. It was also agreed that the issues raised around travel times for carers and access for
deprived populations would be considered as part of the development of the DMBC and during
implementation.

Chapter 6: Identifying the preferred option

This chapter describes the process undertaken to identify a preferred option for service change. The
evaluation of the remaining options weighed the pros and cons of each option in order to decide
which is the most favourable overall and should therefore be implemented. The evaluation criteria
and methodology were first reviewed and updated following feedback from consultation and some
small amendments were made. Following extensive review of the evaluation data, discussion of
anonymised evaluation matrix and consideration of the de-anonymised options, a workshop of key
stakeholders came to a unanimous consensus that the recommended preferred option should be
Option B (Darent Valley Hospital, Maidstone General Hospital, William Harvey Hospital). This was
because it evaluated most strongly across quality, access, workforce, implementability and value for
money.

Chapter 7: Assuring the preferred option

This chapter describes the external assurance and scrutiny that the Stroke Review has undergone to
ensure that the proposals are robust. The Stroke Review has sought to exceed its obligations in
meeting the statutory requirements and assurance that accompany any major change to NHS
services. The clinical proposals have been reviewed at three stages by the South East Coast Clinical
Senate (an independent panel of senior clinicians) and the recommendations of these reviews have
been incorporated into the proposals. The whole process and engagement undertaken by the Stroke
Review has been assured by NHS England and consultation was dependent on this assurance being
received. This included a review of the proposals by the national Investment Committee in January
2018. The Stroke Review has met the four tests and three conditions for reconfiguration set out by
the Secretary of State and CCGs have complied with their duties under the Equalities Act 2010.

Chapter 8: Assessing the implications of the recommended preferred option

This chapter details the implications of the recommended preferred option on quality, activity, travel
and access, equalities, workforce and finance. There will be higher quality, more consistent care in
hospital for urgent stroke services, particularly with the development of hyper acute and acute
stroke units. This will provide greater access to specialist staff and equipment and quicker treatment
times. There will be a combined HASU/ASU unit at Darent Valley Hospital (34 beds), Maidstone
General Hospital (38 beds) and William Harvey Hospital (52 beds), with a small outflow to

6
Page 52



DRAFT v0.6

Eastbourne General Hospital (4 beds). There will be no acute stroke services at Medway Hospital,
Tunbridge Wells Hospital, Queen Elizabeth the Queen Mother Hospital and Kent & Canterbury
Hospital. Robust protocols will be put in place to transfer any patient at a hospital without a
HASU/ASU who is suspected of having a stroke.

There will be an increase in specialist stroke staff including an estimated xx additional consultants, xx
additional nurses and xx additional therapists and an opportunity for more nurses and allied health
professionals to become stroke specialists ([DN to be added]. Significant work has been undertaken
to understand and address the concerns of all staff current working in stroke services in Kent and
Medway. Some patients will have to travel further for the urgent aspects of their stroke care, but no
more than 63 minutes, and consolidating hospital stroke services will save lives and reduce disability.
[DN: line to be added on financial implications].

An integrated impact assessment (including an equalities impact assessment) was undertaken in
September 2018 on the preferred option. This showed that people from the most deprived quintile
will be disproportionally impacted by the proposed changes in terms of travel and access, compared
to the general population. However, the positive health impacts from the proposed changes,
including improved clinical outcomes, are likely to also be experienced disproportionately by this
group due to their higher likelihood to require stroke services. Therefore, the impact of increased
travel times will be felt by visitors and carers who will need to travel further to visit patients, and
mitigations have been developed to address this issue.

Chapter 9: Implementation plan

This chapter details the implementation plan for the recommended preferred option. The local
ambition is to implement the new services as quickly as possible whilst ensuring that quality and
patient safety are not compromised. After considering the constraint around capital and workforce
in detail, clinicians concluded that a two-step approach to implementation would be the most
effective. This means the HASU/ASUs at MGH and DVH would go live in March 2020 followed by
WHH in Spring 2021. Key implementation activities have been agreed for workforce, operations,
estates, finance, project management and communications workstreams and a proposed
programme plan has been developed. The current governance arrangements will evolve for the
implementation phase, with the establishment of a Stroke Review Implementation Board including
providers and commissioners. A clinical lead will be appointed across Kent and Medway and a senior
clinician will oversee the changes at each site. Maintaining quality and workforce have been
identified as the highest risk areas and mitigations have been agreed. A communications and
engagement plan has also been developed.

Chapter 10: Benefits of the proposed changes
This chapter describes the benefits that are expected to be achieved as a result of implementing the
recommendations. The benefits have been developed by clinicians in line with the clinical standards
that underpin the proposals for clinical change and have been discussed with patient representatives
and reviewed against changes that have taken place elsewhere. The main areas of benefit expected
to be delivered by the reconfiguration of stroke services are:
e Improved clinical outcomes for patients
e Improved experiences for patients and their carers
e Improved experiences for staff, due not only to improvements in patient care, but also
improved team and multi-disciplinary working and increased opportunities to maintain and
enhance skills
e Supporting the delivery of financially sustainable services

Page 53



DRAFT v0.6

Plans have been made to monitor progress against the benefits and the set of measures that the
programme will focus on. This includes an ambition to achieve a SSNAP A rating at all three units
within 6 months of launching the HASU/ASUs.

Chapter 11: Conclusion and recommendations

This chapter outlines the decisions that need to be taken by the JCCCG to determine the final
configuration of stroke services across Kent and Medway and the expected timeline for decision
making.

Page 54



DRAFT v0.6

1 Introduction

1.1 Stroke Review background

The Kent and Medway Stroke Review was commissioned in December 2014 in response to concerns
by Kent and Medway CCGs about the performance and sustainability of hospital stroke services
across all units in Kent and Medway. Stroke services in Kent and Medway do not consistently meet
the national standards for clinical quality. Local units treat fewer patients than recommended, there
are a lack of specialist staff available 24 hours a day, seven days a week and many patients do not
receive the most appropriate treatment within recommended time limits. In response to this, the
CCGs and hospital trusts were tasked with developing proposals to improve outcomes for patients,
reducing deaths and disability.

A Stroke Programme Board was established in January 2015, supported by a Clinical Reference
Group, with oversight from the South East Cardio Vascular Network and the national Clinical Director
for stroke services.

1.2 Introduction to Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Partnership

Sustainability and Transformation Plans were proposed in the annual NHS planning guidance
delivering the Forward View: NHS planning guidance 2016/17 — 2020/21, issued in December 2015,
The further development of Sustainability and Transformation Plans, and a recognition that these
arrangements are about collective system leadership, led to the establishment of Sustainability and
Transformation Partnerships following Next Steps on the Five Year Forward View?, published in
March 2017.

To deliver on the Five Year Forward View, every area in the country was asked to produce a five-
year, place-based Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) plan. The Kent and Medway
footprint includes eight CCGs, two local authorities, four acute trusts, one social care and mental
health trust, one community trust, two non-NHS community providers and one ambulance service
trust. On 21 October 2016, Kent and Medway STP set out clear plans to achieve the triple aim of
closing gaps in health and wellbeing, care and quality, and finance and efficiency for the local
population of 1.8 million people.

In March 2017, the Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Partnership published a
case for change to improve health and social services and recognised that the Stroke Review should
continue at pace with changes to stroke services being a priority. In May 2017, the work already
undertaken by the Stroke Review was integrated into the Sustainability and Transformation
Partnership (STP) governance structure.

An extensive engagement plan has underpinned the Stroke Review process and this iterative
process. The work has been developed iteratively with members of the public, patients and key
stakeholders, including the Stroke Association, to build the case for change and work through the
possible options for hospital stroke services in Kent and Medway.

Page 55



DRAFT v0.6

1.3 Overview of Stroke Review and purpose of document

1.3.1 Overview of Stroke Review timeline
The Stroke Review has been a five-step process which started in December 2014 with planned
implementation of changes from January 2019. The five steps of the process are:

e Confirm case for change and vision (December 2014 to December 2016): including
establishing the Stroke Review, publishing the case for change and undertaking significant
pre-consultation stakeholder engagement.

e Development of clinical model and options (January 2017 to February 2018): including
agreeing the clinical model, identifying options for consultation, developing this PCBC and
continued stakeholder engagement.

e Consultation (February 2018 to April 2018): public consultation including extensive
stakeholder engagement across the affected population.

e Decision-making (April 2018 to January 2019): consideration of the feedback from
consultation and decision-making on the recommended option to implement following
engagement and consultation.

e Transition to implementation (planned January 2019 onwards): implementation of the
agreed option.

This timeline is shown at a high level in Figure 1.

Figure 1: high-level Stroke Review timeline

and Vision

Curing thiz phasze, the

benefitz framework
= Undertook pre-

Dec 2014- Dec 16

Confirm Case for Change

lanli-lanld

Developmentof

clinical model
and options

Duwring thic phasze the

options
= Developed the Pre-

Durring this phaze the

= Engaged with 3 wide

Feb—April 18

Consultation

individual households

April 18—1an 19

Decision Making

To date during this phasze

ke review: stroke review; stroke review; the st'a!:e review has;
e = Further developed the | - Promoted the = Considened

* Established clinical maode consultation widely consultation
govemance = agreed 3 mediom ist aonoss Kent and responses in the

- Fublished Case for of site specific options Medway through a development of the
Change (July 15) « Evaluated the medium variety of channels evaluation criteria for

= Agreed vision for list of oiptions against inchuding leaflets, the preferred option
stroke cane in Kent riteria social and other = Deveboped and
and Medway = Conducted sensitivity mediz and dinect refined the evaluation

= Developed the analysis on shortlist of information to criteria through

extensive involvement
with clinicianz and key

consultation Consultation Business range of stakeholders stakeholders
stakeholder Caze [PCEC) throwsh lictening = Further developed the
engagement with = Continued events, intensisws, cinical meode:
dlinicians, engagement with face to face including
commizsioners wide range of discussions amd rehabilitation and TIA
providers, pat':ent stakeholders mestings pathways
and other loca * Camied outan «  Agreed the prefemed
stakeholders Integrated Impact option subject to final

Assessment dedision in January

= Flanned the publc 2019
consultation

implementation

1.3.2 Governance arrangements

The CCG Governing Bodies, through a Joint Committee of Clinical Commissioning Groups (JCCCG)
will make the final decision on the Stroke Review. The JCCCG comprises the eight CCGs in Kent and
Medway plus two other CCGs with substantially affected populations; Bexley CCG and High Weald
Lewes Havens CCG. Bromley CCG has decided not to be part of the Joint Committee of CCGs in
recognition of the potential impact on activity and patient flows at the Princess Royal Hospital within

10
Page 56



DRAFT v0.6

its CCG area, preferring instead to be a consultee and to respond to the consultation with this in
mind. The CCGs’ Accountable Officer weekly meeting has acted as a Steering Group for the Stroke
Review on behalf of the CCGs, where required between meetings of the JCCCG.

A Stroke Programme Board works directly to the JCCCG and makes recommendations on changes to
stroke services in Kent and Medway. It comprises of commissioners and providers from across Kent
and Medway plus patient, local authority and Stroke Association representatives. The Stroke
Programme Board provides oversight and steer to the work of the Stroke Review and is accountable
for providing recommendations on the future of hospital stroke services in Kent and Medway. It was
established in January 2015. It is chaired by the Stroke Review Senior Responsible Officer. The
governance structure is shown in Figure 2.

Figure 2: Kent and Medway STP governance structure
Direct reporting line

""""""""" Provide input/sign-off, as required
G overnance Stru Ctu re Updated on progress and asked for feedback

STP Programme Board

Stroke Programme Board

Patient and Public

Advisory Group

STP Finance Group

STP Clinical and
Professional Board
Operational Planning
Group

Stroke Clinical Reference
Group

Communications and il
Engagement Group '

Integrated Impact

Assessment T&F Group (LI U GJREE

There are several groups working to the Stroke Programme Board who are doing more detailed work
as part of the development of these proposals. These include:

o Stroke Clinical Reference Group: the Stroke Programme Board is advised by the Clinical
Reference Group which provides clinical leadership and input to the Stroke Review but is not
decision making. It was established in January 2015. It has an independent clinical chair and
comprises clinical members (including nurses) from provider trusts and the ambulance
service plus patient representatives. A Rehabilitation Task and Finish Group, reporting to the
Clinical Reference Group, has done detailed work on the rehabilitation pathway.

e Operational Planning Group: the Operational Planning Group leads on the detailed
development of plans for implementation. It is comprised of representatives from providers
and the ambulance service.

e Integrated Impact Assessment Task and Finish Group: this group has reviewed the
recommendations arising from the Integrated Impact Assessment with a focus on equalities
and health inequality. It comprises representatives from CCGs, local authorities and patient
representatives.

11
Page 57



DRAFT v0.6

e Communications and Engagement Group: the Communications and Engagement Group
ensures that communications and engagement is taking place as required. It is a small
working group which has been in place to co-ordinate the development of the consultation
materials and consultation plan. It comprises operational managers leading on various
aspects of communications and engagement.

The work of the Stroke Programme Board is also supported by STP groups to ensure coherence with
other workstreams within Kent and Medway:

e STP Programme Board: Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Partnership is
overseen by a Programme Board. This group brings together senior leaders from across the
health and social care system including Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) Accountable
Officers, provider Chief Executives, Kent County Council and Medway Unitary Authority
representatives (including elected council leaders), NHS England and NHS Improvement
representatives. Additionally, representatives from other STP groups attend, including the
chairs of the STP Clinical Board and Finance Group, the STP Programme Director and the
Chief Executive of Healthwatch Kent (chair of the STP PPAG). The STP Programme Board is
chaired by the Chief Executive of the STP.

e STP Clinical and Professional Board: comprising of senior clinical and professional leaders
from the STP members i.e. provider Medical Directors, CCG clinical chairs, Directors of Public
Health, nursing representatives, allied health professional and social care. The Board
provides visible, collective clinical leadership, oversees the clinical workstreams and ensures
that they result in a coherent clinical model of high-quality services with good outcomes. It is
co-chaired by a provider Medical Director and CCG clinical chair who also sit on the STP
Programme Board.

e Finance Group: comprising the Chief Finance Officers and Directors of Finance from CCGs
and providers. The group provides financial leadership and strategic advice and guidance for
the development and delivery of the STP. It is responsible for ensuring that the STP makes
the best use of available resources for the health of the population of Kent and Medway.
This group is chaired by a provider Finance Director who also sits on the STP Programme
Board.

e Patient and Public Advisory Group: this engages patient representatives and members of
the public to help shape the Stroke Review. The group advises the Stroke Programme Board
on key issues as they relate to the people of Kent and Medway. This group is chaired by the
Chief Executive of Healthwatch Kent, who also sits on the STP Programme Board.

There are a number of enabler workstreams that underpin the development of the STP including:

o  Workforce: supports the ability of Kent and Medway to plan, recruit, inspire and retain the
skilled health and care workers needed to deliver high-quality services — including
partnership with local universities to develop a medical school. The workstream involves a
range of clinicians, operational management, human resources and finance.

o Digital: delivers the digital capabilities and components necessary to support the clinical
work streams. The work stream has been developed from the four Local Digital Roadmaps
(LDRs) that have been developed within Kent and Medway to deliver paperless working at
the point of care by 2020/2021. The LDR encourages service user empowerment through

12
Page 58



DRAFT v0.6

technology and will drive the use of familiar consumer technology to support greater self-
care, improvements in health and wellbeing, and access to services.

e Estates: works to develop a credible strategic estates plan and identify areas where
improvements can be achieved in order to ensure the sustainability not only of acute NHS
Trusts, but also providers of mental health, community and social care services.

Additionally, there are other organisations that are not members of the STP but play an important
role in the work of the Stroke Review.

e The NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England) is responsible for overseeing the budget,
planning and day to day operation of the commissioners in England, as set out by the Health
and Social Care Act 2012. NHS England is required to undertake assurance of all substantial
transformation plans.

e The Kent and Medway NHS Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (JHOSC) brings
together elected representatives from the relevant HOSCs (Kent County Council and
Medway Unitary Authority, plus London Borough of Bexley and East Sussex County Council)
and Healthwatch Kent. It informs the Stroke Review whether it considers that consultation is
required regarding proposed service changes.

1.4 Purpose and scope of DMBC

The decision-making business case (DMBC) is a technical and analytical document that sets out the
information necessary for the JCCCG to make informed decisions about the future configuration of
stroke services in Kent and Medway, following public consultation on proposed changes. It sets out
the robust process of evaluation that has been undertaken to identify proposals for change, the
findings from the public consultation process and how the programme has responded, the preferred
option and the implications of this option. The document includes:

e The vision, case for change and clinical model

e The decision-making process including the response to public consultation and the process
undertaken to arrive at a preferred option

o The implications of the preferred option in terms of activity, equalities, travel and access,
finance, capital, estates and workforce

e The benefits that will be realised and how they will be assessed and measured

o The next steps to support implementation and how clinical safety will be maintained in the
transition period.

The DMBC is a published document but it is not intended to be the main mechanism through which
Stroke Review is explained to the public. Further information on planned communications and
engagement during implementation can be found in Section 9.5. Further Stroke Review
documentation and information can be found on the website at http://kentandmedway.nhs.uk/stp/.

13
Page 59


http://kentandmedway.nhs.uk/stp/

DRAFT v0.6

2 Case for Change

There are currently no specialist acute stroke units in Kent and Medway. Stroke services in Kent and
Medway do not consistently meet the national standards for clinical quality. Six out of seven local
units treat fewer patients than recommended, there are a lack of specialist staff available 24 hours a
day, seven days a week and many patients do not receive the most appropriate diagnostics and
treatment within recommended time limits. The evidence shows that non-compliance with
standards for clinical quality results in disability, poor quality of life and avoidable deaths. The case
for change is overwhelming and services need to change as quickly as possible.

The case for change was developed by clinicians with involvement from representatives of patient
groups and the public, provider organisations and health and social care managers. During
consultation, there was broad agreement from respondents of the case for change. The key
elements of the case for change are set out below. The stroke case for change was published in July
2015 and was updated as part of the Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation
Partnership case for change which was published in March 2017. This version of the case for change
was updated and published in February 2018 as part of the Pre consultation Business Case. The
stroke case for change is available at Appendix B and the Kent and Medway case for change is on the
website http://kentandmedway.nhs.uk/stp/. The detailed evidence review undertaken by Kent and
Medway Public Health Observatory to support the case for change is available at Appendix C.

2.1 Background to stroke services

A stroke is the brain equivalent of a heart attack. The blood supply to part of the brain is interrupted
by either a blood clot or a bleed, and surrounding brain tissue is damaged or dies. There are two
main types of stroke, ischaemic or haemorrhagic stroke. Ischaemic strokes are the most common
form of stroke, caused by a clot blocking or narrowing an artery carrying blood to the brain, whilst
haemorrhagic strokes are more likely to be fatal. Some patients may suffer from a Transient
Ischaemic Attack (TIA), a temporary stroke that occurs when the blood supply to part of the brain is
cut off for a short time only. This results in short term symptoms which normally disappear within 24
hours. This is often a warning that the patient may be at risk of a more serious stroke occurring. A
haemorrhagic stroke is where a blood vessel bursts or leaks and blood spills into or around the brain
and creates swelling and pressure, damaging cells and tissue in the brain. This is more likely to have
a poor outcome and even death. The likelihood of suffering a stroke increases with age and smoking,
amongst other factors.

Stroke is a major health problem in the UK. It is a preventable and treatable disease which,
nevertheless, is the third biggest cause of death in the UK and the largest single cause of severe
disability. Each year in England, approximately 110,000 people® have a first or recurrent stroke which
costs the NHS over £2.8 billion. South Asians (Indians, Pakistanis and Bangladeshis) have a higher risk
of stroke than the rest of the population. Stroke mortality rates in the UK have been falling steadily
since the late 1960s. The development of stroke units and the further reorganisation of services
following the advent of thrombolysis (the use of drugs to reduce clots), have resulted in further
significant improvements in mortality and morbidity from stroke®.

Patients with any type of stroke should receive their care on a specialist stroke unit. Initially this will
be on a hyper acute stroke unit and then after 72 hours it will be on an acute stroke unit; some
hospitals have combined units. Hyper acute stroke units enable patients to have rapid access to the
right skills and equipment and be treated 24/7 on a dedicated stroke unit, staffed by specialist
teams. Following a stroke, a patient is taken directly to a hyper acute stroke unit where they will

14
Page 60



http://kentandmedway.nhs.uk/stp/

DRAFT v0.6

receive expert care, including immediate assessment, access to a CT scan and clot-busting drugs (if
appropriate) within 30 minutes of arrival at the hospital. Acute stroke units (ASUs) are for
subsequent (after 72 hours) hospital care. These units offer ongoing specialist care with 7-day
therapies services (physiotherapy, occupational therapy, speech and language therapy, dietetics
input) and effective multi-disciplinary team (MDT) working.

Stroke services have been reconfigured across the country and consolidating services to provide
rapid access to specialist staff, equipment and imaging has been demonstrated to improve quality
and outcomes for patients. For example, in London, the reconfiguration of urgent stroke services in
2010 led to an increase in thrombolysis rates from 12% in Feb-July 2010 to 18% in Jan-July 2012 and
saved almost 100 lives per year®.

2.2 Stroke in Kent and Medway

Kent and Medway comprises eight CCGs — Ashford, Canterbury and Coastal, Dartford Gravesham
and Swanley, Medway, South Kent Coast, Swale, Thanet and West Kent — which cover the areas of
Kent County Council and Medway Unitary Authority. It includes the city of Canterbury (population
¢.160,000) in the east, the large market town of Maidstone (population ¢.165,000) in the west, and
Medway, a large unitary authority (population c. 278,542). This large geographical area (1,368
square miles)® includes many smaller towns and villages and rural areas, and borders with London in
the north west. Kent and Medway has a long coastline which gives rise to challenges in providing
accessible services. The number of people living in Kent and Medway is approximately 1.8 million’
and this is projected to increase to 2.2 million people by 2031 due to the aging population and
people moving into the area®. Some people in neighbouring CCGs including Bexley CCG, Bromley
CCG and High Weald Lewes Haven CCG also use hospital stroke services in Kent and Medway.

Stroke prevalence across the Kent and Medway CCGs is around the national average of 1.7% with
higher prevalence in West Kent (1.8), Ashford (1.8) Canterbury (1.9) and Thanet (2.1), as shown in
Figure 3. Neighbouring CCG High Weald, Lewes and Haven also as a higher than average prevalence
(2.0). Stroke care accounts for about 4.5% of total spending on healthcare in Kent and Medway with
an average £7,000 per year spent on people who have had a stroke (compared to an average £2,700
per year for those who have not)°.

15
Page 61



DRAFT v0.6

Figure 3: stroke and atrial fibrillation prevalence, population and deprivation
Stroke and atrial fibrillation prevalence, population and deprivation by CCG

(L] (L]

= 8 o o

@ o o

X © - -

- @ o [

8 s 5 3

= [ = i1
SIE 18 16 12 14 18 19 14 21 20 15 17
prevalence (%)
Atrial
fibrillation 2.0 1.7 1.5 1.6 24 22 24 2.2 P 1.6 1.7
prevalence (%)
% population
over 65 17.8 16.1 14.4 17.0 17.8 19.6 215 215 227 16.5 17.7
% of people in
the most
deprived 3.6 124 201 23.8 1.1 10.1 it 35.9 0.9 5.6 20.1
quintile

e TWH, QEH,
‘::I“t;'“'"g MGH DVH MMH MMH  WHH c;(égﬁ.q "“Egg QEQM BTS\L":' PRUH,
(MMH) DVH

It is estimated that across Kent and Medway there are currently nearly 1.2 million adults who have
two or more unhealthy lifestyle behaviours such as smoking and obesity® which increase their risk
of avoidable disease and disability such as stroke:

e Smoking: despite the decline in the number of people who smoke, smoking remains the
main cause of preventable disease in the UK, accountable for 1 in 6 of all deaths in England.
Smoking is a key risk factor for stroke. Mortality rates due to smoking are three times higher
in the most deprived areas than in the most affluent areas. Smoking prevalence has
decreased nationally from 18.4% in 2013 to 18% in 2014 but Kent and Medway prevalence
rates have not decreased proportionately and are above the national average®?.

e Obesity: obesity is a major cause of many diseases including stroke and, on average, obesity
deprives people of an extra nine years of life'2. Obesity is a serious and growing problem and
the number of people admitted to hospital because of obesity tripled from 2006/7 to
2011/12%,

Over the next five years in Kent and Medway the number of people with major health problems are
projected to increase significantly, and, if there were no further lifestyle changes or interventions
from public health and primary care, the number of people living with cardio vascular disease would
increase by 24,000 (from 176,000 to 200,000)**. However, evidence shows that the incidence of
stroke is reducing nationally'® and it is expected that improved public health and prevention will
reduce this number significantly. Recently published evidence shows that optimal anti-hypertensive
treatment of diagnosed hypertensives could avert 330 heart attacks and 500 strokes within 3 years,
and those optimally treating high risk atrial fibrillation patients could avert 470 strokes within 3
years'®. Initiatives already underway in Kent and Medway are shown in Section 3.3.1 and have been
aligned with the Joint Strategic Needs Assessments.

16
Page 62



DRAFT v0.6

2.3 Providers of hospital stroke services in Kent and Medway

In Kent and Medway, hospital stroke services are provided on all seven acute hospital sites (although
they are currently withdrawn on safety grounds from Kent and Canterbury Hospital)'’. An average
total of 3,010 (updated to 3,054 for the DMBC analysis — details in Appendix D) strokes are treated
for patients in the Kent and Medway catchment area (defined as people for whom a Kent and
Medway acute hospital site is the closest site in terms of travel time) each year®®. This is shown in
Figure 4. There are also variable rehabilitation provision and early supported discharge services
available.

Figure 4: providers of hospital stroke service in Kent and Medway

Location of hospital stroke services

NHS Dartford &

Gravesham CCG
> o / NHS NHS Swale Key:
Medwa cce .
ool NHS | © K&M hospital
o DVH Thanet .
1 Out of area hospital

cce (o]

z::terbury & QEQM - Queen Elizabeth Queen

o : Coa O:CG Mother Hospital (EKHUFT)
3 K&C - Kentand Canterbury Hospital
o =le K&C (EKHUFT)
E I NHS West WHH - William Harvey Hospital
'@ Kentccs s Ashford (o) N"'Cs 5°:‘g‘c‘é°'f' (EKHIFT)

I MMH - Medway Maritime Hospital

(MFT)

MGH - Maidstone General Hospital
(MTW)

TWH — Tunbridge Wells Hospital (MTW)
DVH - Darent Valley Hospital (D&G)

PRUH - Princess Royal University
Hospital (KCH)

- Of =+ ]

ESH - East Surrey Hospital (SASH)

RSCH - Royal Sussex County Hospital
(BSUH)

EDGH - Eastbourne District General
| Hospital (EDGH)

I *Stroke services are currently withdrawn on safety grounds from K&C

There are four hospital trusts providing hospital stroke services across the seven sites. The trusts are:

o Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust which provides hospital stroke services in Dartford
(Darent Valley Hospital).

e East Kent Hospitals University NHS Foundation Trust which provides hospital stroke
services from two sites in Ashford (William Harvey Hospital) and Margate (Queen Elizabeth,
the Queen Mother Hospital). Kent and Canterbury Hospital does not currently provide
hospital stroke services due to the withdrawal of training doctors by Health Education
England in March 2017. This was because of insufficient consultant supervision of junior
doctors. Following the withdrawal of junior doctors, the Trust carried out a temporary
emergency transfer of services on the grounds of patient safety.

e Medway NHS Foundation Trust which provides hospital stroke services in Gillingham
(Medway Hospital).

e Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust which provides hospital stroke services from
two sites, in Maidstone (Maidstone General Hospital) and Tunbridge Wells (Tunbridge Wells
Hospital).

17
Page 63



DRAFT v0.6

People in Kent and Medway also use stroke services provided by hospitals outside Kent and
Medway. This includes the Princess Royal University Hospital in Orpington (part of Kings College
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust), East Surrey Hospital in Redhill (part of Surrey and Sussex Healthcare
NHS Trust) and Eastbourne District General Hospital (part of East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust).
Further detail of the hospital stroke services provided by each site can be found at Appendix E.

There are 154 beds for stroke patients in Kent and Medway. The breakdown of these beds by site is
shown in Figure 5 (please note that the updated bed numbers for 2017/18 shown in Appendix F
show 153 beds which is 1 fewer than 2016/17 — this is due to changes in the catchment area for the
PRUH which results in fewer modelled beds).

Figure 5: stroke beds in Kent and Medway, by site
Number of stroke beds available to K&M patients

23 23

Darent VValley Hospital 0
Maidstone General Hospital 0 11.5 11.5
Tunbridge Wells Hospital 0 13.6 13.6
2016/17
actual Medway Maritime Hospital 0 26 26
SLCl  \illiam Harvey Hospital 0 24 24
beds
Queen Elizabeth Queen Mother 0 22 22
Kent and Canterbury Hospital 0 24 24
Princess Royal University Hospital 3 7 10
Total 3 151 154

SOURCE: Trustreturns 16/17

*Modelled beds based on DVH catchment area patient activity using 13-day method (20% of stroke patients are discharged after 2-day HASU stay, 13% of patients
of stroke patients are discharged after 3-day HASU stay , with remaining two-thirds staying a further 15 days in ASU. Includes TIA uplift (10% activity, one-day
HASU stay) and Mimic uplift (25% activity, two-day HASU stay).

For Kent and Medway hospitals, these figures represent the actual beds physically available for
stroke at each site. However, it should be noted that Kent and Canterbury Hospital does

not currently provide hospital stroke services due to the withdrawal of training doctors by Health
Education England in March 2017, so these beds are therefore temporarily unavailable to the
population.

Ten beds have been included at the Princess Royal University Hospital (PRUH), however this figure
has been modelled based on the Kent and Medway activity seen at the PRUH and is therefore
representative of capacity being used currently, rather than confirmed ring-fenced stroke beds
available to Kent and Medway patients (please note that the number of modelled beds at the PRUH
in the 2017/18 update is 8 due to refreshed activity data and changes in the catchment areas — see
Appendix F for further details).

Due to these complexities, and in order to best understand current capacity on an accurate and
consistent basis, the required beds have been modelled based on activity, using current average
length of stay and bed occupancy levels. This approach indicates a starting point of 134 beds for

18
Page 64



DRAFT v0.6

stroke patients in Kent and Medway — 20 beds fewer than the 154 beds that are identified as
physically available (please note that the number of modelled beds in the refreshed activity data is
132 beds due to refreshed activity data and changes in the catchment areas — see Appendix F for
further details.

Stroke rehabilitation beds are provided in many sites across Kent and Medway, predominantly by
Kent Community Health Foundation Trust, Medway Community Healthcare, Maidstone and
Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust, Kent and Medway Partnership Trust and Virgin Health. The referral and
care pathways for these beds are variable and not all are dedicated to stroke patients. The multi-
disciplinary team approach also differs across the sites.

2.4 Key challenges

There is a wealth of evidence that the way hospital stroke services are organised can have a major
impact on outcomes after stroke. Specifically,*’:

e That the most important care for people with any form of stroke is prompt admission to a
specialist stroke unit; in Kent and Medway there are currently no hyper acute stroke units
(there are acute stroke services but none that provide the 24/7 cover and access to specialist
skills that are required for a hyper acute stroke unit).

e That a stroke unit undertakes adequate volumes of activity to maintain clinical quality and
outcomes; in Kent and Medway, only one hospital sees the minimum number of stroke
patients required.

e That hyper acute stroke services enable patients to have rapid access to the right skills and
equipment and be treated 24/7 on a dedicated stroke unit, staffed by specialist, multi-
disciplinary teams; in Kent and Medway there are insufficient stroke consultants and other
specialist staff.

e For brain imaging to be urgently available with access to other imaging and good
interpretation; over one third of patients in Kent and Medway do not have a scan within the
recommended 1 hour of admission to hospital.

e That following a brain scan, suitable patients should have thrombolysis (an injection to help
dissolve the blood clot) as soon as possible and within 2 hours of arriving at hospital®.

e That patients are transferred home as soon as possible with no gaps (early supported
discharge where appropriate).

Kent and Medway providers have struggled to meet the quality standards of the national Stroke
Sentinel National Audit Programme (which measure whether services are delivering quality
standards)? for many years with a range of achievement across the region (see Appendix G for a full
list of the stroke quality standards). Most scores are below average and although there have been
some improvements since June 2014, this has been slow and is inconsistent. This is shown in Figure
6.

1 Kent and Medway have adopted a standard of 120 minutes call to needle (thrombolysis) per the guidance in NHS South
East Clinical Networks, Stroke and TIA Service and Quality Core Standards, 2016

19
Page 65



DRAFT v0.6

Figure 6: Kent and Medway provider performance against SSNAP standards?!

Perfo rmance agai nst targets ' Below Top Quartile O Equivalentto Top Quar‘cileo Above Top Quartile

Aims

Rapid and accurate diagnosis Imaging within one hour of admission

National recommendation/Target DVH MMH MGH TWH National 1
Quartile

Direct admission

Patients admitted directly onto a specialist
stroke unit within four hours

Patients stay in the stroke unit for 90% of the
inpatient episode

Immediate access to
treatment

Thrombolysis within 60 mins

Applicable patients assessed by speech and
language therapist within 72 hours

Specialist centres with
sufficient numbers of
patients and expert staff

Assess patients by specialist stroke consultant
and within 24 hours.

Assess patients by stroke trained nurse and
therapist within 24 hours.

Multidisciplinary teams

MDT assessment, to include specialist
physicians, nurses , therapists. A wider group of
specialist is increasingly advised including
clinical psychology, dietetics.

Partial  Partial  Partial  Partial

24 hour access, 7 days a
week

7 day stroke consultant ward rounds

OOH access to consultant assessment for v v
thrombolysis

Patient volumes that deliver
clinical sustainability

7 day stroke trained nurse and therapist cover Partial Partial R\\
> 500 confirmed stroke admissions Y \ \\
\

SSNAP performance
Dec 2016-Mar 2017

wen .

Notes:

' Only available 5 days a week
2 OOH rota is networked across 3 sites with the use of telemedicine; rota is fragile given combined contribution to HCOOP rota simultaneously
¥ Do not meet national guidelines

SOURCE: South East Coast Clinical and Quality standards for stroke, SSNAP audit (April 2016-Mar 2017)

The evidence?? shows that compliance with the quality standards delivers an improvement in:
e 6 and 12 month modified Rankin scale outcomes (the Rankin scale is used to measure the
degree of disability or dependence in the daily activities of people who have suffered a
stroke or other causes of neurological disability).

o The percentage of stroke patients returning home.

e Reducing the percentage of patients being discharged to a residential / nursing home.

e Increasing the percentage of patients returning to work.

e Patients and carers outcomes relating to quality of life scores such as Euro-QOL, SF-36, the
Stroke Impact Scale, and the Stroke Carer Burden Scale.

The current poor performance against quality standards means that no hospital stroke service in
Kent and Medway receives the full Best Practice Tariff (an additional payment for meeting a sub-set
of the targets). This leads to a cost pressure for providers if they try to deliver 7-day services.

2.4.1 Volumes of clinical activity

Only one of the Kent and Medway stroke units (Medway Hospital) currently sees the recommended
minimum levels of stroke patients required to deliver the highest quality clinical care and the quality
standards. This recommendation is for over 500 confirmed stroke patients a year?>. Six of the seven
hospital stroke services currently see, on average, fewer than 500 confirmed stroke patients per
year, as shown in Figure 7.

20
Page 66



DRAFT v0.6

Figure 7: hospital stroke activity in hospitals in Kent and Medway?*

In 2016/17 there were 3,146 confirmed strokes in the Kent and
Medway catchment area

Darent.Valley Queen Elizabeth | Key
Hospitdl o 434 Queen Mother
- Dartford and
Cro % Gravesham NHS
. ~ 7 : Trust
om  Princess Royz rus
University
ills Medway NHS
‘rng Has °slone Foundation Trust
auty ) aidstone
East pyy B8 Tonbridge  General Maidstone and
Surre Hospital - Tunbridge Wells
Hospital NHS Trust
Crawley
East Kent
1 I University
[423] Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust
- King's College
Royal Sussex Battle :lospgalt‘NH.Sr,
County - oundation Trust
ewes
Hospital EZS'MM’@: D‘S:"IC' Hastings East Sussex
B"‘O’ enera’ "eeP=2 I Healthcare NHS
== Newhaven Trust
Eas¥odrne
SOURCE: Providerdata returns (16/17)for KM\W sites; PRUH SUS data 2016/17; Camall Farrar analysis (September2017); ONS population data (2015), IMD
leprivation ap travel time car, off-peak); ONS
NOTE:PRUH m nt ed the PRUH buthave a shortertravel time to DVH from home LSOA); EDGH patients identified by assessingthe

LZ&HCH'T]CNLSQ/\S (t avel time to a

A site) and assessing age and deprivationfor average incidence

2.4.2 Access to specialists

Workforce is the key limiting factor in delivering the quality standards and providing services 24
hours a day, 7 days a week. This is particularly relevant for stroke consultants and the total number
of stroke consultants across Kent and Medway is 70% below the recommended level. In Kent and
Medway on 315t March 2017 there were 10 WTE stroke consultants in post; to meet the required

standards in the existing configuration of services, an additional 32 consultants would be required.
This is shown in Figure 8.

21
Page 67



DRAFT v0.6

Figure 8: gap in stroke consultants required to run a 24/7 consultant-led service on 7 sites?
[DN: cross-reference with section 8.5.4.1]

Consultant workforce

Number of WTE Funded number WTE consultants | Shortfall in

consultants of WTE required to consultants in
consultants deliver a 1:6 rota | post
Maidstone
General Hospital
Tunbridge Wells 0.7 2 6 B.E
Hospital
Medway Maritime 2.5 285 6 3.5
Hospital
Kent & Canterbury 0.6 1.8 6 54
Hospital
Queen Elizabeth 1.8 1.8 6 4.2
Queen Mother
Hospital
William Harvey 1.8 1.8 6 4.2
Hospital
Darent Valley 1.6 1.7 6 4.4
Hospital
Total 9.9 13.6 42 321
Notes: 1 WTE = 10 Pas, 1:6 rota required to deliver 24/7 service
SOURCE: Providerdata returns March 2017

In Kent and Medway, the required standards for minimum staffing levels for other clinical staff (such
as stroke nurses) are also not being met. For a HASU/ASU, an additional 51 WTE would be required
in total to meet these standards on all the seven sites. There is a shortage of skilled staff in some
areas including speech and language therapists, clinical psychologists and occupational therapists for
stroke services and there will not be enough skilled staff to meet future demand. It is not possible to
simply recruit more staff. There is a national shortage of stroke consultants with the most recent
SSNAP data® showing 40% of all stroke consultant posts across the country are vacant.

2.4.3 Length of stay

Getting people out of hospital and into rehabilitation as quickly as possible is crucial in delivering
high quality care and better outcomes. It is also expensive to keep people in hospital if they can be
safely cared for elsewhere. In Kent and Medway, the length of stay for people who have had a stroke
is an average 15.6 days?’. This is higher than has been achieved in areas which developed hyper
acute stroke units?.

2.4.4 Financial considerations
An estimated £13.6m was spent by CCGs on acute stroke activity in the Kent and Medway catchment
area in 2016/17. Hospital stroke services are currently running at an estimated £7.8 million deficit.

22
Page 68



DRAFT v0.6

2.5 Conclusion

The challenges facing hospital stroke services in Kent and Medway mean that patients and carers are
experiencing:

e poorer health outcomes

o longer lengths of stay

e poorer long-term quality of life

e increased likelihood of admission to residential or nursing homes
e overwhelmed staff who are struggling to deliver services

e financially unsustainable services

The case for change is overwhelming and services need to change as quickly as possible.

23
Page 69



DRAFT v0.6

3 Clinical vision for the future

The vision is to improve patient outcomes by delivering high quality stroke services 24 hours a day,
seven days a week through the development of new, co-located hyper acute and acute stroke units
alongside 7-day specialist TIA clinics for high risk patients. These units will be staffed by specialists all
day, every day and will make sure that patients receive diagnosis and care within national quality
standards. Each unit will see the minimum number of patients required by national guidelines. This
will reduce the number of deaths from stroke and reduce disability and improve quality of life for
people who have had a stroke.

3.1 Overall vision

Our aspiration for health and social care in Kent and Medway is a model which prevents ill-health,
intervenes earlier and delivers excellent, integrated care closer to home. Our vision is that patients
in Kent and Medway:

e Are supported to self-care where appropriate

e Have easy access to advice when needed in person and using technology

e (Can access care through most appropriate pathway

e Are rapidly triaged to the most appropriate provider

e Consistently receive care which is in line with best practice

e Have optimised experience and outcomes 7 days a week

3.2 Ambition for stroke services

For hospital stroke services, the ambition is to deliver clinically sustainable, high quality stroke
services that are accessible to Kent and Medway residents 24 hours a day, seven days a week. The
new model of care will:

1. Fulfil the best practice recommendations as set out in the National Stroke Strategy 2007%;

Deliver improved quality of care, patient experience and patient outcomes; and

3. Support the sustainability of Kent and Medway stroke services by consolidating hospital
stroke care, as required.

N

It will deliver several benefits for patients, as shown in Section 10 including:

e More people will survive a stroke

e Improved quality of life and independence for people who have had a stroke

e Greater number of people being able to return home rather than go into residential or
nursing care after a stroke

e Reduced length of stay in hospital after a stroke

e Better access to high quality services and expertise

The issues with urgent stroke care identified in the case for change (see Section 2) will be addressed
including:
e The development of hyper acute stroke units to which patients can be directly admitted
within a maximum of four hours of arriving at hospital
e Anincrease in the number of stroke patients seen at each unit to meet national quality
guidelines on minimum throughput
e Increasing access to specialist staff and equipment all day every day

24
Page 70




DRAFT v0.6

e Ensuring eligible patients receive thrombolysis within 120 minutes of calling an ambulance
with a suspected stroke

e Enabling most patients to access brain imaging within one hour of admission to hospital

e Delivering assessment by a multi-disciplinary team for 7 days a week in all units

e Supporting hospitals to achieve an overall A grade for SSNAP performance

Ultimately the ambition is to reduce the number of people who have a stroke, provide the best
possible care to those who do, reduce the number of deaths from a stroke and improve the outlook
for those who survive.

3.3 The stroke pathway

Although this DMBC focuses on the consolidation of hospital stroke care through the development
of HASUs/ASUs, the commitment is to ensure that improvements are achieved across the whole
pathway. The stroke pathway can be separated into three sections, as shown in Figure 9:

e Prevention: supporting people to follow healthy lifestyles and reducing the numbers of
people who are at risk of, or experience, a stroke.

e Urgent (acute): care whilst a person is experiencing a stroke, mainly focusing on getting a
person to urgent care services as quickly as possible and then providing the highest quality
care.

e Rehabilitation: rehabilitation following a stroke to give the highest quality of life possible in
a setting of care as close to home as possible. Rehabilitation should start on day 1 of a
stroke.

The focus of this DMBC is on the urgent (acute) part of the stroke pathway and the most detail is
given on this in this document. However, it is recognised that in order to achieve the very best
outcomes for patients, effective and comprehensive stroke rehabilitation is essential. Section 3.4
details the work being undertaken to ensure an improvement in stroke rehabilitation services in
Kent and Medway.

25
Page 71



DRAFT v0.6

Figure 9: the full stroke pathway

I

The full stroke pathway

© e I3 » (O

Initi

Ongoing
assessment

. Transfer of Ongoin
Prevention geing
care care

assessment

Identification and
management of medical risk
factors in primary care —
obesity, inactivity, diabetes,
atrial fibrillation and
hypertension etc.

Reduction in smoking rates
Increase use of statins
Campaigns to raise

awareness in hard-to-reach
and at-risk groups

Notificationto HASU of FAST+ patients
en route with bypass of Emergency
Dept.

24/7 access to specialistassessment
and scans

Clearly defined pathways for mimic and
TIA patients

If appropriate thrombolysis
administered within 30 mins of arrival
(agreed pathways and agreements with
specified regional neuroradiology
centres for mechanical thrombectomy)

On discharge from the ASU
the stroke team will work
with the patient and their
carers to determine next
steps

There are four pathways
patients will be referred into
based on the multi-
disciplinary team'’s
assessmentand the
patient’s wishes (Ranging
from therapy at home with
ICST support and ESD to
discharge to residential

i nursing home)
- Transfer to a HASU bed for maximum

72 hour length of stay - Accessto a range of support

. . services available
- If required, transfer to ASU bed until

medically fit for discharge where there
are consultant led ward rounds and
access to a full MDT team

SOURCE: Guidal on the use of drugs for early thrombolysis in the treatment of acute myocardial infarction, NICE, 2012; South East Clinical Network Stroke Rehab Model, 2015
Stroke services: Configuration decision support guide, NHS, 2016

3.3.1 Prevention

Although the focus of this DMBC is on hospital stroke services, it is acknowledged that the
prevention of stroke is a key priority for local services. The vision is that every part of the health and
social care system will view prevention as their business. Staff will take every opportunity to offer
advice, guidance, and support to people so that they can improve their lifestyles and their health
outcomes. The system will be equipped with appropriate tools and resources to make this happen.

Clinicians have identified the following factors as crucial to improving stroke prevention:

e Reduction in smoking rates

e Improvements in diabetes detection and care

e Better identification and management of high blood pressure and atrial fibrillation

e More widespread use of statins

o Afocused strategy on the identification and prophylactic anticoagulation of patients with
atrial fibrillation

e Primary prevention initiatives to address obesity and increase physical activity

In Kent and Medway, there are plans to deliver several initiatives to improve public health and help
prevent strokes, particularly by targeting smoking and obesity. These initiatives are shown in the
following table.

26
Page 72



DRAFT v0.6

Required initiatives

Current initiatives in progress

Reduction in smoking rates

Ensure smoking advisors located in each of the acute trust
sites across Kent and Medway

All acute and community trusts and the mental health trust
to be smoke free across Kent and Medway

GPs and other health professionals are encouraged to
develop routine CO monitoring and encourage smoking
cessation services for patients.

Introduce Very Brief Advice for smokers to be delivered by
health care professionals and incorporating asking and
recoding smoking status, advice on the best way of quitting
and offering referral to specialist support and the
prescription of medication if appropriate.

Use Making Every Contact Count (MECC) or similar
programme(s) to ensure all pregnant women are CO
monitored and referred to smoking cessation services when
needed.

Use MECC or a similar programme to raise awareness of the
harms of smoking in pregnancy and develop routine CO
monitoring in clinical settings followed by referral to
smoking cessation services where required.

Implement smoke-free school gates and measure the
number of schools with smoke-free policies.

Roll-out of Kent and Medway smoking cessation campaigns
based on behavioural insight work, collaborating with
partners

Improvements in diabetes
detection and care

Prevent the onset of type 2 diabetes in people at risk of the
condition, including a full rollout of the Diabetes Prevention
Programme (DPP) and an increased marketing of the service
Improve the prevention and management of those with
diabetes

Improve the management of type 2 diabetes, increasing
proportion of patients with optimal treatment to national
good practice levels

Better identification and
management of high blood
pressure and atrial fibrillation

Case management targets achieved for example:

Increase the number of patients diagnosed with
hypertension, increasing the completeness of hypertension
registers

Improve the care of those already diagnosed with
hypertension, supporting adherence to treatment and
lifestyle by increasing self-monitoring of blood pressure (%
of patients on QOF hypertension register)

Improve the detection of atrial fibrillation (AF) to match that
of comparator organisations

Improve the care of those already diagnosed with atrial
fibrillation, such as offering anticoagulants to those who
would benefit

Increase the uptake of NHS Health Checks in Kent and
Medway, specific focus on hard to reach communities and
individuals with severe mental health illness

27
Page 73




DRAFT v0.6

Required initiatives

Current initiatives in progress

Liaise with NHS England and CCG’s to increase uptake of
Learning Disability health checks (and appropriate
intervention) to reduce modifiable risk factors across Kent
and Medway

Primary prevention initiatives
to address obesity and increase
physical activity

Public health professionals to work with appropriate
clinicians within specialist teams to implement routine
process of obesity related subjects being discussed,
recorded and reported within routine treatment

Adopt a whole systems approach to tackling obesity,
addressing the obesogenic environments and lack of
physical activity across adults and children

All NHS and care sites to become healthy settings with
changes to food offer, placement and pricing.

Explore ways of working with environmental planning
colleagues to reduce obesity and overweight

All NHS and care sites to support physical activity for staff,
patients and visitors

Scale up existing Tier 2 weight management for adults across
Kent and Medway

Ensure equity of access for residents for Tier 2 weight
management services for children and families across Kent
and Medway

Scale up existing Tier 3 weight management for adults across
Kent and Medway

Implement Tier 3 weight management for children across
Kent and Medway with a multi-disciplinary team

Develop referral pathways with both primary and secondary
care services to ensure that people are referred to
appropriate services

Develop a care pathway within the school public health and
health visiting services in line with their contractual
obligations

Promoting healthy eating, physical activity and healthy
weight campaigns to the public and professionals,
reinforcing messages of how to achieve a healthy weight
Support all appropriate and community sites to achieve the
highest standard of UNICEF Baby Friendly accreditation and
implement a range of evidence based infant feeding
initiatives

Work with schools, pre-schools and employers to ensure
settings promote physical activity when they can and
develop a whole food approach

Support children and adults to achieve basic physical literacy
skills and develop home cooking skills and confidence
Identify and/or develop a range of digital support solutions
(such as apps) that can support people to lead healthier lives
and promote these services to residents

Staff and organisations across health and social care will need to work together to deliver these
initiatives and embed prevention in all aspects of service delivery.

28
Page 74




DRAFT v0.6

3.3.2 Urgent stroke services

Although there is no national specification in place for stroke services, the National Stroke Strategy
2007 and more recent 2016 edition provides guidance on recommended best practice®. This shows
that key to successful outcomes for stroke patients is a high-quality stroke unit with rapid access to
diagnostics, specialist assessment and intervention. Evidence shows that rapid specialist assessment
and intervention in the hyper acute phase (the first 72 hours after a stroke) reduces mortality and
improve long term outcomes for stroke patients. For example, a meta-analysis of stroke studies
showed that treatment with thrombolysis had an average absolute increase in disability-free survival
of about 10% for patients treated within 3 hours and that thrombolysis increased the odds of a good
stroke outcome, with earlier treatment associated with bigger proportional benefit. Treatment
within 3 hours resulted in a good outcome (32.9%) versus (23.1%) who didn’t receive this3!.
Centralising acute stroke services also supports a reduction in mortality and improved outcomes for
patients; a 2014 study evaluating the centralisation of acute stroke services reported decreases in
unadjusted mortality at 30 days of between 1.6% and 2.8% for the two areas studied, as well as an
absolute decline in risk adjusted length of hospital stay of between -2.0 days and -1.4 days®2.

It is possible to have separate hyper acute stroke units (HASUs - first 72 hours) and acute stroke
units (ASUs - 72+ hours) on different hospital sites. However, a similar workforce is required to cover
each type of unit and therefore it is sensible to co-locate HASUs and ASUs to support the
consolidation of the workforce into fewer units. Co-locating HASUs and ASUs also significantly
reduces the need to transfer patients which increases their length of stay. Clinicians therefore
agreed that hyper acute stroke units and acute stroke units would be co-located in Kent and
Medway.

The key requirements of ‘good’ hyper acute and acute stroke units that delivers the best outcomes
for patient are33:

e Access 24 hours, seven days a week

e Rapid and accurate diagnosis

e C(linical expertise

e Access to imaging and good interpretation

Direct admission to a specialist stroke unit

Immediate access to treatment

Specialist centres with enough numbers of patients and expert staff

High quality information and support for patients and carers

e Inpatient care through a specialist unit with co-ordinated assessment and plans for discharge
to continued rehabilitation

e The service measures what it does, publishes data and constantly looks for improvements.

In order to meet these requirements, Kent and Medway hyper acute and acute stroke units will
adhere to the following national recommendations for hyper acute and acute stroke units*:

e Be a seven-day dedicated specialist unit with more than 500 confirmed stroke admissions

e Achieve rapid assessment and imagery; imaging within one hour and call to needle
(thrombolysis) times of two hours?

e Have patients admitted directly onto a specialist stroke unit within four hours

e Have patients stay in the stroke unit for 90% of the inpatient episode

2 Kent and Medway have adopted a standard of 120 minutes call to needle (thrombolysis) per the guidance in NHS South
East Clinical Networks, Stroke and TIA Service and Quality Core Standards, 2016

29
Page 75



DRAFT v0.6

e Assess patients by specialist stroke consultant and stroke trained nurse and therapist within
24 hours

e Have seven-day stroke consultant cover

e Have seven-day stroke trained nurse and therapist cover.

In addition, the South East Strategic Clinical Network Stroke and TIA Service and Quality Core
Standards 2016 set out that the care of people with suspected stroke should aim to minimise time
from call to needle to a recommended standard of within 120 minutes. This requires:
e (Call to (hospital) door time as soon as possible < 60 minutes
e Door to needle time for those appropriate for in licence use of IV thrombolysis as soon as
possible <60 mins®>.

Clinicians are clear that hyper acute and acute stroke units should be delivered to a high standard
regardless of the day of the week. Hospitals need to provide 7-day services such as diagnostics and
therapies where they have traditionally been a Monday to Friday service or on call for emergency
patients. A 7-day service supports the development of co-located hyper acute and acute stroke units
which will enable TIA clinics to be accessed 7 days a week and the urgent pathway to be accessed 24
hours a day. The national guidance and the Stroke National Clinical Director note that the quality of
the hyper acute and acute stroke unit is the single biggest factor that can improve a person’s
outcomes following a stroke®. Successful stroke units are built around a stroke-skilled multi-
disciplinary team that can meet the needs of individuals.

3.3.3 Hospital stroke pathway

Clinicians have agreed a hospital stroke patient pathway for Kent and Medway, which is shown in
Figure 10. This will comply with the 2016 National Clinical Guideline for Stroke from the Royal
College of Physicians®’.

30
Page 76



DRAFT v0.6

Figure 10: hospital stroke pathway for Kent and Medway

Model of care

All stroke patients are taken by the South East Coast Ambulance Service (SECAmDb) to the nearest
HASU.

This HASU/ASU pathway will operate with the same level of services 7 days a week.

|

a) The HASU will be notified of all FAST+ patients prior to arrival and a FAST call will be sent to the
switchboard alerting the response team (stroke nurse, consultant and/or registrar, radiology, and bed

manager).
—
b) On arrival the patient bypasses the Emergency Department and must be assessed by a specialist,

have access to a CT scan and receive thrombolysis if appropriate, all within 30 minutes.

c) If confirmed not to have a stroke (mimics) the patient will be discharged home or if not medically fit, will
be transferred to the medical assessment unit or most appropriate medical ward. A single point of access
is provided for referral of patients who have had a Transient Ischemic Attack (TIA).

d) If necessary, patients are transferred to a HASU bed where they receive high dependency care for a
maximum of 72 hours following admission.

e) Once stabilised, the patient is transferred to an ASU bed. The ASU will have consultant led ward
rounds and attendance of all components of the MDT (Nurses, PT, OT, SLT, Dietitian, Social worker
and Psychologist).

SOURGCE: Stroke services: Configuration decision support guide, NHS, 2016
In more detail:
A. Pre-hospital: evidence shows that the more rapidly thrombolysis is administered, the better

the outcomes for stroke patients. The ambulance service will work to minimise the amount
of time taken to assess and stabilise the person and then convey them to the nearest hyper
acute stroke unit (HASU). The HASU will be notified of all FAST+® patients (people with
stroke symptoms) prior to arrival and a FAST+ call will be sent to the switchboard alerting
the response team (stroke nurse, consultant and/or registrar, radiology and bed manager).

Thrombolysis: thrombolysis with alteplase is administered to around 10% of patients
experiencing a stroke in Kent and Medway, and it is expected that this would continue to be
administered to the same or more people under the new model of care®. Thrombolysis with
alteplase is a treatment administered to stroke patients which can break down and disperse
a clot that is preventing blood from reaching the brain. Breaking down a blood clot can
restore blood flow to the brain, and, if given early enough, can save brain cells from damage
and reduce disability. All thrombolysis decisions are made by a consultant. If, following a CT
scan, thrombolysis is indicated, it will be administered within 4 hours from symptom onset
and within 30 minutes of arrival at the HASU*. Mechanical thrombectomy is an emergency
procedure to remove a blood clot using surgery. Currently, mechanical thrombectomy is
only offered in full neurosciences centres (there are no neurosciences centres in Kent and
Medway and therefore currently patients must travel to London). Due to the geographical

3 FAST is an acronym used as a mnemonic to help detect and enhance responsiveness to stroke victim needs. The acronym
stands for Facial drooping, Arm weakness, Speech difficulties and Time to call emergency services.

4 Kent and Medway have adopted a standard of 120 minutes call to needle (thrombolysis) per the guidance in NHS South
East Clinical Networks, Stroke and TIA Service and Quality Core Standards, 2016

31
Page 77



DRAFT v0.6

remoteness of some places in Kent and Medway, this service may be developed locally in
the future. A thrombectomy pilot has been approved in East Kent and the outcome of this
pilot will inform any future thrombectomy business case (further details are shown in
Appendix H. In the interim, there are agreed pathways and agreements in place with
specified regional neuroradiology centres for mechanical thrombectomy.

C. Mimic and transient ischemic attack (TIA) pathways: some patients who are brought to
hospital with a suspected stroke have not actually had a stroke but may still require follow-
up care. This includes patients with mimic symptoms, some of whom may require neurology
input, and people with a TIA, which may be a precursor to a stroke. It is anticipated that
under this model, the clinicians at local non-HASU/ASU hospitals would be able to link into
stroke physicians at the HASU/ASU sites, leveraging advances in technology and
telemedicine. In addition, GPs and other healthcare professionals will be able to contact a
stroke specialist at the HASU/ASU sites 24 hours a day 7 days a week for advice.

i Mimics: if the condition does not require further hospital care, the patient will be
discharged with appropriate follow-up care in the patient’s local hospital. If the
condition requires further general hospital care, the patient will be quickly
transferred to the general team within the HASU hospital if the predicted length of
stay is 2 days or less or to the general team at their local hospital site if the predicted
length of stay is more than 2 days. Clinicians have agreed a pathway of care (shown
in Figure 11Figure 14) for these mimics, which will be developed in more detail as
part of the implementation of the proposals.

Figure 11: pathway of care for mimics

Stroke mimic pathway

¢ Common stroke mimics ™,
Seizure — post ictal, Todd's

paralysis SUSPECTED STROK
Matabalic/tox — HypoGlye,
HypoNa, encaphalopathy
S0L — subdural, tumour,
abscess

Migraine — hemilplegic
migraine

Infection — meningitis.
encephalitis
Confusion/cognitive
dysfunction

Peripheral vertigo —

Patlent not at a HASU site

labrynthitis, vestibular

neuronitis
\51""‘“"'—_/

32
Page 78



DRAFT v0.6

ii.  TIA pathway: clinicians in Kent and Medway have agreed a TIA pathway based on
National Institute of Clinical Excellence (NICE) guidelines®. The full TIA patient
pathway is shown in Figure 12.

Figure 12: transient ischemic attack (TIA) pathway

TIA pathway with activity numbers

Suspected strole admitiedic HABU,
subseguenty Tound to bea Tid

: C HASLIASL Speed of response
; o] Towmlasdmiedozo | dmmediate admission
? m L7 [10% upliftan cenfiemed 24/7
T actvity)
o

€, 2.5% admit
Seen later in the dayinext day in
T4 clinic between

Bam - 10pm

Follow up appointment within one
month

Seen within a week
{eurrent practice)

Roartine
appointment

Immediate advice
247

Diagnesis. advice:
iprescripson

= The TIA referral rate is approomately 4 in every 1,000 of the population

= The total K&M catchment population is €.2.4m

= Therefere, approx, 8,800 patients of the population are expected to be referred to the HASU triage with a suspected TIA

* In total 320 (cakculated from the10% uplft on confirmed stroke activity) patients will be admitted to a HASU with a TIA with a
LOS of 1 day (a further 5% sensitivity uplift will be tested to account for patients with a carofid stenosis awaiting vascular
surgery)

A single point of access will be provided for the referral of patients who have had a suspected
transient ischemic attack (TIA) — it is anticipated that this would equate to around 9,600 patients in
total across the Kent and Medway catchment area per year. TIA clinics will be held 7 days a week for
high risk and probable TIA patients at each of the HASU/ASU sites — around 3,360 patients per year
across all three sites. It is intended that the 7-day TIA clinics will be located on the same sites as the
HASU/ASUs due to workforce constraints, and this has been factored into the consultant rota job
plans. A small increase in nursing support (c.1.5 WTE in total across all sites in each option) and
admin time would be required to supplement this. Very high-risk TIA patients will be admitted to
their closest HASU/ASU site. An uplift has been applied to the confirmed stroke activity modelling to
account for this increase to overall bed requirements. At the HASU/ASU sites there will be daily time
slots available for CT; CT Angiograms; MRI; MRA; carotid dopplers; bloods tests including cholesterol
and lipids; and provision for non-urgent cases (around 5,500 patients per year) will be kept under
review during consultation and as part of implementation planning. The proposed staffing
arrangements are shown in Figure 13.

33
Page 79



DRAFT v0.6

Figure 13: detailed pathway and workforce for TIA

Detailed pathway design for TIA

= Statfed by consultant Sam — &pm with senior nures coverage
cwernight. Requires admin support.

= Central hub bassd at each of the HASUASU sites - requires office
space and phene for single point of refarral

No additional workforce reguirenents biyond HASLIASU staffing
HASL bed

Attend TIA clinic at HASLVASL) then discharged home
TiA clinic based at HASLIASL site, colocated as closely a5 possible

i Slaffed by
M % = Consultant (ncluded in currant job plan)
h?na . - Band 3 HCA (8 am - 10pm 7 cays a weak)
m - Admin assistant {same WTE = on tnage)

Requires (for 2ach HASLASL) ©
Supendised waiting space, clinic room and and consultation
room with couch and ECG

Each censultation lasts 40 mins

Fallow up after ond manth in clinic - Consultant led

Unlikedy TIA bt & - Patients seen at existing (general or speciaist as avalable)
""“";:'_'“’“"‘ 6 cutpatients chinics, undikely TlA group to be seen by stroke
- ! consultant
Local site. seen by st : = Proposed staffing (under review):
sansuitant [w} . . o
g = Regquires an additional 0.5 PA Tar consultants in job plan
%4‘—)“ Requires scoping of current OF arrangements to
Lacal DGH, non understand reguirements
e ]

D. Hyper acute stroke unit (HASU): patients with an identified stroke will be admitted to a
hyper acute stroke unit (HASU) bed where they will stay for a maximum of 72 hours. A HASU
is like a critical care unit with typically 4-6 beds. In line with national guidance, patients on
the hyper acute stroke unit will have immediate access to*:

e specialist medical staff trained in the hyper acute and acute management of people with
stroke, including the diagnostic and administrative procedures needed for the safe and
timely delivery of emergency stroke treatments;

e  specialist nursing staff trained in the hyper acute and acute management of people with
stroke, covering neurological, general medical and rehabilitation aspects;

e stroke specialist rehabilitation staff;

e timely diagnostic, imaging and cardiology services; and

e tertiary services for endovascular therapy, neurosurgery and vascular surgery (in the
case where these are networked services, clearly defined referral pathways will be in
place)

The HASU will have continuous access to a consultant with expertise in stroke medicine, with
consultant review 7 days per week?*!. Scans will be staged according to clinical priority with
stroke a prioritised service for scanning. Stroke nurses will be trained to request scans to
eliminate any delays. The CTA (CT angiography) service will be provided by a stroke
consultant in the first instance followed by radiology report next working day.

E. Acute stroke unit (ASU): once stabilised and if continuing urgent care is required, patients
will be transferred from a hyper acute stroke unit (HASU) bed to an acute stroke unit (ASU)
bed. An ASU is like a ward with access to rehabilitation space. In line with the national
guidance the acute stroke unit will provide**:

34
Page 80



DRAFT v0.6

e specialist medical staff trained in the urgent management of people with stroke;

e specialist nursing staff trained in the urgent management of people with stroke,
covering neurological, general medical and rehabilitation aspects;

e stroke specialist rehabilitation staff;

e access to diagnostic, imaging and cardiology services

e access to tertiary services for neurosurgery and vascular surgery

Patients on the ASU will have continuous access to a consultant with expertise in stroke
medicine, with consultant review 7 days per week. There will be attendance of all
components of the multi-disciplinary team (nurses, physiotherapists, occupational
therapists, speech and language therapists, dietitians, orthoptics, social workers and
psychologists) as patient rehabilitation will start here. If a patient requires continued
intensive rehab and more support than they could receive at home, they will move to a
stroke rehabilitation unit. This may be co-located with the acute stroke unit or provided
elsewhere in community hospitals.

3.3.4 Pathways between HASU/ASU and non-HASU/ASU sites

If potential stroke patients arrive at hospital sites without a HASU/ASU, or they have a stroke as an
inpatient at a non HASU/ASU site, they will be immediately transferred to the HASU/ASU site by
ambulance under the care of the critical care team with remote support provided by the HASU/ASU
site. Clear protocols and procedures will be in place between the hospital sites to facilitate the
immediate care and fast transfer of the patient. Clinicians have agreed a pathway of care (shown in
Figure 14) for these patients, which will be developed in more detail as part of the implementation
of the proposals.

Figure 14: pathway of care between HASU/ASU and non-HASU/ASU sites

Pathway for suspected stroke patients arriving at non-HASU/ASU

SUSPECTED A% S TED STROKE/FAST
MON HASU 1] M HASL INPATIENT

Initial early triage in ARE

nd advice if

d

35
Page 81



DRAFT v0.6

3.3.5 End of life care in hospital

On occasion, stroke patients will be on an end-of-life pathway whilst in hospital. Each provider
already has agreed end-of-life pathways for these patients and clinicians agreed that these pathways
would continue to be used as part of the new model of care.

3.3.6 Co-dependencies with other hospital services

The hyper acute and acute stroke units will provide high quality emergency stroke care 24 hours a
day, 7 days a week. As set out by the South East Coast Clinical Senate, these dedicated units will
need to be supported by other services including acute medicine, critical care, urgent diagnostics
and therapies®. This is shown in Figure 15.

Figure 15: co-dependencies for a hyper acute and acute stroke unit

Co-dependencies between services

Service should be co-located Service should come to Ideally on same site but could

in the same hospital patient (patient transfer not alternatively be networked via
appropriate), but could be robust emergency and elective
provided by visiting/inreach referral and transfer protocols

from another

Nephrology

Palliative Care

Emergency medicine

Elderly Medicine

Respiratory Medicine

Urgent Gl Endoscopy
Critical Care (adults)

X-ray and diagnostic ultrasound

Acute (Liaison) Mental Health

SOURCE: The Clinical Co-Dependencies of Acute Hospital Services: Clinical co-dependency grid, South East Coast(2014)

3.4 Community rehabilitation

3.4.1 Importance of community rehabilitation

People who have survived their initial stroke and stabilised are either transferred from the HASU, or
the ASU to community stroke rehabilitation services. The aim of stroke rehabilitation is to support
the stroke survivor to overcome and adapt to their physical, mental and social complications which
have been adversely affected by stroke.

Whilst this DMBC focuses on acute stroke services, it is recognised that acute stroke services need to
be supported by robust community provision, delivered locally for people with stroke and their
families. It is also recognised that provision of out of hospital capacity is a vital part of the
sustainable delivery of an HASU/ASU in order that patient flow is maximised and maintained.

36
Page 82



DRAFT v0.6

Work has therefore taken place to develop plans for comprehensive and equitable community
rehabilitation services, which will be delivered locally and will support the implementation of HASUs.
This is being progressed by a Rehabilitation Working Group, led by a clinical lead currently being
identified, which reports to the Stroke Clinical Reference Group, as shown in Section 1.3.2. This
group includes a range of people from across health and social care plus patient representatives. It is
expected that a rehabilitation business case will be presented to CCGs in spring 2019 to ensure
standardisation of provision across the K&M.

3.4.2 Feedback from consultation and engagement with stroke survivors

Feedback from consultation identified a strong desire among the public, staff and stakeholders to
ensure that adequate rehabilitation services are in place at the same time as HASU/ASUs come into
operation. At the Kent and Medway Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting in
September, the Kent and Medway Stroke Review Team committed to carrying out further
engagement with patients and the public on stroke rehabilitation services to get their views before
any plans are finalised. The aim of the engagement work will be to ensure that the views of stroke
survivors, their carers and the wider public are considered in the localisation of the model and in the
development of the service specification.

The Stroke Review Team have met with stroke survivors, facilitated by the Stroke Association, to
discuss their experiences of rehabilitation services, and further sessions with stroke survivors are
planned in late 2018 and early 2019, to coincide with the ongoing development of rehabilitation
services. The feedback received so far has identified:

e Stroke survivors and their carers were, overall very positive about their experience of their
acute care and specialist inpatient rehabilitation services.

o People said that the immediate care they received on the acute ward was fantastic,
with all staff clearly doing their best. They felt well cared for, safe and supported.

o However, some also described how acute hospitals had not had enough
rehabilitation staff to see them quickly, describing how they had waited 2 to 3 days
for speech and language assessment on the ward.

o Some people describe that they felt they had been discharged from hospital too
soon, and ‘left’ at home to get on with things when they didn’t feel ready.

o There was a great deal of support for specialist inpatient rehab units. Specifically,
people said they felt the timetabled approach to rehabilitation was beneficial
because it gave structure and purpose and helped survivors to make good progress.

o Carers also highlighted how inpatient rehabilitation settings were particularly good
at involving them in the rehabilitation work, which they found helpful in getting a
better understanding of the rehabilitation programme and how they could help the
person they were caring for.

e There was consistent feedback that while rehabilitation was great while it lasted, patients
and carers felt that they had been allocated a fixed number of sessions, regardless of their
personal need.

o Some said that because their stroke was considered ‘minor’ they felt didn’t get as
much support, despite it being a life changing experience for them.

o Some stroke survivors and carers said they had decided to fund additional
rehabilitation sessions with, for example, a speech and language therapist, because
they felt they had not had the opportunity to make all the progress they could
within their allocated sessions.

o Many said they would have liked their rehabilitation to have gone on for longer and
for it to have happened at greater intensity.

o Some also said they had waited a long time to get the rehabilitation they needed.

37
Page 83



DRAFT v0.6

3.43

People said that there can be challenges liaising with multiple organisations to arrange
things like respite care and changes to individuals’ homes to help with independent living.
Stroke survivors highlighted the importance of psychological support and social
rehabilitation. People described that although they were offered psychological support in
hospital, they felt they didn’t always get as much psychologic support as the would have
liked after going home.

Some people said that while rehabilitation at home would be helpful, there was concern
that only providing rehabilitation at home could become isolating. There was support for
rehabilitation hubs in the community where stroke survivors and their carers would be able
to meet each other, as well as get rehabilitation, information, support and advice from
professionals.

People said that six-month reviews appeared to be informal and would be better if they
were more organised.

Stroke survivors and their careers highlighted the importance of helping people access
information about what support is available.

Standards for community rehabilitation

There exist clear standards for the provision of stroke rehabilitation, including the National Stroke
Strategy (2007)*, NICE quality standards®, Commissioning Support for London and the Royal College
of Physician; the latter have published several commissioning guides in relation to both the acute
and post-acute elements of good stroke care®.

The National Stroke Strategy and the NICE clinical guideline for stroke rehabilitation detail several
quality markers for post-acute stroke care. These include:

After stroke, people should be offered a review of their health, social care and secondary
stroke prevention needs, typically within six weeks of leaving hospital, before six months
have passed and then annually. This will ensure it is possible to access further advice,
information and rehabilitation where needed.

Offer initially at least 45 minutes of each relevant rehabilitation therapy for a minimum of
five days per week to people who can participate, and where functional goals that can be
achieved.

If more rehabilitation is needed at a later stage, tailor the intensity to the person’s needs at
that time.

Return-to-work issues should be identified as soon as possible after stroke, reviewed
regularly and managed actively

Carers of patients with stroke are provided with a named point of contact for stroke
information, written information about the patient's diagnosis and management plan, and
enough practical training to enable them to provide care.

Review the health and social care needs of people after stroke and the needs of their carers
at 6 months and annually thereafter. These reviews should cover participation and
community roles to ensure that people's goals are addressed.

Clinicians agree that by following these standards, stroke rehabilitation is effective. However, this
does rely on a clear model of care being in place for stroke rehabilitation, which allows for needs
based care to be provided to each patient.

38
Page 84



DRAFT v0.6

There are three types of stroke rehabilitation, as shown in the following table.

Type Detail

Early Supported Discharge (ESD) e National evidence has shown that ESD
services delivered by multidisciplinary
teams can significantly reduce the length
of acute hospital stay and improve long-
term outcomes for patients with mild to
moderate stroke.

e Aimed to provide patients with
rehabilitation at home at the same
intensity of inpatient care.

e Designed to improve transfer of care
arrangements, offer patient choice, deliver
efficiencies in acute bed usage and deliver
improved clinical and wellbeing outcomes.

Community Stroke Rehabilitation (CSR) e Patients who are ready for discharge but
deemed unsuitable for ESD are often
referred to a CRS.

e Provides needs-led rehabilitation within
the home environment to maximise
functional ability and independence and
facilitate reintegration in the community.

e The community rehabilitation team is
multi-disciplinary and assesses the stroke
survivor’s needs (where possible with
family and/or carers) and develops a
treatment programme with the stroke
survivor.

Inpatient Rehabilitation (IR) e Patients who require further non-acute
care after their condition has stabilised are
treated in specialist stroke rehabilitation
units.

e NICE describes these units as “an
environment in which multidisciplinary
stroke teams deliver stroke care in a
dedicated ward which has a bed area,
dining area, gym, and access to assessment
kitchens.’

e Delivered by a multi-disciplinary team.

e Typically, stroke survivors follow an
individually tailored programme based on
goals set by the survivor and their family
and carers. This helps those for whom it is
appropriate get back to work or other
meaningful activity.

A patient’s journey through the stroke pathway will vary according to the nature and severity of
their individual needs. Some patients will respond well to ESD and should be discharged from
hospital early to have their intensive care at home. Other patients will have greater levels of need
and may need to receive rehabilitation care in hospital for longer.

39
Page 85



DRAFT v0.6

Figure 16 describes the ideal configuration of post-acute stroke care for the three types of
rehabilitation, as well as ongoing support through six- and twelve-monthly reviews.

Figure 16: ideal configuration of post-acute stroke care

Further speciallst
Inpathent care

should be ghven to
those for whom it
I clinically
appopriate. it
shoukl not be seen
3s an attemative o
care at home from

The five netasnel standesds e geet-cule stohe e
& A A A |

Based on national good practice, each CCG should ensure people living with the effects of stroke
have adequate access to all three types of post-acute stroke care, or stroke rehabilitation. There is
also a requirement for CCGs to ensure everyone living with the effects of stroke has longer-term
support identified at both 6- and 12-month intervals once they are discharged from their community
stroke rehabilitation. This is because research has shown improvement in levels of disability can be
seen up to 12 months from the initial stroke®’.

3.4.4 Clinical model for stroke rehabilitation

It has been recommended by the South East Coast Clinical Senate and agreed by the Kent and
Medway Clinical Reference Group that the South East Cardiovascular Clinical Network stroke
rehabilitation model will be localised and used in Kent and Medway*. The model is the product of
reviews of rehabilitation stroke services across Kent, Medway, Surrey and Sussex. The Kent and
Medway localised clinical model is shown in Figure 17.

40
Page 86



DRAFT v0.6

Figure 17: Kent and Medway rehabilitation clinical model

Hyper Acute Stroke Unit/8cute Stroke Unit

ICST in-reach

= Attend weekly MDT, ward round, discharge planning meeting
*  Holistic assessment completed by acute and shared with ICST

*  Support pathway decisions
*  Daily contact with stroke co-ordinator

¥ [ ¥ ¥
Pathiway 1 Pathway 2 Pathway 3 b Pathiway 4 \ Ongoing Support
Theragy at herma with Theragy it home with jeint Discharge to stroke Paacharge to puringresdential
PCST auppeort ICSTfranbbament auppart rehabilitation bed s with ICST suppart Orthotics/orthotics

*

Triage telephone call

withan 24 haurs

+  Azsess &t hama within
2845 hiars

+  Treatment withan 24
heoisrs (ESD patients) or
T sy mon ESDY)

+ Asiess for

+ S within 24 houss by

T foor joint & sessment

& BOST prowice treatment and

MmN agement plans via
neahlament workens
Therapy intensity 7 days/3
wisits aday

BCST suppoat weekly untd

= |CET assess management
plan within 24haurs of
planned dischargs

= ICET angaing in reach ta
unit

*  Assessment by relevant
LT member within 7

days
* Lengthof stayuptad

Triage telephone call to care
e within 24 hours
AsseEs at cane home within
A48-72 hediars

Treatment within 7 days of
assRESMENT

Thesapy prosided oves 6 dayd
a week

Jfwhealchair
services
Spasticity services
Return to work
support

LTC self
management

i outpatient goals achieved, reablement Managament plan a0 sarvices
+ Theragy mtansity & Suppart for max 6 weeks months s tin gy o iy spasticity,’ Befriending/peer
e nged Step down to pathway 1if | |« Step down to pathway 1 swallowing If reguired supportrespite
+  Suppart for g ta 6 neaded o7 Presention af comtractisns i 5T
| months ! 1 | and shoubder pain peychology/IAET
e 4 Q 4 input
JI I £ Family and carer
SUpPOrt service
L’ k, Communication
Discharge ) support
When achigvable 6 month goals have baen met Pm"::‘:" ::::; t’::rlar:unort
. = ] cific
Discharge to & month review Strake specific ———
therapy=impn Acoess to health
pravided s
6 month review required Diines

community
Programimes

The model encompasses the following elements:

A. Integrated community support team: Stroke patients will be referred to an integrated
community stroke team (ICST) following the urgent part of their care. Crucially, this
represents a single point of entry to the service. The ICST will continue the patient’s
rehabilitation until they have either reached their agreed goals or their maximal level of
function. The ICST will engage in in-reach/triage to determine which of the pathways is best
suited to the patient:

Therapy at home with Integrated Community Stroke Team (ICST) support
Therapy at home with joint ICST and re-ablement rehabilitation support package
Discharge to stroke rehabilitation bed

Discharge to residential/nursing home with ICST support

WP

B. Integrated Community Stroke Team (ICST): post-hospital stroke rehabilitation will be
provided by the ICST, a multidisciplinary team (MDT) which may include:
e (Clinical Psychologist/neuropsychology
e  Occupational Therapist
e Physiotherapist
e Speech and Language Therapist

e Nurse

e Dietician

e Social worker

e Rehabilitation support workers/assistant practitioner

e Access to consultant stroke/GP for medical support post discharge

This team will support all rehabilitation pathways and early supported discharge.

41
Page 87



DRAFT v0.6

C. Pathways: Patients will move between pathways depending on ability and attainment of
rehabilitation goals. Rehabilitation will be guided by the pathways and directed by agreed
goals structured, where appropriate, as components of ongoing management plans.

e Pathway 1 - Therapy at home with Integrated Community Stroke Team (ICST) support:
for high functioning patients who can be discharged home with community stroke team
input over six days per week or weekends if needed. Daily visits will be made by
therapists and rehabilitation support workers as needed. Day hospital outpatient
therapy may be offered where appropriate and available. Additionally, these patients
will be considered for early supported discharge (ESD).

e Pathway 2 - Therapy at home with joint ICST and re-ablement rehabilitation support
package: as pathway 1, treatment at home with ICST support and additional and re-
ablement service support up to four times a day. Support will run for six weeks to enable
safe management and rehabilitation at the patient’s place of residence.

e Pathway 3 - Discharge to stroke rehabilitation bed: patients will be stepped down from
hospital into a stroke rehabilitation bed. The patient may be under the care of a general
rehabilitation multi-disciplinary team but with specialist stroke rehabilitation input for a
maximum of six weeks. The patient is then able to step down to pathway 2 or 1
depending on ability following rehabilitation in the stroke rehabilitation unit.

e Pathway 4 - Discharge to residential/nursing home with ICST support: discharged into a
residential or nursing home setting with support from the ICST as per need. This
pathway is for patients who are discharged into residential/nursing home care to ensure
they have timely access to specialist rehabilitation and management post discharge.

Any patient with residual impairment after the end of initial rehabilitation will be
offered a formal review at least every six months, to consider whether further
interventions are warranted, and will be referred for specialist assessment if new
problems, not present when last seen by the specialist service, are now present or the
patient’s physical state or social environment has changed.

D. Early supported discharge (ESD): The purpose of early supported discharge (ESD) is to
provide a structured rehabilitation programme, suited to the needs of each individual stroke
patient, deemed suitable for this part of the pathway. ESD will be an integral part of the ICST
which will allow for flexible working and clear oversight of the patient pathway in the
community and specialist stroke and neuro rehabilitation expertise. Patients may be
discharged to the service directly from a hospital setting. The intention is to deliver a
seamless transition from ward to home, maintaining both quality and continuity of care for
the patient. ESD has been shown to improve the rehabilitation outcomes of stroke patients
and reduce the use of hospital bed resources. It is anticipated that the patients with mild to
moderate disability following their stroke will be referred into the ESD service.

The length of time patients remain part of the ESD service will depend upon their overall
progress, progress towards agreed active rehabilitation goals and potential to restore the
patient to maximal function. When the period of ESD rehabilitation comes to an end, the
patient will be transferred to other services. The receiving service will be dependent upon
the patient’s assessed needs. This could include:

e Community and voluntary services (e.g. The Stroke Association)

e Community stroke rehabilitation service

e Stroke nurse specialist

e GP

42
Page 88



DRAFT v0.6

3.45

Commissioning principles

Commissioning principles have been discussed and agreed by all members of the Rehabilitation
Working group and the Clinical Reference Group:

The rehabilitation model will improve outcomes, quality and experience of care for patients
There is a commitment to invest in rehabilitation based on a proven return on investment
and evidenced reduction in acute LOS

There should be a consistent provision of stroke rehabilitation across Kent and Medway
Rehabilitation care should be delivered as close to patients’ homes as possible, and
wherever possible within the home

The agreed model of care must be financially sustainable

The implementation of the agreed model of care must be aligned to the implementation of
HASUs and ASUs

Commissioning should be based on NHS E best practice guidelines

There is a commitment to joint working with local authorities to deliver the model
Commissioning of the new model should encourage redeployment of existing staff where
possible

On the basis of the agreeing the above, commissioners have a commitment to review
existing contracts

Commissioners have attended the rehabilitation working group and have contributed to the
development of these principles. They will be formally signed off by the Joint Committee of CCGs on
the 20" December 2018.

3.4.6 Current service provision and gaps
Work is currently being undertaken to understand and map the provision of rehabilitation services
across Kent and Medway. This work is due to be completed by early December.

Whilst stroke rehabilitation services currently exist in every part of Kent and Medway, the
organisation and delivery of those services varies significantly. Key areas of variation are:

Access to 7 day therapy
Length of therapy / ESD support
Provision of community beds (specifically West Kent, Thanet and Canterbury where there
are no dedicated stroke beds or stroke therapists)
Provision of 6-month reviews (these are not commissioned in Swale)
Gaps in workforce configuration:
o Stroke specialist nurses (West Kent)
o Therapists (East Kent)
o Social workers within multi disciplinary teams
o Skilled support workers for rehabilitation programmes
Provision of stroke specialist exercise classes
Provision of orthotics, orthoptics and wheelchairs
Provision of spasticity clinics and treatment
Access to post-acute hospital transport

A workshop is being planned which will be held with people who have had a stroke, stroke expert
clinicians, commissioners and providers of services and support for stroke survivors. The workshop
will focus on mapping the current stroke journey from when someone had a stroke, through to their

43
Page 89



DRAFT v0.6

acute hospital care and stroke rehabilitation care options, to home. This will give a good indication
of how the current stroke rehabilitation services need to change to ensure high quality stroke care
for all residents living in Kent and Medway.

3.5 Enablers

In order to deliver the vision for hospital stroke services in Kent and Medway, several key enablers
will be required. This includes a skilled workforce in enough numbers and fit-for-purpose estates
with a supporting digital infrastructure.

3.5.1 Workforce

The vision for Kent and Medway is to be “A Great Place to Live, Work and Learn”. For stroke services,
this will mean having a workforce fit to deliver sustainable high-quality person-centred care. To
achieve the changes required, a collective approach is being developed to address these challenges,
alongside new ways of working that will support the workforce to lead and work across pathways to
deliver improved outcomes for the people in Kent and Medway.

3.5.1.1 Workforce redesign
It is recognised that stroke services are delivered as part of a multidisciplinary team. Figure 18 shows
the illustrative model for the wider Kent and Medway stroke team.

Figure 18: Kent and Medway model team

Occupationa! Physiotherapist y
Therapist

3 ”
fﬂ : CO

Physicians
g Therapist sk Asy . =a
(oT, Administrative a7
peciafist Nurse/ FEychologist tr) support "b
Stroke s
coordinator f ﬂ Radiographer

Patient

Clinical
Assistant

Facities

= Neurologist Distician i
Am bulance
ED team Staff :

Je  Interventional
| & diagnostic

Radiologists
Famiies

support staff \g a Health Care

o Aszzistant cares
Worker Middle Consultant
grade D¢
s - Community/
{g Rehab
Speech and . K e

Language Senior
Therapist Junior Sister
doctors

44
Page 90



DRAFT v0.6

The improvement of clinical pathways and the introduction of new roles such as Advanced Clinical
Practitioners and Clinical Assistants will:
e enable ways of working to ensure that all the workforce is undertaking duties that are
required to be undertaken by workforce with their skills and competency
e support existing staff to be upskilled and developed into advanced roles such as Advanced
Clinical Practitioners
e promote interdisciplinary working, training and education across the Stroke workforce
e alongside Advanced Clinical Practitioners, introduce new roles to the workforce including
Physician Associates and Clinical Assistants.

Reviewing the workforce required and the way that they work together within an improved service
model, will go some way to addressing current gaps in workforce and feedback from staff on career
development opportunities to attract new staff and retain the existing workforce.

3.5.1.2 Modelling the required workforce
The workforce modelling for stroke considered a range of information when developing proposals
for the stroke workforce. This included:

e National evidence including the Royal College of Physicians National Clinical Guidance for
Stroke*®, the NHS South East Clinical Network’s Stroke Service Specification® and the
National Stroke Specific Competency Framework®!

e C(linical Senate feedback from the Pre-Consultation Business Case (Appendix |)

e Public consultation feedback (Appendix J)

e Stroke staff engagement through the Kent and Medway Stroke Workforce Group and Staff
engagement sessions

e Provider business cases (Appendix K)

e Benchmarking was also performed against seven existing HASUs and ASUs (Asford and St
Peters Hospital; Hampshire Hospital NHS Foundation Trust; Royal Berkshire Hospital;
Fairfield Stroke Unit Manchester; Whiston Hospital; Salford Royal Hospital; Wirral University
Hospital)

The NHS South East Coast standards®? were adopted as the minimum standard for the stroke
workforce. The standards differentiate between a HASU and an ASU and are shown in Figure 19.

Figure 19: South East Strategic Clinical Network stroke service specification clinical standards

45
Page 91



DRAFT v0.6

Stroke service specification minimum standards

Hyper Acute Stroke Unit (HASU) minimum Acute Stroke Unit (ASU) minimum staffing
staffing (7/7) (7/7)

* & BASP thrombolysis trained physicians on a
rota 24/7 *  1.35WTE nurses per bed (65:35 trained to
*  2.9WTE nurses per bed to comply with untrained skill mix)
80:20trained vs untrained skill mix *  0.B4WTE physiotherapist per 5 beds
* 0.73 WTE physiotherapist per 5 beds *  0.B1WTE occupational therapist per 5 beds
(respiratory and neuro) *  0.40WTE speech and language therapist
* (.68 WTE occupational therapist per 5 beds per 5 beds
*  0.34WTE speech and language therapist * 0.2 WTE clinical psychologist/
per 5 beds neuropsychologist per 5 beds
* 0.2 WTE clinical psychologist/ *  0.15WTE dietician per 5 beds
neuropsychologist per 5 beds *  Social workers
* 0.15WTE dietician per 5 beds *  Access is availableto a range of additional
* Access to social worker. professionals, including those in:
QOral health
Orthotics
Pharmacy

3.5.1.3 Total number of consultants required per site

More detailed modelling of consultant coverage was undertaken to ensure appropriate senior
coverage. The consultant workforce coverage is provided on a non-resident basis with a consultant
being present on-site for 12 hours and being non-resident (on call) out of hours (19.00 — 07.00).
Consultant coverage was developed for a 10 programmed activity (PA) contract. The coverage
assumed that direct clinical care (DCC) activities were 8 PAs and the remaining 2 PAs (including
clinical administration) were made up of supporting professional activities (SPAs). Prospective cover
for DCC PAs was calculated based on consultants working 42 weeks per year. [DN to add explanation
on conversion to WTE]

3.5.1.4 Additional staff required per site
Further work was done to understand additional capacity and roles that would be required to run a
successful HASU/ASU. These were agreed as:

e Consultant PAs allocated as 8 direct clinical care (DCC) to 2 supporting professional activities
(SPA) - i.e. 8 out of 10 consultant sessions to be direct patient care

e Updated DCC calculation as per Getting it Right First Time guidance®:.

e Therapy cover uplifted to be 7 days per week (the national minimum is for only 5 days a
week)

e 1 WTE thrombolysis nurse to be available 24/7

e Additional 1 WTE band 7 nurse/therapist ward manager in a supervisory capacity — 5 days
per week with unsocial enhancements of 13%

e Additional 1 WTE band 8b stroke service lead post — 5 days per week

e Additional 5 WTE band 4 flow coordinator posts over 7 days per week

e Additional 1 WTE band 4 administrator post — 7 days a week

e Band 3 therapy assistants included on 1:4 basis (1 unqualified for every 4 qualified
therapists)

46
Page 92



DRAFT v0.6

Further information about the detailed workforce plans for implementing the preferred option can
be found in Section 8.5.

3.5.2 Estates

The estate to deliver stroke services needs to be well-maintained and fit for purpose.
Implementation of the new service model will seek to make the best use of available space. This will
include using currently available space that has been refurbished with new build used only if
required. Opportunities for disposing of old estate, increasing co-location and occupancy rates and
reducing leasehold costs will be explored where possible. There is a commitment from providers to
ring fence stroke beds, to protect them for stroke patients.

3.5.3 Digital
Technology will be used to improve outcomes through robust, secure and seamless use of
information and systems. This will:

e facilitate and encourage local people in improvement of their health and care

e support self-care and support carers

e join up health and social care and other providers of care services by transforming the way
care professionals record information, transact and communicate with patients and staff

e enable more informed decision making

Service user empowerment will be encouraged through technology and will drive the use of familiar
consumer technology (such as texts, social media and apps) to support greater self-care,
improvements in health and wellbeing, and access to services. This includes the use of real-time and
historic data to support predictive modelling and improvements in clinical service delivery at point of
care. Population health analysis and management will also support effective commissioning.

To support the new models of care, the Sustainability and Transformation Partnership will develop:

e anintegrated shared care record providing all health and care professionals with immediate
access to all relevant patient information.

o eNavigation systems to support health and care professionals with a common directory of
services and referral processes to access common pathways.

e infrastructure to support universal access to the relevant digital systems and services.

e online patient services to facilitate access for local people to care records and other online
services such as appointment booking.

e use of expert systems to provide local people and care professionals with access to expert
knowledge to support care processes.

e use of telemedicine and telecare services to support remote monitoring of patients and to
provide remote access to diagnostic services and clinical expertise.

3.6 Patient stories

3.6.1 Prevention

Before

Joe Higgs is a 59-year-old bus driver. He is overweight and has mild diabetes and is not very active.
He gets invited to his GP surgery for a routine blood pressure check, but as the nurse uses a digital
blood pressure machine without pulse record his irregular heart beat is not detected.

47
Page 93



DRAFT v0.6

A week later he wakes having been watching TV and his right arm feels numb. He assumes that he
must have slept awkwardly and ignores this. The arm is much better in the morning and back to
normal by lunchtime, so he forgets all about this.

A week later he is driving his bus when he feels unwell and loses all sensation and strength in his
arm. Luckily, he is in traffic and travelling slowly and can stop safely. One of his passengers calls 999
and ambulance takes him to the local hospital where it is confirmed that he has had a stroke caused
by a blood clot from his irregular heart (atrial fibrillation).

He has rehabilitation but doesn’t get enough strength back in his arm to return to driving and so he
must retire on health grounds.

After

Joe gets called to his GP for a blood pressure check where the nurse, using a blood pressure machine
that shows the pulse rhythm notices that his pulse is irregular. The GP does an ECG and confirms
that he has atrial fibrillation (the ‘loading chamber of the heart’ is not emptying efficiently putting
him at risk of getting blood clots).

He is enlisted in a stop smoking class and encouraged to start exercise.

Following counselling it is agreed that he should be treated with anticoagulants (‘blood thinning
medication’) that greatly reduce the risk of getting blood clots.

He informs the DVLA and must stop driving the bus, but his company are able to find him alternative
work, while he has hospital investigation and then treatment to cure his fibrillation.

Having realised how dangerous this could have been he has stopped smoking and lost weight. He
spends more time being active and enjoys getting out for country walks.

3.6.2 Thrombotic stroke (blood clot)

Before
Josephine Murray is a 63-year-old lady who has just returned from holiday — a trip to Florida with
her grandchildren.

A couple of days later while she is looking after her granddaughter when her speech becomes
confused, she has difficulty finding words, and she realises that her face has become lop-sided.

She has seen the FAST adverts (Facial Drooping, Arm weakness, Speech difficulties, Time) and calls
her son back from his work but it is a couple of hours before he is back home and calls the
ambulance. She had forgotten that T meant she needed to act quickly.

She is taken to the local hospital, where she has a brain scan, which confirms that she has a blood
clot, possibly related to her recent flights. When the specialist comes to see her, it is too late to be
considered for any urgent treatment. Over the next few hours her swallowing becomes more
difficult and she develops a chest infection.

She spends a long time in hospital and has intermittent speech therapy and physiotherapy. She

makes a reasonable recovery, but never regains confidence to fly for holidays again.

48
Page 94



DRAFT v0.6

After
When Josephine phones her son he knows that FAST needs an urgent response and he calls 999
before immediately heading back to help.

When he arrives the ambulance crew have already arrived and having assessed Josephine they are
getting her into the ambulance and explain they are taking her to the specialist stroke unit. Despite
being further away than the local hospital, she will get faster specialist care.

When she gets to the hospital, she is taken straight to the stroke entrance where she is seen rapidly
and fast tracked for a brain scan. This confirms that her stroke is caused by a blood clot. The
consultant attends quickly and after explaining what the problems are, she is given an injection
which helps the blood clot dissolve.

She rapidly starts feeling better and her speech and face return to normal. She is admitted for a very
short spell but is sent home within 3 days having fully recovered.

She is given advice about exercise and moving during flights so next year her trip back to the States
is uneventful.

3.6.3 Haemorrhagic stroke (bleeding)

Before

Jack Scott is an 83-year-old man with high blood pressure. He has stopped smoking a few years ago.
His blood pressure tablets make him feel dizzy when he stands up quickly, so he doesn’t always take
them.

On Sunday afternoon he is watching the TV when his wife, Amy, notices that he has dropped his mug
of tea and can’t talk properly. She realises that he may have had a stroke and calls the ambulance
who take him to his local hospital.

He gets to the hospital quite quickly and has a scan, but this shows that his stroke is caused by a
bleed so that there is no active treatment necessary other than getting his blood pressure under
control.

He becomes less well over the next day, which is not unusual with this sort of stroke, but then
stabilises. The physiotherapists come to see him each day but are not available at weekends. His
swallowing is poor, but the speech therapist is only able to see home once a week and the dieticians
advise to thicken his drinks is not consistently followed. He has a long stay in hospital and with
limited rehabilitation he has difficulty getting home and has a couple of falls and a chest infection,
but luckily doesn’t break any bones. In the end he is discharged to a nursing home as his wife can’t
manage to help getting him in and out of bed and he can’t manage stairs.

After
When Jack has a stroke, he is taken to the specialist stroke unit.

Following his scan, the Multidisciplinary Team get involved quickly. As they are working together in a
specialist unit the team has become a great place to work and they don’t have the problems with
getting staff that they used to have.

49
Page 95



DRAFT v0.6

They work with Jack and his wife and prepare a care plan. They visit regularly, working as a team —
physio, dietician, speech therapist and occupational therapist (OT). Jack is frustrated and gets
depressed, so they arrange for the team psychologist to help as well.

The OT visits Jacks home and arranges adaptations which are put in place quickly.

The team explain the advantage of Early Supported Discharge. Amy is a bit nervous about Jack
coming home while he is still weak, but the team promise that they will be able to help.

Jack is sent home and the team come and see him that afternoon. Amy can help Jack do his exercises
and the pharmacist visits with his medicines and fluid thickener.

Jack gradually gains confidence and strength. His arm remains weak, but he can get to his local pub.

50
Page 96



4 Shortlisting options for consultation

4.1 Feedback received about the process during consultation

The purpose of consultation has been defined as a process “to winnow out errors in the decision-
makers provisional thinking. The JCCPT> owes a public law duty to reconsider matters in the light of
responses”>4. Although most consultation responses have focussed on the options for change, the
process which led to their identification was also part of the consultation and the JCCCG should take
account of comments on that process in considering what process to adopt in final decision-making
stage. The main area of feedback about the process was the role of areas outside Kent and Medway
in the process. The proposals are focused on changes to stroke units in Kent and Medway, but some
of the options would affect residents and hospitals in neighbouring areas. Bexley and High Weald,
Lewes, Havens Clinical Commissioning Groups concluded that the potential impact on their residents
was enough to mean they should join the formal consultation as part of the JCCCG. Parts of Rother
and Hastings were also being informed about the changes and invited to respond to the
consultation.

As residents of areas outside Kent and Medway would be significantly affected by the proposals,
which affect services at their local hospital, the NHS is legally obliged to consult with them (and take
their views into account when formulating proposals). The process used pre-consultation is
therefore considered to be robust and should be used post-consultation during decision making.

4.2 Development of options

4.2.1 Options evaluation process

An options evaluation process was designed that enabled the Stroke Review to move through a
‘funnel’ from an initial possibility of a significant number of options down to a small number of
options to undergo further analysis, before agreeing the options that would go to consultation, as
shown in Figure 20.

5 PCTs were the precursor organisations to CCGs.

51
Page 97



Figure 20: overview of process for developing and evaluating options
Evaluation approach

Mar — Jun Jul - Aug Sep - Oct

\

Models of care
help to shape the

breadth of Full list of Short list of Final list of
otential options potential options potential options potential options
p P (long lists) (3-15) (1-5)
Fixed point criteria applied to all Hurdle criteria Final evaluation
potential options and cannot be applied criteria applied

changed

4.2.2 Starting the process to determine options

If every possible combination of reconfiguration options were considered, the ‘exhaustive’ list would
be too long to be meaningful due to the significant number of combinations of all the service
delivery models on all the existing sites and, theoretically, on any number of new sites.

Local clinicians considered clinical co-dependencies, cost and timescales of building hyper acute
hospital stroke services on a “greenfield” site or a site without other urgent services and concluded
that this would not be possible due to the co-dependencies between hyper acute hospital stroke
services and other urgent services (see Section 3.3.6). These other urgent services include acute
medicine, critical care, urgent diagnostics and therapies. Therefore, the options development
process was constrained to developing hospital stroke services on the current locations of the acute
hospitals in Kent and Medway. These sites are Darent Valley Hospital, Kent and Canterbury Hospital
Maidstone Hospital, Medway Hospital, Queen Elizabeth the Queen Mother Hospital, Tunbridge
Wells Hospital and William Harvey Hospital. These hospitals are shown in Figure 21.

’

52
Page 98



Figure 21: current acute hospital sites in Kent and Medway
Potential locations for hyper acute and acute stroke units

liford

Southend-on-Sea
London Canvey Island

Grays Key
Isle of
Princess ot F Roch@ St @y @ EKHUFT
[A249 ] Whitstable B ¥dstairs
ol Faversham
Hill . O MFT
oifEastSumrey] seveose  1stone g
1ding 421)
Eeaut)m ; @ m Deal MTW
Tonbridge [a2s] 0
Roy mvt Downs
Tunbrt AONB Dover.
Crawley Well [WHH | 0 D&G
: F Folkestone

am High Weald Tenterden Ll

AONB Strs, ot o

Do, .
New Romney = G OUtSIde K&M
Rye
Battle
[Brightonewls P p
|E th |Hast|ngs
Bn(mn astbourne
Newhaven m
Eas®ourne w

Ranlar

A theoretical long list of consultation options was then developed that described how hyper acute
hospital stroke services could be located on any of the existing acute hospital sites in Kent and
Medway. The next stage was to filter these options to a manageable list of options that was realistic
and understandable, for detailed consideration.

4.2.3 Stakeholder engagement in options development

The development and evaluation of options has been clinically led, with recommendations coming
from the stroke Clinical Reference Group supported by the STP Clinical Board. The proposals have
also been reviewed by the South East Coast Clinical Senate, which has provided external challenge to
help test and refine the proposals. Further testing and refinement has taken place based on
discussions with patient representatives, patient representative groups, local authorities and local
HOSCs.

4.3 Options appraisal (medium list)

4.3.1 Determining a shortlist of options for detailed evaluation

Clinicians used a set of hurdle criteria to establish a shortlist of options for the location of hyper
acute and acute stroke units alongside 7-day TIA clinics for high risk patients across the acute
hospital sites in Kent and Medway. Each option needed to:

e Deliver the key standards and co-dependencies with a sustainable workforce
e Be implementable within a reasonable timeframe

e Bein line with other consultation and designation processes

e Be accessible to patients and carers

e Demonstrate high level affordability

53
Page 99



This meant defining and applying an agreed set of hurdle criteria and eliminating options where

these were not met. Five criteria were used to determine the shortlist for further detailed
evaluation, as shown in Figure 22.

Figure 22: hurdle criteria to determine the shortlist for further detailed evaluation

Hurdle criteria

Is the potential
configuration
option clinically
sustainable?

Is the potential
configuration
option
implementable?

Is the potential
configuration
option a strategic
fit?

Is the potential
configuration
option accessible?

Is the potential
configuration option
financially
sustainable?

Does it deliver key quality standards?

Does it address any co-dependencies?

Will the workforce be available to deliver it?

Will there be sufficient throughput or catchment population to maintain skills and
deliver services cost effectively?

Will the option deliver financial and clinical sustainability within a medium-term
timeframe by 20/217? This statement is based upon a system wide view

Does it implement the outcome of other recent consultations or designation
processes?

Can the population access services within a window of 120 minutes from call to
needle?’

Must not increase the ‘do nothing’ financial baseline (given the need for capital
investment at any resulting sites which is of similar quantum, noting more at
PFI sites, this was considered in detail at the evaluation stage)

1) Using 95% accessing services within 60 mins (peak)as a proxy

A detailed explanation of the baseline data, methodology and assumptions used in applying the
hurdle criteria is available at Appendix L. A detailed explanation of the baseline data, methodology
and assumptions used in calculating the capacity and bed numbers is available at Appendix M.

4.3.2

Determining clinical sustainability

To determine the number of hyper acute and acute stroke units required in Kent and Medway,
clinicians reviewed:

the evidence around the total volumes of activity required to maximise clinical quality and
efficiency;

the ability of services and the availability of workforce to deliver quality standards; and
the required clinical co-dependencies.

Clinicians recommended that there should be three hyper acute and acute stroke units alongside
7-day TIA clinics for high risk patients in Kent and Medway because:

Units must treat a large enough volume of patients for staff to retain their skills and for
services to be cost effective. National guidance is that there needs to be a minimum of 500
and a maximum of 1,500 stroke patients per year in each unit>>. There are around 3,000
strokes per year in Kent and Medway which means there is too many stroke patients for
there to be a single unit in Kent and Medway (2-site options were retained at this stage as
the numbers of strokes per unit were less than 10% above 1,500). Therefore, clinicians
recommended options with 1 site should be excluded.

54
Page 100



e Clinicians determined that the national guidance around the need for 7-day consultant cover
for hyper acute and acute stroke units means that at least 6 consultants are required to staff
units with up to 40 beds (even with fewer beds, at least 6 consultants are still required to
meet the requirements for 7-day emergency cover). The c.3,000 strokes per year in Kent and
Medway will require an estimated 127 beds by 2020/21 (assuming average length of stay
and average bed occupancy levels across Kent and Medway remain at current levels) and
this means that options with more than three units will have under-utilised consultants (i.e.
some or all the unit sizes will be under 40 beds). In addition, there are currently only 10 WTE
stroke consultants in Kent and Medway. There are national shortages in stroke consultants
(for example, in 2016, 40% of hospital sites had at least one unfilled post for a stroke
consultant) and it would not be possible to recruit the additional consultants required to
staff more than 3 units (it would require at least an additional 14 consultants to staff four or
more units). Therefore, clinicians recommended options with 4, 5, 6 or 7 sites should be
excluded.

e The consensus across stakeholders including clinicians and the public has been that 2-site
options should not be taken forward for evaluation due to concerns about the size of the
units, system resilience and the ability of sites to move to 2 units in the short term.
Therefore, clinicians recommended options with 2 sites should be excluded.

The need to address the outcomes in stroke services across Kent and Medway is urgent, as outlined
in the case for change and reiterated by Professor Tony Rudd, National Clinical Director for Stroke,
NHS England. Kent and Canterbury Hospital does not currently meet the co-dependency
requirements for a HASU because it is lacking acute medicine and critical care, due to the withdrawal
of training doctors by Health Education England as a result of insufficient consultant supervision of
junior doctors. Following the withdrawal of junior doctors, the Trust carried out an emergency
transfer of services on the grounds of patient safety. Work is underway to review services and
develop options for a clinically and financially sustainable model for East Kent University Hospitals
NHS Foundation Trust. The outputs of this work will in time be subject to public consultation. It is
noted this will need to be kept under review, but given Kent and Canterbury Hospital cannot
currently provide a HASU and a model for improved care is urgent, it is recommended that Kent and
Canterbury Hospital should not be considered as a potential hyper acute and acute stroke unit at
this time.

Following the review of the clinical sustainability of options, the remaining 20 options are those with
three sites located on current acute hospital sites excluding Kent and Canterbury Hospital. These are
shown in Figure 23.

55
Page 101



Figure 23: remaining 20 options after review of clinical sustainability

DVH DVH MGH TWH
MGH TWH TWH WHH
TWH QEQM QEQM QEQM
DVH DVH MGH MMH
MGH MMH MMH WHH
MMH WHH WHH QEQM
DVH DVH MGH TWH
MGH MMH MMH MMH
WHH QEQM QEQM QEQM
DVH DVH MGH MGH
MGH WHH WHH TWH
QEQM QEQM QEQM WWH
DVH MGH TWH DVH
TWH TWH MMH TWH
MMH MMH WHH WHH

4.3.3 Determining clinical sustainability of the remaining options

As discussed in section 4.3.2, national guidance is that there needs to be a minimum of 500 and a
maximum of 1,500 stroke patients per year in each unit. The remaining options were assessed using
peak travel time to predict future stroke activity at each site under each option. Options with units
that fell outside 10% of the minimum and maximum number of stroke patients were excluded from
further consideration. These are shown in Figure 24.

Figure 24: options excluded after further review of clinical sustainability

WithinGctivity@hreshold
Within@0%®fGctivity®hreshold
DoesthotEneet@ctivity@hreshold

Site Predicted@ctivitybyBite Site Predicted@ctivitybyBite Site Predicted@ctivitytbyBite
DVH 803 DVH 722 MGH 663
MGH 1,783 TWH 514 TWH 415
TWH 414 MMH 1,764 MMH 1,379
00A 20 00A 10 00A 553
MGH 1,190 MGH 896
TWH 415 TWHE 354
QEQM 802 WWH 1,166
00A 603 00A 594

Notes:@olumeRfBtrokectivitytbased®nBFearsfBrovider@atad2014/153 2016/17),Bpplying@ge- and@leprivation-weighted?
incidenceates@nd@ssumingatients@llBccessEheBite®fferingBtrokeBervices@vith@heBhortest®ravel@imelcar,Bff-peak).Bl

Source:®Provider@lata@eturnsd2014/15@ 2016/17),Basemap travel@imeRatafcar,®ff-peak),EDNSEopulation@ataf2015),AMDE
deprivation@ata{2015)

56
Page 102



One site (Tunbridge Wells Hospital) in one option (Tunbridge Wells Hospital, Medway Maritime
Hospital and William Harvey Hospital) fell just outside the 10% tolerance but was agreed to be taken
through this hurdle criterion. This was based on:

e improvements to the road network, increasing access to Tunbridge Wells Hospital from the
Sevenoaks area;

e evidence from historic activity data showing higher than expected attendance at Tunbridge
Wells Hospital; and

e the clinical co-adjacencies offered at the Tunbridge Wells site resulting in a high HASU/ASU
quality offering.

Further detail on this rationale can be found in Appendix L. Clinicians therefore recommended that
15 options should be considered further, as shown in Figure 25.

Figure 25: remaining 15 options after further review of clinical sustainability

Options@vhich@neet®hectivity@olumethurdleRriterion: WithinELO%Bf@ctivityRhreshold* WithinRctivity@hreshold
Doesthot@neetfctivity@hreshold

Site Predicted@ctivitylbyRite Site PredictedmctivityyBite Site Predicted@ctivityyRite Site Predicted@ctivitybyRite
DVH 803 DVH 766 MGH 792  MGH 1,074
MGH 865 MMH 704  MMHE 735 WHH 642
WHH 1,199 WHH 1,242 QEQM 759 QEQM 557
00A 143 OOA 298 OOA 724 0OO0OA 737
DVH 803 DVH 766 MMH 887 TWH 513
MGH 1,225 MMHE 1,102 WHH 685 WHH 1,144
QEQM g02 QEQM 782 QEQM 557 QEQM 557
00A 180 OOA 360 OOA 881 OOA 797
DVH 1,463 DVH 1310 TwH 525 DVH 701
TWH 624 WHH 845 MMH 1,145 MGH 901
QEQM 913 QEQM 557 QEQM 782 MMH 1,227
00A 10 O0OA 298 OOA 558  OOA 181
MGH 487 TWH 448 DVH 1,236

MMH 647 MMH 824 TWH 480

WHH 1,189 WHH 1,188 WHH 1,294

O0A 687 OOA 550 00A 0

Notes:@/olumedfBtrokeRctivitytbased®nBFearsdfrovider@atad2014/15E 2016/17),Bpplying@ge- and@eprivation-weightedd
incidence@ates@nd@ssuming@atients@llBccesstheBite@fferingBtrokeBervices@vith@heBhortest@ravel@imeRcar,Bff-peak).?

Source:@®rovider@ata@eturnsd2014/15R 2016/17),Basemap travelRimeRiatafcar,Bff-peak),EDNSBopulation@latad2015),@MDR
deprivation@latad2015).

4.3.4 Determining implementability
Some of the remaining options divert substantial activity and bed requirements out of Kent and
Medway and clinicians agreed that these options should be excluded from further consideration as
they would:
e put a substantial extra workload into southeast London, where hyper acute stroke units are
already at full capacity; and
e require capital investment at hospital sites outside of Kent and Medway which would be
substantially more difficult to implement.

Clinicians agreed that options which would result in a transfer of a significant number of beds (about
one ward) to a single hospital site outside Kent and Medway would be excluded from further
consideration. Two options resulted in the transfer of a significant number of beds to the Princess
Royal University Hospital in Orpington, as shown in Figure 26.

57
Page 103



Figure 26: options with a transfer of a significant number of beds to a single site outside Kent and
Medway

Basildon Brighton East Surrey Eastbourne Princess Queen’s Total net
Hospital (Royal Sussex | Hospital Hospital Royal Hospital change

[of 1114 14% University (Romford)
Hospital) Hospital

Net change 10 21 7 75 511 11 634
stroke activity

Net change 0 1 0 3 0 24
stroke beds

TWH, WHH, Basildon Brighton East Surrey Eastbourne Princess Queen’s Total net

QEQM Hospital (Royal Sussex | Hospital Hospital Royal Hospital change
[of 1114 14% University (Romford)
Hospital) Hospital

Net change 10 0 0 0 530 11 550
stroke activity

Net change 0 0 0 0 0 21
stroke beds

Volume of stroke activity based on 3 years of providerdata (2014/15-2016/17), applying age- and deprivation-weighted incidence rates and assuming patients all access
the site offering stroke services with the shortesttravel time (car, off-peak). Bed requirements calculated at80% HASU occupancyand 90% ASU occupancy, basedon 20%
stroke activity having a 2-day HASU stay and 80% 3-day HASU stay. Two-thirds of stroke patients have an additional ASU stay of 15 days with the remaining third
discharged after the initial HASU stay. Bed requirements include activity uplifts for TIA (@10%, with 1-day HASU stay) and Mimics (25%, with 2-day HASU stay).

SOURCE: Providerdata returns (2014/15-2016/17), Basemap traveltime data (car, off-peak), ONS population data (2015), IMD deprivation data (2015), Carnall Farrar
analysis

Clinicians therefore recommended that 13 options should be considered further as shown in Figure
27 and that a more detailed analysis of flows out of Kent and Medway should be undertaken as part
of the detailed evaluation of remaining options; this was done as part of the evaluation of options
shown in Section 4.4.2.

Figure 27: remaining 13 options after review of implementability

1.DVH, WHH, QEQM
2.MGH,MMH, QEQM
3.DVH, MMH, WHH
4.DVH, MMH, QEQM
5.DVH, MGH, WHH
6.DVH, MGH, QEQM
7.DVH, TWH, QEQM
8.MGH, MMH, WHH
9. TWH, MMH, QEQM
10. TWH, MMH, WHH
11. DVH, TWH, WHH
12. DVH, MGH, MMH
13. MGH, QEQM, WHH

58
Page 104



4.3.5 Determining strategic fit

Future options for changes to services need to be aligned with existing commitments, to ensure that
they do not challenge or unpick past decisions around configuration of services. Clinicians defined
existing commitments as:

e Designation processes where existing sites have designation for service provision which has
gone through a nationally-led rigorous process

e Local consultations to ensure that the options do not revisit agreed decisions in previous
consultations

Analysis was carried out to test the options against these existing commitments and there have not
been any consultation or designation processes in Kent and Medway that are relevant. Clinicians
therefore recommended that all remaining options meet this hurdle criterion.

4.3.6 Determining accessibility

It is important that services are accessible to patients and to carers. Local guidance recommends a
best practice window of 120 minutes from call to needle for the stroke pathway®® and travel time to
hospital of no more than 60 minutes in rural areas®’. It is not possible to measure against a 120-
minute call to needle time as data is not currently collected in this way. As a proxy, and in discussion
with stakeholders, clinicians agreed to use a measure of “95% of the confirmed stroke total
population can access a HASU within a maximum of 60 minutes at peak travel time” (this means
looking at the door-to-door travel time specifically, rather than the call to response time or door to
needle time) to assess accessibility.

The assessment was done by looking at the time taken during peak hours to access the nearest
urgent care hospital (door-to-door) for people who would no longer be able to access their current
nearest hospital (the impacted population). This analysis showed that 95% of the confirmed stroke
total population can access a HASU within a maximum of 60 minutes at peak travel time for the
impacted population for all remaining options, as shown in Figure 28. Clinicians therefore
recommended that all remaining options meet this hurdle criterion.

59
Page 105



Figure 28: time taken to access services (peak hours) for remaining options

As is based on travel time from patient LSOA to hospital site Within activity threshold or

DVH WHH access criterion

MGH K&C 100% - L

— 100% Within 10% of activity

SEQN) threshold
MMH
Does not meet access
criterion
% Total
4};anﬁzfnaccess % Total pop access % Total pop access
- HASU within HASU within
: 60 mins 60 mins 60 mi
Site Site Site mins
DVH DVH MGH
MGH 99.9% MMH 99.9% MMH 99.8%
WHH WHH QEQM
MGH DVH DVH
WHH 100% MGH 99.8% MMH 99.5%
QEQM QEQM QEQM
Fd DVH DVH TWH
TWH 99.1% WHH 100% MMH 99.6%
QEQM QEQM QEQM
DVH MGH TWH
MGH 98.1% MMH 99.9% MMH 99.9%
MMH WHH WHH
13
TWH 99.9%
WHH
SOURCE: Basemap off- peak travel times, 2015/16; Carnall Farrar analysis, 2016

4.3.7 Determining financial sustainability
The high-level financial implications of the remaining options were assessed to eliminate any options
that would not contribute to a financially sustainable solution.

All options are likely to require additional investment (capital and/or revenue) in stroke services,
which will be funded through savings elsewhere and longer-term positive return on investment. All
remaining 13 options will result in an increase in beds required at the relevant sites; however, none
of these increases are greater than 39 additional beds (around 2 wards) which the Finance Working
Group agreed is not sufficiently large to rule out options at this stage. The Finance Working Group
therefore recommended that all remaining options meet this hurdle criterion and that a detailed
analysis of financial sustainability would be undertaken as part of the detailed evaluation of
remaining options. This was done as part of the evaluation of options shown in Section 6.2.5.

4.3.8 Shortlist of options for further evaluation
Following the application of these hurdle criteria, clinicians recommended that 13 options go
forward for further evaluation, as shown in Figure 29.

60
Page 106



Figure 29: list of options for further evaluation

Medium list of options

1.DVH, WHH, QEQM
2.MGH,MMH, QEQM
3.DVH, MMH, WHH
4.DVH, MMH, QEQM
5.DVH, MGH, WHH
6.DVH, MGH, QEQM
7.DVH, TWH, QEQM
8.MGH, MMH, WHH
9. TWH, MMH, QEQM
10. TWH, MMH, WHH
11. DVH, TWH, WHH
12. DVH, MGH, MMH
13. MGH, QEQM, WHH

4.4 Evaluation of the options (shortlisting)

Further analysis of the potential options for consultation was done using an agreed set of evaluation
criteria, developed by clinicians with involvement from patients and their representatives, the public
and providers. These evaluation criteria were:

e Quality of care for all

e Access to care for all

e Workforce

e Ability to deliver

o Affordability and value for money

Each criterion had several sub-criteria that were used to support the evaluation of each option, as
shown in Figure 30.

61
Page 107



Figure 30: evaluation criteria and sub-criteria

Evaluation criteria

Criteria Sub-criteria

Quality of = Clinical effectiveness and responsiveness
care for all

Access to » Time to access services
care for all

Workforce * Scale of impact

= Sustainability

Ability to * Expected time to deliver

deliver  Trust ability to deliver

Affordability * Net present value
and value for

money

All the remaining 13 options were considered to be acceptable as they had met the hurdle criteria as
detailed in Section 4.3. The evaluation of the remaining options therefore sought to weigh the pros
and cons of each option in order to decide which are most favourable overall and should therefore
be put forward for consultation.

A detailed explanation of the baseline data, methodology and assumptions used in evaluating the
options is available at Appendix N.

4.4.1 Stakeholder input

The evaluation criteria were developed by clinicians with involvement from patients and their
representatives, the public and providers. An initial set of draft evaluation criteria were developed
and then tested in July and August 2017 with 8 focus groups with support groups run by the Stroke
Association, an online (and paper) survey and a stakeholder event with open invitation to people
across Kent and Medway. Participants were asked to prioritise the criteria that were most important
in determining how options should be evaluated. The most common ordering of the criteria was
(quality, access and workforce were the top three across all vents and the survey):

Quality

Access

Workforce

Deliverability

Affordability and value for money
Research and education

Choice

Nou,srwnNe

Discussions raised issues which stakeholders and the public felt were important in decision making
but which did not differentiate between the options and were therefore not used in the evaluation

62
Page 108



of options. These include the ease for family to travel to the chosen sites to visit, parking and public
transport for visitors. Information is captured within the report from these focus groups and was
shared with the Stroke Programme Board as the evaluation criteria were being scrutinised and

applied:

Area

How it has been considered

Availability of ambulances, including the need
for extra ambulances

Work with the South East Coast Ambulance
Service has shown that a similar number of
ambulances will be needed under all of the
options and this therefore does not
differentiate between the options. £1m per
year was included in the financial costing to
account for increased costs for the ambulance
service. The additional cost to the ambulance
service will be finalised as part of
implementation planning.

Consideration of disadvantaged and elderly
people

The impact on disadvantaged and elderly
people is being considered as part of the
integrated impact assessment (see Section 8.4).

Training and motivation of staff

The training and motivation of staff is key to a
high quality service. Specialist staff will be
available 24/7 under all options and it is
therefore not differentiating between options.
Plans are being developed to deliver increased
training, as detailed in Section 8.5.

Communication between services using
technology

A robust strategy is in place to develop the
ability of services to communicate using
technology. This is detailed in the
implementation plans.

Support provided to families and carers
(including travel and parking)

In discussion with the Stroke Association and
stroke ambassadors at the initial evaluation
workshop it was agreed that this was not a
differentiator that could be reliably assessed in
each option, but that the issues were important
and should be considered following
consultation as part of the development of the
DMBC when a preferred option had been
chosen and should then consider parking,
public transport and other issues. The Stroke
Association was supportive of this and noted
that during the urgent phase of stroke care,
most relatives could find ways of getting to
hospitals, but that they often needed to
provide support if patients had longer-term
rehabilitation.

Access to rehabilitation

A new rehabilitation model has been agreed
and further work is being developed to review
rehabilitation services.

Impact on workforce including cost/impact of
travelling further to work

This is considered an important issue but not a
predictable differentiator between options at
this stage. Further work will be required to

63

Page 109




Area

How it has been considered

understand the impact at the implementation
planning stage.

The staff involved are relatively small in
number and implementation would require
individual discussions with affected people,
rather than a presumption they will move with
the service. All clinical staff can expect a future
role as they will either move with the service or
be redeployed in their current trust.

Most staff currently looking after stroke
patients are junior nurses on general wards.
They may well decide to stay at their Trust and
continue general nursing, though there will be
opportunities for some to move and develop
specialisation within the new HASU/ASU
setting.

Most consultants similarly provide stroke care
alongside other medical interests. Some may
decide to move, others stay at their current site
and increase their other interests. This will vary
by individual opportunities and constraints. An
individual discussion will be required for each
person involved after the consultation period
when the outcome is confirmed.

The staff groups who are currently dedicated to
stroke care are the hospital based rehab
schemes and Stroke Specialist Nurses. HR
estimate that most of these will opt to move to
the new service — but some may decide to stay
locally and move to community rehab rather
than move hospitals.

Population and housing growth

Work has been undertaken to assess the
impact of population and housing growth
alongside advances in prevention and
technology which reduce the number of people
who have a stroke. The predicted number of
strokes needing hospital care is the same under
all options and therefore this does not
differentiate between options.

Relevance of including level 3 NICU as part of
the co-adjacencies evaluation

Although the Keogh Model recommends the
presence of a level 3 NICU on site for a Major
Emergency Centre, it was agreed by the Clinical
Reference Group that this is not relevant to the
provision of a HASU and was therefore
removed from the evaluation assessment.

64

Page 110




Area How it has been considered

Choice is not relevant as a specific evaluation In response to this feedback, choice was
criterion, as high quality care is more important | removed as a specific evaluation criterion. In
the evaluation of the options, quality and
access were felt to be most important.

Choice will be considered as part of the design
of post-acute and rehabilitation care, including
as part of this enabling patients to receive care
in their own home.

The detailed feedback report from the stakeholder events is shown in Appendix O.

4.4.2 Evaluating the medium list
Each of the hurdle criterion were considered in turn before an overall evaluation across all criteria
was undertaken.

4.4.2.1 Quality of care for all

Clinical quality is of paramount importance and was the highest priority criteria for patients and the
public. Through the application of the hurdle criteria, clinicians have ensured that each option being
evaluated will deliver key standards and co-dependencies with the first hurdle criterion (clinical
sustainability) designed to test this and remove any options that would not be clinically sustainable
(see Section 4.3.3). In order to evaluate the remaining options, clinicians asked the evaluation
question:

Does the option provide improved delivery against clinical and constitutional standards, and access
to skilled staff and specialist equipment?

This question is designed to test whether any options are likely to deliver clinical sustainability more
easily or more quickly than others. The areas chosen for review were around clinical effectiveness
and responsiveness:

e  Current co-location with other co-dependent services for a HASU (based on guidance from
the South East Coast Clinical Senate®®), including provision of inpatient rehabilitation.

e Ability of sites to provide optimal clinical co-adjacencies for mechanical thrombectomy (this
service is currently not provided in Kent and Medway but there is an agreed local ambition
for it to be provided in the future).

e Ability of sites to provide those services required for a Medical Emergency Centre as defined
by the Keogh model®°.

Clinicians agreed that safety and patient experience would be improved similarly for all options
under the new model of care and therefore assessing this would not differentiate between options.
Improved patient experience and safety is an important benefit from the proposed changes.

Co-location with co-adjacent services

The South East Coast Clinical Senate has set out the clinical co-dependencies required for a HASU.
Those that must be co-located, such as emergency medicine, critical care and physiotherapy are
already available on all sites under all options. However, as described by the South East Coast
Clinical Senate and recent national guidelines®, there are some services that would benefit from co-
location. Clinicians agreed that co-location with the trauma unit and/or hub vascular surgery is very
beneficial as this supports access to interventional radiology and angiographic CT scanning 24 hours

65
Page 111




a day, 7 days a week. There are also some efficiencies to co-location with inpatient dialysis,
neurology, nephrology and neurosurgery.

Some sites already have many of these services available on-site, whereas other sites do not. Given
the cost and time of developing these services on sites that do not already have them, clinicians
agreed that options with sites that already had these services would be evaluated more highly, as
shown in Figure 31.

Figure 31: evaluation of provision of clinical co-adjacencies for a HASU

Provision of clinical co-adjacencies for a HASU, defined by the South East
Coast clinical senate — option evaluations

10) 11) 12) 13)
DVH, DVH, mGH, | TwH, | TwH, | pvH, | DVH, | MGH,
mMGH, | TwH, | mmH, | mmH, | mmH, | TWH, | MGH | WHH,
qEaM | Qeam | wHH qeam | WHH | wHH | mvH, | oEQm

DVH, MGH, [ DVH, DVH, DVH,
WHH, | mmH, | mmH, J§ mmH, [ MGH,
aeam | aeam | wHH Qeam | WHH

1a) Overall
evaluation

Rationale for overall evaluation Key Combination of individualsite evaluations  Overall evaluation

+ Each Trust provided the information regarding their current provision of
services _
« The individual site evaluations were agreed as based on the rationale on ! -

the previous page - Izl | -
« The overall option evaluations are based on the combination of individual

n
' * |.

site evaluations within that option, with overall evaluation assigned as set I:I =
out in the key
li - =

|
'||\||\

The provision of inpatient rehabilitation was also agreed to be an important co-adjacency, but this is
provided at all sites under consideration and was therefore agreed not to differentiate between
options.

Ability to provide clinical co-adjacencies for mechanical thrombectomy

Mechanical thrombectomy is an emergency procedure used to remove a blood clot from a blood
vessel (vein or artery). It requires advanced imaging to identify and support the removal of the clot
in the brain (interventional radiology). Currently only a few sites in the country do mechanical
thrombectomy (because of the requirements for specialist equipment and staff) and no units in Kent
and Medway fulfil the current criteria for consideration as a mechanical thrombectomy service;
currently patients must travel to Kings College Hospital or St George’s Hospital in London. However,
the South East Coast Clinical Senate said, “future planning [of stroke services in Kent and Medway]
should take account of the potential implications of this significant development [mechanical
thrombectomy]®Y”. It is the ambition in Kent and Medway to provide mechanical thrombectomy
locally in the future from one of the proposed new hyper acute stroke units. Therefore, clinicians
agreed that options including sites that could quickly develop the clinical co-adjacencies for
mechanical thrombectomy would be evaluated more highly.

66
Page 112




Clinicians agreed the key clinical co-adjacency for mechanical thrombectomy is interventional
radiology, although similar skills and equipment are required to support pPCl. Other important
clinical co-adjacencies are CT, CT angiogram and MR angiogram (which requires an interventional
radiology suite) and trauma unit. Therefore, options including Medway Hospital, William Harvey
Hospital and/or Tunbridge Wells Hospital were evaluated more highly mainly because they are all
trauma units. This evaluation is shown in Figure 32.

Figure 32: evaluation of clinical co-adjacencies for mechanical thrombectomy

Provision of optimal clinical co-adjacencies for mechanical thrombectomy —
option evaluations

) 2) 3) 4) 5) 6) 7) ) 10) 11) 12) 13)

TwH, | TWH, | DVH, | DVH, | MGH,
mmH, | mmH, | TWH, | MGH | WHH,
aeam | wHH | wHH | mvH, | QEQm

Rationale for overall evaluation Key Combination of individual site evaluations ~ Overall evaluation

« Each Trust provided the information regarding their current
provision of services

< The individualssite evaluations were agreed as based on the -

|
+

rationale on the previous page

« The overall option evaluations are based on the combination of
individual site evaluations within that option, with overall
evaluation assigned as set out in the key

[}

[}
"\“\

Provision of services required to constitute a major emergency centre

The 2014 Keogh report set out a range of delivery models for urgent and emergency services. This
included the major emergency centre with specialist services which has an unselected Emergency
Department supported by on-site emergency surgery and a full obstetrics service. It also has
specialist services including interventional cardiology and a hyper acute stroke unit. Major
emergency centres are expected to serve populations are around 1 to 1.5 million people. As there
are around 1.8 million people in Kent and Medway, it would be expected that there would be at
least two major emergency centres. As major emergency centres are expected to host hyper acute
stroke units, clinicians agreed that options including sites that already have the clinical co-
adjacencies for a major emergency centre would be evaluated more highly. Therefore, options
including William Harvey Hospital (which has all the major emergency centre services) were
evaluated more highly and options including Maidstone General Hospital (which does not have
emergency surgery or a full obstetrics service) were evaluated more poorly. This evaluation is shown
in Figure 33.

67
Page 113



Figure 33: evaluation of clinical co-adjacencies for major emergency centre

Provision of services required to constitute a Major Emergency Centre,
defined by the Keogh model —option evaluations

1) 10) 11) 12) 13)
DVH, DVH, DVH, DVH, DVH, DVH, MGH, TWH, TWH, DVH, DVH, MGH,
WHH, mvH, | mvH, | meH, | meH, | twH, | mmu, | mmH, | mMH, | TWH, | MGH | WHH,

QEQM WHH QEQM § WHH QEQM | QEQM J WHH QEQM § WHH WHH MMH, QEQM

Rationale for overall evaluation Key for Combination of individual site evaluations Overall evaluation

overall

= Each Trust provided the information regarding their current evaluation:
provision of services

- Theindividual site evaluations were agreed as based on the
rationale on the previous page

« The overall option evaluations are based on the combination of

individual site evaluations within that option, with overall evaluation - - -

assigned as set outin the key

FIEIEE

4.4.2.2 Access to care for all

Access to services is very important and was consistently mentioned during pre-consultation events
with clinicians, patients and the public. It was in the top three highest priority criteria for patients
and the public. Through the application of the hurdle criteria, clinicians have ensured that each
option being evaluated will deliver acceptable access with the fourth hurdle criterion (accessibility)
designed to test this and remove any options that would not be accessible (see Section 4.3.6). In
order to evaluate the remaining options, clinicians asked the evaluation question:

Do any options keep to a minimum the increase in the total time it takes people to get to hospital
(door-to-door) by ambulance, car (at off-peak and peak times) and public transport?

This question is designed to test whether any options are likely to deliver better access than others.
The areas chosen for review were around distance and time to access services:

e Ambulance (using car off-peak as a proxy) access to nearest hyper acute and acute stroke
units — maximum travel time and percentage of population that can access services within
30 and 45 minutes by ambulance (door-to-door).

e Private car access to nearest hyper acute and acute stroke units — maximum travel time and
percentage of population that can access services within 30 and 45 minutes at peak times by
private car (door-to-door).

e Public transport access to nearest hyper acute and acute stroke units — percentage of
population that can access services within 2 hours at peak times by public transport (to
hospital door).

A full explanation of the baseline data, methodology and assumptions for calculating travel times
plus additional maps including travel times isochrones can be found at Appendix M.

68
Page 114




Clinicians agreed that service operating times would be improved similarly for all options under the
new model of care and therefore assessing this would not differentiate between options. Improved
service operating times is an important benefit from the proposed changes.

Ambulance (using car off-peak as a proxy) access to hyper acute and acute stroke units

As there is no data available to robustly measure ambulance travel times for stroke patients, the
South East Coast ambulance service advised that car off-peak travel times should be used as a proxy
measure. Within all options, over 95% of the confirmed stroke total population can access the
nearest HASU within a maximum of 60 minutes by ambulance (door-to-door), as assessed by the
hurdle criteria (see section 4.3.6). Therefore, clinicians agreed that an assessment of the percentage
of the population that could access the nearest HASU within 30 minutes and 45 minutes (door-to-
door) would be made and that options where a greater percentage of the population could access
services more quickly would be evaluated more highly, as this would make it even more likely that
people would be able to access services quickly. This evaluation is shown in Figure 34.

Figure 34: evaluation of ambulance access to services

% population that can access sites within 30 mins and 45 mins travel time
(blue light proxy) — options evaluation

% Total pop access

HASU within30| 795 | | 749 | | 734 | | 724 | [ 7a2 | (727 | | 727 | 762 | | 802 | [ 822 | [ 769 | | 626 | [ 858 | 963
mins

vy H B B B BB BN EN [=]
evaluation

%T:;E:Jszt:?;e:a 985 | | 949 | [910 | | 930 | [913 | [9a8 | o926 | [913 | [957 | o920 | 919 | 816 | |99.0| 990

ool BN BN B BN BN BN B OB O O S
evaluation

2a) Overall

evaluation

Key for % Total pop access HASU within | Key for % Total pop access HASU within Key for overall evaluation
30 mins evaluation: 45 mins evaluation: Combinati of evaluati

for 45 min and 30 min

=>75% access within 30 mins . =>95% access within 45 mins . .

65-74.9% access within 30 mins . 85-94.9% access within 45 mins .

<65% access within 30 mins <85% access within 45 mins

n

SOURCE: Basemap off-peak travel times 2015/16; ONS population figures 2015; Carnall Farrar analysis 2017. *There are currently no HASUs on any of the 7 acute
sites in K&M this refers to general medical assessment

Clinicians also reviewed maximum travel times (door-to-door) but, in all options, this was 70 minutes
or less. Given that these travel times over 60 minutes apply to less than 1% of the population,
clinicians agreed that these maximum travel times would not differentiate between options.

Peak car access to hyper acute and acute stroke units

Within all options, over 95% of the confirmed stroke total population can access the nearest HASU
within a maximum of 60 minutes by private car at peak travel time (door-to-door), as assessed by
the hurdle criteria (see Section 4.3.6). Therefore, clinicians agreed that an assessment of the
percentage of the population that could access the nearest HASU within 30 minutes and 45 minutes

69
Page 115



by private car at peak times (door-to-door) would be made and that options where a greater
percentage of the population could access services more quickly would be evaluated more highly.
This evaluation is shown in Figure 35.

Figure 35: evaluation of peak car access to services

% population that can access sites within 30 mins and 45 mins travel time
(peak driving) — options evaluation

% Total pop access
HASU within30| 783 | | 729 | | 719 | [ 706 | | 733 | [ 714 | | 715 | [ 736 | | 784 | | 798 | [ 764 | [ 621 | |829 | o976
ins

woll I H BB BB EEERE

evaluation

%T:;?Jowﬁt:::e:a 984 | [956 | [910| [93a | [o16 | [955 | [92.4 | [o16 ] [965 | [922] [021 | [817 ] [90.4] 907

4 I BN N B B N B B B N BN
evaluation

2b) Overall

evaluation

Key for % Total pop access HASU within | Key for % Total pop access HASU within | ey for overall evaluation
30 mins evaluation: 45 mins evaluation:

Combinations ofevaluation  Qyerall evaluation
for 45 min and 30 min

=>75% access within 30 mins . =>95% access within 45 mins . . .
65-74.9% access within 30 mins . 85-94.9% access within 45 mins . . . =

n

<65% access within 30 mins <85% access within 45 mins

SOURCE: Basemap peak traveltimes 2015/16; ONSlpopulationfigures 2015; Camall Farrar analysis 2017
*There are currently no HASUs on any of the 7 acute sites in K&M this refers to general medicalassessment

Clinicians also reviewed maximum travel times (door-to-door) to the nearest hyper acute and acute
stroke unit but, in all options, this was 67 minutes or less. Given that these travel times over 60
minutes apply to less than 1% of the population, clinicians agreed that these maximum travel times
would not differentiate between options.

Public transport access to hyper acute and acute stroke units

Clinicians agreed that access to public transport is extremely important for friends, relatives and
carers. Patients experiencing a stroke would be extremely unlikely to be travelling on public
transport to access hyper acute and acute stroke units. Therefore, clinicians agreed that access to
public transport was not a differentiator for hyper acute and acute stroke units. However, following
consultation, further work will be done to understand cost and availability of public and private
transport for the preferred option.

4.4.2.3 Workforce

The right number of skilled and well-trained staff is key to delivering high quality hyper acute and
acute stroke units. Workforce was consistently in the top 3 highest priority areas for evaluation for
patients and the public. Through the application of the hurdle criteria, clinicians have ensured that
each option being evaluated will have sufficient numbers of stroke consultants, with the first hurdle
criterion (clinical sustainability) designed to test this and remove any options that would not be
clinically sustainable (see Section 4.3.3). In order to evaluate the remaining options, clinicians asked
the evaluation question:

70
Page 116



e  What is the potential impact on current medical and non-medical staff?
e Do the options vary in the need to employ extra stroke workforce?

e What is the potential impact on staff attrition due to change?

e  Where is it more difficult to recruit and retain staff?

This question is designed to test whether any options are likely to deliver the required workforce
more easily than others. The areas chosen for review were around sustainability:

e Number of staff required to run hyper acute and acute stroke units
e Vacancy rates (across site)
e Turnover rates (across site)

A full explanation of the baseline data, methodology and assumptions for calculating workforce can
be found at Appendix M.

Clinicians agreed that it was not possible to measure the scale of impact (number of staff impacted
in hospitals not chosen to become a hyper acute and acute stroke unit) and impact on local
workforce (total number of staff affected by the changes) because many people would be able to
stay on the current site in a more general role and because the roles in the new units would be
attractive to staff. These sub-criteria were therefore not used in the evaluation.

Number of staff required to run hyper acute and acute stroke units

Clinicians agreed that the number of nurses and allied health professionals required to run hyper
acute and acute stroke units varies with the number of beds and, as the total number of beds are
the same in all options, this therefore does not differentiate between options. It will, of course, be
very important to make sure there are enough stroke nurses and allied health professionals, and
plans are being developed for this. The number of stroke consultants will be different for different
options as sufficient are required to staff a rota for 24 hours a day, seven days a week. Consultant
requirements have been calculated based on a 1:6 rota for all units until the modelled predicted
activity at a site is over 1,300 when a 1:8 rota has been used®?. Extra staff that would be required at
non-Kent and Medway sites based on patient out flows under some options have also been
included.

There are currently 10 WTE stroke consultants in Kent and Medway and options require between 8
and 12 additional WTE stroke consultants. As all options require additional workforce, none have
been evaluated positively. Options that require more additional stroke consultants are rated more
poorly. This evaluation is shown in Figure 36.

71
Page 117



Figure 36: evaluation of additional staff required to run hyper acute and acute stroke units

Gap in workforce for consultants based on best practice requirements
compared to in post staff

K&M consultant

gap, WTEs*
""" Additional
consultants required
Sl o J L2 J Lo JLo o f[o o ]fz][2][2][o][o][es]
waion  H H H 0 O O B B B B OO AB
evaluation
Notes
+ As agreed at the workshop on 30/08, a neutral evaluation is used for the smallest | K&M consultant gap + .
consultant gap, with everything else negative to representthe recruitment Additional consultants Overall evaluation
challenge this poses required at PRUH
« This analysis takes into account the additional consultant workforce required to s=12
support activity outflows from K&M - this was requested at the workshop on 30/08

* The gap in K&M consultant staff has been calculated based on the assumption
that the 10 WTE currently in post could fulfil some of the requirement

* The consultant requirementat the PRUH has been calculated based on a pro rata 8>X=10 D
of activity volumes, therefore representing the additional consultants required
rather than the gap against the total consultants currently in post at the PRUH

SOURCE: Providerinformation (2017); STP workstream analysis (2017); Clinical Standards, South East Stroke service specification (2017)

NOTES: *Consultantrequirements have been calculated basedona 1:6 rota for all units until the modelled predicted activity at a site is over 1,300 when a 1:8 rota has been used
This is based on conversationswith Frimley, this is for further discussion. This includes the extra staff thatwould be required at non-K&M sites based on patientout flows under some
options *BASP define a sliding scale for consultant DCC PA requirements in their 2011-2015 document

Vacancy rates

The ability of individual sites to recruit staff to hyper acute and acute stroke units can be indicated
by vacancy rates. Because of the small numbers of people in the urgent stroke workforce, total
vacancy rates for medical and nursing staff at each site were reviewed by clinicians. It was
acknowledged that total vacancy rates for a site may not be a comprehensive indicator of the ability
of sites to recruit staff to a hyper acute and acute stroke unit in future. However, clinicians agreed
that it is a useful proxy for consideration as part of the evaluation process. Options including sites
with low vacancy rates were evaluated more highly than options including sites with higher vacancy
rates. This evaluation is shown in Figure 37.

72
Page 118



Figure 37: evaluation of vacancy rates

Vacancy rates overall evaluation

3) 5) 8)
DVH, DVH, MGH,
MMH, MGH, MMH,
Average vacancy WHH WHH WHH
rate for the 3 sites

i"(‘:l':r‘;ip,:;’; | 9.54 | | 17.54 | | 14.61 | | 14.74 | | 13.22 || 13.35 | | 12.36 | | 17.41 || 16.56 || 16.43 || 12.23 | | 18.41 || 12.35 | 14.80
midwifery)

ol @ B EEEE R R

Averagevacancy

rate f?,:::zi:::m 8.50 | | 13.50 | | 11.66 | | 12.28 | | 8.78 | | 9.40 | | 6.30 | | 12.88 | | 10.40 | | 9.77 | | 5.67 | | 13.02 || 9.27 | 9.50
(medical)

Agreed ' J
evaluation o 3 o o 3 o 3
evalation m B B n
evaluation / f -

Turnover rate significantly P
oo Turnover rate significant!
aboveasis (>16) 9 v

above asis (>12)

Key for evaluation against average Key for evaluation against average Key Combinations of

vacancyrate forthe 3 sitesin the option | ,cancy rate forthe 3 sites in the option nursing and

(nursing & midwifery) (medical) medical vacancy Qyerall

— evaluation evaluation Combinations

Turnover rate significantly . Turnover rate significantly of nursingand

belowasis (<10) ) below as is (<8) . . . = medical Overall

;I;ngs(\ﬁ;r)ate belowas is . Turnover rate below as is vacancy evaluation

8<X<9 . B y
Turnover rate consistent with as ( ) . . - evaluation
is (14<X<16) 1 Turnover rate consistentwithas | ¢ _ ! = D
) is (9<X<10) . N =

Turnover rate above as is Turnover rate above as is ~ = -

(10<X<12) : . = -
I -

SOURCE: Trust workforce data (2015-2017); STP workforce team (2017)

Turnover rates

The ability of individual sites to retain staff working in hyper acute and acute stroke units can be
indicated by turnover rates. Because of the small numbers of people in the urgent stroke workforce,
total turnover rates for medical and nursing staff at each site were reviewed by clinicians. It was
acknowledged that total turnover rates for a site may not be a comprehensive indicator of the ability
of sites to retain staff in a hyper acute and acute stroke unit in future. However, clinicians agreed
that it is a useful proxy for consideration as part of the evaluation process. Options including sites
with low turnover rates were evaluated more highly than options including sites with higher
turnover rates. This evaluation is shown in Figure 38.

73
Page 119



Figure 38: evaluation of turnover rates

Turnover rates overall evaluation

Average turnover
';,‘ij,i‘;{,:‘,;?;;‘gi;"’;;“| 959 | [ 9.82 | [10.86 | [ 1086 || 884 |[ 884 |[ 866 |[ 082 | [ 9.6 || 064 || 866 | [ 1041 |[ 855 | 0.4

in option (%)

Agreed
evaluation

Averagetl{rnover
“or stosim ontion | 628 | [400 | [0s | [e0s | [z | [582 | [599 | [ao1 | [aa7 | [a17 | [60 | [5e1 | [222 | 500
(%)

Agreed
evaluation

3c) Overall

evaluation

Key for evaluation against average Key for evaluation against average Key Combinations °f, nursing and medical N

vacancy rate forthe 3 sites in the option vacancy rate forthe 3 sites in the option vacancy evaluation = +

(nursing & midwifery) (medical) —

Turnover rate significantly below Turnover rate significantly = s

asis (<8) . below as is (<4.2) .

Turnoverrate below as is Turnover rate below as is = !

(8<X<9) (4.2=X<5) ]
Turnover rate consistent with as = o

Turnover rate consistent with as I is -

1s Turnover rate above as is - _

Turnoverrate above as is - (5<X<6) -

(<9X<10.5) =

o .- Turnover rate significantly 3 o
Turnover rate significantly above above as is (>=6)
as is (>10.5) -- -- = .

SOURCE: Trustworkforce data (2015-2017); STP workforce team (2017)

4.4.2.4 Ability to deliver

It is important that change can be delivered as quickly and easily as possible so that the benefits
from the change can be gained as soon as possible. Through the application of the hurdle criteria,
clinicians have ensured that each option being evaluated is implementable, with the second hurdle
criterion (implementability) designed to test this and remove any options that would not be
implementable (see Section 4.3.4). In order to evaluate the remaining options, clinicians asked the
evaluation question:

e How easy will it be to deliver change?

e How well does each option align with other strategic changes and provide a flexible platform
for the future?

e How able / willing are the Trusts to deliver each option?

These questions are designed to test whether any options are likely to be implemented more quickly
and easily than others. The areas chosen for review were around expected time to deliver and Trust
ability to deliver:

e Trust self-assessment of the new capacity required to deliver each option
e Self-certified ability to deliver each option by Trusts

Clinicians agreed that co-dependencies with other strategies is not useful for evaluation purposes as
trusts are at different stages of formulating their strategies and because the strategies may not align
with the requirements of the whole system. The impact on inequalities has been reviewed as part of
the integrated impact assessment (see Section 8.4).

74
Page 120



Expected time and ease to deliver

Clinicians reviewed the expected time to deliver each of the options (the capital cost of each option
was considered as part of the finance evaluation — see section 4.4.2.5). This timescale was mainly
driven by the capital requirements of the option (i.e. how long it would take to either build or
refurbish space to provide the new hyper acute and acute stroke units). Trusts undertook a self-
assessment for each option and this was validated by the Finance Group. Consideration was also
given to sites outside Kent and Medway; the main site impacted under some options is the Princess
Royal University Hospital in Orpington. Options that required longer timescales to deliver were
evaluated more poorly than those that could be delivered quickly. This evaluation is shown in Figure
39.

Figure 39: evaluation of expected time and ease to deliver
Expected time and ease to deliver (incl. PRUH)- options evaluation

opin o o Jo Jo B Bo B0 Qo Jo Jo Hio Bo o |
DVH DVH DVH DVH DVH

Site1  pVH MGH DVH TWH TWH DVH MGH

MGH
Timeto(:le"'i;z; [6-12 [612| [e-12] [e12] [e12] [12-18] [6-12] [6-12] [12:18] [612] [6-12

Evaluation ! ] ! / ! - . / 1] - ] /
_ Site2  WHH  MMH MMH MMH MGH MGH TWH MMH  MMH  MMH TWH MGH  WHH
T'me“’,de"}’e; [18+ | [o6] [o6]| h2-19 [e12] [2-18] [6-12] | 06 [12-18] [6-12] [6-12] [e12] [18+]
Evaluation -- . - ) - ! . - 1 ! ! --
site3  QEQM  QEQM WHH QEQM WHH QEQM QEQM WHH QEQM  WHH WHH MMH  QEQM
Timetodeliver [15,7| [18+]  [18+| [18«| [1se]| [ase]| [18+] [H18+] [18+] [18+] [18«] [1218] [18+]
(mnths)
Evaluation - o - o - o - o . -
Ext(;:leasl 'LI:::I:: [os] [18+] [o6] [os] [o6] [18+] [18+]

Evaluation
4a) Overall
evaluation

Key for individual sites time to deliver
(months)

12-18
0*6. (18+for | -

external)
6-12 | | 18+ ..

PRUH bed numbers are smaller and so
have a lower impact on overall evaluation

SOURCE: Trustself-assessment, 24 August 2017, Carnall Farrar analysis (2017)
1) Currently based on assumption from PRUH that any change would take 2-3 years to implement 2) PRUH timescales are 0-months because activity flows from PRUH in these options
3) PRUH bed numbers are smaller and so have a lo impact on overall evaluation

Trust ability to deliver

Trusts undertook a self-assessment as to their ability to deliver each of the options, and the time it
would take for them to deliver each of the options. The responses on timescale were largely driven
by the size of the unit and the number of beds required at each site under each of the options —
where this required new build, the timescale required to implement was generally assessed longer.
The self-assessment also took account of the ability of a Trust to run hyper acute and acute stroke
units on two sites (where applicable) and ability to attract the workforce from other sites. Two
options would see hyper acute and acute stroke units delivered on two sites within the same Trust
and East Kent University Hospitals Foundation Trust felt that this would be very difficult to deliver
due to recruitment issues and the risks around staff re-location. Therefore, options with a hyper
acute and acute stroke unit on both the William Harvey Hospital and the Queen Elizabeth the Queen
Mother hospital (the two sites managed by East Kent University Hospitals Foundation Trust) were
evaluated more poorly than the other options. This evaluation is shown in Figure 40.

75
Page 121



Figure 40: evaluation of Trust ability to deliver

Trust willingness to deliver — options evaluation

m 3) ) 11) 12) 13)
DVH, DVH, DVH, DVH, MGH,
MMH, MGH, TWH, MGH WHH,
WHH WHH WHH vmvH, | QEQM

DVH MGH DVH DVH DVH DVH DVH MGH TWH TWH DVH DVH MGH
Willing to deliver?

WHH MMH MMH MMH MGH MGH TWH MMH MMH MMH TWH MGH WHH
Willing to deliver?

QEQM QEQM WHH QEQM WHH QEQM QEQM WHH QEQM WHH WHH MMH QEQM

Willing to deliver?
ses I INESH IS S IS s ) N S N N =

4b) Overall
evaluation

« Trusts were asked tofill in a pro-forma confirming whether or not they were willing Key Combinations of individual site Overall
to deliver each option based on a yes/noresponse evaluations evaluation

* The pro forma was signed by the Chief Executive and Medical Director of each
Trust respectively - - -

« EastKent Hospitals University Trust felt unable to deliver 2 sites with HASU/ASU -
= The information collected through the pro forma was directly reflected in the options
evaluation -

« Theresponsesforoptions 12 and 13 were confirmed with Trusts

SOURCE: Trust self-assessment, 24 August2017, Carnall Farrar analysis (2017). Options 12 and 13 returns were based on previous assessment. This was later agreed
1) Currently based on assumptionfrom PRUH that any change would take 2-3 years to implement 2) PRUH timescales are 0-6months because activity flows from PRUH in these options 3)
PRUH bed numbers are smaller and so have a lower impact on overall evaluation

4.4.2.5 Finance

It is important that the proposed changes do not create a financial deficit over the medium term.
Through the application of the hurdle criteria, Finance Directors have ensured that each option
being evaluated is likely to be financially sustainable, with the fifth hurdle criterion (financial
sustainability) designed to test this and remove any options that are not likely to be financially

sustainable (see Section 4.3.7). In order to evaluate the remaining options, Finance Directors asked

the evaluation question:

e Which options would have the lowest capital costs (cost of buildings and equipment)?

*  Which options will have the lowest revenue costs?

*  Which options would have the lowest cost of transferring services between hospitals?

*  Which options will give the greatest net present value (overall financial benefit) over the
next 10 and 20 years?

These questions are designed to test whether any options are likely to be more financially
sustainable than others. The area chosen for review was highest net present value.

Directors of Finance agreed that:

e Estimated capital costs (new or refurbished and with identified necessary infrastructure) is
non-differentiating because the main driver of the net present value calculation was capital.
Net present value was retained as this “return on investment” calculation is required by the
NHS Investment Committee and in capital bid submissions.

e Revenue costs calculated by reviewing the increased costs of consultants and nurses under
each option was non-differentiating because a similar level of total staffing is required for
each option; the issues with the ability to recruit have been evaluated under the workforce

76
Page 122



criteria (see Section 3.3.6). Calculating the revenue consequences of new capital was agreed
to be duplicative with the net present value calculation.

e Only the cost of double-running would be reviewed for transition costs as the cost of
moving capital is included in the present value calculation and the cost of training and
redundancies would be roughly the same under all options (there would be no plans for
redundancies under any option). The difference between options for double-running costs
was minimal and given the sensitivity of calculations this was agreed to be non-
differentiating between the options at this stage.

Net present value

The net present value (NPV) calculation seeks to show which options will give the best overall
financial benefit over the next 10 years and the next 20 years. This means calculating the total
investment requirements for each option from commissioners and providers (including up front
capital investment, ongoing replacement capital costs, one-off transition costs and any workforce
costs) and setting this against the total potential benefits of each option for commissioners and
providers (including consolidation savings, net change to fixed costs and capital receipts).
Consideration was also given to sites outside Kent and Medway including the Princess Royal
University Hospital in Orpington and Eastbourne District General Hospital. All options for sourcing
capital are being explored but, for modelling purposes, it has been assumed that capital will be
financed through PDC (public dividend capital — a form of long-term government finance) and capital
bids will be submitted through the national process. The full calculations and assumptions used are
shown in Appendix M.

The 20-year NPV analysis was agreed to be non-differentiating between the options as it showed at
least £37m benefits for all options. The 10-year NPV analysis was used as this is differentiating.

Options that had higher NPVs were evaluated more highly than those with lower or negative NPVs.
This evaluation is shown in Figure 41.

77
Page 123



Figure 41: evaluation of financial sustainability

NPV (10yr, £k)| (10,732) |{ 16,855 |[ 17,666 |[ 24,449 |[ 12,107 | 8520 |[ (10,047) | 14,379 || 17,232 |[ 16,086 |[ 16,283 |[ 27,959 || (1,540 ]

5a) Overall
evaluation
» Net present value is a calculationto see whether the amount invested today in Key :‘Oy.s NPV O‘I’e":_"
the new model of care results in an improvement to the amount stroke services Criteria (£000) evaluation
cost in the future as compared to today >24,000 =

Ko
o
S
o
S
S
S
o
S
S
[ n i

£
»
o
=4
(=]

"

SOURCE:K&M Trust estates returns (September2017); K&M STP Estates workstream (August2017); Gleeds analysis (September 2017); Carnall Farrar analysis (September2017), Cost
savings perpatient- Hunter, Davie, Rudd et. al. (2013) Delivery/build timeframes: Trust self assessment data (24 August2017)and Carnall Farrar analysis (2017), Annual activity per site
Providerdata returns (2014/15—-2016/17), Basemap travel time data (car, off peak), ONS population data (2015), IMD deprivation data (2015), Carnall Farrar analysis (2017)

4.4.3 Summary of evaluation
The assessment across all five evaluation criteria, including their sub-criteria, was brought together
onto a single evaluation matrix, shown in Figure 42.

Figure 42: full evaluation matrix

Full evaluation matrix

1) DVH, 2) MGH, 3) DVH,

'WHH, MMH, MMH,

QEQM QEQM f WHH
/ -

4) DVH,
MMH,
QEQM

ise
: E
z

6) DVH, 7) DVH, 9) TWH, 10) TWH, 11) DVH, 12) DVH, 13) MGH,
MGH, TWH, MMH, MMH, TWH, MGH WHH,
QEQM QEQM QEQM WHH WHH MMH, QEQM
|
/ + / + /

\ h
i i . | i i i 1 i i
SEC co-adjacencies [/ ! i ! 1 = C ! ! ! . ' ! + !
______________________ }_______w__”,_.l_______4_______l______4_______\_______x.______J_______n.______:_______x_____
z Co-adjacencies for ! i . . . ! . | H H ! |
] 1 1 1 !
[} mech. i / ! ! H + ! o ! / ! + / . + | + /
(<] thrombectomy | i + ; / 1 | ] ] i L H H E
—————————————————————— R e H e e e e e e i L
1 ! ' 1 ' | 1 1 1 h 1 1
waal IRy IRCSCERELITRTNT O
‘ : ‘ 1 ‘ ‘ ‘ 1 : 1 : :
i i H i i i i i : | i :
# + Blue light, proxy 1 + ! + + 1 + ' + 1 + 1 1 ! 1 ! !
8 i : i : i | . i i : i !
g _____________________ : _______ [ J| ________ [ J|_____'_| _______ [ T [ mTemm T T-== ="
< Privat ﬁ i ! ' ! I 1 ' ! ! ! ! '
nvzecar,o ! ! + ! o ! + ! ! + [ ' ! ! ! '
pea ] ! ' ] ] ] 1 ! ! ] ! '
+  Gapin workforce 1 i ! i ! ! ! . H i i |
requirements = | = ! I / ! / | / ! = ! = ! = ! . ! / ! / ! &
g _____________________ :_ ______ F===="" : ________ r-=----°-- : _______ r=----" T -~~~"~°~7 T 1=——=-=--= T-TTTT7 :’ ______ A-=-===-
‘E-Vacancies i i i i i i i : | | I H
H ‘ et BN BN ‘ : Bl | ,
1 ]
I - e F— R R H4-——-— = Fe—m— - to - bommmm === T R
1 1 1 1
Turnover ; H ; i ! l l H i H i H
M 1 1 - 1 - -
! o ' [ A Lo+ N Dt ! | ; +
L L L L L L L L
T
e Expectedtime to i 3 i ; i i " " E i 3 i F
= 1 1 5
3 deliver N 5 /o - 1 / | . i . 1 N ! 1 - ! / '
5 ~mommomoo-onooo- TR e R I R B R R e
8 ]
2> Trustability to 1 ' 1 ' 1 1 1 1 1 ' 1 1
= . 1 ! 1 ! 1 1 I 1 ! | ! 1
= deliver h 1 I 1 | | | i 1 I 1 I
< ' ! ! ! | | | ' ! | ! 1
T T T T T T T T T
1 ! 1 ! 1 1 1 1 1 1 ! 1
@+ NetPresentValue 1 ! 1 ! | 1 | 1 1 1 1 1
o - 1 ! 1 -
S (NPVat10yrs,em) .1 i . - I PR EE BB . |
e ] ] i ' i ! ] ] ]
= i i i i i i i i | i i :
1 ! 1 ! 1 1 1 1 1 1 ! 1
' ! | i 1 ' | I 1 I ! |
|

There was extensive evaluation of the options by clinicians, operational managers and public/patient
representatives including:
e Two workshops of the stroke Clinical Reference Group

78
Page 124



Two meetings of the Stroke Programme Board

Two meetings of the STP Clinical Board

Two meetings of the Finance Group

A half-day workshop of senior clinicians, managers and finance representatives with patient
representatives

These meetings considered feedback from extensive patient and public engagement on the
evaluation options which consistently put quality, access and workforce as the highest priority areas
for consideration. A meeting of CCG Clinical Chairs and CCG Accountable Officer recommended that
the following options should go forward for consultation:

e Option 3 - DVH, MMH, WHH
e Option 5 - DVH, MGH, WHH

e Option 8 - MGH, MMH, WHH
e Option 10 - MMH, TWH, WHH

This is because these options give the highest quality, particularly the potential to provide
mechanical thrombectomy, along with good access and are deliverable and affordable. Lower
importance was given to vacancies and turnover (due to the concerns about the data and the
whether the right thing was being measured).

At the meeting, Option 11 (DVH, TWH, WHH) was originally evaluated poorly on ability to deliver
(because it resulted in DVH being a very large unit and as such required additional consultants) and
also on affordability (because of the need to build on all three sites, two of which are PFls). However,
as a result of changes to the PRUH base activity data provided by the Bromley CCG, the workforce
and capital requirements for this option reduced. As option 11 also gives high quality and good
access, it was agreed by the Clinical Reference Group on 9% January, the Stroke Programme Board
on 12 January and the Joint Committee of CCGs on 16 January that this option should also go
forward for consultation.

Briefly, the other options are not recommended for shortlisting for consultation for the following
reasons (see Appendix N for the full analysis):

e Option 1-DVH, WHH, QEQM: this option was evaluated poorly on quality, affordability and
was evaluated very poorly on deliverability (because services are being provided on two
sites in a single trust).

e Option 2 - MGH, MMH, QEQM: this option was evaluated very poorly on quality (because
only one site currently has a trauma unit or co-adjacencies for mechanical thrombectomy
and MGH does not have co-adjacencies for a major emergency centre).

e Option 4 - DVH, MMH, QEQM: this option was evaluated poorly on quality.

e Option 6 - DVH, MGH, QEQM!: this option was evaluated very poorly on quality (because no
site currently has a trauma unit or co-adjacencies for mechanical thrombectomy and MGH
does not have co-adjacencies for a major emergency centre).

e Option 7 - DVH, QEQM, TWH: this option was evaluated poorly on quality and very poorly on
affordability (because of the need to build on all three sites, two of which are PFls).

e Option9 - TWH, MMH, QEQM: this option was evaluated poorly on quality.

e Option 12 - DVH, MGH, MMH: this option was evaluated very poorly on access.

e Option 13 - MGH, QEQM, WHH: this option was evaluated poorly on quality, very poorly on
the ease of delivery (because services are being provided on two sites in a single trust) and
very poorly on affordability.

79
Page 125



4.4.4 Shortlist of options
Options 3, 5, 8, 10 and 11 are the recommended shortlist for consultation. These options (re-labelled
to avoid confusion) are:

e Option A (formerly option 3) - DVH, MMH, WHH

e Option B (formerly option 5) - DVH, MGH, WHH

e Option C (formerly option 8) - MGH, MMH, WHH
e Option D (formerly option 10) - MMH, TWH, WHH
e Option E (formerly option 11) — DVH, TWH, WHH

William Harvey Hospital is in all options with a choice between Medway Hospital, Darent Valley
Hospital, Maidstone General Hospital and Tunbridge Wells Hospital as the second and third site.

80
Page 126



5 Public consultation

5.1

Overview of consultation

The formal consultation on the proposals for urgent stroke services in Kent and Medway ran for 11
weeks from 2 February to 20 April.

The consultation comprised the following key questions:

1.
2.

Do you think there is a clear case for changing the way stroke services are delivered?
Do you think there should be hyper acute stroke units in Kent and Medway?
a. Should acute stroke units and transient ischemic attack (TIA or mini-stroke) clinics be
located alongside these units?
Do you think that three hyper acute stroke units would be the right number for Kent and
Medway?
Do you have a preference for any of the five options?
Are there any other options or any other factors that should be considered?

Two reports on the public consultation were prepared and published in July 2018, these were:

5.2

Consultation activity report: This report sets out how the formal consultation on urgent
stroke services was delivered across Kent and Medway and with neighbouring areas in
Bexley and High Weald Lewes and Havens. It describes the range of activity undertaken but
does not describe the responses received. The report is shown in Appendix P.

Consultation response report: DJS Research, an independent research consultancy, analysed
all consultation responses to develop a report on the themes emerging from the public
consultation. The report is shown in Appendix J.

Consultation activity

The public consultation activity was comprehensive, reaching in excess of 2 million people, and
generating over 5000 responses to the consultation.

5.2.1

Consultation activity: giving information and promoting the consultation

Over the 11-week consultation period, awareness-raising and promotion activity included:

The distribution of 15,000 consultation documents, 35,000 summary documents, and
posters, to around 850 locations across Kent, Medway and border areas in south east
London and East Sussex. This dissemination included GP surgeries, acute and community
providers, pharmacies and libraries across the consultation geography.

Information cascaded to 43,500 health and social care staff across Kent and Medway and
borders.

Information cascaded through patient groups and networks linked to NHS organisations,
local authorities, voluntary sector partners, and GP practices.

A nine-week paid-for advertising campaign on local radio and in local newspapers.

A leaflet distribution to 98,200 individual households in the areas potentially most impacted
by the proposals.

Both paid for advertising and promoted posts, and non-paid for activity on social media
(Twitter, Facebook, YouTube).

Media releases issued to raise awareness with coverage in broadcast and print media across
the consultation geography.

81
Page 127



e Regular articles published in council, NHS, Healthwatch and other partners’ newsletters,
e-bulletins, magazines and websites.

e Promoting the consultation and providing regular updates on the
www.kentandmedway.nhs.uk website.

Examples of promotional material used during the consultation are shown in Figure 43.

Figure 43: examples of promotional material

Improvmg NHS urgent stroke services...

Consultation events coming up:

Sh?_ﬂ'iﬂ'@d Come to a public listening
options for

fiyper acte event to share your views
stroke units: Register your place at
www.kentandmedway.nhs.uk/stroke
=i Y or call 0300 7906796

=  Bexleyheath: 19 Mar 2018, 14:00
= Gillingham: 20 Mar 2018, 18:30

= Sittingbourne: 22 Mar 2018, 18:30
= Rainham: 23 Mar 2018, 10:30

= Broadstairs: 24 Mar 2018, 10:00
= Canterbury: 28 Mar 2018, 18:30 e Tire Location
®  Heathfield: 29 Mar 2018, 18:30

®  Ashford: 04 Apr 2018, 10:00

= Robertsbridge: 04 Apr 2018, 18:30
= Deal: 05 Apr 2018, 18:30

= StMary's Bay: 6 Apr 2018, 13.30

07 Mach 140010 1600 | Miter

12Mach 1000101200 B

13Mah 1400101600 S
15 Mamch | 183010 20:30
Can't attend? Check our website to
respond online or call 0300 7906796 19 March 140010 16:00

20March | 18:3010 2030

PUBLIC CONSULTATION: ((‘ Transforming
www.kentandmedway.nhs.uk/stroke D accie! care

22 March | 183010 2030

22 March | 18:00 stant

24Mach | 10001 1230
Whawch | 1830102030 | Car
29Mach | 1830102030
OtApd | 1000101200 | Ashion
OiApt | 1830102030

O6Aprd 1330101530

s

G = ';,.f:_._

Improving urgent = - Improving urgent
stroke services in stroke services in
Kent and Medway

Examples of promotional materials
used during consultation

o0 S50 To.STSE el e st Wwwww kentandmedway.nhs.uk/stroke

5.2.2 Consultation activity: gathering views
There was extensive engagement activity with patients and the public, staff and stakeholders
including:

e Telephone surveys: DJS Research conducted telephone surveys with residents from all ten
Clinical Commissioning Group areas. Quotas were set to ensure that the people who took
part in the survey were broadly representative of the population of the area.

e Consultation questionnaire: An online questionnaire was made available on the Kent and
Medway STP website, and the survey was open from 2nd February—20th April 2018. Paper
guestionnaires were also made available from a variety of sources via the dissemination
described above.

e Public listening events: 28 listening events took place in locations across Kent and Medway
during February-April 2018. These events generally followed the structure of a short
presentation followed by an open Q&A session and structured table discussions.

e  Other public consultation activities:

o Attending meetings run by third parties — e.g. Dartford Elders Forum, Thanet Over
50s Forum, Campaign for Health in East Kent AGM, to discuss proposals
o Face to face discussions through focus groups, street surveys and roadshows

NHS trust staff engagement events and discussions

o Outreach to seldom heard groups included discussions with homeless people,
prisoners, ex-servicemen and substance mis-use groups

O

82
Page 128


http://www.kentandmedway.nhs.uk/

Structured discussions with people representing those with protected characteristics
e.g. older people, LGBTQ groups, mother and baby groups

Asking questions and responding to queries on social media channels

Responding to questions, queries and comments received via email, letter and
phone

Meetings and briefings for elected representatives, provider organisations, health
and care partners, unions, patient groups

The location of the listening events held during the consultation is shown in Figure 44.

Figure 44: listening events held during consultation

Ashford Minster in Thanet .
Iifor
Bexleyheath Minster on Sea - Canvef?;::jndm'sea
Canterbury Rainham 9 Gray
artford
Crowborough Ramsgate. M q Y 9 h
Deal Robertsbridge . el i 9‘“9 :
. A /] Whitstable Bro\ygitairs
Erith Rochester . BAY i
Faversham Rye b s Maidttone Came&ury
i [421]

Folkestone el i) / D

Ashford Tonbridge rzas
Gillingham Sittingbourne R 9 Lenibonns iony
Gravesend St Mary's Bay 9 Wells -

St Peter's High Weald Tenterden [EEEED >
Heathfield % - A0S @ St

Broadstairs 9 9 of
Herne Bay Swanley R?e New ol
Maidstone Tonbridge Battle
Margate Whitstable

In summary, the reach of the consultation and responses received to the consultation were:

e Paid advertising

o

O
@)

Reached 296, 842 newspaper readers across Kent and Medway and in border
communities in Bexley and High Weald Lewes Havens over the course of nine weeks
Achieved 52,503 mobile digital impressions

Reached 341,269 radio listeners via 4,308 ad spots

e Social and digital media

O

O

>14,000 users on the website and >50,000-page views during the consultation
period

Twitter reach >500,000; Facebook reach >50,000; >4,000-page engagements
on Facebook; YouTube >1,000 views of the videos

e Responses to engagement

O

O
O
O

o

2,240 responses to the online questionnaire

312 hard copy questionnaires

Notes from 28 public listening events attended by 850 people

Notes from meetings and forums hosted by others where the proposals were
discussed

Notes from consultation events with staff in NHS trusts

701 telephone interview responses

Notes from 442 face to face discussions through focus groups, street surveys and
outreach engagement

500+ email / postal / phone comments and questions

83
Page 129



o 500+ comments and questions through social media
o 1,683 postcard responses and a petition with ~3500 signatures received from a
group in Thanet

A comprehensive, and wide-reaching consultation was delivered which fully met its objectives as set
out in the Consultation Plan published as part of the pre-consultation business case (PCBC). The
targets for reach and responses were significantly exceeded and a rich depth and breadth of
feedback, perspectives and views on the proposals were gathered as a result.

5.3 Key themes from the consultation

The responses to the consultation were collated and independently analysed and show the key
themes that emerged.

5.3.1 Do people agree with the case for change and the proposal to establish HASUs?
Overall, people agreed with the proposal to establish HASU/ASUs in Kent and Medway, and there
was a high level of agreement and understanding of the arguments put forward regarding the
benefits of having HASU/ASUs in Kent and Medway:

e People understood that current services are not good enough and are not on a par with
other areas of the country.

e Residents generally agreed it is better to be treated by specialists and that HASU/ASUs
would improve access to specialist care.

e QOver three-quarters of respondents to the telephone survey agreed that it makes sense to
create HASUs/ASUs and that these units would improve access to specialist treatment and
improve the quality of urgent care for stroke patients.

e Almost 9in 10 (87%) of the responses to the consultation questionnaire agreed that there
are convincing reasons to establish HASUs in Kent and Medway, and over three-quarters
agreed that HASU.ASUs would improve access to specialist care and improve quality of care
for stroke patients.

However, some members of the public were unsure whether there is a clear case for changing the
way stroke services are delivered. This was because they felt they did not have enough information
or knowledge to judge whether the reasons for change are justified, that the investment may be
better focussed across the whole pathway or were concerned over the potential impact on other
local services of introducing HASU/ASUs. There was a concern over whether after care, including
rehabilitation services and care in the community was being considered as part of the review, and
the impact that HASU/ASUs will have on these services.

A minority of people questioned the existing evidence that shows HASU/ASUs provide better
outcomes. However, most questions and concerns were not generally around whether HASU/ASUs
should be established, but where they should be located.

5.3.2 Is three the right hyperacute stroke units the right number for Kent and Medway?

Whilst many people understood the reasoning behind having three units in the area, and specifically
the argument that it would be difficult to staff more than three units in the area, some felt that
staffing should not drive such decisions, and that more should be done instead to improve
recruitment and retention of staff. Many felt that the geography of the area means that four units
would be better in order to provide fair and equal access to all residents.

84
Page 130



5.3.3 Views on the five proposed options

Respondents to the consultation questionnaire were asked to rank the five proposed options in
order of preference. Whilst there was no clear ‘winner’, the most preferred option from the surveys
was Option A (Darent Valley, Medway Maritime and William Harvey Hospitals), closely followed by
Option B (Darent Valley, Maidstone and William Harvey Hospitals). The key reasons given for
preferring these options are that they have potentially the greatest reach and accessibility.

Of those expressing a preference for a particular option, many acknowledged that they would
choose the option with their preferred hospital, usually the one closest to where they live. Many
people (especially from Thanet) did not feel any option was suitable and expressed a desire for Kent
and Canterbury Hospital or Queen Elizabeth the Queen Mother (QEQM) Hospital to be re-considered
as one of the options. All options were perceived to leave east Kent (particularly Thanet) at a
disadvantage with little or no choice. Residents often stated that the other NHS reviews and the
potential new hospital in Canterbury should be considered before making a decision on the locations
of the units.

Many questions were raised over the decision-making process of the proposed locations. Key areas
of concern regarding the decision-making process included:

e The inequality of care for east Kent residents if there is no HASU/ASU at QEQM or KCH.

o Whether the stated travel times were correct.

e The implications of increased travel times on the time from ‘call to needle’, the ambulance
service, and friends and relatives. Two thirds of telephone respondents thought increased
travel times was a concern and this concern was highest amongst residents of Thanet.

e  Whether decisions had been based on population size, density or demographics.

e Whether geography or need had been considered.

e The reasons for omitting the Kent & Canterbury Hospital and the QEQM Hospital from the
shortlist.

o The influence of bordering areas on the proposals.

o The influence of finance on the proposals.

Other topics discussed included the current political situation and questions around the public
consultation. Figure 45 details the response to these issues and how they will be addressed. Detailed
feedback and responses can be found in Appendix J.

85
Page 131



Figure 45: response to issues raised from consultation

Travel times A significant amount of work has gone into modelling the travel times as
are too long part of the development of these proposals. All five of the shortlisted
options mean that 99% of people could reach a hyper acute stroke unit by
ambulance within an hour and no-one will need to travel for more than
63 minutes. Evidence shows that patients benefit from thrombolysis

up to 3 hours after the start of a stroke. Following discussions with the SE
Coast Clinical Senate, the ambition to aim for a call to needle aim of 120
minutes was agreed — giving good access and best outcomes. This is
shown in Section 4.3.6.

This evidence was reviewed by clinicians as part of the development of
the PCBC and re-considered following consultation. Clinicians agreed that
depending on where people live, the ambulance journey to reach a hyper
acute stroke unit may be longer than being taken to the nearest A&E, but
what is most important is the speed and quality of care received once the
hyper acute unit is reached. People have a much better chance of
surviving and making a full recovery if they travel further but are treated
in a specialist unit. This is shown in Section 4.3.6.

Travel times The travel times data used is from a company called Basemap. Basemap
stated are (www. Basemap.co.uk) is a nationally recognised and trusted digital
unrealistic mapping and transport solution provider that has supported many NHS

organisations over the years. The car travel time data is based on GPS
captured from satellite navigation systems (sat nav) and a year’s worth of
data is used to produce an average travel time. Car off-peak was taken as
a proxy to blue light ambulance travel time as agreed by the South East
Coast Ambulance Service (SECAmb). All travel time analysis has been
validated by SECAmb. Further validation tests were undertaken that show
that the travel times are robust, this includes spot checks with google
map travel times. Further details on the approach to travel time
modelling is shown in Appendix M.

As part of the work on the DMBC, the travel time data was updated, and
provider catchment areas were reviewed in more detail (particularly for
south-east London). This work was used in the process to agree the
preferred option, as shown in Appendix Q.

In addition, ambulance data for trauma and PPCI patients who already
travel further to the specialist services at the William Harvey hospital was
reviewed for patients in Thanet. This showed that the average and
longest actual travel times were less than predicted by the modelling.
More details are shown in Appendix R.

86
Page 132



Need to
consider travel
time/cost
impact on
people visiting
stroke patients
in HASUs

It is recognised that patient need is the priority in terms of access, and
therefore the process to arrive at a preferred option has focussed on
travel times for stroke patients. Further work is being undertaken on
access for relatives and carers as part of the planned Integrated Impact
Assessment workshop in December 2018.

QEQM and
K&C should be
reconsidered
as possible
locations for a
HASU

As part of the work to shortlist options, East Kent Hospitals University
NHS Foundation Trust (EKHUFT) concluded that it would not be possible
to run two Hyper Acute Stroke Units because it would be very difficult to
deliver due to recruitment issues and the risks around staff relocation. Of
the sites run by the trust, the William Harvey Hospital was identified as
the best option for a hyper acute stroke unit. This was because of the
existence of other services that are desirable to have located alongside a
hyper acute stroke unit. This is shown in Section 4.4.2.4.

In addition, the Kent and Canterbury Hospital does not currently offer
acute stroke services or the range of other emergency and urgent care
services that are needed to support a hyper acute stroke unit. There is a
separate review of the possible options for the future location of
emergency care and specialist services in east Kent. It would be wrong to
wait for this work to be completed because this would slow down the
essential decision on stroke services. If, following the east Kent review,
the William Harvey Hospital was no longer a long-term option for
emergency and specialist services and these moved elsewhere —then it is
anticipated that any hyper acute stroke service would also move with
them, subject to consultation.

Workforce
won’t be an
issue because
staff will want
to work in
HASUs, so you
could have
four

Workforce has been identified as a key constraint to providing stroke
services in Kent and Medway. Even the 3-site option offers workforce
challenges which need to be addressed through several initiatives such as
a planned stroke campaign on the ‘Take a different view’ recruitment
website to attract candidates from outside of Kent and Medway to join
the team and a K&M presence at the UK Stroke Forum in December 2018.

Nationally there are workforce challenges within stroke services; with
40% of stroke consultant roles vacant (SSNAP acute organisational audit
report 2016). There are also national and Kent and Medway challenges
within other clinical professions such as nursing and allied health
professionals. These vacancies can be considered within a broader
context of challenging vacancy rates for wider Kent and Medway nursing
and medical staff with variable turnover rates.

As part of the work for the DMBC, workforce modelling was done in more
detail alongside the development of more detailed plans to recruit and
retain staff. This is shown in Section 8.5.

Deprivation in
certain parts of
Kent and

Deprivation has been considered in the way that the future incidence of
stroke has been modelled. This methodology is shown in Appendix M.

87
Page 133




Medway needs
to be properly
taken account
when deciding
where to
locate HASUs

An Integrated Impact Assessment has been carried out to specifically
understand the impact of the proposals on the most deprived quintile of
the total population (see Appendix S). This has informed the development
of specific mitigations for these populations as part of the
implementation planning for the preferred option (see Section 8.4). The
stroke review has the aim of improving the quality of care delivered to
the whole K&M population and the evidence shows that improved
outcomes are due to being treated in a specialist unit rather than
proximity to that unit.

Rehabilitation
services need
to be in place

A model for rehabilitation has been agreed by clinicians across Kent and
Medway which will ensure equitable, coherent and effective
rehabilitation services will be available for all patients, close to home.

to support the | Further work has taken place to develop this model as part of the work

proposed on the DMBC. There is a commitment for a business case for

model rehabilitation to be completed by spring 2019. This is shown in more
detail in Section 3.4.

Bordering As residents of areas outside Kent and Medway would be significantly

areas should
not have a say

affected by the proposals, which affect services at their local hospital, the
NHS is legally obliged to consult with them (and take their views into

in services in account when formulating proposals).

Kent and

Medway

Whether the The proposals are about an investment in stroke services rather than
money saving money. The proposal requires an investment in buildings and in
required to workforce. This will be paid for by savings from people who have had a
develop the stroke being less disabled by it. This rationale is shown in Appendix F.
HASU/ASUs is

guaranteed The plans have been agreed by NHS England and have been through the

national Capital Investment Committee (see Appendix T). Whilst the
capital funding is dependent on agreement of the DMBC and trust
business cases, the capital requirements are on the national list of
projects for capital funding. The costs of running the units will be paid by
the CCG’s as commissioners of the service.

With increased
travel times in
cases of
suspected
stroke
patients,
residents are
concerned that
the ambulance
service will not
be able

to cope with
this increased
pressure.

The ambulance service has already done a lot of training to identify
strokes and this is something that they will continue. The call receivers,
who pick up the phone on 999, also have a series of questions that they
run through, which help to identify whether it is a stroke.

This review is not about saving money, it is about recognising that the
service offered for stroke in Kent and Medway is not good enough. The
costs for running the new service are likely to increase and there will be
investment, some of which will go into the ambulance service. Further
details of this additional funding and the implementation plan for the
ambulance service are shown in Section 8.6.

88
Page 134




Have dedicated
scanners in
each hospital,
deliver
thrombolysis if
appropriate
then transfer

Patients going to a non-HASU site will still have to wait in A&E, as they do
now, for a scan, for the scan to be interpreted (remotely) and then a
course of treatment to be agreed and started. This could all take longer
than the additional journey time to the HASU. The lack of dedicated
stroke specialist staff on the non HaSU site will also delay diagnosis and
treatment’

paramedics to
diagnose and

to HASU

Have mobile All 999-call staff are FAST trained as are the paramedics in ambulances.
scanners in There is no treatment that can be given in ambulances for stroke
ambulances patients. The most important thing is for people to recognise stroke

and train symptomes, call 999 and for the ambulance crew to transport patients to a

HASU as quickly as possible.

skills of 999 call
handlers and
paramedics.
Have specialist
ambulances
who can start
treatment on

deliver

thrombolysis

Improve All 999-call staff are FAST trained as are the paramedics in ambulances.
diagnostic There is no treatment that can be given in ambulances for stroke

patients. The most important thing is for people to recognise stroke
symptomes, call 999 and for the ambulance crew to transport patients to a
HASU as quickly as possible.

stroke teams.

the journey

Use EKHUFT working with SECAmb have started a pilot where specially-
telemedicine trained paramedics service will use a secure video conferencing app to
more. Use liaise with an expert stroke consultant from EKHUFT in cases where a
video links to diagnosis is not clear. The consultant can then see the patient, ask them
specialist and those with them questions about their history and symptoms, and

discuss the case with the paramedic before deciding whether they need
to come to hospital or can receive more appropriate care elsewhere.

If the consultant does feel the patient has had a stroke, they can arrange
for the ambulance crew to bypass A&E and head straight to the specialist
stroke unit at hospital. It means patients can have specialist tests and
scans immediately and treatment can begin sooner.

Clearly, if this pilot is successful it will be rolled out across the network.

5.3.4 Other factors that should be considered

Choosing the options that would improve access to specialist care and that would improve the
quality of care for stroke patients were considered the two most important questions to ask (from a
prompted list of questions) when considering the location of the units. The key concerns were longer
travel times and the potential location of the units. These factors have been considered as part of
the evaluation of the preferred option, as shown in Section 6.2 and the implications of the preferred
option on travel and access in Section 8.3.

89
Page 135



5.3.5 Post consultation activity

Following the consultation, it was identified that further engagement was required with Black and

Minority Ethnic (BAME) groups as the Stroke Programme Board felt insufficient response had been
gathered from these groups during consultation. This work was done during August 2018 and was

focussed on BAME communities most at risk of having a stroke. This engagement found that:

e  63% of the BAME community surveyed felt the Stroke Consultation proposal made sense
with 57% of people feeling it was based on a solid argument.

e The most frequently raised concern was about length of time and distance to travel to a
stroke unit for both patients and relatives/friends, followed by concerns about staffing and
quality of care at new stroke units and post stroke follow up.

e A unique issue for these communities was concerns about translation services and language
barriers in the event of a stroke, both for ambulance and hospital care.

The report is shown in Appendix U.

5.4 Consideration of the consultation activity and responses

The consultation activity and responses were considered by the JCCCG and JHOSC to make sure that
statutory responsibilities had been fulfilled and that the responses to the consultation had been
properly addressed.

5.4.1 Consideration by the JCCCG
Following the consultation, the Stroke Clinical Reference Group, Stroke Programme Board and the
JCCCG discussed the consultation activity and response to the consultation issues at length. The
JCCCG held a meeting on 28 August 2018 where they reviewed a wide range of materials from the
consultation including:
e Consultation activity report
e Consultation response report
e Consultation activity log
e Consultation correspondence log
e Examples of correspondence
Examples of social media comments
e Examples of media coverage
e Responses from key stakeholders
e Responses from the questionnaire
e Sample of the postcards received
e Save our NHS in Kent Petition
e Meeting notes from 28 listening events
e Telephone polling questions and report
e Seldom heard/ protected characteristic outreach report
e Focus group report

The JCCCG were asked to consider the following questions, having reviewed the report and
consultation materials in detail:

e Did the consultation secure the involvement of key stakeholders?

e Was everyone given a reasonable opportunity to state their views?

e Was it possible to engage with a diverse set of views?

e Did anyone with a significant viewpoint fail to participate?

90
Page 136



e How do the key themes and issues arising from the consultation impact on the decision
making?

The JCCCG AGREED that the extent of consultation and engagement activity undertaken during the
consultation period, the number of responses received, and the consistency of the themes coming
through from the feedback gathered meant the themes arising from the consultation can reasonably
be relied upon to be a fair representation of the views of the impacted population across Kent and
Medway, Bexley and High Weald Lewes Havens.

The JCCCG AGREED that the consultation was clear that people in Kent and Medway, and border
areas, want to have hyper acute and acute stroke units, and understand the rationale for
consolidating services onto fewer hospital sites. On that basis they AGREED that the NHS should
progress with developing plans to establish hyper acute and acute stroke units in Kent and Medway.

The consultation also identified that while the public understood the rationale for establishing hyper
acute and acute stroke units, there were concerns about the proposed three HASUs, the absence of
KCH and QEQM from the shortlisted options and the increase in travel times for some people that
will result from consolidating services. The JCCCG and CRG carefully re-considered the evidence on
the benefits of care in hyper acute stroke units, reviewed refreshed travel time data, the information
on the current and likely future workforce in Kent and Medway, and the latest evidence on the
minimum number of patients a HASU should see in order to be safe and effective. Having considered
all these factors, the JCCCG AGREED that the number and potential location of hyper acute units
should not change from the proposals consulted on.

The JCCCG noted other issues that had been raised such as access for deprived populations and
travel times for carers and AGREED that mitigations for these issues would be developed as part of
the DMBC and implementation planning.

5.4.2 Consideration by the Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee met on 5 July 2018 to receive and consider the
consultation reports. and to receive an update on the next steps in the stroke services review
process.

The JHOSC councillors put questions to two members of the Kent and Medway stroke review
leadership team about the approach to consultation presented in the activity report and the
outcomes presented in the consultation response report. Overall, the members were pleased with,
and supported, the extent of the activity undertaken, and they commented on the quality of the
formal public consultation and engagement. The Chair of the JHOSC took the unusual step of
formally recording that all the JHOSC members noted the high quality of the consultation activity
and agreed it had been comprehensive and well managed.

With regard to the responses to the consultation, the JHOSC discussed the themes that had emerged
from the independent analysis of over 5,000 responses. They acknowledged the concerns raised
about travel times and asked that the Kent and Medway stroke review team ensure they have
carefully reviewed the data and evidence available before reaching a preferred option. The
committee also discussed the importance of rehabilitation services, and requested that the NHS
ensures sufficient, high quality rehabilitation services are in place at the same time as any hyper
acute stroke units are implemented. This is being addressed, as shown in Section 3.4.

91
Page 137



6 Identifying a preferred option

6.1 Development of the evaluation criteria to arrive at the preferred option

6.1.1 Approach

Following consultation, a process was undertaken to identify a preferred option for service change.
The evaluation of the remaining options sought to weigh the pros and cons of each option in order
to decide which is the most favourable overall and should therefore be implemented. This was done
through evaluation of the five options which were consulted on using a set of updated evaluation
criteria. As a first step, the evaluation criteria used for shortlisting were reviewed and updated.
These evaluation criteria had been through a comprehensive and robust development process and
have been extensively tested through pre-consultation engagement and as part of the public
consultation. It was therefore agreed that the evaluation of the five remaining options should be
undertaken using the evaluation criteria used for the PCBC unless there was a compelling reason for
change. The criteria would only be changed if new information became available which wasn’t
available before consultation. This could include feedback from consultation, updated analysis or
refinement of criteria to support differentiation between options.

Following this review, the following updates and amendments were made:

e Changes to evaluation methodology: agreeing a standard composite evaluation
methodology, agreement that if two values are within 5% of each other they will be
evaluated same.

e Changes to evaluation criteria: additional sub-criteria for activity volumes, go live date,
confidence in go live date, quality of implementation plan and capital requirements and
changes in banding for the private car (peak) access sub-criteria.

e Changes to data used for evaluation: updated data used for evaluation for access to care,
workforce baseline and net present value.

These changes are described more fully in the following paragraphs and a detailed explanation of
the changes can be found at Appendix D.

6.1.2 Changes to evaluation methodology

The evaluation methodology was like that used in developing the shortlist for consultation. This
means that individual sites were evaluated against each of the evaluation sub-criteria and assigned
an evaluation using the following key:

Once this had been done. each shortlisted option was assigned an overall (composite) evaluation
against each of the sub-criteria using the individual site evaluations within that option. The
composite evaluation was then shown as an unweighted matrix from which a preferred option could
be identified.

The following amendments to the evaluation methodology were made:

e |t was agreed that if two data values are within 5% of each other they would be given the
same evaluation, even if the evaluation methodology suggested they should be evaluated
differently.

e Following feedback from consultation that the way in which the composite evaluation was
calculated was unclear, a standardised composite evaluation methodology was therefore

92
Page 138



developed which described 70 combinations of individual site evaluations. This is shown in
Appendix V. As part of the development of this standardised composite evaluation
methodology, it was agreed that:
o multiple individual evaluation scores of single +’s or single —’s could not result in a
composite evaluation of a double + or a double
o asite evaluating as a double negative would have more of an impact on the
composite evaluation than the other sites.

Where the change in the evaluation methodology has changed the evaluation of options, this is
clearly shown in the paragraphs below.

6.1.3 Changes to evaluation criteria

Changes to evaluation criteria were made following feedback from consultation. This included the
addition of sub-criteria for quality of care (activity volumes), ability to deliver (go live date,
confidence in go live date, quality of implementation plan) and finance (capital requirements). The
evaluation bands for private car at peak travel time were amended following feedback from the
JHOSC who felt the bands used for the PCBC showed differentiation when differences between
options were actually very small.

Quality of care for all

The national recommendation is that HASU’s should see between 500 and 1500 patients a year®. As
part of the process to identify the medium list of options, any of the long list of options which had
sites with projected patients are fewer than 500 or more than 1500 patients (with a 10% tolerance) a
year were removed (see section 4.3.3). However, feedback from the South East Coast Clinical Senate
suggested that options with sites below 500 cases should have a lower evaluation (see
recommendation 20 in section 7.2.2). In addition, other evidence suggests that services are likely to
be clinically effective with an activity volume of at least 600 patients per year®. A new sub-criteria of
activity volumes was included in the quality of care evaluation criteria to evaluate this. This is shown
in Figure 46.

Figure 46: activity volumes (new sub-criteria)

Projected activity at HASU/ASU Evaluation
900 - 1500 ++
601-899 +

500 - 600 /

400 - 499 -

<400 or >1500 --

Access to care for all

Distance and time to access services by ambulance and by private car was used to shortlist options
for the access to care for all criteria (see Section 4.4.2.2). The bands for evaluation are shown in
Figure 47 and Figure 48.

Figure 47: blue light proxy (bands used for shortlisting options)

% total pop access % total pop access Evaluation
within 45 mins within 30 mins
=>95% access within | =>75% access within ++
45 mins 30 mins
85-94.9% access 65-74.9% access +
within 45 mins within 30 mins
93

Page 139



<85% access within
45 mins

<65% access within 30
mins

Figure 48: private car at peak travel time (bands used for shortlisting options)

% total pop access % total pop access Evaluation
within 45 mins within 30 mins

=>95% access within | =>75% access within ++

45 mins 30 mins

85-94.9% access 65-74.9% access +

within 45 mins

within 30 mins

<85% access within
45 mins

<65% access within 30
mins

However, feedback from the JHOSC on 5 September 2018 suggested that the jump from + to -- for
the evaluation made some options look disproportionately worse. The bands for blue light proxy and
private car at peak travel time were therefore amended to reflect this, as shown in Figure 49 and

Figure 50.

Figure 49: blue light proxy (revised bands)

45 mins

mins

% total pop access % total pop access Evaluation
within 45 mins within 30 mins

=>95% access within | =>75% access within ++

45 mins 30 mins

85-94.9% access 65-74.9% access +

within 45 mins within 30 mins

<85% access within <65% access within 30 | /

Figure 50: private car at peak travel time (revised bands)
% total pop access % total pop access Evaluation
within 45 mins within 30 mins
=>95% access within | =>75% access within ++
45 mins 30 mins
85-94.9% access 65-74.9% access +
within 45 mins within 30 mins
<85% access within <65% access within 30 | /

45 mins

mins

Workforce

The bands for gap in workforce requirements were amended following updates to the workforce
baseline to make sure that they would still be differentiating. The changes are shown in Figure 51.

Figure 51: changes to workforce bands

Page 140

Medium list evaluation (PCBC) Revised evaluation
Workforce gap Evaluation Workforce gap | Evaluation
>=12 -- <=4 /
8>x=10 - >4 -
>=8 /

94




Ability to deliver

As part of the shortlisting of options, ability to deliver was developed using a self-assessment
approach (see Section 4.4.2.4). Each organisation was asked to consider the expected time to deliver
and the ease with which they would be able to do so. This was based on modelled bed requirements
by site for each option and the Trusts’ willingness to deliver the options.

Following feedback from consultation, it was agreed that:

e The impact of options on neighbouring hospitals needed to be reviewed in more detail as
estimated figures had been used for the shortlisting of the options. This included the
potential impact of each option on the Princess Royal Hospital (PRUH) in Orpington,
Eastbourne District General Hospital (EDGH) and East Surrey Hospital in Guildford. Activity
flow impact on bordering hospitals was reviewed for all five shortlisted options and the
PRUH was directly impacted in options C and D. In option C this equated to 17% of activity
and in option D it equated to 14%. It was therefore agreed that the ability to deliver criteria
would include an assessment of the PRUH.

e Arigorous, externally supported process needed to be run to understand the likely go live
date (and confidence in that date) for each of the sites in each of the options and the quality
of the implementation plans. A panel of expert external assessors were convened, and
reviewed trust implementation plans with senior clinicians and managers of the trust. The
purpose of the panel was to:

o To test and assess the robustness of the deliverability plans developed by each of
the hospital sites for each of the options;

o Toaward an evaluation in line with the agreed assessment methodology for each of
the sites in each of the options; and

o To provide feedback to the each of the panel attendees as to the outcome and the
supporting rationale.

Further details on this assessment process is shown in Appendix W.

For the evaluation of the preferred option, the ability to deliver criteria was assessed by the
independent panel using the following sub-criterion:

o Go-live date: Trusts were asked to assess how long it would take to them to deliver the
option based on the capacity required (updated from the assessment made to evaluate the
medium list of options following more detailed work on implementation planning — see
Section 4.4.2.4).

e Confidence in go-live date: Trust were asked to present their current implementation plans
to a panel (including regulators, clinicians and patients). The panel were asked to use their
expert knowledge to determine if the changes from their current service to a HASU/ASU
model could be delivered in the time predicted. This criterion was used because it is
important that the timescales presented are not overly optimistic and unrealistic

e Quality of implementation plan: Trust were asked to present their current implementation
plans to a panel (including regulators, clinicians and patients). The panel were asked to use
their expert knowledge to evaluate the quality of their current planning including their track
record, their understanding of capacity and their understanding of key risks when moving
from their current service to a HASU/ASU model. This criterion was used because it is
important that Trusts have a clear plan on how they would deliver a HASU/ASU model and
how they will mitigate challenges.

95
Page 141



Affordability and value for money

As part of the shortlisting options, affordability and value for money was assessed using a net
present value calculation (see Section 4.3.7). A few days before the decision to go to consultation
was made by the JCCCG, the NHS Investment Committee sent a letter confirming a maximum
expected capital investment for the Stroke Review of £38m. This letter is shown in Appendix T.

It was therefore agreed, following advice from the Finance Group, that capital investment should be
included as a new sub-criterion. £38m was taken as the mid-point with options requiring less than
£35m being evaluated positively and options requiring more than £40m being evaluated negatively.
The bands used in the evaluation are shown in Figure 52.

Figure 52 capital requirement (new sub-criterion)

Capital Investment Required Evaluation
£x <30m ++
£30m< £x <£35m +
£35m<£x<£40m /
£40m<£x<45m -
£x>45m 3

6.1.4 Changes in data used for evaluation
The data used for the evaluation of the medium list of options was reviewed and updated following
consultation. The changes that were made are:

e updating activity data: the activity data was updated from 2016/17 to 2017/18 (the most
recent year available)

e updating the travel times data: a refreshed version of the Basemap data from 2017/18 was
used to update the analysis. This followed a commitment made to the public during the
consultation process to review this data due to recent road alterations in the county.

e Updating patient flows: a principle was used in the analysis done for the evaluation of the
medium list of options that patients would flow to their nearest HASU/ASU. This principle
was reviewed for patients living in London (and therefore part of a different ambulance
service network and a different local authority area) following feedback during consultation.
It was agreed that patients living in Bexley who currently go to Kings College Hospital would
continue to do so even though either DVH or the PRUH might be nearer, as the primary
reason for these patients travelling to Kings College Hospital is likely not to be travel time.

e Updating baseline workforce data: the baseline workforce data was updated from 2016/17
to 2017/18 (the most recent year available),

e updating financial data:

o the financial data was updated from 2016/17 to 2017/18 (the most recent year
available).

o the financial analysis was updated as the capital requirements and financial costs
were refined as part of the development of more detailed implementation plans.

A more detailed explanation of these changes can be found in Appendix D.

6.1.5 Evaluation criteria

The evaluation criteria that were used in the evaluation of the preferred option are shown in Figure
53.

96
Page 142



Figure 53: final evaluation criteria for preferred option

Updated evaluation criteria for preferred option

ent of options against

maximum activity

Criteria Sub-criteria
3 Quality of + Stroke co-adjacencies
care for all - Co-adjacencies for mechanical
thrombectomy

The following groups
have reviewed the
proposed changes fo

 Requirements for MEC
+ Activity volumes

Access to Elue light proxy frlé?\.:llaalLllatIDﬂ criteria
care for all Pr.vate car, peak working group
Workforce - Gap in workforce requirements * Stoke
P €0 Pragramme Board
- \acancies + Stroke Clinical

< Turnover

Ability to - Go-live date
deliver Confidence in go-live date

Referance Group
Finance Group

+ Quality of implementation plan

Affardability « Met present value, 10 years
and vim

+ Capital requirement

« Update of NPV usi
data

ng 2017118

6.2 Evaluation of the preferred option

After careful consideration by the Joint Committee of Clinical Commissioning Group of all the
feedback from consultation, it was agreed that there was no new material evidence which would
support any alternative options being put forward. Further details of this consideration are shown in
Section 5.4.1.

The five shortlisted options were assessed against the new evaluation criteria (as shown in Section
6.1.5). The five shortlisted options (as shown in Section 4.4.4) were:

e Option A-DVH, MMH, WHH
e Option B - DVH, MGH, WHH
e Option C- MGH, MMH, WHH
e Option D - MMH, TWH, WHH
e Option E-DVH, TWH, WHH

6.2.1 Quality of care for all
The following changes were made from the evaluation of the shortlist (see Section 4.4.2.1):
e Co-location with co-adjacent services: option D moved from ++ to + due to the change in the
composite evaluation methodology
e C(linical co-adjacencies for mechanical thrombectomy: option D moved from ++ to + due to
the change in the composite evaluation methodology
e Services required to constitute a major emergency centre: option B moved from + to / and
option C moved from + to / due to the change in the composite evaluation methodology

Activity volumes was added as a new sub-criterion (see Section 6.1.3) and was evaluated as shown in
Figure 54.

97
Page 143



Figure 54: evaluation of volume of clinical activity

Quality of care for all

Volumes of clinical activity

Optian A Opficn B Option C Oplian D Option E
DWH, MBH, WHH DWH, MGH, WHH MGH, MMH, WHH  TWH, MMH, WHH  DWH, TWH WHH

WHH 1,387 . 1239 . 1,23 . 1,260 . 1,31 .
MMH 15 . f53 . #18 -

MGH - .
THH 535 i 554 I
DVH e 207 - 1,174 .
SR T . T . 1,215 . 1,141 . 09 .

“Within 5% of different avaluation banding - CRG
resguasbed 1o be nobed

662 !

6.2.2 Access for all
The following changes were made from the evaluation of the shortlist (see Section 4.4.2.2):
e Blue light proxy: these changes are due to revised Basemap (travel) data which has been
updated to 2018 and adjusted for a revised K&M catchment area in SE London
o Option C has moved from ++ to +
o Option D has moved from ++ to +
o Option E has moved from ++ to +
e Private car peak: these changes are due to revised Basemap (travel) data which has been
updated to 2018 and adjusted for a revised K&M catchment area in SE London
o Option D has moved from ++ to +
o Option E has moved from ++ to +

6.2.3 Workforce
The following changes were made from the evaluation of the shortlist (see Section 4.4.2.3):

e Gap in workforce requirements: these changes are due to the revised workforce baseline
activity which means workforce at the WHH is over 1,300 at WHH in options A and E and
requires a 1 in 8 rota and no longer considering consultants required at PRUH (as the PRUH
is already a HASU/ASU and does not go over 1,300 activity in any option).

o Option A has moved from / to —
o Option C has moved from-toa/
o Option D has moved from-toa/
o Option E has moved from / to -

e Vacancy rates: this is due to the standard approach to taking the individual site evaluations

to an option evaluation

98
Page 144



o Option A has moved from / to -
o Option D has moved from - to - -
e Turnover rates: this is due to the standard approach to taking the individual site evaluations
to an option evaluation
o Option C has moved from + to /
o Option D has moved from + to /

6.2.4 Ability to deliver
The following changes were made from the evaluation of the shortlist (see Section 4.4.2.3):
e Go live date: this was due to the Trusts doing more detailed implementation planning

o Option A from / to -
o OptionBfrom/to--
o Option Cfrom+to--
o Option D from -to - -
o Option E from-to - -

Two new sub-criteria were used to evaluate ability to deliver. The evaluation of confidence in go-live
date is shown in Figure 55.

Figure 55: evaluation of confidence in go live date

Ability to deliver

Confidence in go live date

Oiptian A Option B Owption C Option O Optian E
DWH, MMH, WHH CWH, MGH, WHH MGH, MMH, WHH  TWH, MMH, WHH  DVH, TWH, WHH

WA . . . . .

MnaH I ! !

MGH I I

DVH =

]

' -]
PRUM B '
-

Dwwrall

Evaluatian

SOURCE HAM Stroke deliverabilty panel 04M0i1E

The evaluation of quality of implementation plans is shown in Figure 56.

99
Page 145



Figure 56: evaluation of quality of implementation plans

Ability to deliver

Quality of implementation plans

Option A Option B Option C Option D Option E
DWH, MMH, WHH  DVH, MGH, WHH MGH, MMH, WHH  TWH. MMH, WHH  DVH, TWH WHH

Wi

O O
TWH - -

ovH ! )

) ]
Orverall -
Evaluation - -

6.2.5 Affordability and value for money
The following changes were made from the evaluation of the shortlist (see Section 4.4.2.5):
e Net present value: this was due to the updated financial activity to 2017/18 and the updates
to the financial analysis as more detailed implementation plans were developed

o Option A from / to -
o OptionBfrom/to--
o Option Cfrom+to--
o Option D from -to - -
o Option E from -to - -

One new sub-criterion was used to evaluate affordability and value for money. The capital
requirements sub-criterion is shown in Figure 57.

100
Page 146



Figure 57: evaluation of quality of capital requirements

Affordability and value for money

Capital costings

Option A Oplicn B Option © Option D Option E
DWVH, MMH, WHH DVH, MGH, WHH MGH, MMH, WHH  TWH, MMH, WHH  DWVH, TWH, WHH

Cverall
Evaluation

49,644

Mate: No twa valees are within 5% of each other and evaluated differently

Evaluation measure: Evaluation key:

Which options would have the lowest capital costs x <30 .
(cost of buikdings and equipment) 30 < x <35 .
Mote; £38m was agree as the maximum envelopes I5=x= 40 I
by the MHS E investment committes at the PCBC A B

stage, and is taken as the mid-point for the neutral D=x=<45 .
avaluation 45 ¥

6.2.6 Summary of evaluation
The updated assessment across all five evaluation criteria, including their sub-criteria, was brought
together onto a single evaluation matrix, shown in Figure 58.

101
Page 147



Figure 58: evaluation matrix for preferred option

Final evaluation matrix

] MGH D) TWH
A MM
WHH WHH

[PRLUH]

i
H'.D.H.H".HH'g
T

= SEC co-afjacenciss

= Co-afacencess for meach
thiraimia

Cuality

= Requiremenis for MEC
= Aclivity Thresholds

= * Bl light, proey

=

»
b
% = Prwvate car, peek

= Gap inworklonse
§  Tequiraments
%+ Vacancies

= Turmaver

+ Golve dale

=
= Confidence in ga live date
T+ Oualty of mplementatior
2 plan
= MNed Presant Walus
{HPV &l 10 yis)

= Capilal requinament

DHDDIDIDHHIIHHE%

BEEOCHEOROONDEECAE

BEMHRCCOEHCOEEEEE
EOEOECECCECOREEE

6.3 Choosing a preferred option

A workshop meeting to choose a recommended preferred option was held on the 13th September
2018. It was attended by representatives from all ten Clinical Commissioning Groups that make up
the JCCCG plus representatives of local councils and expert advisors (including a patient
representative, a stroke physician from outside K&M and the Medical Director from the South East
Coast Ambulance service).

Following extensive review of the evaluation, discussion of anonymised evaluation matrix and
consideration of the de-anonymised options, there was unanimous consensus that the
recommended preferred option should be Option B (Darent Valley Hospital, Maidstone General
Hospital, William Harvey Hospital).

The other options were not chosen as the preferred option because:

e Option A evaluated less strongly against the workforce criteria. The workshop participants
also felt more confident in the ability to deliver Option B. Option B evaluated stronger
against both confidence in go live date and quality of implementation plan. The workshop
participants considered the assessment of co-adjacencies for a major emergency centre for
Option B, and it was agreed that a networked solution for these services was clinically robust
following discussion and input from the independent clinical expert.

e Option C evaluated more poorly on ability to deliver, most notably the quality of
implementation plans, and assessment of the workforce criterion.

e Option D evaluated more poorly on ability to deliver, most notably the quality of
implementation plans, assessment of the workforce criterion and net present value.

e Option E was agreed not to be the preferred option due to its assessment against ability to
deliver compared to the preferred option. It was evaluated less strongly for confidence in go
live date and quality of implementation plan and these were considered a risk to delivery. It

102
Page 148



was also agreed that it was not better for access or quality than the preferred option, but it
was more expensive and therefore represented lower overall value.

It was noted that the perceived and potential impact on deprived populations e.g. Thanet and Swale
would need to be understood and mitigations developed. This has been considered as part of the
updated integrated impact assessment as detailed in Section 8.4.

The information presented to the attendees at the workshop, list of participants and notes from the
meeting can be found at Appendix Q.
6.4 Preferred option

The recommended preferred option of Option B (Darent Valley Hospital, Maidstone General
Hospital, William Harvey Hospital) was then taken forward for more detailed work on

implementation.

103
Page 149



7 Assuring the preferred option

7.1

Background to quality assurance

The Stroke Review has sought to exceed its obligations in meeting the statutory requirements and
assurance that accompany any major change to NHS services. Throughout the programme, the
Stroke Review has:

Had a clinically-led options development process where clinical, finance and commissioner
expertise has been brought together to allow the Stroke Programme Board to make the
recommendations on service options

Actively engaged with patients and the public and their representatives

Actively engaged with local authorities and their overview and scrutiny committees
Actively engaged with providers to explain the options and proposals and ensure alignment
with their plans and commissioners plans.

There have been several different forms of assurance that have been undertaken during the Stroke

Review:

7.2

South East Coast Clinical Senate reviews

Integrated impact assessment including equalities impact analysis

NHS England Oversight Group for Service Change and Reconfiguration review

NHS England Investment Committee review

Engagement with local authority overview and scrutiny committees

Satisfying the requirements of the Secretary of State for Health’s four tests and three
conditions for service reconfiguration.

Clinical Senate review and feedback

The South East Coast Clinical Senate has undertaken three reviews of the work of the Stroke Review:

June 2015: review of the case for change
January 2018: review of the care models and options appraisal
November 2018: review of preferred option and draft implementation plans

The Stroke Review has taken the recommendations of the South East Coast Clinical Senate and
incorporated them into the proposals.

7.2.1

South East Coast Clinical Senate review of the case for change

The South East Coast Clinical Senate reviewed the case for change in June 2015 and published a
formal report on their findings®. A copy of this report can be found at Appendix X.

The South East Coast Clinical Senate raised many important points on review of the case for change,
which have been addressed as part of the PCBC.

104
Page 150



Issue raised

Actions to address

1.1 Set the ambition. There should be a clear
statement of the shared ambitions for providing
outstanding stroke services in Kent and Medway, and
for delivering an excellent patient experience
evidenced by specific patient-centred outcomes, high
quality multi-professional working supported by
ongoing training and education, and engagement in
clinical research. This aspiration is not explicit enough,
and would add to the power of the Case for Change,
beyond just complying with service specifications and
standards.

Further text has been added in Section 3
to clarify the vision. This ambition has
been reviewed and agreed by clinicians
(as part of the stroke Clinical Reference
Group, the STP Clinical Board and the
CCG Governing Bodies), by patients and
the public through the Patient and Public
Advisory Group and by operational
managers (as part of the Stroke
Programme Board).

1.2 Demonstrate a patient-centred and clinical focus
throughout the Case for Change. As the rationale for
the Case for Change is ultimately about improving
outcomes and the experience of patients with strokes
(or TIAs), it would be beneficial to provide more
evidence of a patient-centric perspective. In addition,
its tone and language would benefit from clearer
clinician input.

The stroke case for change has been
updated and further developed,
including an opening paragraph, and is
shown in Section 2. This has been
developed by clinicians and describes the
challenges of meeting national clinical
quality standards in Kent and Medway.
The case for change shows that patients
and carers are experiencing:

e poorer health outcomes

e longer lengths of stay

e poorer long-term quality of life

e increased likelihood of admission

to residential or nursing homes
e overwhelmed staff who are
struggling to deliver services

Patient stories have been added to show
the case for change and the benefits of
the proposals for patients (see Section
3.6)

1.3 Consider the whole stroke and transient
ischaemic attack patient pathways, not hyper acute
stroke units (HASUs) in isolation. There should be a
clear outline of the full stroke and TIA pathways, from
the patient and carer as well as strategic perspective,
starting from primary and secondary prevention, right
through to pre-hospital, hyper-acute and acute care,
rehabilitation and recovery in the community. This
outline will ensure that the stroke networks are
designed to maximise positive long term patient
outcomes and experience, and will avoid unintended
consequences of focusing on and prioritising just the
acute elements of the pathway. Clinical
commissioners, working with local authorities, should
consider commissioning the whole stroke and TIA
pathway to ensure that rational, co-ordinated and
patient-centred care is delivered.

The agreed model of care covers the
entire stroke pathway from prevention
to rehabilitation, as shown in Section 3.4.
This includes descriptions of the
proposed pathway for TIA and
rehabilitation. However, the focus of the
options for service change is on the
HASU/ASU section of the pathway
because of the urgency in addressing the
significant shortfalls in the current
urgent hospital services.

Further work is continuing across the STP
on prevention, e.g. smoking and obesity
strategy agreed (led by a Director of
Public Health), primary care work on
hypertension and atrial fibrillation (led
by a CCG Chair) as well as on

105
Page 151




Issue raised

Actions to address

rehabilitation (led by the Programme
Director and chaired by the Stroke
Association). The rehabilitation
workstream is working with the CCGs to
commission the enhanced pathways as
recommended in South East Coast
Clinical Senate guidance, shown in
Section 3.4.4.

1.4 Ensure that HASUs are configured, staffed and
are of sufficient size to deliver their potential for
optimal care. Whilst some HASUs achieve good
results and outcomes with fewer than the nationally
recommended minimum stroke activity of 600
confirmed cases per year, there should be a stated
aim or any designated HASU in Kent and Medway to
achieve this minimum activity, based on the wide
range of clinical benefits seen in larger units, and the
likely financial benefits resulting from economies of
scale). Any designated HASU should be appropriately
staffed to deliver high quality 24/7 and 7/7 specialist
care (as required).

Minimum stroke activity at individual
units was one of the hurdle criteria
which meant that options with units
below the minimum threshold were not
considered further. The guidance on the
minimum threshold was reduced in 2016
(after the South East Coast Clinical
Senate did their review of the case for
change) from 600 cases to 500 cases®®.
The more recent guidance of a minimum
500 cases was therefore used as the
lower threshold (-10% to take account of
data variability and year on year activity
fluctuation). This analysis is shown in
Section 4.3.3. This approach means that
all the new HASUs should see more than
the minimum recommended stroke
activity of 500 cases a year.

The workforce section (3.5.1) describes
the plans to provide consultant delivered
stroke services, supported by the full
range of other staff required to provide a
24/7 service.

1.5 Describe how HASUs and acute stroke units
(ASUs) would be networked, and the inpatient
pathways for patients with stroke mimic symptoms.
The planned relationships between HASUs, where the
first 72 hours of care should be delivered, and ASUs
for ongoing inpatient care (whether in the same
hospital, or local to the patient’s home), should be
clearly described. In addition, there should be explicit
care pathways for patients transferred to HASUs who
turn out not to have had a stroke (patients with
‘stroke mimic’ symptoms), particularly describing the
consequences for either ongoing care within the
HASU hospital, or onward transfer of clinical care to
their local acute hospital.

It is proposed that HASUs and ASUs will
be co-located in all cases, as described in
Section 3.3.3. This will include physical
co-location on each site, where possible.

As shown in Section 3.3.3, it has been
agreed that the pathway for mimic
patients admitted to a HASU/ASU site
would include the following (after
investigation):

a) If the condition does not require
further hospital care, and the patient
is stable, the patient would be
discharged with appropriate
community hospital follow up in the
patient’s local site

106
Page 152




Issue raised

Actions to address

c) If the condition requires further
general hospital care they would be
transferred within daylight hours (8-
8/7):

a. to the general team within the
HASU hospital if the predicted
LoS is <= 2 days

b. to the general team at their
local hospital site if the
predicted LoS is >2 days

1.6 Detail the clinical co-dependencies of HASUs and
ASUs. Inpatient stroke services are highly inter-
dependent with a range of other clinical specialities
and services and these should be described in detail
as they have significant implications for the location of
HASUs and ASUs, and for determining the required co-
located or otherwise networked supporting services.
In addition, there should be clearly defined referral
pathways to tertiary centres for neurosurgery and
neuroradiology intervention.

The clinical co-dependencies of HASUs
and ASUs with other services has been
discussed in detail by clinicians. The
agreed co-dependencies are shown in
Section 3.3.6. The co-dependencies
formed part of the options appraisal as
shown in Section 4.3.2 where options
including hospitals without the required
co-dependent services were excluded.
Recommended co-adjacencies with
other services were also used considered
within the evaluation of the options as
shown in Section 4.4.2.1.

Pan-Kent and Medway agreed pathways
for referral for neurosurgery,
thrombectomy and other network
support are being developed by the
Clinical Reference Group and will be in
place before implementation of the
urgent stroke pathway changes.

1.7 Provide more detailed presentations of travel
times, ambulance and transport issues. The issue of
distance from home and time taken to travel to
centralised specialist units, both for delivering timely
hyper-acute care, and for visiting by family and
friends, is a key consideration for the public. There
should also be a clear summary of travel times to and
between the various hospitals across Kent and
Medway. Account should also be taken of population
density variations. This information will explicitly set
the context in which the networked arrangements
between HASUs and ASUs, and inpatient
rehabilitation, would work in delivering care closer to
home as soon as clinically appropriate. The
implications for the regional ambulance (SECAmb) are
significant: for the appropriate clinical delivery of pre-
hospital stroke care, for meeting the ambulance
Clinical Quality Indicator of 60 minutes call-to-delivery
to hospital, and for the onward transfer of patients

Travel times have been reviewed in
detail as part of the options appraisal
(see Section 4.3.6) and the evaluation of
options (see Section 4.4.2.2).

There are currently varied community
and inpatient rehabilitation pathways
across Kent and Medway. The
rehabilitation programme is committed
to increase Early Supported Discharge
and ensure rehabilitation continues in
the patient’s home, or as close to home
as possible.

Preliminary work has been undertaken
with South East Coast Ambulance Service
to understand the impact of the
proposals. It is recognised that there are
increased travel times for ambulance

107
Page 153




Issue raised

Actions to address

between sites within the stroke network, and need to
be articulated.

crews and there are costs associated
with this that are being further evaluated
now that a smaller set of options is
agreed. £500k per year has been
included in the financial costing to
account for increased costs for the
ambulance service. The additional cost
to the ambulance service will be finalised
in the financial section of the DMBC.

1.8 Establish a clinically appropriate ‘call to needle
time’ for the stroke networks. Whilst there are a
number of time-specific standards and targets for the
hyper-acute pathway, the key clinically relevant time
for patients who would benefit from thrombolysis is
that between the onset of stroke symptoms and the
administration of the thrombolytic drug. The earlier
thrombolysis is administered the better are the
outcomes, with less than 90 minutes the ideal based
on available evidence. A new standard of a maximum
of 120 minutes for the ‘call to needle time’ is
recommended (and as soon as possible within that
time frame), which enables any longer travel times to
HASUs resulting from centralisation of services, to be
mitigated by a more rapid and efficient pre-referral
response, and response on arrival at hospital
(including immediate access to CT scanning). This new
standard will require integration, coordination and
agreement between the ambulance service, acute
providers and commissioners, and responsibilities for
the monitoring and reporting of the individual
components of this overarching standard will need to
be made explicit and shared across the system.

Kent and Medway have adopted the
120-minute call to needle time standard
recommended by South East Coast
Clinical Senate®’. The evaluation of
options for accessibility gives a higher
evaluation to those with shorter travel
times, to support the delivery of this
standard (as shown in Section 4.4.2.2).

A key part of implementation planning
will be to ensure that the standard is
reached.

1.9 Address in more detail the issues of the multi-
professional stroke workforce, and its education and
training needs working across the whole pathway.
There are many workforce challenges to delivering
high quality multi-disciplinary specialist stroke care
across the whole stroke pathway, and across all
provider organisations involved in the provision of
care in the region, and these should be detailed.
These include issues of available specialist manpower,
recruitment and retention (medical and non-medical),
and the need to deliver 24/7 and seven day services.
In this context, there are significant benefits in
concentrating the relevant specialists in fewer but
larger HASUs. However, there are real risks to
destabilising on-call rotas in non-HASU hospitals,
particularly in Elderly Care, unless this is
acknowledged and planned for. In addition, any new
model needs to fully consider the education and

The workforce challenges to providing
stroke services have been widely
discussed by clinicians, patients, the
public and operational managers. These
are outlined in Section 2.4.2.

A detailed workforce plan is being
developed as part of implementation
planning. Health Education England
(HEE) have been supportive of the
development of HASU and discussions
continue with the Postgraduate Dean.
HEE are members of the Workforce
workstream working group.

108
Page 154




Issue raised

Actions to address

training requirements of the workforce, as the
consequences of different service configurations may
materially impact on how these requirements are
sustained. Commissioners should work closely with
Health Education England on the required workforce
plans and anticipated education and training needs,
and include a review of potential new or extended
roles of different staff groups. Particular consideration
should also be given to the availability and training of
interventional neuroradiologists in tertiary referral
centres, given the potential large increase in demand
for intra-arterial thrombectomy based on recent
clinical trial results.

1.10 Model future demand for stroke services,
ensure an ongoing focus on prevention, and address
existing health inequalities. Planning for stroke care
across Kent and Medway needs to anticipate and
meet the population needs over at least the coming
ten to fifteen years (including for patients living
outside the county who will utilise the services). There
is value in modelling changes in activity over this time
frame, taking account of factors that increase or
decrease the incidence and subsequent prevalence of
stroke. Prevention of cardiovascular disease in general
needs to remain a key focus for health systems taking
into account variations in socioeconomic status such
as deprivation in the region and address their
underlying causes. There should be a particular focus
on the identification and prophylactic anticoagulation
of patients with atrial fibrillation who meet treatment
criteria. This modelling and planning work should be
aligned with the Joint Strategic Needs Assessments
and the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategies of the
health and wellbeing boards.

Stroke is a disease that is strongly
associated with increased age. The
demographics of Kent and Medway show
an increase in elderly populations and so
the number of strokes could be expected
to increase. However, it is also known
that the other risk factors for stroke
(high blood pressure, high cholesterol,
smoking and untreated atrial fibrillation)
are all reducing.

The combination of these two
contradictory trends is shown in the
national and local statistics that the
incidence (number of new strokes per
head of population) is reducing, as is the
actual number of strokes (e.g. the Oxford
Vascular Study showed a 40% reduction
in age-specific incidence®® and the GP
Research Database showed a 30%
reduction in incidence of stroke over 10
years®). This is also shown in Kent and
Medway where despite demographic
growth, there has been no increase in
the number of strokes over the last three
years.

Using hospital admission activity data for
2006/7 to 2014/15, Medway Council
Public Health showed a statistically
insignificant increase in the number of
admissions for first stroke despite an
ageing and increasing population during
that time. This work concludes that,
based on previous activity, the number
of first stroke admissions are unlikely to
significantly increase in the next ten

109
Page 155




Issue raised

Actions to address

years (based on CCG data, not taking into
account inflows)’°.

Additional increases in population are
also forecast due to new housing
developments in Ebbsfleet, however
these are expected to be predominantly
younger populations (based on the new
population in the 300 homes already
built in Ebbsfleet)”* where the incidence
of stroke is low.

Following discussion and review of the
evidence, it was agreed it would be
appropriate to model and plan for the
current activity to continue. Therefore,
as agreed by the Stroke Programme
Board, no growth assumptions have
been applied to the stroke activity
baseline.

To support this, work has been
undertaken on the prevention model and
various initiatives are planned to help
prevent strokes. This is shown in Section
3.3.1 and has been aligned with the Joint
Strategic Needs Assessments.

7.2.2 South East Coast Clinical Senate review of care model and options
The South East Coast Clinical Senate reviewed the care model and options in January 2018 and
published a formal report on their findings’2. A copy of this report can be found at Appendix .

The South East Coast Clinical Senate raised many important points on review of the options, which

have been addressed as part of this DMBC.

Issue raised

Actions to address

Recommendation 1: Make explicit the specific
improvements in patient outcomes for the population
of Kent and Medway that would stem from
centralising stroke services.

Narrative has been added to link the
vision section to the case for change and
the anticipated outcomes and benefits
from the new service model (see Section
10).

Further work on fully quantifying the
benefits of the proposals will be
undertaken as part of implementation
planning.

Recommendation 2: Specify the goals regarding
future stroke service performance (using the SSNAP
framework).

Narrative has been added to link the
goals set out in the vision more explicitly

110
Page 156




Issue raised

Actions to address

to the SSNAP metrics set out in the case
for change (see Sections 3.1)

Recommendation 3: Future stroke incidence
modelling should take account of the projected
population growth within Kent and Medway.

Stroke is a disease that is strongly
associated with increased age. The
demographics of Kent and Medway show
an increase in elderly populations and so
the number of strokes could be expected
to increase. However, it is also known
that the other risk factors for stroke

(high blood pressure, high cholesterol,
smoking and untreated atrial fibrillation)
are all reducing.

The combination of these two
contradictory trends is shown in the
national and local statistics that the
incidence (number of new strokes per
head of population) is reducing, as is the
actual number of strokes (e.g. the Oxford
Vascular Study showed a 40% reduction
in age-specific incidence’® and the GP
Research Database showed a 30%
reduction in incidence of stroke over 10
years’#). This is also shown in Kent and
Medway where despite demographic
growth, there has been no increase in
the number of strokes over the last three
years.

Using hospital admission activity data for
2006/7 to 2014/15, Medway Council
Public Health showed a statistically
insignificant increase in the number of
admissions for first stroke despite an
ageing and increasing population during
that time. This work concludes that,
based on previous activity, the number
of first stroke admissions are unlikely to
significantly increase in the next ten
years (based on CCG data, not taking into
account inflows)”.

Additional increases in population are
also forecast due to new housing
developments in Ebbsfleet, however
these are expected to be predominantly
younger people (based on the new
population in the 300 homes already
built in Ebbsfleet)’® where the incidence
of stroke is low.

111
Page 157




Issue raised

Actions to address

Following discussion and review of the
evidence, it was agreed it would be
appropriate to model and plan for the
current activity to continue. Therefore,
as agreed by the Stroke Programme
Board, no growth assumptions have
been applied to the stroke activity
baseline.

Recommendation 4: The projected lack of growth in
stroke incidence in the coming years is dependent on
delivering effective preventative health programmes
at scale for the known stroke risk factors. More detail
is required of the increased investment commitment
and programmes to deliver these preventative
interventions.

Modelling undertaken by Public Health
shows that the number of first strokes in
Kent and Medway are likely to remain
fairly constant based on previous
trends”’. This projected lack of growth is
predicated on delivering prevention at
scale to address population level risk
factors for cardiovascular disease and
supporting those with identified risk
factors to manage these effectively.

The STP will ensure outcomes for
prevention are included in all NHS
business cases in Kent and Medway. In
particular, an investment case for local
health services has been prepared and
prevention is a core component of the
local care model being developed. This
investment case targets a shift of funding
from hospital care to local care.

Recommendation 5: The average length of stay in
HASU/ASU beds is 13 days, not 18 days, using the
modelling criteria stated. This should be corrected
throughout the PCBC and its appendices.

This has been corrected and references
in the PCBC were correct.

Recommendation 6: Effective discharge pathways and
clear plans for ongoing care and rehabilitation are key
to minimising length of stay, and the gaps in current
capacity across Kent and Medway (including stroke
rehabilitation beds for those requiring bedded care
post-ASU) will need to be addressed to deliver on the
ambitions for reduced length of stay in stroke units
achieved in other health systems.

The agreed model of care covers the
entire stroke pathway from prevention
to rehabilitation, as shown in Section 3.
This includes detailed descriptions of the
pathway for rehabilitation. However, the
focus of the options for service change is
on the HASU/ASU section of the pathway
because of the urgency in addressing the
significant shortfalls in the current
urgent hospital services.

There are currently varied community
and inpatient rehabilitation pathways
across Kent and Medway. A working
group was set up to consider the
proposals for the rehabilitation care
model in more detail; this group met

112
Page 158




Issue raised

Actions to address

three times in October and November
2017 and agreed to the adoption of the
South East Strategic Clinical Networks
recommended model of care’,

The work on rehabilitation is on-going
and the latest progress is included in
Section 3.4.

It should be noted that substantial
benefits will be gained from the new
urgent stroke model of care and so
whilst there is a commitment to improve
the whole stroke pathway, there is still
an urgency to consult rapidly on site-
specific change to urgent stroke services.

Recommendation 7: A bed occupancy rate of 85-90%
would be more appropriate than the current
modelling on 80%, which is considered unrealistic in
the context of general pressures on acute hospital
beds. HASU and ASU beds should be ring-fenced to
ensure that new stroke patients have the required
rapid access to the specialist stroke care that
improves their outcomes.

The Clinical Reference Group reviewed
the bed occupancy rates on 4 December
2017. They agreed an acute stroke unit
(ASU) bed occupancy rate of 90% and to
retain a hyper acute stroke unit (HASU)
bed occupancy rate of 80% because of
small bed numbers and the fluctuation in
numbers of people presenting. The
ambition is to protect beds for
HASU/ASU. The resulting bed numbers
were updated throughout the PCBC.

Recommendation 8: A journey time to the stroke
hospital of within 60 minutes is agreed as appropriate.
However, in order to achieve the desired maximum
call to needle time of 120 minutes, the time taken for
ambulance response, on site assessment and
departure, and for in-hospital assessment, scanning
and initiation of thrombolysis (door to needle) must
be minimised.

The agreed model of care supports direct
access for FAST+ patients to the
Emergency Department, which will
support delivery of the 120-minute
target (see Section 3.3.2). South East
Coast Ambulance Service are also
undertaking work to reduce the time
spent with the patient before transfer to
a HASU.

Recommendation 9: Travel time references should
not be confused with call to needle time (which
includes ambulance response and assessment times
before journey initiation.

Additional clarification was added to the
PCBC, especially Section 4.4.2.2 to be
clear that the travel time analysis refers
to door-to-door travel.

There is now consistency in reference to
call to needle, door to needle, call to
door etc.

Recommendation 10: Average travel times should be
given in addition to the percentage of journeys falling
within 60 minutes.

The average travel time to a hospital was
calculated and included within the
summary slides of the five shortlisted
options in Section 5.1 of the PCBC.

Recommendation 11: There should be a formalised
Kent and Medway stroke network that takes

The South East Coast Cardiovascular
Network (which includes stroke) will

113
Page 159




Issue raised

Actions to address

responsibility for overseeing the implementation and
quality improvement of stroke services across the
pathway.

support implementation, and delivery of
improved stroke services across the
south east is one of its key objectives for
2017-20197°,

Recommendation 12: Given the solid evidence base
for thrombectomy for acute stroke, and the growing
need for a centre in Kent and Medway that can
provide this service 24/7, more detailed description of
the likely demand, bed requirements, referral and
repatriation pathways and the impact of this service
on any centre that would provide the service, is
advised. Higher levels of activity are to be expected at
the designated thrombectomy HASU.

There is a national designation process
for thrombectomy, so it is not currently
known whether there will be a
thrombectomy centre in Kent and
Medway nor where a centre might be
located. However, as part of the
shortlisting, options were evaluated
against the necessary co-adjacencies for
a thrombectomy centre and those with
more co-adjacencies have been
evaluated more highly (see Section
4.4.2.1).

Recommendation 13: The TIA pathway should be
given greater prominence in the PCBC, including its
required alignment with HASUs and ASUs.

Further detail on the TIA pathway has
been added to Section 3.3.3.

Clinicians in Kent and Medway have
agreed a TIA pathway based on National
Institute of Clinical Excellence (NICE)
guidelines®®

It is intended that 7 day TIA clinics will be
located on the same sites as the
HASU/ASUs due to workforce
constraints. For non-urgent cases, local
provision of TIA clinics will be available
and the provision of local clinics for more
urgent cases is being explored; this will
be kept under review during consultation
and as part of implementation planning.

Recommendation 14: More detail of the patient
pathway for stroke mimic patients should be provided
in order to better understand the impact on the HASU
hospital, and to ensure safe pathways of care are fully
integrated with the proposed stroke models.
Agreement on these pathways with the ambulance
service will be required.

Further detail on the mimic pathway has
been added in Section 3.3.3.

Clinicians have agreed a pathway for
mimics, as shown in Section 3.3.3 and a
25% uplift on confirmed stroke activity
has been modelled for mimic patients.
Those mimic patients requiring a stay of
over two days would be transferred to
their local hospital. It has been agreed
that this would be an inter-hospital
transfer provided by the patient
transport service (PTS) rather than an
ambulance transfer.

114
Page 160




Issue raised

Actions to address

South East Coast Ambulance service aim
to ‘upskill’ paramedics to provide better
assessment of potential mimics in the
ambulance to ensure they are directed
to the most appropriate place.

Appropriate model(s), such as telephone
interaction with clinicians whilst in the
ambulance, will be explored and adopted
based on the strength of clinical
evidence to support the benefits and
effectiveness.

Recommendation 15: Consultant job planning should
ensure that all stroke-related direct clinical care (DCC)
activities, which includes clinical administration and
cross cover for annual leave are included in DCC PAs,
and not SPA PAs. There should be a minimum of 2.0
SPAs in stroke consultant contracts, to ensure
adequate time for quality improvement work, service
management and development, teaching and training,
research and CPD.

Clinical administration and cross cover
for annual leave are included in DCC PAs
not SPAs. This is covered in the
modelling undertaken to date and has
now been set out explicitly within the
workforce section (3.5.1)

A minimum of two SPAs is allocated for
all stroke consultants.

Recommendation 16: The total DCC PAs required in
stroke hospitals should be reviewed against the
guidance provided in the BASP document ‘Stroke
Medicine Consultant Workforce Requirements 2011-
2015, to confirm the PCBC modelling to date is
accurate, and to ensure internal consistency within
the document.

The BASP document recommendation
suggests that the total required PAs was
overstated. This was discussed at the
Clinical Reference Group on 1°
December where the importance of a
viable and sustainable rota was noted,
and it was agreed that the consultant
PAs should be reviewed in this light.

The consultant workforce modelling has
been revised to reflect the clinical time
required to cover the stroke service in
totality, including prospective cover for
Direct Clinical Care (DCC) PAs, as 48 PAs
per week.

This has been updated in the workforce
section (3.5.1)

Recommendation 17: There should be greater
recognition in the PCBC and in consultant workforce
planning that not all consultants participating in
stroke care need to be full time stroke physicians,
even if they are required to participate in the on call
rota. Ideally consultants should have CCT in stroke
medicine or equivalent experience in thrombolysis.
Enabling dual specialty consultants is likely to help
with recruitment. There is also unlikely to be sufficient
stroke PAs for six or more full time stroke consultants,

The Stroke Review recommends
recruitment of stroke specialists as
opposed to consultants with dual
specialities. However, the benefits of
employing some members of the team
with broader clinical specialism is
recognised and will be considered to
support the recruitment drive.

The consultant workforce modelling has
been revised to reflect the clinical time

115
Page 161




Issue raised

Actions to address

even though at least six will be required on the on call
rota.

required to cover the stroke service in
totality, including prospective cover for
Direct Clinical Care (DCC) PAs, as 48 PAs
per week.

Recommendation 18: There must be a major focus on
the range of measures required to enhance the
recruitment and retention of the stroke nursing
workforce, in the face of high levels of vacancies and
turnover in some of the hospitals, and national
concerns about the future nursing workforce.
Committees and groups at all levels working on future
stroke plans for Kent and Medway must have senior
nursing representation on them.

The Joint Committee of CCGs and the
Stroke Programme Board both have
senior nursing representation.

The ‘Leading Change, Adding Value’
framework will be considered in
developing the nursing workforce model,
as part of the implementation process.

Other national programmes and
guidelines to support recruitment and
retention for nursing roles will be
explored and leveraged as they emerge
e.g. Nurse First.

Recommendation 19: Great accuracy and clarity
about the therapies staffing requirement is needed, to
appropriately plan the future workforce. Training
programmes that help extend and share roles across
the therapies services will maximise the effectiveness
and efficiency of the workforce. Rotations across
organisations and in to the community are likely to
enhance the attractiveness of posts, and aid in
recruitment and retention.

Therapy staff modelling is based on the
South East Strategic Clinical Network
stroke service specification clinical
standards following the methodology as
set out by the South East Coast Clinical
Senate. This has been updated to
account for the revised bed numbers
(caused by the changes in occupancy
rates noted above) and has been set in
the workforce section (3.5.1)

The option of rotating staff is being
explored as part of the workforce
strategy and will be considered in more
detail as part of the implementation
planning.

Recommendation 20: The expected annual stroke
activity for each hospital should be updated to take
account of any additional activity arising from agreed
changes to patient flows, or continuation of current
flows, that have not been included in the modelled
HASU activity in the current PCBC. This is particularly
important for Option C, D and E, where projected
activity in one of the hospitals in each option is below
the minimum national recommendations for annual
confirmed stroke activity in a HASU of 500 cases.

Currently many of the patients in the
Sevenoaks area, although modelled to
flow to the PRUH in Bromley based on
the shortest travel time, in practice
actually flow to TWH. It is anticipated
that the new dual carriageway on the
A21 will also increase activity at
Tunbridge Wells Hospital (TWH).
Modelling has been undertaken around
shortest travel time, in line with NHS
England expectation, but actual historic
activity shows a greater than expected
activity volume than would be
anticipated go to TWH. This should be
taken into account and will increase the
estimated volume of stroke activity at

116
Page 162




Issue raised

Actions to address

TWH in options D and E.

Recommendation 21: There must be clarity about
which postcodes/LSOAs are within which HASU
network. This is required so that acute trusts can have
confidence in a catchment area that delivers enough
stroke cases to warrant a HASU, and so that the
ambulance service will convey stroke patients to the
agreed and designated HASU hospital. There should
be formalised agreements between neighbouring STPs
and with the ambulance services on these stroke
catchment areas.

Modelling has shown which LSOAs are
within which HASU network based on
travel time to nearest hospital. The
Senate recommendation was that LSOAs
should be assigned to each hospital to
guide ambulance conveyances and these
details have been shared with SECAMB.
This effectively would direct patients to
each hospital and establish the
catchment areas and ensure they are
above the required minimum activity.

Recommendation 22: Options that include HASUs
where the expected stroke activity is less than 500 per
annum after taking account of any proposed
additional changes in HASU catchment areas are not
recommended for inclusion, as they do not meet
national guidelines to achieve the multiple benefits
and patient outcomes that centralised stroke services
can deliver.

Following analysis of potential changes
to travel flows, as outlined in Section
4.3.3, it was agreed that some options
with fewer than 500 cases per annum
would be considered further, especially
given the quality evaluation. Further
work has been completed as part of the
Decision Making Business Case to assess
potential catchment areas and ensure
that the chosen option delivers sufficient
volume at all sites. All sites in all options
are above 500 cases, as shown in Section
6.2.1.

Recommendation 23: Travel times from LSOAs to
HASUs should be remodelled to take account of the
upgrade to the A21 between Pembury and Tonbridge,
and to determine its impact on HASU activity.

The modelling was reviewed following
consultation with 17/18 Basemap data
allowing the impact of the improved
road network to be better evaluated.

Recommendation 24: When planning the siting of the
HASU and ASU in designated hospitals, they should
wherever possible be co-located to maximise
operational efficiencies.

All HASU/ASU beds will be co-located at
each site, where possible, as shown in
Section 3.3.2.

Recommendation 25: The presentation of ambulance
travel times from home to the nearest HASU would
benefit from more granularity, in order to more
explicitly show the range of travel times within the 60
minute requirement (which is being met within all
options). Providing the proportion of travel times
within 30 and 45 minutes would aid a better
understanding of likely journey times.

This is included and was assessed as part
of the evaluation process, as shown in
Section 4.4.2.2.

Recommendation 26: For times when road transport
is severely affected (such as by exceptional traffic or
accidents), there should be contingencies in place to
use the air ambulance service.

Road transportation is as fast as air
ambulance for all but a small part of the
population, hence air ambulance is not
currently often used for stroke transfers.
However, the air ambulance service is in
place to be used, if required, following
the usual protocols.

Recommendation 27: More clarity about the realistic
date when the trusts’ additional bed capacity would

Please see the implementation planning
section of this document (Section 9) for

117
Page 163




Issue raised

Actions to address

be in place will help sequence planning and
recruitment to the posts, and help to align
stakeholders’ expectations with the likely
implementation date.

the more detail on implementation
phasing and dates.

7.2.3 South East Coast Clinical Senate review of preferred option and implementation plans
The South East Coast Clinical Senate reviewed the preferred option and implementation plan in
October 2018 and published a formal report on their findings®!. A copy of this report can be found at

Appendix Y.

The South East Coast Clinical Senate raised many important points on review of the preferred option
and implementation plans, which have been addressed as part of this DMBC.

Issue raised

‘ Actions to address

Stroke prevention and addressing inequalities

1. P8 The DMBC would benefit from a clear overview
and summary up front of the preferred option, which
is of course the main focus and conclusion from the
processes described within the document.

A summary of the preferred option has
been added to the Executive Summary
and in more detail in Section 6.4.

2. P8 There should be a stated ambition to achieve
SSNAP grade As across the board in all three
HASU/ASUs. This should include the criteria in the
post-acute as well as the acute organisational and
clinical audit. [...]. The timescale for achieving this will
be challenging in the short term, so providing a
timescale for when it is intended to achieve such high
performance would also be required.

The JCCCG agreed that the ambition
should be to achieve SSNAP Grade A. The
CRG recommended that this could be
done within 6 months of go-live for the
new model of care (+3 months for
reporting). This was agreed by the SPB
on 28 November 2018 and has been
added to the DMBC in the benefits
section (see Section 10.5).

3. P8 The DMBC should make clear the intention to
comply with the Royal College of Physicians’
recommendations for stroke care by those delivering
and commissioning stroke care.

This has always been the intention and
has now been clarified in Section 3.3.3.

4. P9 A clearer statement of the ambitious targets
from the STP that are being aimed for across these
various risk factors for stroke [obesity, physical
inactivity, diabetes, atrial fibrillation and
hypertension] would give more weight to the
prevention strategy in the DMBC. These should
include interventions that cover wider determinants
of health and cover primary and secondary prevention
interventions.

Details of the STP targets can be found in
Section 3.3.1.

5. P10 The integrated impact assessment (page 3)
highlights that the preferred option will have
disproportionately longer journey times for those
from deprived areas. The DMBC should be clearer as
to how the risks to worsening inequalities might be
mitigated by the better patient outcomes that will
result from the improved stroke care that will result

Agreed. This is shown in Section 8.4.

118
Page 164




Issue raised

Actions to address

from treatment in a high performing centralised
stroke service.

6. P11 The projected increasing proportion of elderly
people in the population, together with the forecast
increase in the overall population of K&M, is [...] likely
to result in an actual rise in the total number of stroke
cases per year, even if the age-related stroke
incidence remains the same. In this regard, note
should be made of the important recent publication
‘The burden of stroke in Europe’ which forecasts a rise
across Europe in total stroke events of 34% between
2015 and 2035. For the UK Kings College estimates an
increase in the UK of 44% from 2015-2035.

It is therefore recommended to take note of this
longer term predicted trend and explore what the
implications of this could be in the final DMBC
(including the impact on HASU/ASU bed capacity
requirements), or re-model activity using a range of
activity that includes the current “no increase” and a
moderate increase in later years in line with the
conclusions of the Kings College report. It would also
be worth re-examining the data for the under 75s
especially in relation to health inequalities and areas
of deprivation, as it has been shown that patients
from lower socioeconomic groups have strokes
around seven years earlier than the highest, so the
incidence of stroke is likely to be higher in deprived
areas in this age group.

[DN to be drafted]

Bed modelling

7. P12 The catchment populations for each HASU and
of the neighbouring HASUs outside of K&M need to be
agreed, so that capacity is aligned with demand.

This work has already been completed
and is shown in Appendix D.

8. P12 The ability to deliver the additional beds for the
HASUs and ASUs on time and with sufficient capital
needs careful review once plans are presented. The
DMBC needs to acknowledge more explicitly the risks
around this.

This work has been completed and is
shown in Section 9.4.

Hyper acute stroke pathway

9. P13 Longer travel times can be mitigated by slicker
processes on arrival at the HASU hospital. This is one
of the many benefits of HASUs, where systems, staff
and equipment are in place to deliver an efficient
pathway. This point should be emphasised to partly
address the concerns of those faced with longer
ambulance travel times to get to their nearest HASU
hospital.

Agreed. This is shown in Section 8.4.

10. P14 We recommend that South East Coast
Ambulance (SECAmb) provide actual blue light travel
time data for pPCl or trauma transfer from Thanet to

SECAmb have reviewed the blue light for
pPCl and trauma and the travel times are
slightly shorter than the ones used for

119
Page 165




Issue raised

Actions to address

William Harvey Hospital, Ashford, as it is expected
that this would be less than that estimated by
Basemap. If the blue light data is available for other
journeys, this would add further data and perspective.

stroke from base map, and all within the
60 mins. See Appendix R for further
information.

11. P14 There should be greater transparency
provided in the DMBC about the travel times for
residents living furthest from HASUs. This particularly
applies to residents in Thanet who have the further
journey times (to Ashford). The travel time map
(figure 6) in the Integrated Impact Assessment (Mott
Macdonald Sept 2018) provides a clear visual
demonstration of the areas of K&M (and of East
Sussex) of the issue.

Travel times have been a key part of the
work to date and have been part of the
evaluation process at all stages.

Travel times for people in Thanet have
been reviewed extensively and further
details are shown in Section 8.3.3.

The travel time map from the Integrated
Impact Assessment has been included in
the DMBC in Section 8.3.2.

12. P14 The standard for ambulance response times
for category 2 calls (that includes FAST stroke calls) is
18 minutes, though we understand that currently 90%
respond within 40 minutes. We understand that
SECAmb believes the standard is achievable, but with
additional funding and resources, which would need
to be agreed.

Additional funding of £500k for the
ambulance service has been included in
the revenue costs. This is shown in
Section xx [DN to be cross-references
with finance section].

13. P15 It is the expectation that hospitals housing
HASUs have at least two functioning CT scanners, and
that they prioritise new stroke patients accordingly.

This has been confirmed by EKHUFT and
DGT. One scanner at MGH is outside the
ED but MTW have confirmed that it is
quickly accessible and will be staffed to
allow 24/7 imaging for HASU. [DN MTW
to provide written confirmation]

Mechanical thrombectomy

14. P16 The case for a K&M thrombectomy centre
could be strengthened by estimating the potential
number of patients who should receive it, and the
health impact.

Thrombectomy is not currently part of
this DMBC and activity analysis would be
considered as part of any separate,
future, business case. However, EKHUFT
are undertaking a thrombectomy pilot
and details of this are shown at Appendix
H.

15. P16 We were provided with the vision to have a
single ‘spoke’ thrombectomy associated with one of
the three HASU sites in place by April 2020, which
might provide the service (initially at least) Monday -
Friday day time, but with the hub centre (at BSUH or
Kings) providing out of hours cover, training and
support. More detail about this could be included, and
how the service would be staffed (e.g. by training non-
neuro interventional practitioners (e.g. interventional
cardiologists and interventional radiologists)), though
it is recognised that stroke units around the country
are currently grappling with the same issues.

Thrombectomy is not currently part of
this DMBC and these details would be
considered as part of any separate,
future, business case. However, EKHUFT
are undertaking a thrombectomy pilot
and details of this are shown at Appendix
H.

16. P16 There will presumably be capital investment
requirements to deliver a de novo thrombectomy

Thrombectomy is not currently part of
this DMBC and any capital costs would be

120
Page 166




Issue raised

Actions to address

service, which should be appear somewhere in the
final DMBC as a future cost.

considered as part of any separate,
future, business case. However, EKHUFT
are undertaking a thrombectomy pilot
and details of this are shown at Appendix
H.

17. P16 Confirmation that all three HASUs will be able
to provide 24/7 CT angiography should be sought, as
this is required to select patients urgently for
thrombectomy.

This has been confirmed by all trusts.

18. P16 The HASU hospital that ends up providing the
thrombectomy service for K&M would increase
admissions to that HASU. The impact that this may
have on patient flows and bed capacity required at
the thrombectomy hospital and the other non-
thrombectomy HASU hospitals should be explicitly
considered, as part of the risk analysis of the overall
bed modelling.

Thrombectomy is not currently part of
this DMBC and this issue would be
considered as part of any separate,
future, business case. However, EKHUFT
are undertaking a thrombectomy pilot
and details of this are shown at Appendix
H.

Presence of onsite co-dependent and supporting clinical services

19. P17 The stroke pathway as described in the DMBC
(section 2.3.4) refers to the South East Clinical
Senate’s report ‘The clinical co-dependencies of acute
hospital services’ in which is described the clinical
services that should co-locate with a HASU. It is
assumed, but not stated in the document, that each of
the three HASUs in the preferred option meets that
guidance. It would be important to confirm that for
each of the three HASU hospitals.

All the HASUs in the preferred option
meet this guidance as one of the hurdle
criteria for site options was that sites
must have these co-located services. This
is shown in Section 4.2.2.

20. P17 The evaluation criteria for the selection of the
preferred option (section 3.5.1 [now 4.4.2.1]) does
however refer to the ‘co-adjacencies’ with vascular
surgery and trauma, to mechanical thrombectomy co-
adjacencies (on site availability of pPCl and
interventional neuroradiology) and ‘major emergency
centre requirements — whether all services are
available on site’ (though what those services are, is
not specified).

The major emergency centre
requirements are set out in Appendix N
and are:

e Acute cardiac ppci

o A&E

e Emergency surgery

e Full obstetrics

The CRG recommend that, although a
required service for a major emergency
centre, a level 3 NICU has marginal
clinical relevance to a HASU so its
availability was not considered in the
evaluation.

Pathways for stroke mimics

21. P17 The proportion of stroke mimic patients
admitted to HASUs is estimated to be 25% of
confirmed stroke cases, and it is advised that the
pathways of care are presented in more detail than is
currently available in the DMBC.

Further work has been done on pathways
for stroke mimic patients. These have
been agreed by the CRG [DN CRG in
process of final sign off] and the SPB.
More detail is shown in Section 3.3.3.

22. P17 The DMBC refers to ongoing care in the HASU
hospital under the ‘general team’ if predicted LoS is 2
days or less, or transfer of care to the general team at

Agreed. Further work on these pathways
will be done as part of the
implementation phase.

121
Page 167




Issue raised

Actions to address

the patient’s local hospital (if not the HASU hospital)
of predicted LoS is >2 days. There will need to be
flexibility in this outline pathway depending on the
clinical condition of the patient, what their other
specialty needs are, and to avoid unnecessary breaks
in the continuity of care. It is likely that a significant
number of such patients will remain in the HASU
hospital till discharge, and those hospitals should
factor in the implications of this for their non-stroke
bed base.

The impact on the bed base was
considered by the CRG who agreed that
the impact is likely to be 2-3 beds per
site. This has not been included in the
HASU/ASU bed base but was included in
provider presentations to the
deliverability panel and in the provider
business cases (see Appendix W and
Appendix K).

Rehabilitation pathways

23. P18 Meeting the length of stay on ASUs (modelling
an average of 15 days) requires the capacity in the
community to discharge patients to, whether to home
with early supported discharge, to inpatient
rehabilitation, or to nursing home or palliative care.
Therefore addressing the current apparent capacity
gap is critical for the sustainability of the proposed
new HASU/ASUs. Inpatient rehabilitation capacity
should be considered alongside ASU bed
requirements, not separately.

Inpatient rehabilitation capacity that sits
alongside current acute stroke beds (e.g.
at MTW) has already been included in the
modelling (as ring-fenced beds). Inpatient
rehabilitation capacity will be further
reviewed as part of the rehab business
case that is currently being prepared (see
Section 3.4).

24. P19 The input from and collaboration from adult
social care is critical to the success of the
rehabilitation pathway. Social worker input to stroke
units is vital to planning onward care in the
community, and this should be emphasised. Social
worker assessment is complicated by the
centralisation of acute stroke care, and the need for
input from the patient’s local social work services. This
issue should be considered and ways developed to
ensure patients are not stranded in the HASU/ASU
whilst waiting for their needs and local service
provision to be evaluated and set up.

Agreed. This is being discussed as part of
the work on the rehabilitation business
case, as detailed in Section 3.4.

25. P19 The membership of the RWG was not
provided, so it is unclear if there is representation
from local authority adult social care services.
Collaboration with local authorities is vital to the
provision of a comprehensive, holistic rehabilitation
pathway, and planning should be integrated between
health and social care.

There is representation from local
authority adult social care on the
rehabilitation working group (RWG).

26. P19 The timescales provided for the RWG’s work
in the DMBC (High level plan for community
rehabilitation, fig 16) indicate that a business case will
be produced in Spring 2019. Given the time required
to approve the business case then recruit the staff
required, this must be seen as a risk to the smooth
running of the new HASU/ASUs at their predicted go
live dates, and planning for any community
rehabilitation transition period should be undertaken.

This has been added to the programme
risk register (see Section 9.4).

122
Page 168




Issue raised

Actions to address

27. P19 Commissioning principles for rehabilitation
are listed in the DMBC and have been agreed by the
RWG and the stroke CRG. We did not get a sense of
the firm commitment of the K&M commissioners to
these principles and the importance of resourcing this
key aspect of the stroke pathway, but this is clearly
required.

The JCCCG has discussed rehabilitation on
a number of occasions. There is a firm
commitment to developing a business
case for rehabilitation.

28. P19 For patients with devastating strokes, end of
life care is often appropriate, and the DMBC should
refer to this palliative care pathway and how it would
be provided.

All providers currently have palliative
care pathways for stroke and CRG agreed
that these will continue to be used.

Workforce

29. P20 There is an appropriate major focus on the
workforce requirements and implications of HASUs
and ASUs, and K&M have demonstrated in the DMBC
a wide range of initiatives and collaborations to
address this challenge. A detailed workforce
implementation plan is contained in the DMBC, but
the risks around it need to be made more explicit,
with the need for interim contingency planning.

The risks have been more explicit and are
shown in Section 9.4.

30. P20 The gap between current staffing levels
(medical, nursing and therapies) and that required for
the three preferred HASU/ASUs to comply with
national recommendations is very significant, and
there was concern from the panel about the ability to
address these gaps in the timescales being proposed,
and creative interim solutions are likely to be
required.

It is essential that there is an agreed,
robust monitoring process of the
workforce gap and a collective focus on
driving and delivering the recruitment
and retention plan. Providers will
consider how to better utilise their
temporary workforce (bank and agency
staff) and how staff are redeployed from
other areas within the Trust. This work
will be done as part of implementation,
following a decision.

31. P21 Given the current national shortage of stroke
consultants, the upskilling of other medical specialties
in stroke competencies to support stroke units and on
call rotas (particularly Care of the Elderly consultants,
whose traditional skill set would provide additional
value for the care of older stroke patients) should be
considered.

Agreed. Work has started on considering
a range of roles, as set out in Section
3.5.1. Further work will be done as part
of implementation, following a decision.

32. P21 We were concerned from what we heard that
the Medway stroke service might become
unsustainable before early 2020 (when services are
anticipated to have been moved to Darent Valley and
Maidstone) based on stroke consultant staffing levels.
It may be helpful to consider the feasibility of
transferring services/patients earlier to Maidstone,
particularly if the one full time stroke consultant could
move with the service. This would support the
development and establishment of a critical mass at
Maidstone, though the interim implication for beds at
Maidstone would need to be addressed.

Work has been done to support Medway
and the immediate workforce issues have
been resolved.

Phasing was considered as part of the
work on implementation. It was agreed
that the disadvantages of transferring
patients earlier to Maidstone outweighed
the advantages (see Section 9.1).
However, capacity could be available at
Maidstone, if required.

123
Page 169




Issue raised

Actions to address

33. P22 It is considered less likely that nursing and
therapies staff would move to work in a different
hospital, so assumptions about utilisation of stroke
staff from hospitals losing their stroke units (e.g.
QEQM to William Harvey) need to be qualified and
alternative ways of staffing the HASU/ASUs
considered.

Providers are developing plans to transfer
staff between hospitals. It is expected
that providers will continue to engage
and involve staff in this work. Providers
may initiate a staff consultation aligned
to their HR policy. This work will be done
as part of implementation, following a
decision.

34. P22 Rotational posts, working both in the hospital
and the community, should be considered for stroke
nursing and therapies staff. This would develop broad
skills, and may enhance recruitment and retention.

Plans for rotational posts are being
developed including a Kent and Medway
Education and Training Competency
Framework. There is also an opportunity
to work with the deanery and the new
Medical School regarding trainee doctors’
rotation to stroke services across Kent
and Medway. In the first instance, work
will be undertaken with Health Education
England on the steps required to achieve
this goal.

Further work will be completed as part of
implementation, following a decision.

Non-HASU hospitals

35. P23 The South East Clinical Senate has previously
produced detailed guidance for stroke networks on
hospitals without acute stroke units. It is strongly
recommended that the K&M stroke programme board
and its stakeholders review this document and the
recommendations contained within it, as they are all
highly relevant to the current K&M plans and their
ability to deliver the benefits of centralised acute
stroke care.

This document was considered by the
CRG at their meeting of 13/11 and
formed the basis for proposals for
pathways for non-HASU patient transfer
(see Section 3.3.4). These were
considered and agreed by SPB on 28/11.

36. P23 Of the seven acute hospitals in K&M, four of
them will not have stroke units in the future. Medway
is the only hospital whose trust does not have a HASU
on another of their sites, but many of the issues are
similar for all four, and the DMBC should outline how
these four hospitals will work with the HASUs in the
future, and provide greater clarity on the patient
pathways. There is currently insufficient detail about
this in the DMBC.

Further work has been done on this
pathway as shown in Section 3.3.4. This
pathway was formulated by CRG and
signed off by SPB on 28/11.

37. P24 As described in the section on the
implementation of the model, there is a high level of
risk that the stroke service as it currently exists will
not endure through to the formal date of HASU
opening, though staff redeployments or choice.
Detailed discussions with stroke care staff in these
hospitals is required to explain the transition, and to
understand the opportunities for and plans of such
staff.

Detailed on-going engagement is taking
place with stoke care staff. This is
planned to continue throughout
implementation, as outlined in Section
9.5.

124
Page 170




Issue raised

Actions to address

38. P25 The many benefits of centralising stroke
services to patient outcomes following a stroke must
be clearly communicated to the public and service
users. The inevitable concerns from the local
population of losing stroke services from their local
hospital must be met with a clear explanation of the
new pathways, providing re-assurance that patient
safety issues are addressed, that patient transfers to
the centre will be appropriate and timely, and that
post-acute stroke care will be of a high standard that
maximises rehabilitation outcomes, with
rehabilitation at home as soon as possible.

This message has been a key part of
communications throughout the Stroke
Review and this will continue during
implementation. Further details of the
communications and engagement plan
for implementation is shown in Section
9.5.

39. P25 Commissioners and providers should engage
with the public, stroke patients and their carers in
considering the impact of their local hospital not
having a specialist stroke unit. Meaningful and
demonstrable engagement should be part of any
commissioning specification. Such engagement needs
to acknowledge the potential trade-off between the
benefits of travelling for specialist treatment, and the
lack of more local provision of the service.

This message has been a key part of
communications throughout the Stroke
Review and this will continue during
implementation. Further details of the
communications and engagement plan
for implementation is shown in Section
9.5.

40. P25 Any steps that could be taken to mitigate the
impact on relatives and carers who may have to travel
longer distances to visit the patient whilst in the HASU
or ASU should be considered. This might include
longer permitted visiting hours, and support with
transport.

A Transport Advisory Group including
stroke patients, carers and patient
representatives is being convened. This
group is part of the programme
governance structure (see Section 9.3)
and will meet and make
recommendations throughout
implementation.

Implementation

41. P26 There was particular concern that the
Medway stroke unit could cease to be able to provide
adequate services quickly after the decision on the
preferred options for HASUs is made, and plans
should be prepared for a rapid transfer of stroke
activity to the hospitals that will take on this activity
(Maidstone and Darent Valley).

Work has been done to support Medway
and the immediate workforce issues have
been resolved.

Phasing was considered as part of the
work on implementation. It was agreed
that the disadvantages of transferring
patients earlier to Maidstone outweighed
the advantages (see Section 9.1).
However, capacity could be available at
Maidstone, if required.

This issue is included as a programme risk
(see Section 9.4).

42. P26 The implementation period should be
minimised.

Agreed. This was discussed as part of the
work on implementation planning and
phasing. The local ambition is to
implement the new services as quickly as
possible whilst ensuring that quality and

125
Page 171




Issue raised

Actions to address

patient safety are not compromised.
Further details are in Section 9.1.

43. P26 There are parallel discussions ongoing about
the future configuration of acute hospitals in East
Kent, with an alternative major emergency hospital
located in Canterbury being considered. The potential
impact of such a future reconfiguration on the flow of
patients with acute stroke, are not discussed in the
DMBC. Whilst there is significant uncertainty about
this alternative at present, and if agreed and
implemented it would likely be some years before it
was established, there should be explicit reference to
this issue in the DMBC.

Work is underway to review services and
develop options for a clinically and
financially sustainable model for East
Kent University Hospitals NHS Foundation
Trust. The outputs of this work will in
time be subject to public consultation. It
is noted this will need to be kept under
review, but given Kent and Canterbury
Hospital cannot currently provide a HASU
and a model for improved care is urgent,
it is recommended that Kent and
Canterbury Hospital should not be
considered as a potential hyper acute and
acute stroke unit at this time.

This reference is already included in the
DMBC and was in the PCBC. See, for
example, Section 4.3.2. It was clearly
communicated during consultation.

Stroke networks and clinical leadership

44. P27 Strong and effective clinical leadership and
programme management will be required in setting
up the new stroke pathways and HASU/ASUs within
Kent and Medway. There needs to be commitment to
this need, and appropriate resourcing. A clinical
director for stroke services across Kent and Medway is
recommended, with appropriate managerial support.
In addition, each HASU should have strong clinical
leadership from the medical, nursing and therapies
professions to oversee implementation, and be
responsible for the quality of stroke care in the HASU,
ASU and the local stroke network it is responsible for.

A clinical director lead across Kent and
Medway will be appointed across Kent
and Medway. In addition, each provider
has appointed strong clinical leadership
for the individual HASU/ASUs. See
Section 9.3 for more details.

Summary

P28 The panel was not entirely confident in the
current projections for no growth in stroke activity in
the years ahead, given the growth in the projected
size and age of the population of K&M, and recent
publications. This underlines the importance of
prevention measures (that also impact on the
development of many other long term conditions) in
improving population health and reducing future need
and demand for stroke care, and reducing health
inequalities. Meanwhile, capacity planning at the
trusts hosting the HASU/ASUs should take account of
a potential increase in activity in the years ahead.

[DN to be drafted]

P29 The evidence base for thrombectomy (mechanical
clot extraction) after or instead of thrombolysis in a
selected group of stroke patients is now strong, and

Thrombectomy is not currently part of
this DMBC and this issue would be
considered as part of any separate,

126
Page 172




Issue raised Actions to address

the implications of this new standard of care are being | future, business case. However, EKHUFT
worked through nationally as well as locally. The are undertaking a thrombectomy pilot
DMBC describes plans for a single thrombectomy and details of this are shown at Appendix
service for K&M, though the siting of this is yet to be H.

decided. The impact of such a centre on patient flows
and capacity planning of the three proposed HASUs
across the county will need to be considered in more

detail.
P29 Patients with stroke mimic symptoms make up Further work on this is shown in Section
around 25% of admissions to HASUs, and the 3.3.3.

subsequent pathways of care need to be mapped out
in more detail, particularly for those patients initially
admitted from more distant sites, and for whom the

location of their ongoing care needs to be carefully

considered.
P29 Once the decision has been made about the Agreed. This risk and mitigations is shown
future siting of the HASU/ASUs, there is a risk of in Section 9.4.

destabilising the stroke workforce in units that won’t
be providing stroke care in future, and full and
meaningful engagement with affected staff in
exploring the opportunities available at the future
HASU/ASU units, should continue.

7.3  Consultation with local authority overview and scrutiny committees

Stroke Review proposals have been shared with individual Health Overview and Scrutiny
Committees (HOSCs) and the Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (JHOSC) as they have
been developed. Further information on the involvement of the JHOSC and individual HOSCs can be
found in Section 5.4.2, Appendix Z and Appendix AA.

7.4 NHS England assurance
The NHS England assurance process for the Stroke Review included:

e Oversight Group for Service Change and Reconfiguration (OGSCR) formal review on 9
January 2018: this was a formal review of the proposals, chaired by an out of area Chair

e Investment Committee Review on 18 January 2018: a review of the proposals by the NHS
England which oversees the assurance of reconfiguration proposals on behalf of NHS
England.

The information considered by both reviews included:
e an overview of the proposals
e adescription of the model of care and options for sites
e an assessment against the four tests and three conditions
e adetailed consideration of the financial case

NHS England agreed that the four tests have been passed and that the condition for bed closures has
been met (see 7.5 for details of the four tests and condition for bed closures and the evidence
presented).

127
Page 173



On this basis, NHS England have confirmed their support that the proposals for the reconfiguration
of urgent stroke services in Kent and Medway should proceed to public consultation.

7.5 Four tests and three conditions

The NHS Operating Framework 2010-11 and the NHS Chief Executive letter of 29 July 2010 outline
four tests for reconfiguration. These are that “current and future reconfiguration proposals must
meet four new tests before they can proceed. These tests are designed to build confidence within
the service, with patients and communities.” The four tests are part of a wider external assurance
process that includes reviews by NHS England and the South East Coast Clinical Senate. NHS England,
on behalf of the Secretary of State, is tasked with assessing that reconfiguration proposals can meet
the following tests:

Support from GP commissioners

Strengthened public and patient engagement

Clarity on the clinical evidence base

Consistency with current and prospective patient choice.

PwnNPE

Reconfiguration proposals must meet the four tests before they can proceed. These tests are
designed to demonstrate that there has been a consistent approach to managing change, and
therefore build confidence within the service, and with patients and the public.

Since 1 April 2017, local NHS organisations have also had to show that significant hospital bed
closures subject to the current reconfiguration tests meet one of three new conditions before NHS
England will approve them to go ahead:

1. Demonstrating that enough alternative provision, such as increased GP or community
services, is being put in place alongside or ahead of bed closures, and that the new staff will
be there to deliver it.

2. Showing that specific new treatments or therapies will reduce specific categories of
admissions.

3. Where a hospital has been using beds less efficiently than the national average, that it has a
credible plan to improve performance without affecting patient care.

The proposals contained in this DMBC will result in the reduction of 3 beds (2% of modelled hospital
stroke beds — from 132 beds currently to 129 beds in 2021°). This small reduction in beds will be
achieved by reducing average length of stay for patients from 15.3 days to 13 days through higher
quality care and greater efficiency during the hospital episode. This includes quicker access to
diagnostics, thrombolysis and senior expertise, as outlined in Section 3.3.3. This reduction in average
length of stay is evidenced by other areas that have introduced hyper acute stroke units; for
example, in London where the development of hyper acute stroke units resulted in a decrease in
median length of stay from around 16 days in May-July 2009 to around 11 days in May-July 201182,
Sensitivity analysis has also been undertaken to understand the financial impact of a higher average
length of stay than planned, as shown in Section O.

6 Modelled beds have been used as stroke beds are not ring-fenced and cannot be “counted”. Modelling beds using actual
activity and average length of stay also ensures that beds numbers are comparable across providers. These numbers have
changed slightly since the PCBC due to updated activity figures and a change in catchment populations. The numbers have
been re-validated with NHS England.

128
Page 174



The Strategic Transformation Partnership (STP) has worked with NHS organisations, local authorities
(including Health and Wellbeing Boards and Overview and Scrutiny Committees) and patient and
public representatives to develop these proposals. This section of the DMBC describes how the work
meets the four tests, and what will be done in the future to continue this work during and after the
consultation period.

Throughout this work the Stroke Review has worked to address the four tests. This section of the
DMBC summarises for each of the four tests:

e The work undertaken to date prior to consultation
e  Work undertaken during and since consultation, in support of this DMBC

7.5.1 Test 1- Support from GP commissioners (and GPs)

This section describes how the Stroke Review has met the Secretary of State’s test for GP
Commissioner support. Each CCG reviewed the content of the PCBC with their Governing Body and
each chair signed the foreword to the PCBC.

7.5.1.1 Work undertaken to date
CCGs (chaired by GPs and with GP members) have led the Stroke Review from the outset:
e The eight Kent and Medway CCG Chairs, plus two neighbouring other CCGs with affected
populations, are represented on the Stroke Programme Board, which manages the overall
Stroke Review and makes recommendations to the JCCCG
o The eight Kent and Medway CCGs are represented on the:
o STP Clinical Board - which provides clinical leadership to the Sustainability and
Transformation Partnership and makes recommendations to the STP Programme
Board
o Finance Group — which brings together commissioner and provider finance leads to
inform development of finance and activity modelling
o Stroke Programme Board — which brings together a range of stakeholders to
coordinate the development of detailed proposals
o Clinical Reference Group — which makes recommendations to the Stroke Programme
Board on clinical matters.

There has been regular briefing and engagement with CCG Chairs including through the Kent and
Medway Commissioning Assembly (including CCG Chairs and Accountable Officers), attendance at
CCG clinical meetings and Governing Body briefings. CCG Chairs have discussed the proposals with
their own Governing Bodies (see Appendix Z). All eight Kent and Medway CCG chairs signed up to a
public endorsement of the Stroke Review’s case for change during July and August 2015.

There has been engagement with GPs beyond the CCG Governing Bodies. This includes
presentations at relevant meetings and GP bulletin newsletters. GPs are also encouraged to sign up
for updates on the STP which includes stroke.

7.5.1.2 Activities during and since consultation

During consultation, the following events and activities were undertaken. All public events were
promoted via local channels, networks, posters and online. CCGs and GPs were specifically involved
in the following:

129
Page 175



e As ambassadors for the Stroke Review, attending roadshows, public events and as media
spokespeople. A cohort of clinical spokespeople were identified and trained, including stroke
clinicians, GPs, senior medical leaders and ambulance staff.

e Provider-led events for staff. The aim of these was to provide detailed information and to
answer questions, to gather rich feedback on the benefits, concerns and issues in a
structured and constructive way and to explain the proposals and enable leaders and
clinicians to be questioned about them.

e Drop-in sessions for NHS staff, within hospitals and community settings.

e One-to-one meetings and correspondence - all requests for meetings and briefings were
considered and, within reason, accepted.

e Displays in key locations

CCGs remained part of the Stroke Programme Board which continued to meet during the
consultation phase and the development of the DMBC. During consultation, the usual, trusted
communication and engagement channels with GPs were used to raise awareness and to ask for
feedback in response to the consultation.

In addition, the Stroke Review:

e Held GP network meetings in each CCG area

e Supported CCG chairs in presenting proposals to local stakeholders

o  Worked with CCG chairs to support the development and delivery of implementation plans
for these proposals

7.5.2 Test 2 - Strengthened public and patient engagement

This section outlines how the Stroke Review has met the Secretary of State’s test for strengthened
public and patient engagement. It describes how patients and the public have been involved in each
stage of the Stroke Review, and the activities and communications that have strengthened
engagement with public and patients in Kent and Medway and the surrounding areas in south east
London and Sussex. This includes evolving relationships with local authorities, engagement with
HOSCs and the JHOSC and work with Health and Wellbeing Boards. It also shows how the public and
patients have contributed to the direction of the Stroke Review since consultation.

A letter of support for the consultation was received from Healthwatch Kent following a detailed
independent review of the pre-consultation phase of engagement. Healthwatch has a clear process
for acting as a critical friend on consultations. This is based on their Best Practice Guides on
Consultations and Pre-consultation Engagement (available at
http://www.patientpublicinvolvement.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/Healthwatch-Kent-Best-
Practice-Guide-to-Engagement.pdf). This process was undertaken by Healthwatch Kent volunteers
and based on the evidence of the activities and the planning and quality of what has been
undertaken, from a lay person’s view, informed by training from The Consultation Institute. The
independent review found that there was sufficient pre-consultation public engagement and that
Healthwatch Kent fully supports the robust process used by the Stroke Review. The full review is
shown at Appendix BBii. A detailed list of pre-consultation public and patient engagement is shown
in Appendix Z, a full description of consultation activities is shown in Appendix P and a list of post-
consultation activities are shown in Appendix AA.

A letter of support for the Stroke Review was also been received from the Stroke Association and is
shown at Appendix BBi.

130
Page 176



7.5.2.1 Work undertaken to date

The Stroke Review has been established to put both the public and patients, and their carers, and
their interests, at the heart of the process. Public and patient engagement is a core part of the
Stroke Review structure. This is achieved through the Stroke Review governance structures and the
following fora:

e the Patient and Public Advisory Group

e the Healthwatch network

e patient representatives at key meetings including the Stroke Programme Board and Clinical
Reference Group

e engagement and involvement events and activities including focus groups, listening
exercises, survey and public meetings

e updates and discussion at public CCG Governing Body meetings

e HOSC and JHOSC engagement

The Public Patient Advisory Group, which brings together patient representatives across Kent and
Medway, meets regularly and has discussed the Stroke Review from the outset. The Chair sits on the
STP Programme Board. Patients are represented at key meetings and Healthwatch is represented on
Stroke Programme Board.

In early 2015, listening events took place in the eight CCGs in Kent and Medway to gather initial
views. In November and December 2015, three deliberative events looked in detail at the case for
change, and questioned and challenged the proposals for improving future stroke care. These
included presentations from key spokespeople within the Stroke Review and facilitated round table
discussions to capture views and insights. External clinicians such as the national lead for stroke,
have also taken part in these events. A survey also took place in November 2015. Four engagement
events took place across Kent and Medway in September 2016 to discuss proposals for change. Eight
events took place in August 2017 hosted by the Stroke Association, to discuss the evaluation criteria
and process, as shown in Appendix O. Input from patients and public was also used to develop
criteria for evaluating the options. The results of this are shown in Section 4.4.1.

Health and Wellbeing Boards have also been engaged. Medway Health and Wellbeing Board were
presented information on the Stroke Review on 22 February 2017 and 27 June 2017. The Kent
Health and Wellbeing Board was provided with information on the Stroke Review on 22 March 2017.

Senior Stroke Review members have attended local HOSC meetings whenever requested since the
launch of the case for change, and proactive briefing sessions have been conducted with Kent and
Medway HOSCs since the start of the review. The case for change was reviewed by Kent HOSC and
Medway HOSC August and September 2015. In keeping with Directions to Local Authorities -
Overview and Scrutiny Committees, Heath Scrutiny Functions (2003), a Joint Health Overview
Scrutiny Committee (JHOSC) was formed between Medway HOSC and Kent HOSC in 8 January 2016
and has met several times. Items discussed with this JHOSC include:

e Clinical models

e The Stroke Review’s approach to evaluation

e Options for consultation

e Timeline for decision making

e Consultation plan

e Consultation document.

e Consultation feedback

o Preferred option

e |Implementation plans

131
Page 177



e Consultation response
e Evaluation criteria for preferred option
e Preferred option and detailed implementation plan

The Health Overview and Scrutiny Committees across county borders in East Sussex and in Bexley,
south east London have also been engaged. Both these scrutiny committees have confirmed that the
proposals constitute significant variation to current service provision for their residents, and
therefore they have decided to join the Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee with
colleagues in Kent and in Medway.

In response to feedback from the Kent and Medway JHOSC, the appropriate consultation period was
agreed to be 10 weeks. At the January meeting, which was attended by representatives from Bexley
and East Sussex, the JHOSC was asked to review the consultation document and to advise the Stroke
Review of significant areas where further detail is required. At this meeting, the JHOSC also
reviewed and commented on the consultation plan.

The Kent and Medway JHOSC met on 5 July 2018 to discuss the consultation and responses. Overall,
the members were pleased with, and supported, the extent of the activity undertaken, and they
commented on the quality of the formal public consultation and engagement. The Chair of the
JHOSC took the unusual step of formally recording that all the JHOSC members noted the high
quality of the consultation activity and agreed it had been comprehensive and well managed.

Information has been presented in a clear, non-technical, user-friendly way and this was a major
focus when preparing for consultation. Q&A sessions at stakeholder events have been used to
respond to questions from public and patients and allow the Stroke Review to share these responses
with a wider audience through the distribution of reports. Input and feedback from patients have
been used to inform the development of the Stroke Review (for example, in the development of the
evaluation criteria — see Section 4.4.1).

In addition to this, senior members of the Stroke Review have participated in a wide range of
engagement activities including:
e C(Clinical Commissioning Group meetings
e Council meetings
e Health and Wellbeing Boards
Local Medical Committees
Meetings with local MPs
e Patient listening and deliberative events
e Patient focus groups

There has been widespread media coverage of the proposals, including newspaper, radio and TV
coverage which is monitored by the communications and engagement leads for each CCG as well as
the stroke Communications and Engagement lead.

During the pre-consultation phase, a Stroke Review webpage was set up and hosted on the Dartford,
Gravesham and Swanley CCG website, and more recently on the Strategic Transformation
Partnership (STP) website. The website has been used to detail what the Stroke Review is about,
who is involved, what events were taking place, update with news and developments as well as a
source where Stroke Review and event materials could be viewed and downloaded.

132
Page 178



7.5.2.2 Activities during and since consultation
During consultation, different events and activities were undertaken to strengthen public and
patient engagement (these are outlined in more detail in Section 5.2). These includes:

e Holding twenty listening events across Kent and Medway and affected neighbouring areas

e Hosting hospital events primarily aimed at NHS staff but also open to patients

e Attending public meetings, both planned and hosted by others; for example, any local group
meetings that the Stroke Review is invited to or any that might be proactively approached

e Focussing on an outreach programme, particularly for ‘hard to reach’ groups and seldom
heard voices

e Participating in clinical engagement events aimed at both GPs and provider staff

e Distributing consultation materials to public outlets including hospital sites involved in the
consultation, and community spaces (and offer them in alternative formats where required)

e Setting up a consultation response unit to answer questions and deal with responses from
stakeholders including members of public

e Continuing to attend meetings with JHOSC, local authorities, MPs and other statutory bodies
and consultees.

The public events were heavily promoted via local channels, networks, posters and online via the
STP website. The STP website provided Stroke Review information, road show and event details,
interactive consultation responses, feedback forums and news. It was regularly updated with the
latest news, information and documents to download. Digital and social media channels also play a
role in public engagement, with a more direct level of engagement with the audience developed
before and during consultation.

Since consultation, feedback from public and patients has continued to be used to inform the Stroke
Review. A formal and independently analysed report of the consultation responses and feedback
was considered by the Joint Committee of the CCGs in detail on 28 August 2018. The progress of the
Stroke Review has been updated through the STP website, newsletters and other consultation
materials produced, and by hosting and participating in meetings with stakeholders. Engagement
and involvement activities are ongoing and are focussed on explaining the preferred option and
support and co-design for implementation planning.

7.5.3 Test 3 — Clarity about the clinical evidence base

This section outlines how the Stroke Review has met the Secretary of State’s test for clarity about the
clinical evidence base. It describes how clinical evidence informed the case for change, vision, service
models and options evaluation for the Stroke Review. More detail about the clinical evidence base
used is shown in Sections 2.4 and Section 3. A review of evidence was also undertaken and is shown
at Appendix C.

Clinicians across Kent and Medway have given input to the Stroke Review’s proposals. External input
from the national Stroke Director and the independent chair of the Clinical Reference Group has
been sought. The South East Coast Clinical Senate tested the evidence and have given feedback on
the proposals.

7.5.3.1 Work undertaken to date

The Stroke Review proposals have built upon work taken forward over several years by local
clinicians. In December 2014, CCGs in Kent and Medway commissioned a review of hospital stroke
care which published a case for change in July 2015. Following extensive clinical discussion and
stakeholder engagement, the service models were agreed in February 2017 with options formulated

133
Page 179



and agreed during 2017. Further work has been done since consultation to develop clinical pathways
including for TIA, mimics, strokes at non-HASU/ASU units and rehabilitation. This work is shown in
Sections 3.3 and 3.4.

Using the latest evidence and research, clinicians identified that there are significantly improved
outcomes for patients and improved patient experiences when hospital stroke services are
centralised onto fewer sites. This is because it allows a greater throughput of activity and
consolidation of the scare workforce to provide access to specialist skills and equipment 24 hours a
day, seven days a week. Clinicians found that the seven hospital sites in Kent and Medway currently
providing hospital stroke services were not meeting clinical quality standards, had insufficient staff
with high vacancy rates, and (except at one site) did not see enough numbers of patients.

As a first step in transforming hospital services, local clinicians, supported by patients and their
representatives, the public, commissioners and providers developed a vision and a model of care for
stroke care. This vision covered quality improvements to preventing stroke; caring for people who
are having a stroke; and post-stroke rehabilitation. Clinicians also considered co-dependencies with
other urgent services such as acute medicine and diagnostics and agreed that hyper acute and acute
stroke units should be co-located as this makes better use of the scarce workforce. A separate
working group has been set up to consider the proposals for the rehabilitation care model in more
detail; this group met three times in October and November 2017 and agreed to the adoption of the
South East Strategic Clinical Networks recommended model of care®. Since consultation, the group
has met three more times and has agreed more detailed pathways and detailed workforce
requirements, as shown in Section 3.4. A business case for changes to rehabilitation is expected to
be completed in Spring 2019.

Quality and clinical evidence are at the heart of the options appraisal for the location of the co-
located hyper acute and acute stroke units. This included a consideration of:

Minimum and maximum levels of activity in each unit

The ability of services and the availability of the workforce to deliver standards

Clinical co-dependencies

Rapid access to thrombolysis

e Patient experience and safety

e C(linical co-adjacencies including with trauma units, pPCl and vascular as described by the
South East Coast Clinical Senate

e (linical co-adjacencies to develop Keogh major emergency centres

o The development of mechanical thrombectomy

e Service operating times

e The time to, and ease of, delivering clinical and quality benefits

The Stroke Review was designed from the outset to be clinically led. The Stroke Review structure
includes medical representation in its groups, and medical leadership is provided by the
independent chair of the Clinical Reference Group and the co-Chairs of the STP Clinical Board.

In addition, all clinical proposals are developed through discussion at the stroke Clinical Reference
Group which has senior representatives for each provider and CCGs. The stroke Clinical Reference
Group has considered detailed evidence at each stage before making recommendations to the
Stroke Programme Board. The Sustainability and Transformation Partnership Clinical Board has
provided guidance and challenge; this Board includes provider Medical Directors, CCG Chairs,
Directors of Public Health, Directors of Social Services and representatives of the ambulance service.

134
Page 180



The case for change, service model and quality standards are based on sound local and national
clinical evidence. A robust, evidence-based process has been used for developing and appraising
options for change that have been shared with stakeholders at every stage of its development;
working with senior local clinicians and external clinical advisors to ensure any options selected are
clinically sound.

The Clinical Reference Group reviewed a wide body of evidence in determining the care model and
quality standards for Kent and Medway. The core documents include:

National Sentinel Stroke Clinical Audit (rolling programme)

2016 National Clinical Guideline for Stroke, Royal College of Physicians

Stroke and transient ischaemic attack in over 16s: diagnosis and initial management, clinical
guideline [CG68], July 2008 (last updated, March 2017)

South East Strategic Clinical Networks. Stroke rehabilitation in the community:
commissioning for improvement. 2016

South East Coast Clinical Senate, Kent and Medway stroke services review report, June 2015
South East Coast Clinical Senate, Review of Stroke Services in Sussex, December 2015

South East Coast Clinical Senate, Hospitals without acute stroke units - implications and
recommendations, January 2016

South East Coast Clinical Senate, The clinical co-dependencies of acute hospital services: a
Clinical Senate review, 2014

NICE, Stroke Rehabilitation in Adults, 2013

Proposals have been tested with many other clinicians to ensure they are robust:

Engagement events, such as the Kent and Medway clinical engagement event in November
2015 have provided an opportunity for clinicians to give feedback to help shape the
development of the Stroke Review.

The proposals have also been tested three times (at case for change, at options and at
preferred option) with the South East Coast Clinical Senate, whose role and responsibilities
are to provide expert clinical steer on proposals and ensure Stroke Review clinical proposals
are robust. These reports validate that there is a case for change to deliver better care more
effectively and that the proposed care models follow best practice. See Sections 7.2.1, 7.2.2
and 7.2.3 for more information.

The national director for stroke services, Professor Tony Rudd, has supported the
development of the proposal throughout the Stroke Review and has given on-going
guidance and support.

Prior to consultation, an independent chair of the Clinical Reference Group ensured that
discussions and proposals followed best practice guidelines and ensured the impartiality of
proposals.

7.5.3.2 Activities during and since consultation
The structure that is already in place has been maintained; providing clinical leadership and ensuring
that the clinical evidence base underpins the programme of work.

The stroke Clinical Reference Group has continued to meet to test and explore in more detail the
implementation implications of the Stroke Review’s proposals. As part of this work, this group has
taken forward the additional work recommended by the South East Coast Clinical Senate in its report
including around stroke rehabilitation (see Section 3.4) and mechanical thrombectomy®* (see Section
3.3.3). The Clinical Reference Group has also provided information and recommendations to the

135
Page 181


http://www.secsenate.nhs.uk/clinical-senate-advice/published-advice-and-recommendations/clinical-co-dependencies-acute-hospital-services-clinical-senate-review/
http://www.secsenate.nhs.uk/clinical-senate-advice/published-advice-and-recommendations/clinical-co-dependencies-acute-hospital-services-clinical-senate-review/

Stroke Programme Board to support the finalisation of proposals for change p it is expected that
they will continue to support and inform implementation planning once a decision on the preferred
option has been made.

As new clinical evidence, recommendations and best practice emerges, this will be used to inform
implementation of the Stroke Review’s proposals.

CCGs, as the leaders for commissioning services, are working together across Kent and Medway to
deliver care that meets the strokes clinical standards. All providers will be held to account against
these standards and local GPs in their clinical commissioning groups are putting in place processes to
ensure they are delivered. A clear clinician-led system based around peer review will be key to
ensuring that performance is transparent. In addition, a system, led by clinicians, will be put in place
to manage performance, so that benefits for patients can be delivered (see Section 10 for more
details).

7.5.4 Test 4 — Patient choice

This section outlines how the proposals may affect patient choice in accessing care. The changes
proposed by this Stroke Review aim to improve service delivery. To achieve this, it is proposed that
hyper acute and acute stroke units are developed, which will impact on the sites currently offering
hospital stroke services. Accessibility and the quality and safety of a service have been considered
when considering patient choice. Quality of service is ranked highest by local patients and clinicians
and, for patients, closely followed by access.

7.5.4.1 Work undertaken to date

The NHS Constitution outlines patients’ rights: “You have the right to make choices about your NHS
care and to information to support these choices. The options available to you will develop over
time and depend on your individual needs.”. Patient choice is of importance for non-emergency
services. Within the stroke patient pathway, choice will be a key consideration for rehabilitation
services, which people will want access as close to home as possible. However, the presumption of
choice is not required for non-elective services, as speedy access to diagnosis and treatment is
paramount®, For this reason, the Stroke Review has focussed on developing proposals that will
deliver safe, high quality care, and developing a more centralised service to do this where necessary.

7.5.4.2 Activities during and since consultation

Patient choice has continued to be considered by the Stroke Review and has continued to inform the
proposals where it is relevant (for example, for rehabilitation services). The proposals will continue
to be assessed for the impact on patient choice during implementation

136
Page 182



8 Assessing the implications of the preferred option

8.1

Description of preferred option

This section describes the preferred option for acute stroke services in Kent and Medway. More
detailed implementation plans are set out in Section 9. For the preferred option:

8.2

There will be higher quality, more consistent care in hospital for urgent stroke services,
particularly with the development of hyper acute and acute stroke units. This will provide
greater access to specialist staff and equipment and quicker treatment times. This is detailed
in Section 3.2.

There will be work undertaken to improve stroke prevention and rehabilitation services.
There will be a combined HASU/ASU unit at Darent Valley Hospital, Maidstone General
Hospital and William Harvey Hospital.

There will be no acute stroke services at Medway Hospital, Tunbridge Wells Hospital, Queen
Elizabeth the Queen Mother Hospital and Kent & Canterbury Hospital. Robust protocols will
be put in place to transfer any patient at a hospital without a HASU/ASU who is suspected of
having a stroke. It is also the expectation that patient who are taken to a HASU/ASU and
have not had a stroke (mimics) and people who have had a stroke but no longer require
specialist acute care will be expatriated to services in their local area as long as it is clinically
safe to do so.

Discussions are currently taking place in East Kent about options for the configuration of a
wider range of services. One of these options is a potential option for a major emergency
centre with all specialist services at Kent and Canterbury Hospital. Should the work in East
Kent identify that the major emergency centre will be at Kent and Canterbury Hospital then,
due to key clinical adjacencies, the location of the HASU for East Kent could be at either the
William Harvey Hospital or the Kent and Canterbury Hospital in future, subject to
consultation.

There will be an increase in specialist stroke staff including an estimated xx additional
consultants, xx additional nurses and xx additional therapists and an opportunity for more
nurses and allied health professionals to become stroke specialists [DN numbers to be
added].

Some patients will have to travel further for the urgent aspects of their stroke care, but no
more than 63 minutes. However, consolidating hospital stroke services will save lives and
reduce disability.

Activity implications

The activity implications for the preferred option can be shown as strokes, mimics and TIAs. This is
then converted into HASU and ASU beds using a set of assumptions on occupancy rates and of stay.
The required beds for each site in the preferred option are shown in Figure 59.

Figure 59: activity and bed numbers for the preferred option

137

Page 183



Site Strokes TIAs Mimics HASU beds ASU beds Total beds

DVH 807, 81 202 10 24 34
MGH 896 90 224 11 27 38
WHH 1239 123 309 14 38 52
Eastbourne* 94 9 24 1 3 4
Other outflows™ 18 4 0 1 1
Total 3,054 305 763 36 93 129)

*This is the activity and bed numbers for “K&M catchment area” strokes not the total activity seen — 45 of these
patients are currently seen at Eastbourne, despite TWH being closer

NOTES: Volume of stroke activity based on 3 years of provider data (2014/15 - 2016/187) and (2015/16 — 2017/18) , applying age- and deprivation-weighted incidence rates and assuming
patients all access the site offering stroke services with the shortest travel time (car, off-peak). Bed requirements calculated at 80% HASU occupancy and 90% ASU occupancy. Based on 20%
stroke activity has a HASU stay of 2 days. The remaining 80% of stroke activity has a HASU length of stay of 3 days. Two-thirds of stroke activity has an additional ASU stay of 15 days, with the

remaining third discharged after the initial HASU stay. Bed requirements include activity uplifts for TIA (@

with 1-day HASU stay) and Mimics (25%, with 2-day HASU stay)

SOURCE: Provider data returns (2014/15- 2016/17) and (2015/16 -2017/18)
and (2016), Carnall Farrar analysis

Basemap travel time data (car, off-peak), ONS population data (2015) and (2016), IMD deprivation data (2015)

The largest HASU/ASU will be at the William Harvey hospital, where there will be just over 1200
strokes and a unit of 52 beds. There will be similar sized HASU/ASUs of around 800 strokes (34 beds)
at Darent Valley Hospital and around 900 strokes (38 beds) at Maidstone General Hospital. There
will be a small number of just under 100 strokes (4 beds) seen at the HASU/ASU at Eastbourne
District General Hospital (these strokes are only patients who are from the Kent and Medway
catchment area, not the total number of strokes seen at EDGH).

The flow of activity from current sites to the future HASU/ASUs are shown in Figure 60. This shows
that the strokes from current units will often throw to multiple other units once HASU/ASUs are
established in addition, it is expected that around 200 strokes (eight beds) of strokes that are
currently seen at the Princess Royal University Hospital (which is already a HASU) will be seen at
Darent Valley Hospital once it is established as a HASU/ASU.

Figure 60: flow of activity for the preferred option
Current site

Maidstone Tunbridge Medway William
32;3?:;3“&){ General Wells Maritime Harvey Stf?ni':al
P Hospital Hospital Hospital Hospital P

Darent Valley Hospital* 604 0 93 110 0 0

Maidstone Gene_ral 0 314 197 385 0 0
Hospital

William Harvey Hospital 0 0 21 7 643 568
Princess Royal

University Hospital 0 0 2 0 0 0

Eastbourne Hospital** 0 0 94 0 0 0

East Surrey Hospital 0 0 18 0 0 0

* 209 of these strokes (8 beds) are currently seen at PRUH despite DVH being closer. It is anticipated that these
strokes will flow to DVH when it is a HASU/ASU.
**45 of these strokes (2 beds) are currently seen at Eastbourne, despite TWH being closer

8.2.1 Estates plans
Detailed estates plans have been developed by the providers to show where the new facilities will
be located on each hospital site. These are shown in Figure 61, Figure 62 and Figure 63. Further
details can be found in the trust business cases in Appendix K.

138

Page 184



Figure 61: estates plans for William Harvey Hospital

N\ S

¢ MRIand CT expansion (242sqm)
* Extension to Emergency
Department and 1 additional //

resus bay (255sqm)

*  New Stroke Ward (1666sqm) ///‘ v
/
+  1bed ITU expansion (61sqm) /IA~ V4

SPRUCE
WARD

BED SPACES
EN SUITES/ WC/ BATHROOMS

ANCILLARY SPACES

THERAPY SPACES

OFFICES

CIRCULATION

Figure 63: estates plans for Maidstone General Hospital
[DN being finalised by MTW]

8.3 Travel and access implications
Clinicians recognise the importance of access to AHSU/ASU for the local population and at the very
earliest stages of the Stroke Review agreed that travel and access would be a key element to the

development of the recommendation. Section 4.3.6, 4.4.2.2 and 6.2.2 describe how travel analysis
was used during the process to identify the options that were taken to public consultation and the

139

Page 185



preferred option. This section describes the travel time impact on the preferred option in more
detail.

8.3.1 Feedback from consultation
Travel times were the key area of concern for people during the consultation. Issues that were raised
include:

e travel times are too long

e travel times stated are unrealistic

e impact on people visiting stroke patients

e impact on deprived populations

e whether the ambulance service can cope with increased travel times

The consideration and response to these issues can be found in Section 5.3.3 and 8.4.4.

During consultation, questions were also raised about the impact on people in Thanet where travel
times will be the longest. This issue is explored in further detail in Section 8.3.3.

8.3.2 Travel times for the preferred option

The travel times to access current acute stroke services (none of which are HASU/ASU services in
Kent and Medway) are shown in Figure 64. This shows that currently everyone (100%) can access
current acute stroke services within 60 minutes and almost everyone (99.8%) can access services
with 45 minutes.

Figure 64: travel times to current acute stroke services (blue light)

Queen's :
(Romford)
+

Basildon
Hospital

p o) INHS Medway
CCG Queen Contain ©
St George's . Darent) b = Elizabeth Queen Copynght a
+ (Hospital) _ o Mother Hospitaly

Princess Royal [NHS! Dartford’ N R Legend

University . .
Hospital raveshamfand = < 15 minutes
P Swanley CCG y .3

15 to 30 minutes

NHS, Canterbury g::::r::rv 30 to 45 minutes

and Coastal CCG i i
‘I:wsp'vv.h\ 45 to 60 minutes

- > 80 minutes

East Surrey. + Hospital not offering service

Hospital

- Hospital offering service

1 +  Peripheral hospital site
NHS.

South Kent ' I: CCG boundary
Coast CCG.

MOTT
MACDONALD

Kent and Medway IIA
Brighton {Royal
Sussex County
Hospital) Stroke Baseline

Eastb
" n:ssp:::me Car Off Peak travel times
o

0 | 02102016 | CR_| For Infornaion Wt | FF

(Containe D= d3te % S0 Copynght 310 23% ase ngte 2015 | Rev ONi:  jomien] Duacapion. Caa| App'd

r T Y

pme — & 5 » 1:390.000

Source: Mott MacDonald

140

Page 186



The travel times to a HASU/ASU for the preferred option are shown in Figure 65. This shows that
almost everyone (98.3%) can access services within 60 minutes and most people (92.4%) can access
services within 45 minutes. The maximum travel time is 63.5 minutes.

Figure 65: travel times to HASU/ASU for the preferred option (blue light)

Queen's,
(Romford)
+

Basildon
Hospital

King's
+

Quee:

StGeorge's b & Elizaboth Queen
¥ Mother Hospital
Rita,

e Royal . ’ Y { 0N, Legend

niversity. 1 A L NHS/Thanet

Hospital AMENCy % Gl y - < 15 minutes
+ e ;

15 to 30 minutes

NHS Canterbury  Gentorory
s

ahd Coastal’CCGy Hospital
+

30 to 45 minutes
45 to 60 minutes
I > 50 minutes
+ Hospital not offering service
Hospital offering service

East Surrey
fiozpitat Kent/CCG
Tunbridge

+ Peripheral site

: CCG boundary

MOTT
MACDONALD

Kent and Medway IIA

Brighton (Royal
Sussex County
:ospuan Stroke Preferred Option

Eastbolrne
Hospital Car Off Peak travel times

O | 027102016 | CR_ | ForInformation W | FF

Contains S dste & Cown Copingrtasd axacase nzfi 2016 | Rev | Date |orawn | Descopton chKd| Acp'd
T I
e e—— o 10 = P 1:390.000

Source: Mott MacDonald

Further information on travel times can be found in the integrated impact assessment (Appendix S)
and in Appendix D.

8.3.3  Travel times for the Thanet population

Concerns have been raised regarding the extended travel time for the Thanet population, especially
from deprived areas. Of Thanet’s population, 83% will be able to access a HASU/ASU in 60 minutes,
with the average time being 55 minutes and the maximum travel time being 63 minutes. It is
important to understand that whilst the changes will result in some patients having to travel
further to access some stroke services, this will be offset by the quality benefits of having access to
a streamlined and fully resourced hyper acute stroke unit on arrival at hospital. Negative impacts
associated with increased journey times include increased stress and anxiety, increased costs
associated with travel for relatives and carers and a lack of acceptable alternative transport
methods. However, the positive health impacts from the proposed changes, including improved
clinical outcomes, are likely to be experienced disproportionately by this group due to their higher
propensity to require stroke services. The impact of increased travel times will be felt mainly by
visitors and carers who will need to travel further to visit patients, rather than patients who will
experience improved care and outcomes despite travelling further to access services.

There have been detailed discussion ways to mitigate or reduce the effect of this increased travel
time. This are shown in detail in Appendix A.iii (this list is being reviewed and updated at an
integrated impact assessment workshop with key stakeholders in December 2018) and include:

141

Page 187



e Afocus on health promotion and prevention particularly for deprived populations as a way
of reducing the number of people having a stroke and therefore requiring treatment.

e Close monitoring of activity and outcome information during implementation and beyond to
ensure that quality standards are being met and the benefits of the changes are being
realised, especially for deprived populations.

e  Work with voluntary transport services to ensure remote and deprived populations can
access services and visit patients.

e Review of the cost/availability of car parking spaces for patients and carers as part of the
implementation of the plans.

8.4 Equalities implications

8.4.1 Introduction

An integrated impact assessment on the preferred option was undertaken in September 2018. A
copy of this report can be found at Appendix S. This was an update to the integrated impact
assessment that was undertaken prior to consultation on the five options for consultation. A copy of
that report can be found at Appendix CC.

The purpose of the integrated impact assessment is to explore the potential positive and negative
consequences of the proposals. The following have been conducted as part of the integrated impact
assessment:

1. Health impact assessment (HIA)

2. Travel and access impact assessment

3. Equality impact assessment (EqglA) (in which the impacts of the proposals on protected

characteristic groups and deprived communities are assessed)
4. Sustainability impact assessment.

The following protected characteristic groups (per the Equality Act 2010) were found to be
potentially impacted by the preferred option and were therefore considered as part of the work:
age, disability, pregnancy and maternity, sex and race. Deprivation was also considered as there are
some deprived populations within Kent and Medway, although it is not a protected characteristic.

8.4.2 Feedback from consultation
During the consultation, there was a focus on ensuring that people from impacted groups with
protected characteristics were represented in the feedback received. Activities included:

e Qutreach engagement with hard to reach groups.

e Telephone survey of underrepresented groups.

e Production of materials in different formats including easy read and translations into other
languages.

e Distribution of materials through a range of locations including GP surgeries, public libraries
and pharmacies.

The main area of concern raised during consultation (that is relevant to the integrated impact

assessment) is longer travel times to access services for patients and for carers, particularly for
deprived or elderly populations.

142

Page 188



8.4.3 Overall impact of preferred option

The impact assessment concluded that the proposed changes will have a positive impact on patient
outcomes and remove the variation currently experienced across Kent and Medway. The
consolidation of workforce resources will support the three hyper acute and acute stroke units to
sustainably achieve recommended workforce standards. Increased consultant presence is associated
with positive outcomes for patients. While the changes will result in some patients having to travel
further to access some stroke services, it is considered that this is offset by the quality benefits of
having access to a streamlined and fully resourced hyper acute stroke unit on arrival.

However, with activity for stroke services being consolidated into fewer hospitals, there is a possible
risk that capacity could become constrained within these units. This could, in turn, have a negative
impact on the responsiveness, safety, and quality of patient care. It is also important to consider that
if links with other clinically dependent services are not appropriately maintained, this has the
potential to negatively impact on the safety of patient care.

Whilst the proposed changes will create a more sustainable workforce for providing stroke care, the
reconfiguration of stroke services could bring challenges for some staff. This could result in negative
impacts such as increased staff turnover and the loss of current expertise.

The assessment also considered the sustainability impact of each proposal. The preferred option has
a very small negative impact on greenhouse gas emissions.

8.4.4 Impact on travel and access for protected (and deprived) populations
People from the most deprived quintile will be disproportionally impacted by the proposed changes
in terms of travel and access, compared to the general population. This is shown in Figure 66.

Figure 66: preferred option travel time by blue light ambulance (protected characteristics plus
deprivation)

Population overall 69.6% -19.9% 92.4% -7.4%
Females aged 16-44 71.5% -17.9% 93.2% -6.7%
Population with LLTI 66.2% -22.2% 89.9% -9.8%
Most deprived quintile 61.8% -22.9% 81.3% -18.7%
Population aged 65 65.1% -22.8% 90.5% -9.1%
and over

Males 69.7% -19.7% 92.5% -7.3%
BAME population 78.0% -13.4% 94.5% -5.4%

Source: Basemap travel time data, UK Census 2011/ MYE 2016/IMD 2015

Negative impacts associated with increased journey times for equality groups include increased
stress and anxiety, increased costs associated with travel and lack of acceptable alternative transport
methods. However, the positive health impacts from the proposed changes, including improved
clinical outcomes, are likely to also be experienced disproportionately by this group due to their
higher propensity to require stroke services. The impact of increased travel times will be felt by
visitors and carers who will need to travel further to visit patients, rather than patients who will
experience improved care and outcomes despite travelling further to access services.

143

Page 189



8.4.5 Mitigations

A detailed list of potential ways in which to enhance opportunities and to mitigate or reduce the
effect of the potential negative impacts identified in the equality impact assessment has been
developed against the key impacts identified across health outcomes, service impacts,
implementation, communications and travel and access. These include:

e Afocus on health promotion and prevention particularly for deprived populations as a way
of reducing the number of people having a stroke and therefore requiring treatment.

e Close monitoring of activity and outcome information during implementation and beyond to
ensure that quality standards are being met and the benefits of the changes are being
realised, especially for deprived populations.

e Engagement with stroke care staff to support them through the changes and encourage
them to remain in Kent and Medway.

e Continued engagement and clear communication with the public to ensure they understand
the changes and where to access services.

e Work with voluntary transport services to ensure remote and deprived populations can
access services and visit patients.

e Review of the cost/availability of car parking spaces for patients and carers as part of the
implementation of the plans.

Prior to consultation, these mitigations were discussed in depth by the Clinical Reference Group
(health and travel and access impact) and an Integrated Impact Assessment Task and Finish Group
(equalities and communication) and agreed by the Joint Committee of CCGs. The updated Integrated
Impact Assessment was reviewed in detail by the Clinical Reference Group, the Stroke Programme
Board and the Joint Committee of CCGs. It was also considered by a range of stakeholders including
patients, patient representatives, clinicians and local authority staff at an Integrated Impact
Assessment workshop.

A detailed list of the impacts and mitigations can be found in Appendix A.iii (these will be reviewed
and updated at a workshop with key stakeholders in December 2018).

8.5 Workforce implications

Workforce changes will be required to support delivery of the clinical standards for hyper acute and
acute stroke services. This will require an estimated additional [DN to add] whole time equivalent
(WTE) staff, including the filling of a range of new and enhanced roles. A fundamental part of
achieving the clinical standards and clinical service delivery model will be recruiting, upskilling and
retaining an appropriately skilled workforce across Kent and Medway. In order to deliver the
recommended changes a fundamental shift is required towards integrated and proactive care. This
will require new skills, competencies and enhanced roles working across stroke pathways and in
partnership with primary, community and third sector partners.

8.5.1 Feedback on workforce during consultation and beyond

During consultation, there were concerns raised about workforce. These were many around
concerning the shortage of specialist staff and whether it would be possible to recruit enough staff
especially given national shortages. Questions were also raised whether additional staff could be
recruited to allow additional eight HASU/ASU to be opened. This issue is addressed in Section 5.3.3.

144

Page 190



Following consultation, four staff face-to-face engagement sessions were held with 43 members of
staff from across nine organisations in attendance. Forty-five members of staff also completed an
online survey. The questions focussed on three main areas:

1. How are you feeling about the consultation?

2. What are your concerns and fears?

3. What are the challenges?

From this engagement, four key themes emerged:

e Rehabilitation and social services: staff wanted to know about the rehabilitation plan and
how this will be a seamless pathway back to the community. They were concerned about
the resources required for rehabilitation and the importance of social service input in care
planning.

e Staffing/workforce: plans to recruit into current vacancy and incorporate new roles and
career pathways. In addition, staff wanted to know about education and development for
new and existing staff.

e Decision-making process: staff wanted to know about the process for choosing a preferred
option for the location of the HASU/ASUs and the impact on hospitals that were not
selected. Redeployment opportunities for staff working at sites that are not selected.

e Equitable quality of care: regardless of where patients live, whether SECAmb have the
capacity to respond within an acceptable timeframe given the distance some patients will
live from a HASU/ASU.

Several other pieces of work have been undertaken since consultation to further develop workforce
plans and ensure continued clinical input:
e The Clinical Reference Group have undertaken a more detailed consideration of the impact
on the workforce
e A Stroke Workforce Group consisting of provider clinical and operational leads supported by
the STP workforce team has developed the Kent and Medway workforce plan
e East Kent University Hospitals Foundation Trust has led work with the University of Keele to
develop a minimum competency for all acute stroke staff in Kent and Medway,
undertaking detailed bottom up assessment of current workforce competency against future
requirements

Communication and engagement with staff throughout consultation through staff engagement
events and briefings and following the decision to proceed with reconfiguration, in planning and
through transition is a core component of the communications plan (see Section 9.5). The changes
being proposed may cause uncertainty amongst staff and there will be information that will need to
be provided to help staff understand and contribute to the reconfiguration.

8.5.2 The current stroke workforce

Stroke services are composed of several different staff groups working together as a
multidisciplinary team to deliver care to stroke patients. Stroke is a consultant-led service supported
by medical staff, nursing, physiotherapy, occupational therapy, speech and language therapy,
dieticians and clinical psychologists. The baseline whole time equivalent workforce numbers in post
for stroke services at each current site is shown in Figure 67.

145

Page 191



Figure 67: stroke workforce baseline - Kent and Medway
[DN to be added]

8.5.3 Current workforce challenges

Workforce has been identified as a key constraint to providing stroke services in Kent and Medway.
Nationally there are workforce challenges within stroke services; with 40% of stroke consultant roles
vacant®. There are also national and Kent and Medway challenges within other clinical professions
such as nursing and allied health professionals. It is expected that both turnover and vacancy rates
will improve within stroke services with the introduction of HASU/ASUs as a result of improved
career pathways and developmental opportunities such as the introduction of advanced clinical
practitioner roles and interdisciplinary training and education. The reduction of duplication of
workload and effort through the introduction of new roles such as Clinical Assistants (administrative
staff working with the medical teams to follow up administrative tasks) will also help to improve the
position.

8.5.4 Workforce gap analysis

Consultant and other clinical staff numbers used to assess the gap have been calculated using NHS
South East Strategic Clinical Network Stroke Service Specification guidelines and are based on the
recommended ratio of activity to clinical cover.

8.5.4.1 Consultants

Figure 68 shows the gap for consultants in post for the three sites in the preferred option. Required
consultant numbers have been calculated using NHS South East Clinical Network Stroke Service
Specification guidelines and are based on recommended ratio of activity to medical cover, as set out
in Section 3.5.1. This shows that xx consultants are required with xx currently in post leaving a gap of
xx to be recruited [DN to be updated].

Figure 68: gap analysis for preferred option (consultants)
[DN to be added]

Other stroke clinical staff

Figure 69 shows the gap for other stroke clinical staff for the three sites in the preferred option.
Required staff numbers have been calculated using NHS South East Clinical Networks Stroke Service
Specification clinical standards, as set out in Section 3.5.1. Sensitivity analysis has also been
undertaken to understand the impact of different numbers of staff moving between sites. This
shows that up to an additional xx registered nurses will be required plus a large increase in all
therapists [DN to be added].

Figure 69: gap analysis for preferred option (other stroke clinical staff)
[DN to be added]

8.5.4.2 Wider workforce

Further engagement in modelling will be required with the wider workforce that support stroke
services such as mental health and diagnostics. This will be undertaken as part of the transitional
planning through engagement workshops with staff within services. Engagement will also be
undertaken with the Stroke Association to consider the role of volunteers within the new model of
care.

146

Page 192



8.6  Financial impact of preferred option
[To be added following provider business case sign off]

147

Page 193



9 Implementation plan

Any decision to proceed with the preferred options is dependent on decisions taken by the JCCCG.
However, in order to take a decision to proceed, the JCCCG needs to be assured that detailed
implementation plans are in place. With that in mind, the Stroke Review has developed a more
detailed implementation plan for the preferred option to show how the transition would take place.
Following decision-making, it is expected that some transition time would be required to set up
governance arrangements and finalise plans to progress implementation, but this time will be kept
as short as possible to support early implementation.

9.1 Outline programme implementation plan

The local ambition is to implement the new services as quickly as possible whilst ensuring that
quality and patient safety are not compromised. Several planning principles were agreed to support
the development of a detailed implementation plan:

e To assess the ability of site operational teams to accommodate the transition based on
seasonal variation in demand and staffing shortfalls

e To recognise the risk of closing units becoming unsustainable due to an inability to retain
and recruit staff

e To reflect the projected flows between hospitals and the impact on activity, beds, travel
time and workforce over the transition period

e To understand the impact of a phased approach on the workforce, ambulance service and
patients

The key constraints for implementation of the plans are the lead time for capital developments, the
flows of activity between hospital sites (i.e. that capacity is ready in a HASU/ASU when an adjacent

acute stroke service is closed) and the availability of the workforce to staff units.

The lead time for capital developments was explored in detail and it was agreed that the earliest
dates capital would be ready were:

e William Harvey Hospital: January 2021
e Darent Valley Hospital: end December 2019
e Maidstone General Hospital: end October 2019

This is shown in detail in Figure 70.

148

Page 194



Figure 70: shortest capital development timelines for each hospital site

The earliest estates could be fully completed is early 2021 with MGH CEI—
first, then DVH, then WHH I CIN—

The flow of activity between sites was also reviewed and modelling showed that there are two
distinct areas of flows, with only a small flow between East and West Kent. This is shown in Figure
71.

149

Page 195



Figure 71: flows of activity between East and West Kent

There are two small areas of activity that switch between East and West Kent

Blue = Wiliam Harvey Hospital calchment area

3 wHH catchmant area In the baseling

B Oter nospitsl catchment area in baseline
(QEQM. TWH and MGH)

Red = Msidatone General Hosptal calchmeant area

[0 MGH catchment area in the baseline

[ Other nospital catchment area In baselne (MMH
and TWH)

Green = Darent Valley Mospital catchment area
[J OVH caichmant area in the daseling
B Other hospital catchment area in baseline (MMH
and TWH)

Purple = Eastbourne District Hospital calchment area
[0 EOGH catchment area in the baseline
B Oter nospital catchenent area In basaling (TWH)

Grey = Princess Royal University Hospital calchment ared
[ OVH caichment area in the baseline
[l Other hospital catchment area In baselne (TWH)

QOrange = East Surrey Hospital catchment area
[0 ESH catchment area in the baseline
B Other hospital caschment area in baselne (TWH)

Thare ara two
pockets where
actsity previously
seen in MMH (7
patients) and TWH

{21 patients)
would flow to WHH
In future f\
URCE: Bsenap dara 20017/18, KAM Trust retuers 2015/16 - 2017/18 \J

This means that virtually all the acute stroke activity that is currently seen at Queen Elizabeth, the
Queen Mother Hospital and Kent and Canterbury Hospital is expected to flow to William Harvey
Hospital once it becomes a HASU/ASU. Conversely, virtually all the acute stroke activity that is
currently seen at Tunbridge Wells Hospital and Medway Hospital is expected to flow to either Darent
Valley Hospital or Maidstone General Hospital once they become HASU/ASUs. A small amount of
activity from Tunbridge Wells Hospital is also expected to flow to Eastbourne hospital. This
containment of flows of activity in two separate areas means that it is possible to implement the
proposed changes in a two-step approach.

Clinicians agreed that there should be a two-phased approach to implementation. As outlined
above, it was agreed that a one phase approach (implementation in early 2021 when WHH is ready)
would not be explored further because:
* There are very few flows between East and West Kent
*  Waiting for the estates in East Kent would delay benefits for patients in West Kent for 12-18
months

A two-phase plan was agreed where the HASU/ASUs at MGH and DVH go live in March 2020

followed by WHH in Spring 2021. This is shown in Figure 72 alongside the potential risks and
mitigations for this approach.

150

Page 196



Figure 72: two phase approach

A two phase plan was agreed where the HASUs at MGH and DVH go live in
March 2020 followed by WHH in Spring 2021

Sy

A

% .wé o

L)

Hmaw

"- Phase 1: Med/TWH close and
nt configuration
MGHIDVH open early 2020

Consideration Consequence

Siroke serdces af « Unexpected closure al Medway or TWH + Theteis spare capaciy #1 MGH which could
Medway and TWH will | « Staff may be lost i they are working for & closing site B used, If required

nisied 10 B maintained +  Oplions 1o sustain services such as night
Tar an addilional & cloging are baing explored

rramihs +  Work is being underaken to give staff

assurances abaul their future warkplace
* Jaint contracts between closing and opening
units ane being explared

There will be a delay | = Benafits from the model of care are delayed for patients |« Service improvements will start earlier than
in apening capacity #1 if the MEH, and some of the Medway catchment thie HASL launch
MEH which will be «  The delay in realising the benefits of the cansultation «  The capetity at MGH could be used
ready in October 2019 may impact on staff and key slakehclder buy-in 1o temporarily for siher services during Winter
bt not Lsed wntil change 2018
March 2020 = There is a risk that MGH capacity will be used for olher

Services

Three-stage approaches were considered, as follows:

e implementation as soon as estates are ready
e Tunbridge Wells Hospital closes as soon as Maidstone General Hospital is ready

These approaches were rejected because:
o They are complex and likely to cause confusion for patients and the ambulance service.
e There is a high risk that units will be overwhelmed if patients don’t flow as
expected/directed (particularly at DVH, the PRUH and MGH).
e There are number of mitigations that can be put in place to reduce the risk of services at
TWH, Medway and QEQM becoming unsustainable (night closing, joint contracts for staff,
etc).

The two-phase implementation timeline was considered in the light of potential availability of
workforce to staff units. It was agreed that units will need to be accredited before becoming a
hazard/adding and that recruitment of workforce will be very important in gaining this accreditation.
Final accreditation criteria will be agreed as part of implementation and will include:

* Capacity available
* Beds
* Diagnostics
» Staffing in place
*  Consultants
*  Nurses

151

Page 197



* Therapists
* Risk management system in place
* Simulation exercise completed

9.2 Keyimplementation activities and programme plan
There are several activities that will need to take place following a decision, as part of
implementation.

Workstream __ ActivitiesRequired

Workforce Leadership

e A Stroke Clinical Lead and enhanced Stroke programme leadership is
being implemented to support the leadership of the Stroke
programme

e Stroke implementation workforce principles being agreed for a one
Kent and Medway team approach to workforce activities

e Leadership development and change support package being
developed for Stroke leaders to support staff through change

e Kent and Medway stroke team development programme
development

e Kent and Medway OD toolkit to support local team development

Engagement

e Regular site staff briefings undertaken to update on implementation
and decision making

e Staff engagement sessions (incorporated into team development as
launched)

e Staff pulse surveys undertaken (quarterly)

e Frequently asked questions regularly updated

e Site staff open sessions by K&M Stroke leadership teams across
transition

Attraction and retention
e Kent and Medway presence at Stroke national recruitment event
e Kent and Medway Stroke Recruitment campaign developed
e Kent and Medway attraction offer as part of K&M Workforce Strategy
development (Stroke included)

Education and training
e East Kent analysis from bottom up competency assessment
undertaken, to be applied across Kent and Medway and identify
opportunities for workforce redesign and upskilling
e Kent and Medway Competency Framework developed
e Kent and Medway multidisciplinary education programme and
platform developed to upskill current workforce

New roles development
e STP Deputy Director of Nursing Workforce commence to work with
stroke teams on new role development at scale with HEE
e Rotation development and launched

152

Page 198



Workstream Activities Required

e Focus on growth of Clinical Assistants, Nurse Associates, Advanced
Clinical Practitioners at scale

e STP Academy of Health and Social Care launch for career
development, apprenticeships and new and enhanced role
development at scale

e Kent and Medway Stroke career pathway developed and launched

Operations - Co-ordinate the further development and implementation of clinical
pathways including visits to HASUs and staff/patient planning sessions

- Support implementation through the tracking of co-dependent work
relevant to the delivery of the HASUs (e.g. inpatient rehabilitation)

- Co-ordinating and aligning work across the providers including the
ambulance service

- Model the TIA service demand across the system in further detail, finalise
plans and confirm technology requirements

- Implement pathways for those self-presenting with stroke at non-HASU
sites, those suffering from a stroke as an inpatient, those requiring
admission without a stroke and those needing to be repatriated following
the ASU phase of their care.

- Confirm the peaks and trough in bed requirements including seasonal
variations and create supporting plans

- ldentify and procure additional equipment requirements

- Pilot new processes ahead of transition

- Plan the re-use of closing wards

Estates - Refine plans further with staff and patients input into design and
requirements

- Confirm planning permission through detailed planning submissions and
working with local borough councils

- Establish contingency plans to facilitate an earlier reconfiguration of
services if required

- Commence estates development as per the plans as soon as funding is
secured and operationally feasible

Finance - Use central financial model to provide underlying activity and finance
assumptions for business case, including the period of double running

- Clear process for measuring benefits and baseline measuring (including IT
requirements)

- Agree CCG funding to provide best practice care is incorporated into
contracts

PMO - Oversight of the plan’s implementation and support for provider sites

- Maintenance of a central risk register, ensuring ownership and mitigation
of system wide risks

- Establishing and running the benefits realisation monitoring and
evaluation of the programme

- Continuing to manage the relationship with key stakeholders

- Ensure that equalities are considered across the programme and
recommendations from the IIA are actioned

- Establish a travel advisory group and co-ordinate the implementation of
any recommendations

Comms - Co-ordinating the communication of the changes to the public and key
stakeholders

- Ensuring a consistent approach to general communications across all sites

153

Page 199



Workstream Activities Required

- Specific communications at the sites depending on the future service
provision, including regular updates and transition notices

- Promoting the opportunities to participate in the design of the new
service, ensuring the inclusion of those at closing sites

- The use of suggestion boxes in current units to capture staff and patient
thoughts about the new service

- FAQs and key lines to support staff engagement events

As part of the overall approach to implementation, it is recognised that the Stroke Review will need
to continue to have regard to the public sector equality duty. Further detailed information on the
integrated impact assessment including the equalities impact assessment that was undertaken pre-
consultation can be found in Section 8.4.

A programme plan has been developed, assuming a decision to proceed at the JCCCG in January
2019. This is shown in Figure 73.

154

Page 200



TOzZ abed

Figure 73: implementation programme plan

I Pre-gecision

peustevew SIS ESE tuotuo

Jan 19 Marid Apr 19 May 19 June 19 July 19 Aug 19 Sept 19

Draf conmessonng intorsons and develop vaniatons
Sy phamed Ty aach CCGsgnoff

ST

imglamert M&T grogamme

155

Oct 19

Nov1s | Dec 19 | Jan20 | Feb20

Trarsfor of actvity and staff from dasing sites

Mar 20 Jan 21

Dev. of estye (now buld -

Corsngercy Vautry seckr mobhised

Tranng / dadie rurming




9.3 Governance arrangements for implementation

Clear, consistent and effective governance arrangements at all levels across the system wide
implementation will be key to manage risks and dependencies across the providers. The governance
arrangements will build on the governance structures and processes that have been in place to allow
the Stroke Review. The structure for implementation is shown in Figure 74.

Figure 74: governance structure for implementation

Governance structure for implementation

Direct reporting line
""""""" Provide input/sign-off, as required
Updated on progress and asked for feedback

STP Growps [5TP Clinical and
Professional Board,

Programme Board, Estates,
‘ IMET

Workforce [l Rehabilitation Stroke Finance Operational Stroke Clinical
Group Wuleing ywp Working group Plnnnlng Group Reference Group
______________________________________________________________________________________ CRGand Adhoc clinical
apg T&F groups
: “”"" ned (a5 required)
(0 e P Local Care Social Care Trust stroke steering groups m :' ""
Board reablement

Oversight of the implementation process will be the responsibility of the relevant governance groups
within each of the Kent and Medway CCGs. The JCCCG will continue to meet during implementation
to ensure that implementation is progressing as planned and that all statutory responsibilities
continue to be met. Governance arrangements will have clear links with the CCG governance
arrangements to ensure that implementation plans across sectors are aligned.

A Stroke Programme Board was established in January 2015 and will become a Stroke Review
Implementation Board to oversee the development and implementation of the new model.
Throughout implementation, it will meet monthly to provide direction, ensure effective co-
ordination, resolve issues and manage risks and interdependencies. The Stroke Review
Implementation Board will include senior representatives from the CCGs and affected Trusts as well
as leads for each of the workstreams, representatives from primary care, public health, the Stroke
Association and Healthwatch. It will ensure that the K&M Stroke Services Review fulfills the aim of
the review and make recommendations on to the JCCCG on the implementation of the clinical model
and commissioning recommendations for the whole stroke pathway.

A senior responsible officer for the Stroke Review has been appointed and will take on overall
accountability for the implementation. They will be responsible for ensuring effective working
relationships across Kent and Medway in planning and implementing the changes. A Clinical Lead
will be appointed to provide leadership across the stroke network, chair the Clinical Reference
Group and support the implementation of the changes.

156

Page 202



Several workstreams will be established to lead on both the planning and development required to
support changes to service provision. This includes:

* Stroke Clinical Reference Group: To provide oversight, advice and clinical leadership to the
K&M Implementation of the Stroke Review. To act as a reference group to the K&M Stroke
Review and provide recommendations to the Stroke Programme Board. To ensure that any
recommendations for the implementation planning are aligned to relevant clinical pathways.

*  Operational Planning Group: To develop Trust implementation plans and co-ordinate
between the Trusts. To facilitate data collection. To act as a communicator from the
programme back to the Trusts

* Stroke Finance Working Group: To provide financial oversight and leadership to the K&M
Stroke Review. To maintain the central financial model to provide underlying activity and
finance assumptions for business cases. To agree commissioning intentions and variations
for the phased approach.

* Rehabilitation Working Group: to develop the business case for stroke rehabilitation
services and oversee the implementation.

*  Workforce Group: To lead on workforce modelling. To develop a pan K&M workforce
strategy, job plans, recruitment process and training plan. To develop leadership dev. and
support package

* Communications and Engagement Group: To co-ordinate communications and engagement
during implementation. To organise and run engagement events

* Travel Advisory Group: To recommend to the Stroke Review Implementation Board
improvements to patient and public travel arrangements

The Stroke Review Implementation Board will maintain its own project work plan and risk register,
which is included within the CCG’s overall risk management arrangements. This will provide a
framework for the management of risk through rigorous governance arrangements and regular
review by the STP Programme Board. Performance metrics will be developed to track and manage
progress against key milestones, while maintaining service safety and quality, and used by the Stroke
and STP Programme Boards to monitor progress.

The implementation plans for changes to individual sites will be developed at site level with the
Stroke Review providing an overarching coordination of dependencies and timelines. A critical part
of the development of plans and management of implementation will be the clinical quality
assurance that will run throughout the work. Each provider Trust will have an internal project
structure including a Steering Group which will co-ordinate the implementation of the Review within
the Trust. These groups will report into the Operational Planning Group. Provider Trusts will also
appoint a lead clinician to oversee the changes within their Trust; these clinicians will be part of the
Clinical Reference Group.

Commissioning intentions include the expectation that services can deliver key targets including full
implementation of the stroke model. All eight local Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) are aligned
in their local plans for stroke prevention and care. The commissioning of stroke services is moving
towards whole pathway planning for stroke patients to receive optimum services in a timely manner
and in the most appropriate setting with clear repatriation and discharge criteria.

The South East Coast Cardiovascular Network (which includes stroke) will support implementation,

and delivery of improved stroke services across the south east is one of its key objectives for 2017-
2019%,

157

Page 203



9.4 Implementation risks

The consolidation of clinical services across organisations brings risks which will need to be carefully
managed throughout implementation and beyond. Risks are identified at all levels within the
programme and are noted on a central risk register, held by the PMO. Risks are then rated based on
their probability and impact, as shown in Figure 75. During implementation, the Stroke Review
Implementation Board will take responsibility for managing risks supported by other groups who will
regularly review risks to delivery.

Figure 75: risk rating matrix

+ All implementation risks and agreed will be collated on a central programme risk register
« This will be reviewed at every implementation planning group and stroke programme boards

STP Risk Register Matrix:

Probability Insignificant Minor Moderate Major Catastrophic
Percentage 0-20% 20 - 40 % 40 — 60 % 60 — 80 % 80 — 100 %
Chance
Percentage
Probability Chance Score
Rare 0-20%
Unlikely 20 - 40 %
. —
Probability Possible 40 - 60 %
Likely 60 - 80 %
Almost 80 - 100 %

certain

Figure 76 sets out the risks identified to date. They have been reviewed by all the groups within the
programme as well as during a risk focused workshop. The risks are regularly reviewed and are
updated when new risks are identified or amendments are required.

Figure 76: risks identified to date

Clinical quality is not Medical e Establish clinical governance
maintained prior to directors of systems around changes to /
implementation Trusts transfer of services — agree

KPIs and plan for staged and
safe transfer (developed as
part of the implementation
decision making framework)

e Plan the double running of
services during transition

e Ensure quality metrics are
tracked post-change so any
undesirable trends (e.g.
sudden dip in performance
as a result of increase in

158

Page 204



Retention of the clinical
workforce at the non-
HASU/ASUs becomes
increasingly difficult due to
low staff morale and
uncertainty in the system

activity) can be identified
early

Difficulties recruiting the
number of clinical staff
required (with the right
skills and experience) to
staff the HASU/ASU and/or
staff not transferring
between sites

Comms and
engagement
team

Trust
directors of
HR

Develop communications
and engagement plan for
the implementation phase
that specifically considers
messaging to staff
Ongoing programme of
clinical engagement
Transactional changes to
provider trusts, building
greater security for staff

Activity is moved to
providers before they have

the capacity or capability to

respond to demand

Medical
directors of
Trusts
Trust
directors of
HR

Mapping of current
workforce skills to future
workforce skills to identify
gap and how current
workforce can be best
utilised

Early determination of new
roles with creative thinking
to fill gaps

Programme to convert
agency staff to permanent
Increased rotation of staff,
including from outside
stroke services

Further development of
Trust workforce
development and retention
strategies

Agreed competency
framework for all stroke
staff across Kent and
Medway

Identification of potential
ways to recruit from
overseas

Working collaboratively with
new medical school and
deanery on doctors training

Trust
directors of
HR

Modelling has considered
the capacity requirements at
each site

Work with the Trust HR/STP
workstream to ensure the

Page 205




right skilled workforce are in
place to support change
Develop implementation
plans that identify capacity
and capability requirements
within receiving HASUs

Work with local HOSCs and
JHOSC to reduce risk of
referral

Continued communication
and engagement with
stakeholders

Identification and
prioritisation of work that
can happen during a referral
or review.

Tight programme
management and focus on
getting business case
approval

Engagement with current
staff to ensure they are
retained during service
changes.

Work with stroke care staff
to ensure they are retained
during service change
Offer guarantees about
roles at future sites to staff
at non HASU/ASU sites
Develop shared policies
around transfers

Ensure clear communication
with the public on when
services will change and
where to go in the short
term

Ongoing monitoring of
vacancies, turnover and
sickness.

Judicial review or referral to Stroke

the Secretary of State Programme
delays implementation Board

plans and timeline

The rehabilitation business Stroke

case is delayed, or staff Programme
cannot be recruited, Board
meaning that patients

cannot be discharged from

acute care as planned.

Services at sites which Stroke
currently provide acute Programme
stroke services but will not Board

be a HASU/ASU are

destabilised and are unable

to continue to provide

services until the HASU/ASU

sites are ready.

CCGs and providers are Programme
unable to prioritise and Team

engage in implementation
of the proposals due to

Design governance
arrangements for
implementation phase and
agree these with CCGs

160

Page 206




competing demands on
their resources

Resource will be identified
in each organisation to
manage the implementation
and secure the budget
Programme governance will
be established that ensure
senior staff are part of all
stages of implementation

Active risk and issue
management from the
outset of the programme to
ensure effective mitigation
strategies in place

Develop communications
and engagement plan for
the implementation phase
that specifically considers
engagement with, and
messaging to, patients
Continue to track patient
outcomes and publicise
good news stories

Ensure quality metrics are
tracked post-change so any
undesirable trends can be
identified early

The DMBC will be the basis
for all Trust business cases
and will include provider
level detail for capital
requirements

Post-decision making the
programme team will
provide support to the
providers to ensure
alignment on business cases
Engagement with NHSE will
continue to ensure they are
aware of timelines

Several of the risks above Programme
are realised, delaying Team
implementation

Patient confidence is lost Comms and
during the implementation engagement
leading to patient team
dissatisfaction

The provider business cases Programme
do not align with the Team
proposed changes or

assumptions in the DMBC

Not all capital required can

be secured

Confusion for the SECAmb

Ambulance service as to
which site to transport
patients to during
implementation as sites go
live

SECAmb and LAS to meet
with providers to discuss the
implementation plans and
agree dates that transfer
protocols will change

161

Page 207




e Update SECAmb and LAS as
changes to implementation
plans take place

It will become more difficult | 6 Medium | Stroke e Work with the voluntary
for visitors and carers to Programme transport services to identify
travel to visit patients Board changes to the services that

would be beneficial

e Develop comms materials to
aid signposting to
appropriate services

Loss of support of key 6 Medium | Comms and e Ongoing targeted

stakeholders, resulting in engagement engagement with key

challenge or delays Programme stakeholders Continue to
Team involve relevant

stakeholders in the
programme governance and
development of
implementation plans as
appropriate

9.5 Communication and engagement plan

9.5.1 Aims and objectives

As a result of the wide-reaching public consultation in early 2018, awareness of the Stroke Review is
fairly high, particularly among key audience groups such as stroke staff, informed and engaged
patient and public groups and stakeholder groups such as HOSC/HASCs, councillors, MPs, unions,
Health and Wellbeing Board etc. Whilst this means some audiences and groups have already
established firmly held views about the plans which can be challenging, it also means that there is an
‘open door’ with engaged audiences which will help to achieve the communications and
engagement aims.

The primary aims are to:

* ensure key audience groups e.g. the public, provider organisations staff etc, are informed
and can engage with us about what the implementation of the final decision on the
reconfiguration of urgent stroke services in Kent and Medway means for them,

¢ help to build confidence in, and support for the implementation plans and the new stroke
service in Kent and Medway

* ensure that once the new service is live, patients, carers and the public understand how they
should access stroke services and what impact any changes may have on them.

In order to achieve these aims the Stroke Review will:
e provide information in a timely manner, in a range of formats and via a range of channels,
appropriate to the needs of different audiences
* make sure public information is consistent and clear; written and spoken in ‘plain English’
avoiding jargon and technical information

162

Page 208



* communicate in a way that protects and enhances the reputation of the Kent and Medway
stroke review

* regularly review, evaluate and adapt as needed, the approach to communicating and
engaging to ensure the needs of all audiences are met

9.5.2 Timing

This plan covers the period from the formal decision by the Joint Committee of Clinical
Commissioning Groups to implement a new configuration of urgent stroke care in Kent and Medway
to the point the new configuration is operational. However, this is subject to review, particularly if
there is a legal challenge. The anticipated timeline is set out in more detail in Section 9.5.4.3.

9.5.3 Audiences
The key audiences can be segmented into the following group:
*  Stroke staff
* Patients, carers and the wider public across the NHS in Kent, Medway and border areas
» Stakeholders and partners, including patient representative organisations and wider staff
across the NHS in Kent, Medway and border areas

A more detailed stakeholder map is shown in Appendix P.

Stroke staff are a key priority; their ongoing commitment and support for stroke services is vital to
ensuring the delivery of safe and effective stroke care during the implementation phase. It is also
important to encourage existing stroke staff to move into the new service once it is up and running.
On that basis, a key principle of the approach is to make sure there are ‘no surprises’ for staff whose
jobs may be affected by the review. It is important to ensure that staff:

* have an opportunity to engage and be involved in plans as they are developed, co-producing
solutions where appropriate, and hear from the Stroke Review first about any decisions,
implementation plans and timelines

* are aware of the HR process, understand how their roles may be impacted and understand
what options are available to them

*  know where to go for further detailed information about their own job and their employee
rights

9.5.4 Communication channels

There are several existing communications channels available that will be used to share information
and engage with audiences. Where appropriate and necessary new channels or communications
tools will be developed.

9.5.4.1 Existing channels

Existing communications channels will be continued to be used, capitalising on the increased
engagement achieved through these channels during the public consultation as a key way to share
information and engage with audiences. These channels include:

163

Page 209



Kent and Medway
NHS Website

Kent and Medway
NHS Newsletter
Social media
accounts

Media

Partner and
stakeholder
organisations

Staff engagement
and
communications
channels

This is well established as the online hub for information on the stroke
review. Visitors to the site will be able to access all the latest news about
implementation as well as historical information about the review.

The STP newsletter has several hundred engaged subscribers and is an
important vehicle for communicating and cascading information.

The Stroke Review has a good following on Twitter and to a lesser extent
on Facebook. These channels will continue to be used to keep stakeholders
informed, and to facilitate discussion about implementation plans. In
addition, the YouTube channel will be used where possible, to bring the
implementation plans to life for people using Vox pops, interviews with
key spokespeople, patients and carers.

The media approach will be proactive during the implementation and ‘go
live’ period. The local media continues to be important in influencing
public perception and reaction to all aspects of health and care changes
and the Stroke Review will work with them to communicate key messages.

As was the case during the consultation period, extensive reactive media
work will be carried out. This will include continuing to manage responses
to the media in a timely way, providing clear, accurate information and
robustly rebutting inaccuracies.

In addition to the Stroke Review channels, third-party websites, intranets,
newsletters and bulletins, existing meetings (with staff and the public) and
fora will all be used to share information about the implementation of the
final decision on stroke services. There is a well-rehearsed cascade process
with partner and stakeholder organisations, to support the dissemination
of information through their networks to key audiences. These
organisations include all local NHS organisations, GP practices, pharmacies,
district, borough and parish councils, MPs, voluntary and community
services organisations, community and faith groups, local health charities
and interest groups, patient participation groups, public libraries etc.

The Stroke Review will continue to regularly attend existing meetings of a
wide range of groups and organisations and meet regularly with key
stakeholders on a one-to-one basis to keep them informed and provide a
regular opportunity to ask questions and discuss issues.

Each provider organisation has established staff engagement and
communications channels that will continue to be used — via those
organisations — to disseminate core and generic information about the
stroke implementation plans and progress in delivery.

In addition, the Stroke Review will work closely with HR colleagues to
ensure staff are signposted to where they can have detailed conversations
and get appropriate HR advice and support about their own role and what
the stroke review means for them and their employment. This level of
communications and engagement (including any necessary formal
consultation with staff over job roles and changes to employment) will
remain the responsibility of HR teams and provider organisations.

164

Page 210



9.5.4.2 Potential new/one-off channels

Depending on the demand for information and the level of opposition to the implementation plans,
new channels of communication may be implemented, or some short term/one-off approaches used
to ensure a wider dissemination of key messages and create opportunities to engage with local
people and staff in more detail. These include:

Printed materials While printed materials such as booklets, flyers, posters etc are resource
intensive, they can be a helpful way of raising awareness and provide an
important channel for people who don’t typically access information
digitally.

Paid for advertising | Where resources permit, and the need for widespread awareness dictates,
paid-for advertising in local media can be used, and via social media
channels. This was successful during the consultation period and may be
appropriate for awareness raising activities at the time new services
become live and other services close.

Events and Public meetings can be a helpful way to engage with people affected by

roadshows change and discuss their views and concerns in more detail. However, they
are resource intensive, particularly in relation to the number of people
reached, as compared to, say, paid-for advertising.

A more cost-effective approach can be to undertake a programme of
‘roadshows’ where a small stand is set up in community spaces giving local
people the opportunity to discuss issues and pick up information via
leaflets and posters.

Dedicated briefing | Developing a regular electronic bulletin providing updates on the stroke

or bulletin implementation plans could offer a ‘one-stop shop’ for stakeholders during
the implementation period.

9.5.4.3 Plan for delivery

The delivery of the communications and engagement work is dependent on close working with both
provider and CCG communications and engagements teams. For the implementation phase of the
stroke review communications and engagement work will be particularly dependent on provider
organisations to deliver HR information, support and advice, and for communications and
engagement leads to ensure regular information is cascaded through established channels. Media
management and monitoring will continue to be delivered by NEL CSU. Additional non-pay resource
has been requested for Vox pop type content development, public meetings, a roadshow stand,
leaflets, posters etc.

A detailed communications implementation plan is shown in Figure 77.

165

Page 211



2Tz abed

Figure 77: communications and engagement plan
Pre-decision Q12019 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 2020 Q1 2021

Work programme

Decision made

Phase 1:

on location of Phase 2: . Pre. Phase 4: Go .
assurance o recrutment Py go ve phase b TS e at WHH
implemetnation changes and DVH

starts recruitment

Comms narrative / o s
o -t - ”
- We aic suarting We aic suarting z HASU> and The hAou and
W?:fgfréze mggz b‘l?r?gse to make to make Sesri\g:zrz;nd ASUs are now ASU are now
po tion? BT (o changes to changes to ARG S in place at in place at
P ’ infastructure clinical care ging MTW and DVH WHH

steps.

Key messages for each key audience group

Final decision Details of New clinical Full details of new Celebration of Celebration of

We want you to

stay in stroke care means we can recruitment pathways are roles, teams and new service, :j new service,
in K&M. We want start planning in process. being phased in phasing of service recognition of the - recognition of the
to know how we earnest for Regular updates and measures are  transition. long journey to j: long journey to
can best support implementation. etc. in place to Support for staff reach this stage & - reach this stage &
you. We are now External monitor the not moving to a staff commitment. - staff commitment.
consulting with recruitment impact. HASU site. Practical messages j: Practical messages
staff about change  campaign begins Ongoing details of about new " about new
to job roles recruitment work arrangements etc - arrangements etc
etc g

166



€1z abed

Patients/public

Stakeholders

This is how we
have considered
feedback from
consultation.

We believe our
plans will improve
stroke care in K&M

A final decision
has been made.
We are now
working on
implementation
plans. The
development of
these plans has
been led by stroke
specialists.

We want to
continue to work
with you to keep
you informed and
updated on our
progress

Final decision is
the culmination of
a thorough and
robust process —
clinically led — and
we are now a step
closer to
improving care for
stroke patients.

We are starting to
improve our
buildings and to
develop the
teams who will
work in the new
units. We are also
doing a baseline
audit of services
to help measure
improvements

We have started
to make changes
to how we care
for stroke
patients. We are
already
measuring the
impact of these If
you are a patient
you don’t need to
do anything
differently — just
ring 999 if you
suspect
symptoms of a
stroke’ etc
Update on estates
and recruitment

Publicity/
awareness
campaign starts
on what will be
different and
when. What to do
if you notice signs
of stroke etc

Celebration/
launch of new
service

Ongoing publicity/
awareness
campaign

Details of benefit
realisation
monitoring
Sharing success
stories over time

P
P
P
P
P
P

P
P

con T T T T T T T T T T T T

Celebration/
launch of new
service

Ongoing publicity/
awareness
campaign

Details of benefit
realisation
monitoring — draw
on any data from
Maidstone and
DVH

Sharing success
stories over time

Call to action to
stakeholders to
share campaign
information with
own networks to
ensure effective
transition to new
services

Celebration/
launch of new
service
Opportunities to
visit units
Ongoing call to
action to share
campaign
information with
own networks
Details of benefit
realisation
monitoring

" Celebration/

- launch of new

_ service

* Opportunities to

PP A A AP A AP A A A A A A A

visit unit
Ongoing call to
action to share
campaign
information with
own networks
Details of benefit
realisation
monitoring

167



9.5.4.4 Evaluation

Continuous evaluation of communications and engagement activity will be undertaken to gauge its
impact and effectiveness. The approach will be adapted as necessary, for example to address any
newly emerging concerns or challenges, or to target specific groups that are identified as needing
additional information or not having been engaged sufficiently. Metrics and tools that will be used
to evaluate the communications and engagement activity include:

Numbers of people contact by information cascade to evaluate the reach of the messaging
Media monitoring to evaluate the reach of the messaging, whether messages are fairly
represented and to assess the tone of media coverage —i.e. is it positive, neutral or negative
Website visits and social media interactions to evaluate the reach of messaging, how many
people are accessing information and engaging via digital channels. Again, the tone will be
assessed where possible, as well as volume.

Feedback from staff and provider HR teams to identify the mood among stroke staff and
acceptance of the change

Feedback from any public events or roadshows to evaluate the reach of messaging (from
numbers attending/visiting stand) and acceptance of and support for change among
different communities

Volume and content of correspondence to evaluate the acceptance of, and support for,
change

Feedback from stakeholder meetings to evaluate the acceptance of, and support for,
change

Uptake of any printed materials produced to evaluate the reach of messaging

Audience figures of any paid for advertising to evaluate the reach of messaging.

Impact of paid for advertising using questionnaires/surveys to identify how many people
saw and responded to any campaign

168

Page 214



10 Benefits of the proposed changes

10.1 Feedback from consultation

During consultation, there was a high level of agreement and understanding of the arguments put
forward regarding the benefits of having HASU/ASUs in Kent and Medway. However, some members
of the public were unsure whether there is a clear case for changing the way stroke services are
delivered. This was partly because they felt they did not have enough information or knowledge to
judge whether the reasons for change are justified. Further work has therefore been undertaken on
the likely benefits of implementing HASU/ASU in Kent and Medway, and the way in which the
realisation of these benefits will be monitored.

10.2 Overview

This chapter builds on the case for change by describing the benefits that are expected to be
achieved as a result of implementing the preferred option.

The benefits include improvements to patient outcomes and patient experience, as well as improved
experiences for staff through advanced patient care, improved ways of working and opportunities to
enhance skills. The benefits have been developed by clinicians in line with the clinical standards that
underpin the proposals for clinical change and will be further discussed with patient representatives.
The chapter also sets out how the progress against the benefits will be monitored and the set of
measures that the programme will focus on.

Successful implementation of the changes proposed by the stroke review will deliver improvements
for both the people receiving stroke care in Kent and Medway and the staff delivering the services.

Further details of the proposals for benefits realisation are shown in Appendix DD.
7.2 The purpose of the benefits framework
The purpose of the benefits framework is to:

e Describe a set of clinical, quality and operational benefits that are expected to be achieved
through the implementation of the Kent and Medway Stroke Review
e Demonstrate the impact of the changes to stroke services in Kent and Medway to:
o Patients and the public
o GP commissioners
o Providers of stroke services and other key stakeholders
e Provide a focus for all stakeholders during and post implementation to monitor the value the
reconfiguration is delivering through changes and achievements
e Describe specific and measurable key standards, which directly link to benefits, and which
enable the realisation of the programme’s benefits to be monitored
e Provide an early warning system for the programme to act if the benefits are not as
expected and to address any issues arising

Clear benefits realisation is part of implementation, with a pragmatic benefits realisation framework
and associated governance arrangements and processes to:
e |dentify the top two or three benefits of the change for additional focus

169

Page 215



e Track progress of benefits realisation formally
e Identify actions that are required in response to any benefits not being realised
e Define reporting requirements to monitor benefits realisation

10.3 Engagement in the development of the benefits

The benefits framework has been developed by clinicians through the Stroke Clinical Reference
Group and the Stroke Programme Board. It has also been tested with patient representatives.

A focus during the development of the framework has been to ensure, wherever possible, that the
language used to describe the high-level benefits is accessible to the widest possible audience.
Whilst the clinical quality standards are understood by clinicians, it is also important that the public
are clear on what the changes to services are expected to achieve.

10.4 Development of the benefits

The main areas of benefit expected to be delivered by the reconfiguration of stroke services are:
e Improved clinical outcomes for patients
e Improved experiences for patients and their carers
e Improved experiences for staff, due not only to improvements in patient care, but also
improved team and multi-disciplinary working and increased opportunities to maintain and
enhance skills
e Supporting the delivery of financially sustainable services.

It is important to translate the proposals for change into specific benefits so improvements from the
Stroke Review can be measured.

The key clinical inputs have been derived from the case for change (see Section 2) and the clinical
standards for stroke services, as set out in Section 3.3.2. Clinicians spent time reviewing all the
potential benefits from the changes in detail and identified those where the expected impact was
expected to be greatest. A benefits map has been developed which shows how the benefits flow
directly from changes to stroke services for key benefits, as shown in Figure 78.

170

Page 216



Figure 78: benefits map for key benefits

The benefits flow directly from changes to stroke services — proposed shortlist
for tracking

inputs

Ouitputs Crrtcames

+ Incregsa in % patant admitied fo
siroke ward

« Increase in number of patients

slaying am siroke ward

Incragsad access to TIA clnic in 24

= Improve independande

» Mheet mational staffing
guidance (§ consultants
nursingtherapy rabcs) o
bacoma a HASL

» _Acliviey =500 and <1 500

haurs

+  Incragsng pabant
ERprEnCa

Dicar ta naedia in 0
e
= Call to nesade in 2 haws

Reduced benk and agency I<’
K Improved value far ey

Increased consukant sccass | 0ays a
stk

Improved  staff satisfackan

| Mora Ives savad 90 days
after deshans

Increased thrombolyses rates

"The Valise for Money a3 a gland dome melric wil nol
b by tha Benedits planming

N Aversge {mean & median) raducead r
Llsngth of stay {gurant 15,6, stretch 11) Hale: Colowr of ling relstas io the colour of the arigm

(£t

10.5 Monitoring the benefits

A set of performance indicators for the benefits of service change have been developed. The
performance indicators will help the programme to monitor whether the expected benefits of the
changes are being delivered. The changes proposed to stroke services centre on patient and clinical
outcomes and the programme will therefore seek to demonstrate it has had a positive impact in
these areas.

The following principles have been applied in the development of the indicators:

1.

Meaningful and transparent — The indicators should be able to be understood by all
organisations involved and the public, to enable:
a. Kent and Medway providers to demonstrate that the anticipated benefits are being
realised
b. Commissioners to monitor whether commissioned services are delivering against
the planned outcomes
Pragmatic in number — The indicator set should be sufficiently long to provide coverage, but
not so long that monitoring does not take place due to the burden
Focus on patients — The primary focus should be on patient outcomes and patient
experience
Minimise additional burden — Performance indicators should be based on existing measures
and data collection systems e.g. SUS, and should not create an additional data burden
Embed in business as usual — Measurement of the performance indicators should become
part of the commissioning cycle and ‘business as usual’ arrangements.

171

Page 217



Clinicians decided it was important to have a list of key indicators that is usable and manageable and
provides focus. The most important indicator of performance will be achievement of SSNAP A rating
for all HASU/ASUs 6 months after launch (the date on which they are running as a full HASU/ASU).
There is a 3-month lag between data collection and reporting, so achievement of Grade A will be
seen in the SSNAP ratings 9 months after launch.

Other key performance indicators are shown in Figure 79. Wherever possible, existing NHS measures
and data collection systems have been used to inform the identification of performance indicators

so that benefits can be monitored without creating additional data collection or reporting burdens.

Figure 79: key performance indicators

172

Page 218



6T¢ abed

Description Expected impact Attribution Measurement Interdependencies
What Source of standard When What How
often
Thrombolysis from | Increase to median of 30 2018 guidelines for the early Within 6 months of | Provider (HASU) | Median time for patients Quarterly | Diagnostics,
clock start minutes for eligible patients management of patients with implementation thrombolysed from time presentation at
acute ischemic stroke the patient first arrived on non-HASUs
a stroke unit
Activity >500 and All HASU/ASU units to see 1) RCP National clinical Within 6 months of | Provider (HASU) | Confirmed stroke activity Quarterly
<1,500 between 500 and 1,500 guideline for stroke, Fifth implementation at (patient — centred 72h
confirmed strokes edition (2016) each site cohort)
2) Stroke services:
configuration decision support
guide (2015)
Meet national All HASU/ASU units to meet National clinical guideline for Within 1 year of Provider (HASU) | Assessment of roster to Quarterly Recruitment and
staffing the national staffing guidance stroke 2016 implementation assess consultant numbers, retention
guidance (6 consultants, nursing and therapy ratios
nursing/therapy ratios) per beds
Travel to hospital 95% of patients have an Proxy used in PCBC to measure | Assoon as Ambulance Travel time from Quarterly | Ambulance pick up
(95% in 1 hr) ambulance travel time of >=60 | call to needle in 2 hours as implemented service ambulance pick up to HASU times, traffic
minutes below front door
Call to needle in 2 Increase to 95% for eligible Clinical senate Within 6 months of | Provider (HASU) | % of patients thromoblysed | Quarterly Diagnostics,
hours patients recommendation implementation within 2 hours from call to presentation at
needle (national measure) non-HASUs
Ambulance An average response time As soon as Ambulance AQI care bundle for stroke Quarterly | Ambulance capacity
response times within 18 minutes, and a 90th NHSE ambulance Performance implemented service traffic
centile response of 40 minutes | standards 2017
Increased Increase to 18% for all stroke 18% achieved in London post Within 6 months of | Provider (HASU) | % of all stroke patients Quarterly Diagnostics,
thrombolysis rates patients given thrombolysis (all | stroke review Jan-July 2012 implementation given thrombolysis (all presentation at
stroke types) (National Audit) stroke types) non-HASUs
Average (mean & Mean and median length of 11 days achieved in London Shown over time Provider (HASU) | Length of stay on a stroke Quarterly | Discharge pathway
median) reduced stay to reduce and meet post stroke review May-July period 6, 12 and 18 unit across the inpatient and community
length of stay stretch standard of 11 day 2011 (The legacy of NHS months with stretch pathway rehab bed
(current 15.6, ALOS within 2 years and then London Stroke; Tony Rudd, standard met availability
stretch 11) stabilise 2012) within 24 months of
implementation
Locum and agency Decrease locum and agency Data for last 3 years Within 2 years of Provider (HASU) | The locum and agency rates | Quarterly | Recruitmentand

staff rates for the
stroke service

rates for consultants,
thrombolysis nurses and stroke
coordinators

implementation

for consultants,
thrombolysis nurses and
stroke coordinators

retention

173




02z abed

(standard being developed
looking at data for last 3 years)

Vacancy and % vacancy rate and number of Data for last 3 years Within 2 years of Provider (HASU) | The vacancy for Quarterly Recruitment and
turnover rates for voluntary leavers standard implementation consultants, thrombolysis retention
the stroke service being developed looking at nurses and stroke
data for last 3 years) coordinators and number
of voluntary leavers for
same roles
Consultant access 7 | % of patients seen by a As per emergency care Within 6 months of | Provider (HASU) | % of patient first assessed Quarterly | Recruitment and
days a week consultant within 14 hours to standards NHSE implementation by stroke specialist retention
increase to 80% consultant physician 4
hours from time the
patient first arrived on a
stroke unit to increase to
80%
Increase in % Increase to 100% eligible SSNAP standard Within 6 months of | Provider (HASU) | % of patients whose first Quarterly | Bed capacity in
patient admitted to | patients admitted directly to a implementation ward of admission is the hospital
stroke ward stroke ward Stroke unit within 4 hours
arrival to A&E excluding
those admitted to
ITY/HDOU
Increase in number | Increase to 100% eligible SSNAP standard (for A rating) Within 6 months of | Provider (HASU) | If applicable, at least 90% of | Quarterly Bed capacity in
of patients staying patients stay on stroke ward for implementation patient's total inpatient hospital
on stroke ward for 90% of stay stay is spent on a stroke
90% of stay unit
% of likely TIA % of likely TIA patients seen in National clinical guidance Within 6 months of Provider % of likely TIA patients Quarterly | Electronic records
patients seen in clinic within 24 hours post implementation (HASU) seen in clinic within 24 system, TIA service
clinic within 24 triage to increase to 95% hours post staffing
hours post triage
MDT weekend Assessment of weekend roster 6 day working for Provider Number of weekend shifts Quarterl Recruitment and
availability to assess number of shifts all three therapies (HASU) worked by therapist (split y retention
worked by therapist (split by within 1 year and 7 by OT, PT, SALT and OT)
OT, PT, SALT and OT) days working within
2 years
% non-stroke Decrease of % of non-stroke Within 1 year of Provider (HASU) | % of non-stroke patients on | Quarterly Bed capacity in
patients on a stroke | patients on a stroke ward to implementation a stroke ward hospial
ward 10%
Improve The intensity of social care Within 1 year of CCGs Number of units and cost of | Annual
independence input a year post stroke implementation social care input 1 year post

stroke

174




Tz abed

Lives saved 90 days | A 1.1% absolute reduction in 1.1% for both metrics Within 1 year of CCGs Number of deaths within 6 Annual
after discharge the number of deaths within 6 proposed as this was the implementation months of admission of
months of admission to stroke reduction seen in London at 90 stroke unit in the last year
unit days
https://www.bmj.com/content
/349/bmj.g4757
A reduction in the modified Within 1 year of Trust Modified ranking scale at Annual
Improve ranking scale at discharge implementation CCGs discharge Annual
independence A reduction in the frailty score Within 1 year of Frailty score a 6 months
at 6 months and annually implementation and annually
A reduction in the variation of Discussions with Public Health To see a decrease in | CCGs Stroke mortality rate per Annual Inequalities in
stroke mortality rates across variation in year 1 district prevention
districts so it’s no longer and within 5 years
statistically significant to see no statistical
significance in
Reducing variation (95%
inequalities confidence intervals
do not overlap)
A narrowing of the gap in A reduction to be CCGs Stroke mortality rates and Annual Changes to
stroke mortality between the seen within 5 years deprivation rate per district deprivation rates
most deprived and least Inequalities in
deprived areas prevention
Increasing patient An increase in the % patients Within 1 year of Provider (HASU) | % patients who would Monthly
satisfaction who would recommend the implementation recommend the service
service
Increasing staff An increase in the % staff who Within 1 year of Provider (HASU) | % staff who would Monthly

satisfaction

would recommend the service

implementation

recommend the service

175



https://www.bmj.com/content/349/bmj.g4757
https://www.bmj.com/content/349/bmj.g4757

10.6 Monitoring the realisation of benefits

Benefits realisation needs careful management and close measurement, forming an integral part of
the implementation process and then adopted into business as usual. The proposals below will be
further developed as part of the implementation planning process following a decision about service
change being approved by the JCCCG.

10.6.1 When will benefits be realised?

Section 9 includes implementation plans describing how the recommendation would be delivered, if
approved. Different elements of the proposals have differing associated timescales. If the JCCCG
decide to proceed with the proposed changes, benefits should start to be seen following each major
change. However, it is not expected that benefits will be realised until at least six months from the
delivery of each major change and the ‘whole system’ benefits can only be maximised after full
completion of implementation.

It is important to start the work on benefits measurement post-decision in order to ascertain the
baseline position of the performance indicators by provider. Only once the baseline is understood
can the trend of delivery can be tracked.

It is recognised that there can sometimes be a ‘dip’ in performance during implementation and that
some changes are not always viewed positively by individual patients or staff. Dips in safety and
clinical quality will be mitigated by introducing a double running element into the model when care
is shifting. This allows plenty of time for any dip to be rectified as it should only be for a very short
time if the new service is designed correctly and delivering the appropriate quality. Real time data
capture equipment should instantly highlight any issues and allow remedial action to be put in place.
Dips in operational measures (non-clinical issues) will be considered when reviewing any
performance indicator measurements by the Stroke Review Implementation Board.

10.6.2 Reporting mechanisms

Monitoring will, in general, be the responsibility of each provider and, in most cases, providers will
not usually need to be compared with each other. Providers will be held to account by their CCG
(through their contracts) on their performance against their own baseline rather than against other
providers. It is expected that there will be greater improvements at some providers than others as
each has a different starting point.

For the key performance indicators set out in Section 10.5, progress will be monitored across Kent
and Medway. The proposed reporting mechanism and governance is shown in Figure 80.

176

Page 222



Figure 80: reporting mechanism

Proposed reporting mechanism

Data collation from
sources (i.e.

SSNAP, Acute
Trusts, MDT teams,
Public Health)

As per data sources

Report collating

Detailed benefits
review,
investigations and
proposal of
remedial actions

CCG reportfor

PEIHCBIEED information

F
requency are available Quarterly Quarterly Quarterly Quarterly
Who ldentified resource Identified resource Clinical Reference gggr;[zgosgtggglme CCG
from CCG quality from CCG quality Group : _
teams t Delivery Network as it
eams
develops)

CCG resource to amend report as appropriate following CRG review and to add
detail of remedial actions and investigations to go into and SPB and CCG reports

Leads from each organisation providing data will be identified. These leads will provide data to an
identified resource from the CCG quality teams. It is proposed that this will be done for Kent and
Medway to ensure consistency. These individuals would also be responsible for collecting the data
available from online resources and collating all into a quarterly report.

The Clinical Reference Group will review the report in quarterly ‘benefits reviews’. These reviews
would focus on formally assuring that the performance indicators remain valid and that they are
providing stakeholders with the view on benefits realisation they require. The discussion on progress
would be against the full set of performance indicators. They would issue investigations on issues
and provide recommended remedial actions to the providers.

A report including these proposals will go to the Stroke Review Implementation Board and the CCGs
on a quarterly basis. The quarterly report will follow a standard structure, as illustrated shown in
Figure 81.

Figure 81: benefits reporting structure

Proposed report structure: Example report format (proxy data)
= Introduction

= National stroke updates (if necessary)
*  Summary performance dashboard

hbimatr i e e baie

8 o i mvobe pamieers ginen throve bt (il streshe treal e he dast gwarter

= Deep dive into each metric: I"s"':"’"”""” i ————— :
- Activity ez 0 5 v ]
{Activity =500 and <1,500) =0 o o i |
- Quality and performance
(Ambulance response times, travel to hospital, increased . —
————

thrombolysis rates, thrombolysis in 30 mins from clock
start, increase in % patient admitted fo stroke ward, call to
needle in 2 hours, increase in number of patients staying
on stroke ward for 90% of stay, average reduced length of
stay, fewer people discharged fo residential/nursing care, .
number of delayed transfers of care, % of high risk TIA e
patients seen within 24 hours, % non-strolke on a stroke = = T T
ward) i’:_n b 5 =
- Patient outcomes = = 1= =
(Lives saved in hospital, lives saved 6 months after ¥
discharge, reduced disability, reduced dependency) :
- Staffing
(Consultant access 7 days a weel, meet national staffing
guidance, reduced vacancy and tumnover, reduced
locum/agency staff, MDT weekend availability)
- Staff and patient satisfaction
(Increasing patient satisfaction, Increasing staff
satisfaction)

177

Page 223



10.7 Next steps

Further work will be done to set up the benefits management system following decision-making.
This will include:
* Identifying data collection leads in all relevant organisation
* Identifying CCG quality team resource to lead on data collation and report development
* Developing detailed project plan for data collection
* Developing data specifications for data not currently collected
* Discussing the benefit indicators with CCGs to agree how they become embedded into
contracts at the appropriate time

178

Page 224



11 Conclusion and recommendations

11.1 Summary of conclusions

The decision-making business case (DMBC) has outlined the case for the recommendation that is
being presented to the JCCCG for the reconfiguration of acute stroke services across Kent and
Medway.

Over the last four years, the programme has worked extensively with clinicians, the public, patients
and other stakeholders on proposals to:
e Review acute stroke services in Kent and Medway and agree that change is necessary and
must start now
e Develop a shared vision for acute stroke services including the implementation of the
HASU/ASU clinical model of care
e Evaluate the different options for service configuration to determine that three HASU/ASUs
are needed in Kent and Medway.
e Consult the public and other stakeholders on the proposals and respond to the findings of
that consultation
e Develop a recommendation for the location of the HASUs/ASUs to give the best balance of
clinical quality, access, workforce considerations, implementability and affordability
e Determine the implications of the preferred option in activity flows, equalities, travel and
access, finance, capital, estates and workforce
e Create a benefits framework for the proposals
e Plan the next steps for implementation.

The feedback from the public consultation showed a clear mandate for change and broad support
for the establishments of HASU/ASUs. There was also some challenge and criticism. Further work
has been done to respond to this challenge on the analysis, clinical pathways, options evaluation
(including finance), travel, equalities, workforce and implementation planning. There has been
ongoing assurance and scrutiny to verify that proposals are sound and well communicated to and
considered by all stakeholders throughout the programme.

The recommendation is for three HASU/ASUs in Kent and Medway at Darent Valley Hospital,
Maidstone General Hospital and William Harvey Hospital. Acute stroke services will no longer be
provided at other hospitals in Kent and Medway. This change will be underpinned by several
prevention initiatives and a business case for stroke rehabilitation services to ensure consistency in
provision across Kent and Medway. Evidence shows that travelling to the right location for stroke
care has a greater impact on outcomes than distance travelled. Workforce changes will be required
to support delivery of the improved quality and a range of new and enhanced roles will need to be
developed. The proposals will mean that some people must travel further to access acute stroke
services, but this will be more than offset by the improvement in clinical quality from the
introduction of HASU/ASUs. The benefits include improvements to patient outcomes and patient
experience, as well as improved experiences for staff through advanced patient care, improved ways
of working and opportunities to enhance skills. Implementation plans have been developed for a
phased approach to implement the new services as quickly as possible whilst ensuring that quality
and patient safety are not compromised. An assurance process is being developed to ensure that
safe, high quality care continues to be provided during the transition.

The DMBC and other papers have been reviewed by the Stroke Programme Board and relevant
content has been reviewed by the Stroke Clinical Reference Group, Finance Group, Operational

179

Page 225



Planning Group and other committees and groups established by the JCCCG to provide it with advice
and recommendations. In addition, each provider Trust Board has signed off the capital
requirements as part of individual provider business cases ([DN to be confirmed]. The proposals
have been reviewed and assured by the South East Coast Clinical Senate, NHS England and NHS
Improvement. The JCCCG’s decisions will be enacted through CCG governing bodies meeting
together as a JCCCG [DN to be confirmed].

11.2 Resolutions to be agreed
[DN to be confirmed]

180

Page 226



Appendices
[DN To be added]

S<CHVYIPOTOZZIrA-TIOMMOO®P

N < X

™ >
@ >

CC.

DD.

Glossary

Stroke Review case for change (published July 2015)
Kent and Medway Public Health Observatory evidence review
Update to analysis between PCBC and DMBC

Current stroke services in Kent and Medway

Detail on the financial modelling for the preferred option
List of quality standards

East Kent thrombectomy pilot business case

South East Clinical Senate report on options for change
Stroke consultation analysis

Provider business cases

Long list to medium list pack

. Modelling for shortlisting: Workforce, Bed and capacity modelling, travel, finance

Medium list to shortlist pack

Stakeholder event feedback report (evaluation criteria)

Stroke consultation activity report

Shortlist to preferred option pack

Details of SECAmb modelling of trauma and pPCl patient travel time

Updated integrated impact assessment, October 2018

Letter from NHS investment committee

Engage engagement with Black and Minority Ethnic groups report, August 2018
Composite evaluation methodology

. Deliverability panel framework, deliverability assessment and deliverability panel

presentations

South East Clinical Senate report on case for change
South East Clinical Senate review of preferred option
Stakeholder engagement log (pre-consultation)

. Stakeholder log of engagement since consultation
. Stakeholder engagement (pre-engagement):

i Letters of support
ii. Healthwatch review of patient and public engagement
Integrated impact assessment (pre-PCBC):
i Integrated impact assessment report
ii. Integrated impact assessment supporting annex
iii. Integrated impact assessment mitigations
Detail of benefits realisation

181

Page 227



End notes

1 Delivering the Forward View: NHS planning guidance 2016/17 — 2020/21, NHS England et al

2 Next steps on the NHS Five Year Forward View, NHS England, March 2017

3 Stroke statistics, Scarborough et al, 2009

4 National Sentinel Stroke Clinical Audit, 2011

5 Impact of centralising acute stroke services in English metropolitan areas on mortality and length of hospital stay:
difference-in-differences analysis, Morris, S. et al, BMJ, August 2014

6 Kent County Council (2016) “Facts and figures about Kent” [Online] Available at: http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-
council/information-and-data/Facts-and-figures-a bout-Kent/kentgeography [Accessed 02/11/16].

7 Office for National Statistics, mid-year estimates, 2015

8 Kent County Council (2016) “The Kent and Medway Growth and Infrastructure Framework (KMFIG) — September update”
9 Kent Integrated Dataset, 2015/16

10 Based on Buck and Rossini, Clustering of unhealthy behaviours over time. The Kings Fund, 2012

11 progress Report on Smoking and Tobacco Control, Kent County Council Adult Social Care and Health Cabinet Committee,
10 March 2016

12 Holt RIG. Obesity — an epidemic of the twenty-first century. J Psychopharm 2005; 19(6) Suppl: 6-15

13 National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Obesity: identification, assessment and Management. Clinical
Guideline. 27 November 2014

14 APHO Disease Prevalence Model 2011, Medway Public Health Intelligence Team 2015

15 Referenced in: Stroke incidence modelling and forecasting — Mark Chambers, Senior Public Health Intelligence Analyst,
Medway Council, 2015

16 The size of the prize in CVD prevention for Kent and Medway, NHS England, 2017

17 Stroke services are not currently provided at Kent and Canterbury hospital because it is lacking acute medicine and
critical care, due to the withdrawal of training doctors by Health Education England as a result of acute supervision of
junior doctors. Following the withdrawal of junior doctors in 2017, the Trust carried out an emergency transfer of services
on the grounds of patient safety.

18 Average of 2014-2015; 2015-2016; 2016-2017 provider returns from EKHUFT, MTW, MFT, DGT and PRUH based on
confirmed strokes identified by ICD-10 diagnosis codes 161-164

19 Stroke Services: Configurations Decision Support Guide, Tony Rudd and Nighat Hussain, 2015

20 The Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP) aims to improve the quality of stroke care by auditing stroke
services against evidence based standards, and national and local benchmarks.

21 National Sentinel Stroke Clinical Audit, regional results, South East SCN April 2016 — March 2017

22 Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP) CCG/LHB Public report, 2014

23 National Clinical Guideline for Stroke, Royal College of Physicians, 2016

24 provider data returns (2014/15 — 2016/17), confirmed strokes identified by ICD-10 codes

25 Provider data returns (March 2017)

26 SSNAP 2016 acute organisational audit as of 15t July 2016

27 SSNAP 2016/17

28 The legacy of NHS London Stroke; Tony Rudd, 2012

23 National Stroke Strategy, 2007

302016 National Clinical Guideline for Stroke

31 Emberson et al (2014) Lancet. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60584-5

32 Morris S et al (2014) Impact of centralising acute stroke services in English metropolitan areas on mortality and length of
hospital stay: difference-in-differences analysis. BMJ 2014;349:g4757

33 Standards for providing safe acute ischaemic stroke thrombectomy services P White et al (September 2015)

34 National Clinical guidelines for stroke, Intercollegiate Stroke Working Party, 2016

35 NHS South East Clinical Networks, Stroke and TIA Service and Quality Core Standards, 2016

36 National Stroke Strategy, 2007

37 National Clinical Guideline for Stroke, Royal College of Physicians, 2016

38 Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP), 2016/17

39 NICE guidelines — Stroke TIA overview, last updated 31 July 2017

40 2016 National Clinical Guideline for Stroke

412016 National Clinical Guideline for Stroke

42 2016 National Clinical Guideline for Stroke

43 Review of the Case for Change for stroke services in Kent and Medway, South East Clinical Senate, June 2015

44 National Stroke Strategy, 2007

45 NICE clinical guidelines, Stroke rehabilitation in adults (CG162), June 2013

46 For example, National Clinical Guideline for Stroke, Royal College of Physicians, 2016

47 National Audit Office (2010) Progress on improving stroke care; a good practice guide

182

Page 228


https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60584-5

49 RCP National clinical guideline for stroke, Fifth edition, 2016; and Stroke services: configuration decision support guide,
2015

50 NHS South East Clinical Networks, Stroke and TIA Service and Quality Core Standards, 2016

51 Stroke specific education framework, UK stroke forum,

52 NHS South East Clinical Networks, Stroke and TIA Service and Quality Core Standards, 2016

53 DN to be added

54 Court of Appeal (19 April 2012)

55 RCP National clinical guideline for stroke, Fifth edition, 2016; and Stroke services: configuration decision support guide,
2015

56 Kent and Medway have adopted a standard of 120 minutes call to needle (thrombolysis) per the guidance in NHS South
East Clinical Networks, Stroke and TIA Service and Quality Core Standards, 2016

57 NICE. Stroke in adults - QS2. 2010

58 Review of the Case for Change for stroke services in Kent and Medway, South East Clinical Senate, 2015

59 Transforming urgent and emergency care services in England — Urgent and Emergency Care Review End of Phase 1
Report, NHS England, 2013

60 Review of the Case for Change for stroke services in Kent and Medway, South East Clinical Senate, 2015 AND National
Clinical Guideline for Stroke, Royal College of Physicians, 2016

61 Review of the Case for Change for stroke services in Kent and Medway, South East Clinical Senate 2015

62 Based on current staffing levels at Frimley Park Hospital (which has a HASU) and agreed by Kent and Medway clinicians
(stroke Clinical Reference Group, 18th July).

63 RCP National clinical guideline for stroke, Fifth edition, 2016; and Stroke services: configuration decision support guide,
2015

64 NHS South East Clinical Networks, Stroke and TIA Service and Quality Core Standards, 2016

65 Review of the Case for Change for stroke services in Kent and Medway, South East Clinical Senate, June 2015

66 RCP National clinical guideline for stroke, Fifth edition, 2016; and Stroke services: configuration decision support guide,
2015

67 NHS South East Clinical Networks, Stroke and TIA Service and Quality Core Standards, 2016

68Evidence-Based Cardiology Third Edition; edited by Salim Yusuf, John A. Cairns, A. John Camm, Ernest L. Fallen, Bernard
J.Gersh (2010)

69 UK stroke incidence, mortality and cardiovascular risk management 1999-2008: time-trend analysis from the GP
Research Database — Sally Lee, Anna Shade and Martin Cowie

70 Stroke incidence modelling and forecasting — Mark Chambers, Senior Public Health Intelligence Analyst, Medway Council,
2015

71 Kent Public Health Observatory; Analysis of hospital events for the Springhead Park and Castle Hill Housing
developments within Ebbsfleet Garden City in north Kent, 9t" November 2016

72 Future acute stroke services in Kent & Medway: a Clinical Senate review of the STP’s draft proposals prior to
consultation, South East Clinical Senate, January 2018

73tvidence-Based Cardiology Third Edition; edited by Salim Yusuf, John A. Cairns, A. John Camm, Ernest L. Fallen, Bernard
J.Gersh (2010)

74 UK stroke incidence, mortality and cardiovascular risk management 1999-2008: time-trend analysis from the GP
Research Database — Sally Lee, Anna Shade and Martin Cowie

75 Stroke incidence modelling and forecasting — Mark Chambers, Senior Public Health Intelligence Analyst, Medway Council,
2015

76 Kent Public Health Observatory; Analysis of hospital events for the Springhead Park and Castle Hill Housing
developments within Ebbsfleet Garden City in north Kent, 9t November 2016

77 Stroke incidence modelling and forecasting — Mark Chambers, Senior Public Health Intelligence Analyst, Medway Council,
2015

78 South East Strategic Clinical Networks. Stroke rehabilitation in the community: commissioning for improvement. 2016
79 South East Clinical Networks, Summary Business Plan 2017/19, March 2017

80 NICE guidelines — Stroke TIA overview, last updated 31 July 2017

81 South East Clinical Senate, A Clinical Senate review of the STP’s referred options for stroke service configuration,
November 2018

82 The legacy of NHS London Stroke; Tony Rudd, 2012

83 South East Strategic Clinical Networks. Stroke rehabilitation in the community: commissioning for improvement. 2016
84 Future acute stroke services in Kent and Medway: A clinical senate review of STP draft proposals prior to public
consultation, November 2017

85 The Handbook to the NHS constitution, 2015

86 SSNAP acute organisational audit report, 2016

88 South East Clinical Networks, Summary Business Plan 2017/19, March 2017

183

Page 229



This page is intentionally left blank



M

MOTT

M

MACDONALD

Kent and Medway
Sustainability and
Transformation Plan

Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation
report - Stroke services

September 2018

Page 231



Page 232



Mott MacDonald

Mott MacDonald House
8-10 Sydenham Road
Croydon CRO 2EE
United Kingdom

T +44 (0)20 8774 2000
F +44 (0)20 8681 5706
mottmac.com

Kent and Medway
Sustainability and
Transformation Plan

Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation
report - Stroke services

September 2018

Mott MacDonald Group Limited.
Registered in England and Wales no.
1110949. Registered office: Mott

MacDonald House, 8-10 Sydenham Road,
Croydon CRO 2EE, United Kingdom Page 233



Page 234



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

Issue and Revision Record

A 05/10/20 Hannah J Hitchcock Brian Niven Streamlined IIA for the preferred
18 Grounds option including consultation
Mike analysis
Montgomery
Sam Duff

Document reference: 1|11

This document is issued for the party which commissioned it and for specific purposes connected with the above-
captioned project only. It should not be relied upon by any other party or used for any other purpose.

We accept no responsibility for the consequences of this document being relied upon by any other party, or being used
for any other purpose, or containing any error or omission which is due to an error or omission in data supplied to us by
other parties.

This document contains confidential information and proprietary intellectual property. It should not be shown to other
parties without consent from us and from the party which commissioned it.

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 235

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

Contents

Executive summary

1 Scope and approach

2 Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan
3 Health impacts

4 Travel and access impacts

5 Equality impacts

6 Sustainability impacts

7 Conclusions

A. Bibliography

B. Equality chapter of scoping report

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 236
C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx

10

15

21

28

32

34

38

40



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

Executive summary

An outline of service changes proposed by the Kent and Medway Sustainability
and Transformation Plan

The Kent and Medway STP has four key priorities. These are:

1. Prevention of ill-health

2. Local care

3. Hospital care

4. Mental health

The STP also focuses on: productivity improvements (drawing on lessons from the Carter
Review'); enablers (encompassing three strategic priorities of workforce, digital and estates);
and system leadership (transforming commissioning, and communications and engagement).

Wave one
Wave one of the STP sets out the priority services for transformation. These service areas are:

e Stroke services across Kent and Medway
e Vascular services across Kent and Medway

e Emergency care in East Kent (including acute medicine, accident and emergency (A&E),
and critical care)

e Elective orthopaedic services in East Kent
This report focuses on stroke services.

Summary of proposed changes

Currently stroke patients are treated in one of seven hospitals; though there are no Hyperacute
Stroke Units (HASUs).” The proposed change is to deliver stroke care for Kent and Medway in
three combined HASUs and ASUs (acute stroke units) at three sites”.

The preferred option is for the HASUs to be located at:

1. Darent Valley Hospital
2. Maidstone Hospital,
3. William Harvey Hospital

' Department of Health (2015): ‘Productivity in NHS hospitals’.

*Thereis a temporary halt to emergency care provision, including stroke, at Kent & Canterbury Hospital.

“ HASUs bring experts and equipment under one roof to provide the very best immediate assessment and treatment for a stroke,
reducing death rates and long-term disability. People can expect to stay in a HASU for three days. An ASU is an acute stroke unit. After
three days in a HASU, many people are well enough to continue their recovery at home. Those who are not well enough to go home from
hospital get the best recovery in an ASU. ASUs have many of the same specialist staff as a HASU, but because people have been
stabilised, their care and treatment does not need to be so intensive.

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 237

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

The aim of an integrated impact assessment (IlA) is to explore the potential positive and
negative consequences of Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP)
proposals to transform healthcare in Kent and Medway. The purpose of impact assessments is
not to determine the decision, rather it is to assist decision-makers by giving them better
information on how best they can promote and protect the well-being of the local communities
that they serve.

The scope of the Kent and Medway STP service review and study area for the IlA is the eight
clinical commissioning groups (CCGs)" across Kent and Medway. A health impact assessment
(HIA), a travel and access impact assessment, an equality impact assessment (EqlA) (in which
the impacts of the proposals on protected characteristic groups™ and deprived communities are
assessed) and a sustainability impact assessment have been conducted as part of this llA.

The following sections summarise the likely positive and negative impacts identified through this
[IA, under the four impact topic headings.

Positive impacts

The proposed changes will improve patient outcomes and remove the variation currently
experienced.

The consolidation of workforce resources will enable the three comprehensive stroke units to
sustainably achieve recommended workforce standards. This will create a more sustainable
workforce for providing stroke care across Kent and Medway.

Rehabilitation services for stroke patients will be improved, supporting patients to regain their
independence and overall quality of life.

Negative impacts

For patients experiencing a stroke whilst already in hospital at one of the four sites no longer
providing stroke services, a transfer will be required to a HASU. This could potentially have a
negative impact on patient outcomes although appropriate protocols will be in place to
mitigate against this.

With activity for stroke services being consolidated onto fewer hospital sites, there is a risk
that capacity could become constrained within these units.

If links between clinical inter-dependent services across the wider STP programme are not
appropriately maintained, this has the potential to negatively impact on the safety of care.

The reconfiguration of stroke services is considered to bring logistical challenges for some
staff, which could result in increased staff turnover and the loss of current expertise.

Patient choice will reduce for these specialist stroke services.

Positive impacts

The eight CCGs are Ashford CCG, Canterbury and Coastal CCG, Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG, Medway CCG, South Kent
Coast CCG, Swale CCG, Thanet CCG and West Kent CCG.

These are set out as age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or
belief, sex and sexual orientation in the Equality Act 2010.

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 238

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

No positive travel and access impacts were identified.
Negative impacts

The proposed changes will mean that some patients will have to travel further to access a
stroke service.

The proposed changes will result in longer ambulance journeys for some patients required to
be conveyed to a HASU, which will negatively impact the capacity of the ambulance service.

The proposed changes as part of the preferred option result in a reduction in accessibility to
stroke services within 30 minutes and 45 minutes by blue light ambulance (BLA).

The proposed changes will mean that some patients will have to travel further to access a
stroke service.

Positive impacts

Patients identified as having a disproportionate need for stroke services are likely to use
these services more and, therefore, experience the benefits of improved health outcomes to
a greater extent. These groups are:

Age (older people aged 65 and over)
Disabled people

Pregnancy and maternity

Race and ethnicity

People from deprived communities

Negative impacts

Some patients and visitors will experience increased travel costs, which are likely to
disproportionately impact upon those on lower incomes.

The high financial cost of certain transport methods could act as a barrier to utilising
alternative transport modes to cars.

Increased journey times or the need to make different and/or unfamiliar journeys to access
care, is likely to affect some equality groups more than the general population.

The preferred option will have disproportionately longer journey times for those from
deprived areas.

Positive impacts

No positive sustainability impacts were identified.

Negative impacts

This Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions for the preferred option is outlined below.

The assessment shows that the preferred option is expected to increase emissions (a small
negative impact of 467 tco,e). Enhancements and mitigations

The following table provides a summary of the key enhancement and mitigation measures that
have been identified through this IIA.

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 239

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

Executive summary table 1: Enhancements and mitigations summary table

Health

Travel and access

Equality

Sustainability

Health outcomes:
Develop and distribute information on the care model for rehabilitation.
Emphasise prevention and health promotion activities to counter risk factors for stroke.
Closely monitor activity and outcome information to ensure standards and outcomes of
care are maintained.
Capacity issues:
Ensure the assessment of capacity and resources has sensitivities applied including:
The capacity of HASU/acute stroke unit (ASU) services at neighbouring hospitals
(should this be closer to patients than their nearest HASU in Kent and Medway)
The impact on capacity if patients choose to self-present at hospitals with a HASU
and require other acute services.
Continue to review the co-dependencies matrix to ensure that essential links are
maintained.
Develop a workforce plan and undertake engagement to understand further the
consequences of the potential impacts and recruitment

Communications with the public should highlight the drivers for change, with a
particular focus of engagement with seldom heard groups in the community

Engage with the ambulance service to assess the impact of change on their capacity
and ascertain the additional resources that may be needed to minimise any impact on the
wider ambulance service.

Review the current travel plans for hospitals selected in the preferred option

Encourage collaboration between local authorities and hospitals to better understand
any transport strategies which can help to mitigate any travel impacts.

Engage with any local community organisations offering voluntary transport to
hospitals to understand the impacts of increased travel times on funding and capacity of
the service.

Maximise public transport accessibility of specialist centres through engagement with
local transport providers.

Ensure the effective communication of the future model of care to the local population,
so they understand how to access and use services and the potential increased journey
times

Provide access to BSL/English interpreters using remote access such as Skype,
FaceTime or Video Relay Service (VRS) where available.

No additional measures to enhance or mitigate sustainability impacts have been identified.

Source: Mott MacDonald

1]1]|1]|September 2018

Page 240

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

1 Scope and approach

The CCGs, NHS providers and upper tier local authorities in Kent and Medway have developed
a STP to transform the way in which health and social care services are delivered across the
Kent and Medway geographical footprint”. Four key priorities for the transformation of care have
been identified:

Prevention of ill-health
Local care

Hospital care

Mental health

The STP also focuses on: productivity improvements (drawing on lessons from the Carter
Review'); enablers (encompassing three strategic priorities of workforce, digital and estates);
and system leadership (transforming commissioning, and communications and engagement).
The programme is split into two waves, with the first wave now underway and the second wave
to be designed and implemented in 2018.

Wave one of the STP sets out the priority services for transformation. These service areas are:

Stroke services across Kent and Medway

Vascular services across Kent and Medway

Emergency care in East Kent (including acute medicine, accident and emergency (A&E),
and critical care)

Elective orthopaedic services in East Kent

It is important that those involved in making decisions about future health service configuration
understand the full range of potential impacts that the preferred option could have on the local
population. It is particularly important to understand the potential impacts on groups and
communities who will be the most sensitive to service changes. This is the purpose of the IIA
process.

This footprint is comprised of eight CCGs covering the following areas: Ashford, Canterbury and Coastal, Dartford, Gravesham and
Swanley, Medway, Thanet, Swale, South Kent Coast, West Kent.

Department of Health (2015): ‘Productivity in NHS hospitals’. The Carter Review looked at productivity and efficiency in English non-
specialist acute hospitals, concluding that there is a significant amount of unwarranted variation across the main resource areas. It is
estimated that this unwarranted variation is worth £5billion in terms of efficiency opportunities. The report makes 15
recommendations designed to tackle this variation and help trusts to improve their performance.

1111 September 2018 Page 241

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

[IAs are a key component of policy-making and help guide and appraise investment.” They have
long been identified as a mechanism by which potential effects on health outcomes and health
inequalities can be identified and redressed prior to implementation. According to the World
Health Organisation (WHO), impact assessments (including IIAs) provide “a combination of
procedures, methods and tools by which a policy, programme or project may be judged as to its
potential effects on the health of a population, and the distribution of those effects within the
population”.

The aim is to explore the positive and negative consequences of the preferred option and
produce a set of evidence-based, practical recommendations, which can then be used by
decision-makers to maximise the positive impacts and minimise any negative impacts.  Impact
Assessments act to assist decision-makers by giving them better information on how best they
can promote and protect the well-being of the local communities that they serve.

It is regarded as best practice to assess impacts for the whole population and highlight the
sections of the population which will be differently or disproportionately affected by the impacts.
These might be geographical communities or certain socio-economic or ‘equality’ groups.
Assessment of impacts, along with recommendations for opportunities and mitigations, are
drawn in part from evidence provided by representative and informed stakeholders. In this way,
the impact assessment process provides a certain level of independent scrutiny and democratic
legitimacy.

In May 2017, the Kent and Medway STP Programme Board commissioned Mott MacDonald to
undertake an lIA of wave one of the Kent and Medway STP. The objectives of this IIA are to:

Understand the overall demography and the protected characteristic groups (as defined by
the Equality Act 2010)  of the different CCG populations affected.
Undertake a HIA:
Identify the impact on patient outcomes, safety, effectiveness of care and patient
experience.
Undertake an EqlA, critical in supporting the CCGs in meeting their obligations under the
Equality Act 2010
Understand the impacts on protected characteristic groups ~ across the CCG populations
through a programme of stakeholder engagement.
Identify which (if any) of the protected characteristic groups are more likely to be affected
by the proposals due to their propensity to require different types of health services and
what these impacts will be.
Where impacts are disproportionate for certain groups, consider opportunities for
mitigating negative impacts and enhancing positive impacts.

HM Government (2011) ‘Impact Assessment Overview’
World Heath Organisation (2017): ‘Health Impact Assessment. Available at: http://www.who.int/topics/health_impact_assessment/en/
Herriott, N, and Williams, C (2010) ‘Health Impact Assessment of Government Policy’ .

The nine protected characteristic groups are: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion and belief, sex and sexual orientation.

Equality Act 2010 (Commencement No.3) Order 2010.
As defined in Chapter 4.

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 242

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

e Undertake a travel and access impact assessment:

— Consider increases and decreases in journey times and changes in journey patterns for
the overall impacts.

— Consider travel and access impacts for protected characteristic groups.
e Undertake a sustainability impact assessment:
— Identify any sustainability impacts by reporting on the carbon footprint change.

1.4.2 IIA update

In September 2018, the Kent and Medway STP Programme Board selected a preferred option
for the location of the HASUs — this document presents a singular llA for the preferred option
being taken forward. The following report therefore only considers the current preferred option,
referred in the previous IIA as option B.

1.5 The llA approach

Phases of the lIA

The 11A is designed to be an iterative process that can be revisited taking on board evidence
over the course of the CCGs’ proposal-development and consultation process. Work has been
structured around three stages, as shown in Figure 1.

Figure 1: Stage of the IIA

« Identify protected characteristics to be scoped into the next stages of the assessment
« Provide a high level description of potential health impacts

« Provide a high level description of potential travel impacts

« Map the distribution of residents from population groups likely to be impacted

« Engage with strategic stakeholders, such as clinicians and equality leads

Scoping report

» Undertake community engagement (focus groups and one to one interviews) with groups identified in the
scoping phase

« Appraise the positive and negative equality, health, travel and carbon impacts of the proposals, mitigation

=ldcielolgslizlilery)  measures and enhancement opportunities

report

« Review the findings of the public consultation and incorporate any relevant information on impacts into the 1A
Post-

consultation
report

1.6 Purpose of the scoping report

The first output of the IIA was a combined scoping report covering all of the services areas
included in the wave one review; it does not represent a full impact assessment. It is a high-
level report outlining the first stage of the 11A only. Based on analysis of available secondary
data pertaining to the population and health conditions and needs in Kent and Medway, it
presented preliminary observations on which groups are considered to have disproportionate

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 243
C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

need"” for the hospital services under review. The report mapped the density and distribution of
these groups across Kent and Medway in order to illustrate where there are high numbers of
those groups.

1.7 Purpose of the pre-consultation reports

The pre-consultation IlA reports appraise the Kent and Medway STP in terms of both the
positive and negative health, equality, travel and access, and sustainability impacts which
require consideration and/or action during the decision-making process. There are three
separate standalone reports covering: stroke services, vascular services and East Kent
emergency and elective orthopaedics services.

1.8 Purpose of the post-consultation reports

The post-consultation IIA reports take into account the findings of the public consultation and
incorporate any relevant information on impacts into the lIA.

The study area
The primary study area for this IIA consists of the eight CCGs'” across Kent and Medway, which

is shown in Figure 2, along with the acute hospitals in the area and the population density.

Figure 2: Study area and population density

Overview.
A

Legend
Population density
Total population per Hectare

.
[ s0to40

20 to 30

110t0 20
[

gk Included hospital

ESiudy area
I:]CCG boundary

Hospital

£
e

Folkestone

35 Newhal Stieet
Bimingaam
M United Kingdor

MACDONALD e o

Kent and Medway IIA

Total Population Density

o

TIPGiZets CR | For nformabon W | Fr

‘Containg S 281 & Cioon Gzt an dslsbisse cghated | ReV | Date  Drmwn | Desorpton chka| As'd

[ T ey T e P ETrT
o L 10 15 20 25 " 1:350,000

Source: Lower layer super output area (LSOA) MYE population estimates 2016, Office for National Statistics (ONS)

“ The term ‘disproportionate need’ is used to identify a need for a service or treatment that is above the need of the general population.

* The eight CCGs are Ashford CCG, Canterbury and Coastal CCG, Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG, Medway CCG, South Kent
Coast CCG , Swale CCG, Thanet CCG and West Kent CCG.

1111 September 2018 Page 244
C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

This 11A is based on the following principles, assumptions and limitations:

It is not the purpose of the IIA to justify, defend or challenge the rationale or principles behind
proposed reforms put forward by the Kent and Medway CCGs.

The purpose of the IIA is to inform rather than decide. The objective is not to make the
decision, but to assist decision makers by providing better information.

With respect to the engagement that has been undertaken to support this l1A:
Ten interviews were undertaken with clinicians.
Eight interviews were undertaken with equality leads and service providers

Three interviews were undertaken with community groups: community groups were
invited via email to participate in this report through one-to-one interviews. They were
sent two reminder emails to take part in an interview.

Five focus groups were undertaken across Kent and Medway with groups considered to
have a disproportionate need for stroke services.

Table 1: Focus groups

Tunbridge Wells People aged 65 and older NHS West Kent CCG
Isle of Sheppey People aged 65 and older NHS Swale CCG
Margate People from the most deprived quintiles in ~ NHS Thanet CCG
the local area
Gillingham People from a BAME background NHS Medway CCG
Greenhithe People from a BAME background NHS Dartford Gravesham and Swanley CCG

Source: Mott MacDonald 2017

The travel modelling parameters are set to provide an indication of typical journeys. They
will not exactly match each individual patient experience.

To estimate journey distances for the GHG assessment, the medium journey time has been
used alongside the average speed of local A roads. To estimate GHG emissions from
distances, the mode of transport has been assumed to be in line with the national
breakdown of distance travelled by each mode, excluding air, motorcycle and peddle cycle.

The remainder of the report is structured as follows:

Chapter two: detail on the Kent and Medway STP
Chapter three: assessment of health impacts

Chapter four: assessment of travel and access impacts
Chapter five: assessment of equality impacts

Chapter six: assessment of sustainability impacts

Chapter seven: conclusions including opportunities for enhancement and mitigation
measures

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 245

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan 10
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

2 Kent and Medway Sustainability and
Transformation Plan

The overarching ‘case for change’ developed by the Kent and Medway STP ™ sets out the
drivers for change in delivering health and social care. These are:

Increase in the local population: From 2011 to 2031, planned housing developments are
expected to result in an additional 414,000 residents in Kent and Medway. " This growth is
forecast to be distributed unevenly across Kent and Medway, with most housing growth in
Medway, Dartford and Maidstone.

Aging population with more complex health needs: Growth in the number of people aged
65 and over in Kent and Medway is over four times greater than growth in those under 65
The older population will have greater and more complex health needs than those who are
under 65.

Health inequalities across Kent and Medway: Poor health outcomes are more prevalent
among some groups, living in certain areas. For example, women living in the most deprived
areas of Thanet live, on average, 22 years less than those in the least deprived areas . The
prevalence of mental health problems in Kent and Medway is generally in line with the rest of
England, but mental health problems disproportionately affect people living in the most
deprived areas in Kent and Medway.

Local people living in poor health with preventable long-term conditions: Over 528,000
local people live with one or more significant long-term health conditions,” many of which
are preventable. National data suggests that for those living with one long-term condition,
spending is three times higher than for a healthy individual (rising to 10 times higher for
those with two long-term conditions).”” This is higher for Kent and Medway, where the total
spend per resident with a long-term condition is six times higher than for a healthy resident

Kent and Medway are facing financial challenges: Commissioners and providers in Kent
and Medway had a forecast deficit of £110m in deficit in 2016/17, and if nothing changes,
are expected to be £486m in deficit by 2020/21.

As a result of these challenges, Kent and Medway CCGs put forward proposals to change the
way in which some services are delivered. The first set of these services, those identified in
‘wave one’ are stroke, vascular, emergency care and elective orthopaedics.

The map below sets out the seven hospitals in Kent and Medway.

Comprised of Kent and Medway CCGs, Kent and Medway NHS Trusts, Kent and Medway local authorities

Kent and Medway NHS (2016): ‘Transforming health and social care in Kent and Medway: Sustainability and Transformation Plan’
Kent and Medway NHS (2016): ‘Transforming health and social care in Kent and Medway: Sustainability and Transformation Plan’
Kent and Medway NHS (2016): ‘Transforming health and social care in Kent and Medway: Sustainability and Transformation Plan’
Kent and Medway NHS (2016): ‘Transforming health and social care in Kent and Medway: Sustainability and Transformation Plan’
House of Commons Health Committee (2015): ‘Managing the care of people with long-term conditions’.

Kent and Medway NHS (2016): ‘Transforming health and social care in Kent and Medway: Sustainability and Transformation Plan’
Ibid

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 246

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

Figure 3: Hospitals in Kent and Medway

Darent

Valley 25

Hospital
1

ugen
7 Elizabeth
Queen
Mother
Hospital

Maidstone ! / and [X
3 S { £
Hospital g Canterbury
Hospital >

~—L_ A/

dh L \
4 William 7
Tunbridge g 8
Wells 5 Harvey

Hospital 1 Hosgltal

Qurvisn

Contains O deta & Cronr
Copymght ars dstabsse right 2017

Legend
+ Included Hospitals

Dstudy Area
\_ |CCG Boundary
1. Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley CCG
2. Medway CCG
3. West Kent CCG
4. Swale CCG
5. Ashford CCG
6. Canterbury & Coastal CCG
7. Thanet CCG
B. South Kent Coast CCG

M 5

MOTT
MACDONALD anmaaacom.

Kent & Medway CCG IIA

Study Area Overview

ot towavar? [ A8 | Fa rknton o |
Contane 5 t 58 m Crowt Copyngrt snd sascasa ngri201¢ | Re Dot |Draun | Desrpton K

L 1 E=TRr Bravna

0 5 a 18 20 25 o 1:350,000

Source: Mott MacDonald 2017

The current provision for stroke services and the proposed changes is set out overleaf.

1111 September 2018 Page 247
C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx

11



8¢ abed

Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

Table 2: Current provision and proposed changes for stroke services

12

Stroke Only half of all patients are
admitted within the four-hour
waiting target. This performance
is below the national average.
Hospitals do not provide seven-
day consultant ward rounds.
Patient volumes are too small to
deliver clinical sustainability.

Stroke patients are treated in one of
the seven hospitals outlined above;
though there are no HASU.

Seven-day medical ward rounds only
operate in Tunbridge Wells Hospital
(TWH), not always consultant led (on
a 1:3 rota).

Consultant assessment is available
in all units over the weekends via
telemedicine rotas.

Seven-day therapy is partially
available at the Medway NHS
Foundation Trust (MFT) and the
Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust
(DGT).

No unit meets the recommended
workforce complement across any
profession.

Consolidate stroke services onto three sites, each with a HASU.
This will mean that:
Seven-day specialist consultant-led care will be available.

More direct access from ambulance transfers to stroke assessment units (this
means that people who have had a stroke will have quicker access to specialist
stroke care and stroke teams, without having to first be seen by a generalist
doctor in A&E). Improved patient outcomes due to co-location with critical co-
dependent specialist clinical services.

Improved access to physio and other therapies following the stroke

Early supported discharge for a majority of patients.

TIAs that require ambulance conveyancing would be treated in the HASU/ASUs

There is a temporary halt to emergency care provision, including stroke, at Kent & Canterbury Hospital.

1]1]1]|September 2018

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

An initial long list of options was developed, these were reduced down to a medium list of
proposed service models using a hurdle criteria for subsequent evaluation.

Table 3: Medium list proposed service models

Current

Proposal one

Proposal two

Proposal three

Proposal four

Proposal five

Proposal six

Proposal seven

Proposal eight

Proposal nine

Proposal ten

Proposal eleven

Four trusts providing stroke services across seven sites (Darent Valley
Hospital, Kent and Canterbury Hospital, Maidstone Hospital, Medway Maritime
Hospital, Queen Elizabeth the Queen Mother Hospital, Tunbridge Wells Hospital
and William Harvey Hospital).
A HASU at:

1. Darent Valley Hospital

2. William Harvey Hospital

3. Queen Elizabeth the Queen Mother Hospital
A HASU at:

1. Maidstone Hospital,

2. Medway Maritime Hospital

3. Queen Elizabeth the Queen Mother Hospital
A HASU at:

1. Darent Valley Hospital

2. Medway Maritime Hospital

3. William Harvey Hospital
A HASU at:

1. Darent Valley Hospital

2.  Medway Maritime Hospital

3. Queen Elizabeth the Queen Mother Hospital
A HASU at:

1. Darent Valley Hospital

2. Maidstone Hospital,

3. William Harvey Hospital
A HASU at:

1. Darent Valley Hospital

2. Maidstone Hospital,

3. Queen Elizabeth the Queen Mother Hospital
A HASU at:

1. Darent Valley Hospital

2. Tunbridge Wells Hospital,

3. Queen Elizabeth the Queen Mother Hospital
A HASU at:

1. Maidstone Hospital,

2.  Medway Maritime Hospital

3.  William Harvey Hospital
A HASU at:

1. Tunbridge Wells Hospital,

2. Medway Maritime Hospital

3. Queen Elizabeth the Queen Mother Hospital
A HASU at:

1. Tunbridge Wells Hospital,

2. Medway Maritime Hospital

3.  William Harvey Hospital
A HASU at:

1. Darent Valley Hospital

2. Tunbridge Wells Hospital,

3. William Harvey Hospital

Source: Kent and Medway SEC Clinical Senate Submission

There is a temporary halt to emergency care provision, including stroke, at Kent & Canterbury Hospital.

1]1]|1]|September 2018

Page 249

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx

13



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

A shortlisting exercise conducted by the CCGs was undertaken to reduce the number of models
to carry forward. Five proposals are to be included in the pre-consultation business case
(PCBC) and these would be re-named A, B, C, D and E. A full llA of the shortlisted proposals
was completed in January 2018.

Table 4: Shortlisted proposals

A HASU at:

Proposal three 1. Darent Valley Hospital A
2. Medway Maritime Hospital
3.  William Harvey Hospital

A HASU at:

Proposal five 1. Darent Valley Hospital B
2. Maidstone Hospital,
3. William Harvey Hospital

A HASU at:

Proposal eight 1. Maidstone Hospital, C
2. Medway Maritime Hospital
3.  William Harvey Hospital

A HASU at:
Proposal ten 1. Tunbridge Wells Hospital, D

2. Medway Maritime Hospital
3. William Harvey Hospital

A HASU at:
P el 1. Darent Valley Hospital
roposal eleven 2.  Tunbridge Wells Hospital, E

3.  William Harvey Hospital

Source: Kent and Medway SEC Clinical Senate Submission

In September 2018 it was announced that the preferred option was option B. This report
therefore only focuses on the preferred option.

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 250

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx

14



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan 15
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

3 Health impacts

This chapter identifies health impacts which may be experienced when the preferred option is
implemented. This chapter presents impacts within three sub sections; health outcomes, service
impacts and workforce impacts.

The proposed changes will have a positive impact on patient outcomes and remove the
variation currently experienced across Kent and Medway.

The creation of HASUs in Kent and Medway should lead to improved clinical outcomes for
patients in comparison to the current model. This can be evidenced in the varied and
inconsistent performance of current units against the Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme
(SSNAP).

The clinical evidence”' highlights that the best outcomes for patients are delivered within
specialist units that have adopted measures such as rapid access to advanced tests, such as
CT and MRI scanning, treatments such as thrombolysis and thrombectomy, and the 24-hour
presence of specialist stroke doctors and nurses along with other complementary specialist
teams. These outcomes are seen when the initial care of all patients with acute stroke (other
than rare exceptions such as end-of-life care) are assessed in a HASU with access to all the
services that may help survival and recovery. Access to hyper-acute stroke care should be
available 24 hours a day, seven days a week and should be for all people with acute stroke, not
just those who might be suitable for intravenous thrombolysis.”” As an example, a 2014 study
evaluating the centralisation of acute stroke services reported decreases in unadjusted mortality
at 30 days of between 1.6% and 2.8% for the two areas studied, as well as an absolute decline
in risk adjusted length of hospital stay of between -2.0 days and -1.4 days.

Through the streamlining of services, such as consistently delivering direct access from
ambulances to the stroke assessment unit, it is likely that the proportion of patients receiving
thrombolysis within the agreed standards of 120 minutes ‘call to needle’ and 30 minutes ‘door to
needle’ will increase. This is of considerable importance for improving patient outcomes.
Therapeutic yield is known to be maximal in this timeframe, declining rapidly over the next five
hours, which highlights the importance of early presentation and treatment.” Clinical
stakeholders engaged with as part of this IlA also highlighted the improvement in patient
outcomes as a key driver and benefit for this proposed change, citing evidence that patients
treated in a HASU, which meets all necessary quality standards, are less likely to die or be
disabled at the 30 days, three and six-month timepoints after their stroke. There are therefore
also likely to be medium term benefits for the wider healthcare economy because of lower
health and social care costs resulting from a reduction in disabilities and longer-term
rehabilitation costs. It is also considered that services would also improve as those with

Kent and Medway STP (2 March 2017) Clinical Models Summary: Submission to the South East Coast Clinical Senate
The King’s Fund (2014) The reconfiguration of clinical services
Royal College of Physicians (2016) National clinical guideline for stroke. Fifth edition.

Morris S et al (2014) Impact of centralising acute stroke services in English metropolitan areas on mortality and length of hospital stay:
difference-in-differences analysis. BMJ 2014;349:94757

Saver, J. L., Smith, E. E., Fonarow, G. C., Reeves, M. J., Zhao, X., Olson, D. M., & Schwamm, L. H. (2010). The “golden hour” and
acute brain ischemia. Stroke, 41(7), 1431-1439.

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 251

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan 16
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

expertise and skills specialised in stroke will be located together, and will see a critical mass of
patients. One clinician further highlighted the clinical benefits in potentially establishing
mechanical thrombectomy, although it is recognised that this is not directly part of the preferred
option. Findings from community engagement also corroborated available evidence on the
perceived benefits of centralising stroke services. Participants viewed that improved outcomes
for patients could be achieved through the concentration of specific services and senior clinical
input.

Patient choice will reduce for these specialist stroke services however, the potential to
improve outcomes is a balancing factor.

Nationally, it is recognised that the way in which health services are configured should support
choice as a principle and this is an important part of the NHS constitution. Choice of hospital
service is however only pertinent to those admissions which are planned and booked, yet nearly
all stroke patients are likely to be conveyed by ambulance to their nearest HASU. Therefore,
whilst the preferred option will reduce choice of hospital providing this care from seven sites to
three, the potential for improved health outcomes at the HASU must be balanced against this.

Rehabilitation services for stroke patients will be improved, having a positive impact on
patients in regaining their independence and overall quality of life.

Under the preferred option, rehabilitation services will be improved and early supported
discharge will be available to a minimum of 50% of patients.” Stroke rehabilitation is very
important to help patients regain their independence and overall quality of life, most often
involving a combination of motor-skill exercise and mobility therapy, technology assisted
physical activities, and cognitive and emotional activities.” The evidence base for the impact of
reconfiguration and centralisation on rehabilitation specifically, as part of the stroke care
pathway, is still evolving.

There is consensus that stroke rehabilitation overall is effective in producing improved patient
outcomes, and it is recommended that patients should first receive rehabilitation in a dedicated
inpatient unit, with maximised resources, and after that from a specialist community team.™ A
clinical stakeholder highlighted the benefits of rehabilitation being provided alongside HASU and
ASU services, as this allows for the rapid transfer of patients between services (should their
condition deteriorate for example), as well as providing continuation of care for patients. This
model of care also builds on evidence that patient satisfaction and outcomes are better in a
stroke rehabilitation ward, or when possible at home, than for rehabilitation in hospital.

Kent and Medway STP (2 March 2017) Clinical models summary: Submission to the South East Coast Clinical Senate, Slide 48
Mayo Clinic 2017 Stroke rehabilitation: What to expect as you recover
NIHR 2015 Centralising stroke services improves chances of patients getting the right care

Although the rehabilitation stroke care pathway is still evolving we conclude that there will be a positive impact as a result of the
reconfiguration.

NICE Stroke Rehabilitation: Long term rehabilitation after stroke

Ramsay Al, Morris S, Hoffman A, et al. (2015) Effects of centralizing acute stroke services on stroke care provision in two large
metropolitan areas in England. Stroke 46: 2244-2251

Fearon P, Langhorne P (2012) Early Supported Discharge Services for reducing duration of hospital care for acute stroke patients.
Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews Issue 9

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 252

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan 17
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

This reflects national guidance which states that “the closer a rehabilitation service is to the
person’s home the more that family/carers can be engaged and the more targeted the
rehabilitation can be”.

For patients experiencing a stroke whilst already in hospital at one of the four sites no longer
providing stroke services, a transfer will be required to a HASU. This could potentially have a
negative impact on patient outcomes although appropriate protocols will be in place to mitigate
against this.

The reduction in the number of sites providing HASU service may mean that some patients who
are already in hospital receiving other services may be required to be transferred to a HASU.
This could potentially have a negative impact on patient outcomes. For example, the Royal
College highlights that one in 20 strokes occur in people already in hospital. Clinicians in high-
risk clinical areas should therefore have awareness of the need to identify and treat acute
neurological presentations urgently, including direct admission to a HASU for emergency stroke
treatment.

With activity for stroke services being consolidated onto fewer hospitals, there is a risk
that capacity could become constrained within these units. This could, in turn, have a
negative impact on the responsiveness, safety and quality of patient care.

Consolidating HASU and ASU services onto fewer hospital sites will inevitably result in an
increased volume of activity at these hospitals, as well as resulting in increased demand for
inter-dependent or clinical support services such as diagnostic scans. Unless appropriately
scoped and resourced, the capacity of these services could have a potentially negative affect on
the responsiveness and quality of patient care within both stroke services but also within other
acute services provided on site. Activity modelling has been undertaken by the STP Programme
which should look to mitigate against this potential impact.

There may also be some patients who are picked up by the ambulance service on the border of
Kent and Medway and may be conveyed to the geographically closest HASU which is within a
neighbouring area. These numbers are likely to be small but to maintain safe and responsive
services, it is essential that these neighbouring HASUs can accommodate this activity with their
own capacity constraints.

Finally, a clinical stakeholder has also highlighted that the HASU designation of a hospital may
result in an unintended consequence of patients choosing to self-present at these sites with
non-stroke conditions, creating additional demand within their emergency departments.

If links between clinical inter-dependent services across the wider STP programme are
not appropriately maintained, this has the potential to negatively impact on the safety of
patient care.

RCP (2016) National clinical guideline for stroke
Royal College of Physicians (2016) National clinical guideline for stroke. Fifth edition.

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 253

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

The South-East Coast Clinical Senate has thoroughly documented the co-dependencies
between stroke services and other acute services.” As part of the wider STP programme, it is
important that these dependencies are appropriately maintained to ensure that all hospital
services remain safe and do not negatively impact patient care. For example, the Royal College
highlights that cardiology, renal wards, and cardiothoracic units are examples of the high-risk
clinical areas which may need to directly admit patients to a HASU. Therefore, where wider STP
development plans include these other acute services it is important to continue to review these
dependencies.

The full evaluation undertaken by the Programme has highlighted that the preferred option
achieves the co-dependencies outlined by the South-East Coast Clinical Senate and has the
required co-dependencies for mechanical thrombectomy.

However, a separate review of emergency care services is being conducted in East Ken. If
following the review, the William Harvey Hospital was no longer considered to be a long-term
option for emergency and specialist services, it is unlikely that the site would be considered
viable for a HASU, and as such the expected health impacts will differ from those outlined in this
report.

The proposed changes will result in longer ambulance journeys for some patients
required to be conveyed to a HASU, as well as additional transfers, which may negatively
impact the capacity of the ambulance service.

Patients will be conveyed to one of three comprehensive stroke units, meaning that the
ambulance service will be required to undertake some longer journeys than currently
undertaken. There may also be an increased number of transfers for patients currently receiving
other care in hospital but requiring access to a HASU. This will have a negative impact on the
capacity of the ambulance service in terms of ambulance and paramedic resources. It is
understood that facilities and infrastructure are a key enabler within the continued development
of these proposals. Now a preferred option has been decided, the ambulance service should be
involved in assessing the materiality of this impact and how it can be mitigated.

Stakeholders and the community engagement have also highlighted this impact, noting that
additional resources may be required to minimise the impact on the wider ambulance service
and its response times. These concerns were raised in the consultation analysis, with
respondents suggesting that the increased ambulance times may disproportionately impact on
residents of East Kent.

The consolidation of workforce resources will enable the three comprehensive stroke
units to sustainably achieve recommended workforce standards. Increased consultant
presence is associated with positive outcomes for patients.

Consolidation of these services, and the associated workforce, will allow for recommended
workforce standards to be achieved, which are in turn associated with improved patient
outcomes. For example, seven-day consultant ward rounds will be delivered across the three

South East Coast Clinical Senate (2014) The Clinical Co-Dependencies of Acute Hospital Services —A Clinical Senate Review

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 254

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx

18



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan 19
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

hospitals, in contrast to the current situation where seven-day ward rounds only operate at one
site and are not always consultant led.

Stakeholders consulted as part of this IIA considered that, in the long-term, stroke services in
their current form are not sustainable, due to the current workforce pressures on staff as they
work hard to try and maintain the quality of care. Anecdotally, it is reported that this has created
challenges in retaining staff with specialist yet scarce skills and expertise. The proposed
consolidation will therefore ensure that appropriate rota patterns can be established, creating a
more sustainable working environment for staff, as well allowing for new clinical standards of
care to be delivered.

A clinical stakeholder also highlighted, however, that the appetite for consultants to specialise in
stroke services can be lower than other specialities, and is declining. This may therefore create
a longer-term risk that the new model of care may not be delivered as planned. Nonetheless,
the consolidation of workforce resources onto fewer sites will create more opportunity to achieve
appropriate staffing levels and the implementation of the new model of care may encourage
staff to join the service.

Stakeholders from the community engagement believed that that the concentration of expertise
in the combined HASU and ASUs will allow clinical resources to be pooled, enabling workforce
standards to be achieved.

Proposed changes will create a more sustainable workforce for providing stroke care
across Kent and Medway. This in turn will support the retention of current staff, as well
as future recruitment requirements.

As described in section 3.1 above, the consolidation of workforce resources will enable the
three comprehensive stroke units to establish appropriate rota patterns and a more sustainable
working model for staff. This contrasts with the current situation where stakeholders have
anecdotally commented that some staff are being asked to work one in two weekends, which
does not enable an appropriate work life balance. Clinical stakeholders have highlighted that
this is likely to support the retention of current staff, as well as the recruitment of staff in the
future. This is important in an area where anecdotally in recent years, several stroke consultants
have left the service, moving to areas that are better organised and have already made these
reconfiguration changes.

In the longer term, recruitment may also benefit from staff being attracted to move to Kent and
Medway to work as part of an established and high-quality stroke network, which offers a variety
of specialist roles and training opportunities. Clinical stakeholders supported this view, as did
stakeholders in local listening events. Community engagement also corroborated that
through the creation of more resilient teams, factors such as staff satisfaction, staff retention
and recruitment will also be positively impacted by a greater ability to develop roles and
responsibilities, increased availability of specialisation and training opportunities.

The reconfiguration of stroke services is considered to bring challenges for some staff,
which could result in negative impacts such as increased staff turnover and the loss of
current expertise.

East Kent Delivery Board (March 2017) East Kent Listening Event: Feedback Report
West Kent CCG (April 2017) West Kent Health and Care Listening Events: Feedback Reports

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 255

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan 20
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

Clinical and community engagement stakeholders have identified that some negative workforce
impacts may be realised as part of the proposed reconfiguration. For example, it is widely
recognised that there is a national challenge in terms of recruiting to stroke physician posts and
one stakeholder highlighted the risk that existing staff may leave if the implementation process
is too lengthy, creates uncertainty and is not properly communicated.

The proposed change is likely to require staff from four of the current sites to change their place
of employment. This may result in some staff having to travel further to their place of work;
which is likely to have an impact in terms of the personal costs of travel, as well as the
inconvenience associated with additional journey times and the implications on childcare
commitments for example.

Some of these staff can also work across different specialties and may therefore look for
opportunities to move departments within their existing employer. This may have a short term
transitional negative impact on the operational running of the service, and particularly during its
transfer to a new site.

As a result of the preferred option, some staff may not feel able or willing to change their
working arrangements and may therefore not continue working in this service area. This may be
a risk if staff with specialist expertise which are in demand nationally are lost. Stakeholders
highlighted that the recruitment of new staff can be time-consuming and expensive.

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 256

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan 21
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

4 Travel and access impacts

This chapter identifies travel and access impacts, which could potentially be experienced as a
consequence of implementing the preferred option. The chapter presents impacts for BLA as
the journeys by patients for the services assessed would typically be made by this mode of
transport. Quantitative and qualitative journey time analysis is provided for the preferred option;
along with maps visualising BLA travel times. Detailed analysis by an equality group is included
within the equality chapter (chapter 5).

The proposed changes will result in longer ambulance journeys for some patients
required to be conveyed to a HASU which may negatively impact the capacity of the
ambulance service.

Patients will be conveyed to one of three comprehensive stroke units, meaning that the
ambulance service will be required to undertake some longer journeys than currently
undertaken. This will have a negative impact on the capacity of the ambulance service in terms
of ambulance and paramedic resources. It is understood that facilities and infrastructure are a
key enabler within the continued development of these proposals. As a preferred proposal has
been decided, the ambulance service should be involved in assessing the materiality of this
impact and how it can be mitigated.

Stakeholders and the community engagement have also highlighted this impact, noting that
additional resources may be required to minimise the impact on the wider ambulance service
and its response times. Respondents to the consultation analysis raised the issue of increased
travel times on the ambulance service as a potential concern.

The proposed changes will mean that some patients will have to travel further to access
a comprehensive stroke service. Whilst it is recognised that this delay to care could have
a potential negative impact on the outcome of the patient, it is considered that this is
offset by having access to a streamlined and fully resourced HASU service on arrival.

Within local listening events and engagement undertaken as part of this IIA, some stakeholders
expressed concern about the distance to specialist services, delaying access to care. There is
recognition that this may increase the ‘call to needle time’ which can have a negative impact on
health outcomes for patients. It may also increase the period in which patients may experience
discomfort during the ambulance journey itself.

National guidance states that people with suspected acute stroke should be admitted directly to
a HASU and be assessed for emergency stroke treatments by a specialist physician without
delay. It recognises however the balance between location and critical mass; “stroke services
should be organised to treat a sufficient number of patients to ensure that the specialist skills of

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 257

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan 22
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

the workforce are maintained”.”” It is recognised that whilst the patient may receive a delay in
accessing care, the treatment they receive when arriving at the HASU will be streamlined,
provided by staffing with appropriate expertise and will be of high quality. This is corroborated
by other reports that state whilst delay for people with life-threatening conditions is linked to
poorer outcomes, it is the timing of the start of appropriate treatment rather than the timing of
arrival at hospital that affects the outcome.™ Therefore, rapid access to the specialist team once
at the hospital can offset or overcome the risk created by the additional travel time.

For the period that care is provided at the comprehensive stroke unit, negative travel and
access impacts may be experienced by the visitors and carers of patients. This may also
have some impact on the recovery of patients.

It is recognised that family, carers, and visitors will have to travel further to visit patients
receiving HASU, ASU or rehabilitation care and this is explored further in the travel and access
impacts section of this report.

Whilst stakeholders are generally accepting of receiving specialist care in a location further
away from their place of residence, where rehabilitation is hospital based, they have highlighted
that potential negative impacts may be experienced as patients will be recovering from their
stroke further away from their home, potentially constraining access to carers and visitors. It is
considered that this could have a negative impact on their recovery and general wellbeing
including feeling isolated.

The consultation analysis highlighted increased travel time for visitors as a key concern,
particularly for those living in East Kent. The response to the consultation stated as a preferred
option has now been chosen the impacts on families and carers will need to be assessed in
terms of mitigating these potential impacts.

Travel and access analysis has been undertaken on the basis of population data in line with
previous analysis conducted by Carnall Farrar. The study area used for the travel time analysis
includes LSOAs for which the shortest travel time at off-peak times to a stroke service is to a
stroke service within Kent & Medway. Following discussions with South East London
Commissioners, Kings College Hospital Foundation Trust and London Ambulance Service it
was agreed that the only South East London patients that would be included in the catchment
area would be from Bexley CCG™". The study area is illustrated in the map below:

RCP (2016) National clinical guideline for stroke
Kings Fund (2011) Reconfiguring hospital services
Based on information received from Carnal Farrar

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 258

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

Figure 4: Catchment area

NHS Dartford, Legend

Gravesham and
Swanley CCG

LSOA boundary

[ cCG boundary

NHS Canterbury
and Coastal CCG

NHS South
Kent Coast

MOTT M

MACDONALD

1444 o121 231 1687
¢ v motinac.con

Kent and Medway IIA

Revised Stroke
LSOA catchment

01 | 02102016 | CR | Forlnformaion Wi | FF

Containe 0% dste & C/own Copynghtana savacase natmzo1s | Re | Date  [orawn| Descopton crkd| Acp'd

T Tiea Scale 323
w | o 10 B £ (1) 1:360.000

Source: Carnall Farrar

Impacts have been discussed within the equality impacts chapter for those with disabilities,
those who are older than 65 years, males, BAME people, those who are pregnant or recently
have given birth and for those from deprived communities.

Travel time data has been provided by Basemap ~ and ‘off peak car’ has been used to
represent travel times by BLA. The travel time for each option has been calculated based upon
the minimum travel time from LSOAs to hospitals offering stroke services. Sites within Kent and
Medway considered as part of the baseline and the preferred option are detailed below:

Baseline:

Darrent Valley Hospital

Maidstone General Hospital

Tunbridge Wells Hospital

Medway Maritime Hospital

William Harvey Hospital

Queen Elizabeth Queen Mother Hospital
Preferred option:

Darrent Valley Hospital

Basemmap 2017/18 data has been used in line with the DMBC refresh produced by Carnall Farrar.

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 259

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

Maidstone General Hospital
William Harvey Hospital

24

In addition to these services within Kent and Medway the following peripheral sites have been
included within the analysis for both the baseline and the preferred option as shown in the table

below.

Table 5: Peripheral hospital sites included/excluded

Brighton (Royal Sussex

County Hospital)
Queen Elizabeth
Greenwich

Queen Victoria (East
Grinstead)

Conquest

East Surrey Hospital
Eastbourne Hospital

Princess Royal

Princess Royal
University Hospital

Croydon (Mayday)

Guy's

King's

Queen Mary's Sidcup
Queen's (Romford)
St George's

St. Thomas'

University Hospital
Lewisham

Yes - Brighton and Sussex University Hospital
NHS Trust has an acute stroke unit at the Royal
Sussex County Hospital

No - Stroke services were removed permanently
from Queen Elizabeth Greenwich in 2015

No - This is a specialist hospital providing
reconstructive surgery, burns care and
rehabilitation services

No - East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust moved all
stroke services to their Eastbourne site

Yes - Has an Acute stroke unit with 28 beds

Yes - Offers Hyper acute and acute stroke
services

No - Although inpatient stroke rehabilitation
services are offered at the Princess Royal site, the
Trust runs its acute stroke services from the Royal
Sussex County Hospital

Yes - Has one of London's 8 Hyper Acute Stroke
Units

No - Not one of London's 8 Hyper Acute Stroke
Unit, but does have a stroke unit for patients
following their stay at a HASU

No - Not one of London's 8 Hyper Acute Stroke
Unit, but does have a stroke unit for patients
following their stay at a HASU

Yes - Has one of London's 8 Hyper Acute Stroke
Units

No - Is an Urgent Care Centre so does not offer
acute services

Yes - Has one of London's 8 Hyper Acute Stroke
Units

Yes - Has one of London's 8 Hyper Acute Stroke
Units

No - Not one of London's 8 Hyper Acute Stroke
Unit, but does have a stroke unit for patients
following their stay at a HASU

No - Although Lewisham has a stroke unit for
ongoing treatment and rehabilitation, the first acute
part of stroke care for Lewisham patients is
undertaken at King's and this is where patients
would be conveyed to by blue light

Yes

No

No

No

Yes
Yes

No

Yes

No

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

No

No

Source: Carnall Farrar

The report has utilised thresholds of 30 and 45 minutes to report on the travel impacts.

1]1]|1]|September 2018

Page 260

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

Based on population data, 89.5% of people can currently access to stroke services by BLA
within 30 minutes and 99.8% within 45 minutes. Within the preferred option there is a reduction
in the proportion of people that can access stroke services within 30 minutes by BLA to 69.6%.
This is a reduction of 19.8% from the baseline. Similarly there is a reduction in the proportion of
population that can access stroke services by BLA within 45 minutes to 92.4%. Thisis a
reduction of 7.4% below the baseline. These results are shown in Table 6 below.

Table 6: BLA journey times for the population under each proposal

Baseline 1,908,014 2,128,408 4,183 89.5% 99.8% 0.2%
Preferred 1,484,852 1,969,931 162,660 69.6% 92.4% 7.6%
Option

Change from -423,162 -158,477 158,477 -19.8% -7.4% 7.4%
baseline

Source: Mott MacDonald

Table 7 provides a breakdown of the population experiencing both no change and an increase
in travel time accessibility by BLA for the preferred option. This identifies that 53.9% of the
population under the preferred option experience no change in journey times, and 46.1% of the
population experience an increase in journey times compared to the baseline . Of the 46.1% of
the population experiencing an increase in journey times by BLA, 28.2% have an increase of
less than or equal to 15 minutes and 17.9% have an increase greater than 15 minutes; Table 8.

Table 7: Population experiencing change in journey time by BLA

Preferred option 1,148,521 984,070 53.9% 46.1%

Source: Mott MacDonald

Table 8: Population experiencing a change in journey time by BLA by size of increase

Preferred 1,148,521 601,537 382,533 53.9% 28.2% 17.9%
option

Source: Mott MacDonald

The areas experiencing increases in travel time to the nearest stroke services are illustrated in
the maps below. Comparing the baseline to the preferred option it is evident that areas to the
east of Kent and Medway will experience an increase in travel time due to the removal of
services at the Queen Elizabeth Queen Mother Hospital. Similarly, areas to the south west of
Kent and Medway will experience an increase in travel time due to the removal of services at
Tunbridge Wells Hospital. In addition, the area in close proximity to the Medway Maritime
Hospital experiences an increase in travel time due to the removal of services here under the
preferred option.

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 261

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

Figure 5: Baseline travel times to stroke services

Contains 0 Zata

Croun
Copyngnt and atssass ngh 2018

Legend

I < 15 minutes

[ 151030 minutes
30 to 45 minutes

[0 450 60 minutes

- > 60 minutes

4+  Hospital offering service
+  Peripheral hospital site

4 Hospital not offering service

[ cca boundary
M B e
United Kingdom
worr M

T4 o2t 23 168t
m

Kent and Medway IIA

Stroke Baseline
Car Off Peak travel times

CR | For nfornation W

3|

orewn | Descrpton chkd

Source: Mott MacDonald

1111 September 2018 Page 262
C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx

26



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

Figure 6: Preferred option travel times to stroke services

Contains 05 cats 2 Crown
Copyngnt and atssass ngh 2018

Legend

I < 15 minutes

[ 151030 minutes
30 to 45 minutes

[0 450 60 minutes

- > 60 minutes

+  Peripheral site

[ ccG boundary

+  Hospital not offering service
4 Hospital offering service

38 Newball Stieel

Birninghar
United Kingdom

T4 o2t 23 168t
m

Kent and Medway IIA

Stroke Preferred Option
Car Off Peak travel times

CR | For nfornation

3|

orewn | Descrpton

]

e

Source: Mott MacDonald

1111 September 2018 Page 263
C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx

27



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

5 Equality impacts

This chapter identifies equality impacts, which could potentially be experienced as a
consequence of implementing the preferred option.

In order to assess the impact of the service changes on protected characteristic and deprived
groups, the scoping phase involved detailed analysis to understand which groups may have a
disproportionate need for stroke services. The following groups were identified as having a
disproportionate need for stroke services:

Table 9: Scoped in equality groups

Age: Older people High blood pressure is a key risk factor for strokes, this is common in older
people.
Disabled people Living with a disability increases the likelihood of having a stroke as rates of

Atrial Fibrillation (AF), which causes irregular heartbeat and increases the
risk of stroke, are more common among disabled people.

Pregnancy and maternity Pregnancy alters the level of female hormones which can lead to developing
certain conditions and having a stroke.

Race and ethnicity: Black and Afro- Those from certain minority ethnic backgrounds have a pre-disposition to

Caribbean people, people with a South  certain factors which can lead to having a stroke, such as high blood

Asian background pressure, cholesterol and diabetes.

Sex: Male AF, a factor which increases the risk of having a stroke, is more common in
men compared to women.

People from deprived communities There are a number of lifestyle factors that increase the risk of having a

stroke such as obesity, physical inactivity and an unhealthy diet.

Source: Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan Scoping report 2017

As identified in the health component of this IIA, the proposals under the STP are likely to
provide positive health impacts including improved clinical outcomes, and overall service
improvement. These long term impacts are likely to be experienced disproportionately by those
groups listed in section 5.1.1 above due to their higher propensity to require stroke services.

Reconfiguring the delivery of services may impact certain equality groups as travelling to a new
location and being treated by different healthcare professionals may lead to an increase in
anxiety. These will be transitional and relate to service and geographical familiarity. Groups
likely to be affected include older people, disabled people and some people from BAME
backgrounds, particularly those who do not have English as a first language who traditionally
find it more difficult to navigate the healthcare system.

The marker for those living with a disability will be those who have identified as living with a limiting long term illness (LLTI)

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 264

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx

28



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan 29
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

As with the travel and access analysis presented in chapter four, this journey time analysis on
equality groups has been undertaken on the basis of population data. The scoped in equality
groups are as follows:

Age: older people aged 65+

Sex: Males

Race and ethnicity: BAME people

Disabled people

Women who are pregnant or on maternity leave

People from socio-economically deprived backgrounds
Using the best available data, travel times for the scoped in equality groups are compared to the
overall population travel times. This ascertains whether there is a greater impact on a particular

group. The study area used for the equalities impact analysis includes LSOAs which have the
shortest travel time to acute sites (by BLA) to one of the 7 within K&M.
The tables in section 5.4.2 onwards highlight the travel times for stroke services by scoped in
equality groups, comparing the baseline scenario with the preferred option. An equality group is
considered to experience disproportionate negative journey times impacts if one or both of the
following is realised:
In terms of journey time access within 30 minutes, the proportion of the population from a
given equality group is five percentage points or more lower than the proportion of the overall
population.
In terms of the percentage point change from the baseline, the proportion of the population
from a given equality group change is five percentage points or more higher than the overall
proportion of the population.

None of the groups identified as having a higher need for stroke services currently experience
disproportionately higher journey times.

Table 10: Baseline journey travel time by BLA (population data)

Population overall 89.5% 99.8%
Females aged 16 -44 89.4% 99.9%
Population with LLTI 88.4% 99.7%
Population within the most deprived quintile 84.7% 100.0%
Population aged 65 and over 87.9% 99.6%
Males 89.4% 99.8%
BAME population 91.4% 99.9%

Source: Basemap travel time data, UK Census 2011/ MYE 2016/IMD 2015

Proxy data, (females aged 16-44 years) has been use for this equality group.

Deprivation is calculated using the lower layer super output area (LSOA) in which a patient is resident. It is recognised that not every
patient in a deprived LSOA will be experiencing deprivation themselves, but that this is the best available data. An LSOA is an
administrative boundary with a minimum population of 1,000 and a maximum population of 3000.

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 265

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan 30
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

Table 11: Preferred option travel time by BLA (population data)

Population overall 69.6% -19.9% 92.4% -7.4%
Females aged 16-44 71.5% -17.9% 93.2% -6.7%
Population with LLTI 66.2% -22.2% 89.9% -9.8%
Most deprived quintile 61.8% -22.9% 81.3% -18.7%
Population aged 65 65.1% -22.8% 90.5% -9.1%
and over

Males 69.7% -19.7% 92.5% -7.3%
BAME population 78.0% -13.4% 94.5% -5.4%

Source: Basemap travel time data, UK Census 2011/ MYE 2016/IMD 2015

The analysis above shows that there will be some disproportionate negative impacts for those
from the most deprived quintile by BLA under proposal the preferred option:

Only 61.8% of those from the most deprived quintile will be able to access stroke services
within 30 minutes by BLA, compared to 69.6% of the population.

Stakeholder and community engagement including the focus groups undertaken for this IIA
identified several other negative impacts associated with increased journey times for equality
groups:

Increased stress and anxiety: increased journey times or the need to make different
and/or unfamiliar journeys to access care, is likely to affect some equality groups to a
greater extent than the general population. These groups include:

Those who find navigating new journeys, particularly using public transport, more
challenging and problematic, for example older people and those with mobility or vision
impairments.

Those who are less confident in making unfamiliar journeys, which may result in anxiety
or panic attacks for example older people or those with a disability.

Those who also no longer frequently drive in busy areas, such as older people or
disabled people, and particularly those with mental health issues, are also likely to be
affected.

Those who may not be confident in making journeys at night, for example older people or
those with a disability such as impaired vision.

Those who do not have access to a private mode of transport and are reliant on
assistance or public transport, such as older people who cannot afford to run a car or are
unable to drive anymore, as well as those from deprived communities.

The consultation analysis highlighted an increased concern for older people about any
increases in distance required to travel to the new locations increased; 42% of
consultation respondents aged 65-74 raised this concern, compared to 21% of those
aged 18-34 years.

It should be noted that these impacts are identified not only for patients but also for visitors and relatives who will also need to access
new sites.

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 266

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan 31
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

Increased costs associated with travel: some patients and visitors, for example those
living in East Kent and travelling to West Kent, will experience increased travel costs. This
is likely to disproportionately impact upon those traditionally on lower incomes, such as
those from deprived communities, disabled people and older people. The consultation
analysis suggested that this increase in cost may impact on more economically deprived
areas, such as Thanet.

The consequence of access difficulties for visitors and carers: increased journey times
(and associated costs) for visitors and carers of patients receiving care in a ‘non-local’
location may limit or prohibit regular visits from relatives. This could affect patients’
experience in hospital, and could disproportionately impact those who are more reliant on
assistance and support, for example, disabled and older people — especially those with
learning difficulties or mental health conditions. Some of those from BAME backgrounds
who do not have English as their first language may also rely on relatives to help translate.
Limited access to carer or relative support would mean the patient is less likely to be able to
communicate effectively with clinical staff to express their preferences or ask questions
about their care.

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 267

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan 32
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

6 Sustainability impacts

This chapter details the assessment of GHG emissions under the preferred option for stroke
services for Kent and Medway. The chapter outlines the scope of the assessment, the methods
used to estimate emissions from the preferred option, presents the results of the assessment
and provides commentary on the results.

By necessity the assessment has used a variety of assumptions to produce the results. Some of
these assumptions may have resulted in an over or under estimations of emissions.

Data for the consumption of gas and electricity for the preferred option, for all of the buildings,
after the changes are implemented was not available. Instead, a proxy for consumptions was
used to estimate additional energy use. First, consumption rates of gas and electricity over the
last four years for each building were averaged and divided by the floor space of each building.
This resulted in an average consumption rate per square meter of each building.

Data was available on changes to the floor space utilised under the preferred option and at
each building assuming beds would be used for 10 days per patient, (the preferred option was
not anticipated to result in a reduction in utilised floor space, as the hospitals consulted
indicated any floor space freed up by the changes would be used for other purposes). By
multiplying the change in floor space by the average rates of gas and electricity consumption
per unit of floor space, it was possible to estimate the change in building energy consumption
under the preferred option. This assumes that any newly utilised floor space will have the same
energy consumption rate as the current rate of the building where the newly utilised floor space
is located.

To calculate carbon emissions from energy use, emissions factors for 2017 were sourced from
the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy” . As the carbon intensity of the
electricity gird is expected to reduce in the future, the use of emissions factors for the electricity
grid published in 2017 is a conservative assumption. These were multiplied by the consumption
of data to result in carbon emissions data for the preferred option. This method assumes that
the energy emissions from the newly utilised floor space will be additional to current energy
emissions.

Patient data for 2015/16 was used to form the basis of a travel time analysis, which assessed
how long it would take each patient to travel to the hospital where the would receive stroke care
under the preferred option. This data was then used as the basis for the carbon assessment for
travel.

This was undertaken by multiplying each journey time by the average speed of traffic on A-
roads in Kent during 2016 based on statistics published by the Department of Transport™. This
provided an estimated distance travelled. As the patients were stroke patients, it was assumed
each patient would travel alone by ambulance. As such the total distance travelled by all

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greenhouse-gas-reporting-conversion-factors-2017

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 268

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx


https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/average-speed-and-delay-on-local-a-roads-cgn05

Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan 33
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

patients was multiplied by the emissions factor for ‘average van’ (representing an ambulance)
published by the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy ™. This resulted in
estimated carbon emissions due to patient travel for the preferred option.

Across the NHS, patient travel accounts for 44% of all travel emissions (NHS staff, visitors,
patients, and contractors)”. To account for all travel emissions, the results of the patient travel
assessment were uplifted in line with the ratio of patient travel to other travel, to produce an
estimate of all emissions from travel under the preferred option. Across the NHS, patient travel
will have used a variety of transport modes. However, for this assessment it has been assumed
that all patients have travelled via ambulance as they are stroke patients. This means that the
assumption to uplift the patient travel data in-line with the ratio of patient travel to other travel
across the NHS has likely overestimated total travel emissions.

Table 12 below provides details of the results in terms of tCO,e for the preferred option per
annum. The assessment shows that the preferred option is expected to increase emissions.

Table 12: Carbon assessment results

Change in building energy use (tCOe) 451
Change in patient Travel (tCOe) 7
Change in all travel (tCOe) 16
Total change in emissions (tCO.€) 467

The carbon footprint for the whole NHS in 2015 was 22.8MtCO2e, and in line with the climate
change act 2008, the NHS aims to rduce emissions by 80% based on a 1990 baseline by
20507". According to the Kent and Medway Partnership Trust Estates Strategy 2015-20207",
carbon emissions in 2013/14 from buildings were 6,500tCO,e, and from business travel were
600 tCO,e. Although reductions to emissions are targeted, the increase in emissions due to the
changes to services under the preferred option is expected to be less than 10% of Kent and
Medway’s building energy and business travel emissions, and a very small proportion of the
overall NHS carbon footprint, therefore the increase in emissions are considered to be small.

NHS Sustainable Development Unit (2012), Carbon Footprint update for NHS in England 2012,
- (2012 is that most recent year where the travel data is broken down into travel types)

NHS Sustainable Development Unit (2016), Carbon Footprint update for NHS in England 2015, http://www.sduhealth.org.uk/policy-
strategy/reporting/nhs-carbon-footprint.aspx

Kent and Medway Partnership Trust (2015) ESTATES STRATEGY 2015-20

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 269

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greenhouse-gas-reporting-conversion-factors-2017
http://www.sduhealth.org.uk/policy-strategy/reporting/nhs-carbon-footprint.aspx
http://www.sduhealth.org.uk/policy-strategy/reporting/nhs-carbon-footprint.aspx

Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan

Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

7 Conclusions

This chapter brings together the impacts from across the service areas and impact assessment
topics and outlines potential ways to enhance opportunities and to mitigate or reduce negative

impacts.

The table below provides a high level summary of the positive and negative impacts
experienced across all the impact assessment areas.

Table 13: Impact summary table

Health The proposed changes will
improve patient outcomes and
remove the variation currently
experienced.

The consolidation of workforce
resources will enable the three
comprehensive stroke units to
sustainably achieve
recommended workforce
standards.

Rehabilitation services for stroke
patients will be improved,
supporting patients to regain their
independence and overall quality
of life.

Proposed changes will create a
more sustainable workforce for
providing stroke care across Kent
and Medway.

Travel and N/A
access

For patients experiencing a stroke whilst already in
hospital at one of the four sites no longer providing
stroke services, a transfer will be required to a HASU.
This could potentially have a negative impact on
patient outcomes although appropriate protocols will
be in place to mitigate against this.

With activity for stroke services being consolidated
into fewer hospitals, there is a risk that capacity could
become constrained within these units.

If links between clinical inter-dependent services
across the wider STP programme are not
appropriately maintained, this has the potential to
negatively impact on the safety of care.

The reconfiguration of stroke services is considered
to bring challenges for some staff, which could result
in increased staff turnover and the loss of current
expertise.

Patient choice will reduce for these specialist stroke
services.

The preferred option will mean that some patients will
have to travel further to access a stroke service.

There is a reduction in accessibility within 30 minutes
by BLA

The preferred option will result in longer ambulance
journeys for some patients required to be conveyed to
a HASU, as well as increased transfers, which will
negatively impact the capacity of the ambulance
service.

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 270

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan 35
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

Equality Improved clinical outcomes for the equality Disproportionately longer journey times for
groups who have disproportionate need for those from the most deprived quintile
stroke services: compared to the overall population.
Age: older people Increased stress and anxiety from unfamiliar
Disabled people journeys
Pregnancy and maternity Increased costs associated with travel
Race and ethnicity Lack of acceptable alternative transport
methods
Sex: male

People from deprived communities

Sustainability N/A Small negative impact (467 tCOe)

Source: Mott MacDonald

Arising from this assessment, is a set of actions which focus on potential ways to enhance
opportunities and to mitigate or reduce the effect of the potential negative impacts. It is
suggested that these are considered by the STP as part of the implementation of the preferred
option.

This section discusses potential ways in which to enhance opportunities and to mitigate or
reduce the effect of the potential negative impacts identified in the health impact assessment for
consideration by decision makers as part of the implementation of proposals.

Table 14: Mitigating actions

Health Health outcomes Further detail on the care model for rehabilitation is required, responding to
outcomes the lack of clarity that some stakeholders perceive around this. This is an
essential part of the stroke pathway of care.

As well as treatment, focus must also be placed on prevention and health
promotion activities to counter potential risk factors for stroke.

The stroke clinical group should review estimated ambulance travel times for
the shortlisted and preferred options to ensure that they achieve relevant
standards.

As part of evaluating the impact of these changes, activity and outcome
information should be closely monitored to ensure standards and outcomes
of care are maintained.

Appropriate protocols should be established for patients already in hospital
but requiring urgent transfer to a HASU.

Service Capacity Continue to update STP activity modelling to ensure that sufficient capacity
impacts can be provided at selected Kent and Medway hospitals, for the increased
volume of stroke related activity, as well as demand for inter-dependent and
clinical support services.
The assessment of capacity and resources must have sensitivities applied
including:
The capacity of HASU/ASU services at neighbouring hospitals (should this
be closer to patients than their nearest HASU in Kent and Medway)
The impact on capacity if other patients choose to self-present at hospitals
with a HASU and require other acute services.

Clinical inter- As the wider STP programme develops, continues to review the co-
dependencies dependencies matrix to ensure that essential links are maintained.
1111 September 2018 Page 271

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

Workforce Workforce A programme of engagement with clinical, nursing and wider staff should

impacts be undertaken, with clear messages to ensure that staff recognise that
they are valued and are proactively encouraged to stay within the Kent and
Medway stroke network, despite potential changes to their local service.
This engagement should be commenced with all existing services in
advance of the announcements of the short list or preferred option.

A workforce plan for the stroke network should be established which
focuses on both the short term and longer-term resource and succession
planning of services. This should consider potential recruitment strategies
as well as the impact of trends in specialisation to ensure that the new
model of care can be delivered.

Incentives to encourage staff to relocate should be considered. For
example, one stakeholder suggested offering training opportunities to
nurses who are band 6 or below.

Where staff are not able to transition to these new arrangements,
alternative approaches should be sought to ensure that they are retained
within Kent and Medway.

Implementation Communication Communications with the public should continue to highlight the drivers for
change; high quality care and improved outcomes.

This should include clear messages to the public on the new care models
and where to go for services to minimise potential negative transitional
impacts.

Review the current methods of communicating and engaging with local
community groups, local organisations, and groups representing members
of the community from protected characteristics to ensure the entire
community is aware of the proposed changes.

Governance Ensure that the clinical regiment currently established continues as the
stroke programme progresses. This includes due process, an independent
chair of the clinical reference group and clinical engagement.

Enablers The South-East Coast Clinical Senate identified that in order for potential
benefits to be realised, timescales for implementation need to be realistic,
and the feasibility of the models is dependent on effective enabling
functions (digital, workforce and estates). Stakeholders have also
highlighted these enablers.

Now that a preferred option has been decided, the ambulance service should be involved in
assessing the impact of change on their capacity and ascertain the additional resources that
may be needed to minimise any impact on the wider ambulance service.

The current travel plans for hospitals selected should be reviewed in line with any increase in
the volume of patients and visitors. Further collaboration with the local authorities will help
greater integration of transport strategies and thus help to mitigate any travel impacts.

Finally it is suggested that additional engagement takes place with organisations offering
voluntary transport to hospitals to understand the impacts of increased travel times on funding
and capacity of the service.

This section discusses potential ways in which to enhance opportunities and to mitigate or
reduce the effect of the potential negative impacts identified in the equality impact assessment
for consideration by decision makers as part of the implementation of the preferred option.

Table 15: Mitigating Actions

Travel and Disproportionately longer Maximise public transport accessibility of specialist
access journey times for those from centres through engagement with local transport
the most deprived quintile.

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 272

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx

36



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan 37
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

Impact area Impact Enhancement / mitigating action
Increased stress and anxiety providers.
from unfamiliar journeys o Ensure the effective communication of the future model

of care to the local population, so they understand how to
access and use services and the potential increased
journey times

Increased costs associated
with travel

Service Frontline services staff should feel confident in being able

delivery to communicate with all patients, including those who are
Deaf or do not speak English. Members of staff should be
able to call upon staff with BSL/English interpreters using
remote access such as Skype, FaceTime or Video Relay
Service (VRS) where available.

7.2.4 Sustainability

No additional measures to enhance or mitigate sustainability impacts have been identified.

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 273

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan 38
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

A. Bibliography

e Atrial Fibrillation (date unknown): ‘Preventing a stroke crisis: why does AF matter?’.

e Business Intelligence Statistical Bulletin (2015): “The English Index of Multiple
Deprivation (2015): headline findings for Kent'.

o Department of Health (2015): ‘Productivity in NHS hospitals’.
e East Kent Delivery Board (March 2017) East Kent Listening Event: Feedback Report
e Equality Act 2010 (Commencement No.3) Order 2010.

e Fearon P, Langhorne P (2012) Early Supported Discharge Services for reducing
duration of hospital care for acute stroke patients. Cochrane Database of Systematic
Reviews Issue 9

e Herriott, N, and Williams, C (2010) ‘Health Impact Assessment of Government Policy’ .
¢ HM Government (2011) ‘Impact Assessment Overview’

¢ House of Commons Health Committee (2015): ‘Managing the care of people with long-
term conditions’.

¢ Kent and Medway NHS (2016): ‘Transforming health and social care in Kent and
Medway: Sustainability and Transformation Plan’

¢ Kent and Medway Public Health Observatory (2015): ‘Kent and Medway: stroke profile’.

o Kent and Medway STP (2 March 2017) Clinical Models Summary: Submission to the
South East Coast Clinical Senate

o Kent and Medway STP (22 May 2017) Programme Board Discussion Document
¢ Kings Fund (2011) Reconfiguring hospital services
e Mayo Clinic 2017 Stroke rehabilitation: What to expect as you recover

e Morris S et al (2014) Impact of centralising acute stroke services in English metropolitan
areas on mortality and length of hospital stay: difference-in-differences analysis. BMJ
2014;349:94757

o NHS (2016): ‘Health and care of people with learning disabilities’.

e NHS choices (2015): ‘Stroke’.

o NICE Stroke Rehabilitation: Long term rehabilitation after stroke

e NIHR 2015 Centralising stroke services improves chances of patients getting the right
care

o Office for National Statistics (2011) 2011 Census: Population Estimates for the United
Kingdom, March 2011’

e Public Health England (2014): ‘Adult obesity and type 2 diabetes’.

e Ramsay Al, Morris S, Hoffman A, et al. (2015) Effects of centralizing acute stroke
services on stroke care provision in two large metropolitan areas in England. Stroke 46:
2244-2251

e RCP (2016) National clinical guideline for stroke
e Royal College of Physicians (2016) National clinical guideline for stroke. Fifth edition.

¢ Royal College of Physicians Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP)
(2014): How good is stroke services? First SSNAP Annual Report prepared on behalf of
the Intercollegiate Stroke Working Party December 2014.

e Saver, J. L., Smith, E. E., Fonarow, G. C., Reeves, M. J., Zhao, X., Olson, D. M., &
Schwamm, L. H. (2010). The “golden hour” and acute brain ischemia. Stroke, 41(7),
1431-1439.

1111 September 2018 Page 274

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan 39
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

e South East Coast Clinical Senate (2014) The Clinical Co-Dependencies of Acute
Hospital Services —A Clinical Senate Review

e Stroke Association (2012): ‘Stroke statistics’.
e Stroke Association (2012): ‘Women and stroke’.
e Stroke Association (2015): ‘Stroke Statistics’.

e Stroke Association (2016): ‘Reducing your risk of stroke: information for black African
and black Caribbean people’.

e Stroke association, (2016). ‘State of the Nation Stroke statistics’
e Tate, J. and Bushnell, C. (2011): ‘Pregnancy and stroke risk in women’.
e The King’s Fund (2014) The reconfiguration of clinical services

e West Kent CCG (April 2017) West Kent Health and Care Listening Events: Feedback
Reports

¢ World Heath Organisation (2017): ‘Health Impact Assessment. Available at:
http://www.who.int/topics/health_impact_assessment/en/

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 275

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan 40
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

B. Equality chapter of scoping report

B.1 Overview

This section of the report considers each of the nine ‘protected characteristic’ groups as defined
by the Equality Act 2010, as well as considering deprived communities.”’ These groups are:

e Age — specifically children (those under 16) and older people (those aged 65 and over)
e Disability

e Gender reassignment

e Marriage and civil partnership

e Pregnancy and maternity

e Race and ethnicity

e Religion and belief

e Sex

e Sexual orientation

e Deprived communities

For each group, a summary table is presented identifying whether, and for which services, they

4 )

Definition of terms

Disproportionate need refers to a need for the service / treatment over and above the
general population.

Differential need refers to a group that has different types of need for the service during
delivery.

J

have a disproportionate or differential need.

Where possible, density maps and population data tables have also been provided. The
population for Kent and Medway and east Kent™ have been stated, along with national figures
to act as a comparator.

Table 31 below outlines the protected characteristics and their disproportionate need for Stroke
services.

°" Although not included as a protected characteristic, it is accepted best practice to review deprivation.
“* Outlined in the tables as: ‘Total Study Area’ which represents the whole of Kent and Medway, and East Kent.

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 276
C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan 41
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

Table 16: Evidence of disproportionate need for Stroke services.

Age: children (0-16 years)

Age: older people v
Disability v
Gender re-assignment

Marriage and civil partnership

Pregnancy and maternity v
Race and ethnicity v
Sex: male v
Sex: female

Sexual orientation
Deprivation v

Source: Mott MacDonald 2017

There is a high demand for stroke services within the 65 and over age group. Three quarters of
strokes (75%) in the UK occur in people aged 65 or older.” At the time of the census in 2011,
this age group represented 16% of the UK population.” Evidence shows that more than half of
all people over the age of 75 have high blood pressure, which is a contributory factor in 54% of
strokes.” Figures in Kent and Medway highlight that the numbers of hospital admissions for
strokes by CCG and Kent region shows that the 75-79 age group (between 2011/12 and
2013/14) had the most strokes.” The next highest categories were the 80-84 and 70-74 age
groups.

The regularity with which strokes occur in this age bracket indicates that older people are likely
to experience a disproportionate impact of any changes to this service.

Changes to stroke services are under consideration across the whole of Kent and Medway. The
table below shows that within Kent and Medway, the proportion of those aged 65 and over
(19%) is broadly in line with the national average (18%). There is one CCG — Medway — where
the proportion of people over 65 is more than two percentage points lower (3%) then the
national average. South Kent Coastal (23%) and Thanet (23%) CCGs all have proportions
above the national average.

Stroke Association (2015): ‘Stroke Statistics’.

Office for National Statistics (2011) ‘2011 Census: Population Estimates for the United Kingdom, March 2011’
Stroke Association (2015): ‘Stroke Statistics’.

Kent and Medway Public Health Observatory (2015): ‘Kent and Medway: Stroke Profile’.

1111 September 2018 Page 277

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

Table 17 Age - older people (65 and over)

Study area Total population Aged 65 and over Aged 65 and over (%)
Ashford CCG 124,250 23,585 19%

Canterbury and Coastal CCG 207,653 43,176 21%

Dartford, Gravesham and 258,208 44,152 17%

Swanley CCG

Medway CCG 276,492 42,511 15%

South Kent Coastal CCG 205,463 46,928 23%

Swale CCG 112,528 20,378 18%

Thanet CCG 139,772 31,919 23%

West Kent CCG 476,845 90,136 19%

Kent and Medway 1,801,211 342,785

England 54,786,327 9,711,572 18%
Source: LSOA population estimates 2015, ONS

Figure 4 below shows that the highest densities of those aged 65 and over are located in the
urban centres of Maidstone, Chatham, Gillingham and Margate. There are other areas of
moderate to high density, particularly on the coast, but the majority of this rural study area has
relatively low densities of people aged 65 and over.

Figure 7: Population aged 65 and over

Owrin
g

Ipswich

Lorfon

Southimpion-Brighfon

2 & Hore
0S data & Cro:

Contains Conr
Copyright ars dstabsse right 2017

Legend
Son Population per Hectare
oy .
m i Population aged 65 Plus
~ Maritime > pQu ->8
e 1 .o Hospital e 1594
. , o o0
o 0 J % 4106
e -
-
gk Included Hospitals
Dsr.udy Area
ECCG Boundaries

M T
St
M =
MOTT

MACDONALD e tae o

Kent and Medway CCGs

Population Aged 65 Plus
Density

o 18082017 [ A8 | Forefmston W | N

Containe U £5%8 © Crow1 Copyngrt snd dasbass npri2g1¢ | Rev Dt [Drswn| Deseripton ok | A
[Erawing 1o,

P Scle s AT
A e T R PP TR S 0 5 0 15 2 2 0 1:350,000

Source: LSOA population estimates 2015, ONS

1]1]1 ] September 2018 Page 278
C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

B.3 Disabled people

B.3.1 Stroke services

The need for stroke services among disabled people is likely to be higher as rates of atrial
fibrillation (AF) - which causes irregular heartbeat and increases the risk of stroke fivefold - are
much higher amongst this group.”” The strokes suffered by people with AF are also more
severe and are more likely to prove fatal.”

Data for people with learning disabilities shows that strokes are around ten times more common
in people with learning disabilities up to the age of 34, compared to those without a learning
disability.”” People with learning disabilities are also more likely to have factors associated with
an increased risk of stroke, for example 81% of people with learning disabilities have high blood
pressure, which is substantially more than the 64% of people without learning disabilities.”
Obesity is also twice as common in people aged 18 to 35 with learning disabilities. High blood
pressure and obesity are two leading causes of stroke.”’

B.3.1.1 Demographic profile strokes services in Kent and Medway: disabled people

Changes to stroke services are under consideration within the whole of Kent and Medway. The
table below shows that the proportion of people who live in Kent and Medway who live with a
limiting long-term illness (LLTI) (17%) is broadly in line with the national average (18%). South
Kent Coastal and Thanet CCGs both have higher proportions (21% and 23% respectively) of
people with a LLTI than the national figure.

Table 18: Disability

Study area Total population 2011 LLTI LLTI (%)
Ashford CCG 117,956 19,085 16%
Canterbury and Coastal 198,275 36,138 18%
CCG

Dartford, Gravesham 245,999 40,043 16%
and Swanley CCG

Medway CCG 263,925 43,354 16%
South Kent Coastal 201,924 42,440 21%
Swale 106,424 20,037 19%
Thanet CCG 134,186 31,348 23%
West Kent CCG 458,976 67,947 15%

Kent and Medway 1,727,665 300,392
England 53,107,169 9,352,586

Source: LSOA population estimates 2015, ONS

Figure 5 below shows that those living with an LLTI in Kent and Medway are predominantly
located in urban centres, particularly around Gillingham, Margate and Gravesend. All of the
hospitals are located within areas of moderate to high densities of people living with an LLTI.

“* Stroke Association (2012): ‘Stroke statistics’.

“ Atrial Fibrillation (date unknown): ‘Preventing a stroke crisis: why does AF matter?’.
> NHS (2016): ‘Health and care of people with learning disabilities’.

°“ NHS (2016): ‘Health and care of people with learning disabilities’.

" NHS choices (2015): ‘Stroke’.

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 279
C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx

43



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

Figure 8: Population living with an LLTI

oy y T Queen
29 #Elizabeth

% Maltis‘ldn
Hospital

\ o
lenbridge (¥} o Y Yalding
o N |

Quriisn

Legend
Population per Hectare
LLTI

.-
s w0s

4106
2to4
<2

gl Included Hospitals

- N ‘d" ’ =]l > DStudy Area
\lonbridge /" B -
3\ o CCG Boundaries
A 3 *,?Ob\ldal Staplehurst (-
® unbridge 3 s
oo e N
Biringnam
M Ut K girn
MOTT
MACDONALD Pambikiiic

a4

Kent and Medway CCGs

Long Term lliness
or Disability Density

o 18062017 [ A8 | Fouefmston wa | wn

Contane 55 518 2 Crown Copynart g dmsoses ngri201 [ Rev Dt |Draan | Deseriphon v e
e — o
A AR e I L 0 5 0 15 20 25 o 1:350,000

Source: LSOA population estimates 2015, ONS

B.4 Pregnancy and maternity

B.4.1 Stroke services

Pregnancy causes the levels of female hormones to rise, which causes changes in the blood
vessels and the make-up of the blood. Pregnancy can also cause increased blood pressure.6
These changes increase the risk of stroke; pregnant women are 13 times more likely to have a
stroke than non-pregnant women of the same age.”” In addition, there are several causes of
stroke that are unique to pregnancy and the postpartum period, such as preeclampsia and
eclampsia, amniotic fluid embolus, postpartum angiopathy and postpartum cardiomyopathy. "’

8

B.4.1.1 Demographic profile strokes services in Kent and Medway: pregnancy and
maternity

Changes to stroke services are under consideration within the whole of Kent and Medway. To
analyse levels of pregnancy and maternity in the study areas we have used data on the number
of women aged 16-44 within the population. The table below shows that within Kent and
Medway, the number of women aged 16 to 44 (18%) is broadly in line with the national average
(19%). South Kent Coastal (16 has a proportion of women aged 16 to 44 that is two or more
percentage points lower than the national average of 19%.

“ Stroke Association (2012): ‘Women and stroke’.
“ Stroke Association (2012): ‘Women and stroke’.
" Tate, J. and Bushnell, C. (2011): ‘Pregnancy and stroke risk in women’.

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 280

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

Table 19: Females aged 16-44

Study area Total population Females aged 16-44 Females aged 16-44 (%)
Ashford CCG 124,250 21,829 18%
Canterbury and Coastal 207,653 39,700 19%
CCG

Dartford, Gravesham and 258,208 48,605 19%
Swanley CCG

Medway CCG 276,492 53,756 19%
South Kent Coastal CCG 205,463 32,647 16%
Swale CCG 112,528 19,993 18%
Thanet CCG 139,772 23,187 17%
West Kent CCG 476,845 82,381 17%

Kent and Medway

England

54,786,327

Source: LSOA population estimates 2015, ONS

Figure 6 shows that the highest densities of females aged 16 to 44 are in the urban centres of
Gillingham, Chatham, Canterbury, Ashford and Gravesend. The study area overall has relatively

low densities of women aged 16 to 44.

10,336,501

19%

Figure 9: Population of females aged 16-44

arent o

Valley,
Hospital

Coeriait

>
€
'{pmm

-
Harvey
Hospital’ }-;

Containe US 58 £ Crow1 Copyngrt s1d gaiscass nart 201

n
Southampton B"“’[
2 2 Hove

nnnnn

¢
2

Legend
Population per Hectare
Females aged 16 to 44

| -
| s o8

4106
z0a
.-
ol Included Hospitals
Dstudy Area
DCCG Boundaries

oo

Birrng’
M Ui Kagdor
MOTT o )
MACDONALD Waninarrasoom
Kent and Medway CCGs

Females aged 16 to 44
Density

o 18082017 [ 28 | For rhomaton W

N

Ree  Daw | Drzun | Deseripton Covic | 2

L 1 Tl
0 5 o 15 2 2 0

Sclea At [Crawing o,
1:350,000

Source: LSOA population estimates 2015, ONS

B.5 Race and ethnicity

Evidence of disproportionate need has been identified for stroke services.

1|11 ]| September 2018

Page 281

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx




Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

B.5.1 Stroke services

Black people are twice as likely to have a stroke than white people, " because this group has a
higher prevalence of factors that increase their risk of stroke, including high blood pressure,
cholesterol and diabetes.’” Furthermore, some lifestyle factors are more common amongst
some African and Caribbean people, than the rest of the UK population, such as carrying weight
around their waist and smoking."”

People form a South Asian background are more likely to have a stroke at a younger age than
White people. They also have an increased prevalence of factors that increase their risk of
stroke, including high blood pressure, cholesterol and diabetes. "

B.5.1.1 Demographic profile strokes services in Kent and Medway: BAME

Changes to stroke services are under consideration within the whole of Kent and Medway. The
table below shows the proportion of those from BAME backgrounds in Kent and Medway (11%)
is significantly below the national average (20%) apart from in Dartford, Gravesham and
Swanley CCG (18%).

Table 20: BAME

Study area 2011 total population BAME BAME (%)
Ashford CCG 117,956 12,458 11%
Canterbury and Coastal 198,275 21,680 11%
CCG

Dartford, Gravesham 245,999 43,845 18%
and Swanley CCG

Medway CCG 263,925 38,271 15%
South Kent Coastal CCG 201,924 16,774 8%
Swale CCG 106,424 7,893 7%
Thanet CCG 134,186 12,840 10%
West Kent CCG 458,976 44,692 10%
England 53,107,169 10,733,220 20%

Source: LSOA population estimates 2015, ONS

Figure 7 below shows that the highest densities of those from a BAME background live within
the urban centres of the study area, including Canterbury, Gravesend, Gillingham and Chatham.
There are also other hotspots within the area with moderate densities of people from BAME
groups, including in Ashford and Maidstone.

! stroke Association (2016): ‘State of the Nation Stroke statistics’.
'* stroke Association (2016): ‘State of the Nation Stroke statistics’.
% Stroke Association (2016): ‘Reducing your risk of stroke: information for black African and black Caribbean people’.
’* Stroke association, (2016). ‘State of the Nation Stroke statistics’

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 282
C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

Figure 10: Population of people from BAME backgrounds

Qurvisn
frmingham

Ipswich

(Lonfion =
Southimpion-Brighton
- 3 Hove

Contains O deta & Cronr
Copynaht ar dstabsse right 2017

Legend
Population per Hectare

g ( Mar
L —
{ Lty BAME
’ & ) Moth -
. Hospital - 7 other |
Hospital -5 08

e~ p 4106

Hospital

of
g
W

P
.
ST ':'. .‘5i zta
Hospital -< 2
gk Included Hospitals
Study Area
h{p CCG Boundaries
William 5

&': Tunbridge TN ey
Hospital Hospital

M 35 Newnal Sest
Biringnan
M Unnaa e

MOTT T 444101121 234 1667
MACDONALD iz

Kent and Medway CCGs

Black, Asian and
Minority Ethnic Density

o1 18082017 [ 48 | For rhomton [ ]

Ree  Dse | Drawn | Descripton Coie | Acee

Containe U £5t8 1 Crow1 Copyngrt s1d dasbass ngri201¢

LT LT SaieaAs Grawing Vo
o 5 0 15 20 25 o

1:350,000

Source: LSOA population estimates 2015, ONS

B.6 Sex

Evidence of disproportionate need has been identified for stroke services,

B.6.1 Stroke services

Men face a 25% higher risk of having a stroke and at a younger age compared to women. "’
Men are also 1.5 times more likely to have AF; which increases the risk of having a stroke
fivefold.”

B.6.1.1 Demographic profile vascular and strokes services in Kent and Medway: sex

Changes to vascular and stroke services are under consideration within the whole of Kent and
Medway. Table 35 below shows that the number of men and women living within Kent and
Medway is the same as the national average (49% and 51% respectively).

® Royal College of Physicians Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP) (2014): How good is stroke services? First SSNAP
Annual Report prepared on behalf of the Intercollegiate Stroke Working Party December 2014.

’° Stroke Association (2015): ‘Stroke Statistics’.

1111 September 2018 Page 283
C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx

47



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan 48
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

Table 21: Sex

Study Area Total Males Males (%) Females Females (%)
population

Ashford CCG 124,250 60,403 49% 63,847 51%

Canterbury and 207,653 101,422 49% 106,231 51%

Coastal CCG

Dartford, Gravesham 258,208 126,926 49% 131,282 51%

and Swanley CCG

Medway CCG 276,492 137,320 50% 139,172 50%

South Kent Coastal 205,463 101,181 49% 104,282 51%

CCG

Swale CCG 112,528 55,750 50% 56,778 50%

Thanet CCG 139,772 67,517 48% 72,255 52%

West Kent CCG 476,845 234,247 49% 242,598 51%

Kent and Medway 1,801,211 884,766 916,445
England 54,786,327 27,029,286 27,757,041

Source: LSOA population estimates 2015, ONS

B.7 Deprivation

Evidence of disproportionate need has been identified for stroke services.

B.7.1 Stroke services

People from the most economically deprived areas of the UK are around twice as likely to have
a stroke and are three times more likely to die from a stroke than those from the least deprived
areas.’’ This is due to the strong association between deprivation and stroke risk factors such
as higher levels of obesity, physical inactivity, an unhealthy diet, smoking and poor blood
pressure control.”®

The Indices of Deprivation (IMD) 2015, show that Thanet continued to rank as the most
deprived local authority in Kent and Dover (located in the South Kent Coastal CCG) ranked as
the fourth most deprived.”” Local information also shows that the Thanet and South Kent
Coastal CCGs have the highest prevalence of strokes and transient ischaemic attack (TIAs), as
well as a high prevalence of hypertension and diabetes.”

This suggests that there is a link between deprivation, prevalence of factors associated with an
increased risk of stroke, and actually numbers of people having a stroke.

B.7.1.1 Demographic profile strokes services in Kent and Medway: Deprivation

The table below shows that the proportion of people residing in the most deprived quintile in
Kent and Medway (14%) is below the national average (20%). There are two CCGs where
levels of deprivation are higher than the national figure: Thanet (37%) and Swale (23%). Four
CCGs have lower levels of people in the most deprived quintile — Ashford (11%), Canterbury
and Coastal (10%), and West Kent (4%).

" Stroke association (2016): ‘State of the Nation Stroke statistics’.

" Public Health England (2014): ‘Adult obesity and type 2 diabetes’.

" Business Intelligence Statistical Bulletin (2015): ‘The English Index of Multiple Deprivation (2015): headline findings for Kent'.
% Kent and Medway Public Health Observatory (2015): ‘Kent and Medway: stroke profile’.

1]1]1]September 2018 Page 284
C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

The least deprived quintile in Kent and Medway is in line with the national average (20%). Only
West Kent CCG has a higher proportion of people (38%) living in the least deprived quintile than
the national average. Three CCGs (South Kent Coastal (5%), Swale (7%), and Thanet (2%)
have significantly lower proportion of people living the least deprived quintile compared to the

national average.

Table 22: Deprivation quintiles

CCG Most Second most  Third most Fourth most Least
deprived deprived deprived deprived deprived
quintile qguintile qguintile quintile quintile

Ashford CCG

14,076 (11%)

17,304 (14%)

44,199 (36%)

31,372 (25%)

17,299 (14%)

Canterbury &

Coastal CCG 20,863 (10%) 37,389 (18%) 56,314 (27%) 58,473 (28%) 34,614 (17%)
Dartford,

Gravesham

and Swanley

CCG 32,808 (13%) 61,628 (24%) 54,783 (21%) 56,715 (22%) 52,274 (20%)
Medway CCG 55,991 (20%) 81,990 (30%) 45,394 (16%) 46,312 (17%) 46,805 (17%)
South Kent

Coastal CCG 36,841 (18%) 51,808 (25%) 57,586 (28%) 48,091 (23%) 11,137 (5%)
Swale CCG 26,274 (23%) 33,192 (29%) 27,440 (24%) 17,738 (16%) 7,884 (7%)
Thanet CCG 51,116 (37%) 31,789 (23%) 28,083 (20%) 25,704 (18%) 3,080 (2%)
West Kent

CCG 17,756 (4%) 42,962 (9%) 97,210 (20%) 139,034 (29%) 179,883 (38%)

L(Air&tv?;yd 255,725 (14%) | 358,062 (20%) | 411,009 (23%) | 423,439 (24%) | 352,976 (20%)

England

Source:

IMD 2015

11,154,703
(20%)

11,021,188
(20%)

10,814,029
(20%)

Figure 8 below shows the distribution of the deprivation quintiles across the study area. The
most deprived areas are around the Isle of Sheppey, Chatham, Gravesend and an area to the
northwest of Ashford. Whereas the least deprived areas are around Sevenoaks, areas
surrounding Tonbridge and an area north of Canterbury.

1]1]|1]|September 2018
C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx

Page 285



Mott MacDonald | Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan
Integrated Impact Assessment: Post-consultation report - Stroke services

Figure 11: Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) — overall deprivation quantiles for Kent

and Medway study area (8 CCGs)

Qurisn

iR

Ipswich

Southiimpfon-Bi9
= S

Contains O deta & Cronr
Copynaht ars dstabsse right 2017

Legend

Deprivation

Index of Multiple Deprivation

| -Mos! deprived quintile

-Second most deprived quintile

Third most deprived quintile

-Founh most deprived quintile

[T Least most deprived quintile
gk Included Hospitals

Dsmdy Area
DCCG Boundaries

Birrungaam
M =

MOTT T 444 101121 234 1667
MACDONALD  Lifiiie

Kent and Medway CCGs

L LI Il
0 5 o 135 2 2 (1]

Index of Multiple
Deprivation Quintiles
o 18060017 | 8 | For chwrsion o | wn
Containg U ¢ 5t 21 Crow1 Copyngrt snd dazstass ngri201¢ | R Dsiis | Drawen | Desiipton [ivaapprd
Scale 3 A3 Crawing No.

1:350,000

1|11 ]| September 2018

Page 286

C:\Users\niv51350\Documents\20180927_Post-consultation report - stroke -draft - BN comments.docx

50



mottmac.com




This page is intentionally left blank



NHS

South East Clinical Senate
Kent, Surrey and Sussex

South East

Clinical

senate

November 2018

Email: england.clinicalsenatesec@nris.net
Web: www.secsenate.nhs.uk



Preface

The South East Clinical Senate has previously undertakena number of independent clinical reviews
of stroke care for Kent, Surrey and Sussex, and specifically for Kentand Medway it previously was
invited to review the draft case for change, and more recently the pre-consultation business case
before it wentto publicconsultation. We were delighted to then be asked to provide this
independentclinical review of the draft decision making business case, specifically the preferred
optionwithinit for three hyperacute and acute stroke units for Kent and Medway.

The stroke programme board, clinical reference group, commissioners, providers and other
stakeholders have undertaken a very thorough, measured and collaborative approach to
developingtheirproposals for future stroke care, with the goal of providing the highest quality
care for stroke patients inthe future, and thisis reflectedinthe draft decision makingbusiness
case, that was shared with us for review.

The clinical senate has taken both a broad pathway and population based perspective, and a
detailed focus on specificelements of the pathway and service, and considered the impact on
patients from across the county, and for those hospitalsthat would not have a stroke uniton site.
We have made recommendations around the prevention strategy, the acute period, post-stroke
rehabilitation and implementation.

The feedback we have providedis intendedto be constructive, and to encourage further focused
work to help ensure that the evolving plans are ambitious enough but pragmatic and realistic, and
can anticipate and plan for the various challenges that lie ahead in implementing the model of
care once itis finally agreed. The benefits to future stroke patientsand the population of getting
this right are very substantial, which should remain the prime motivation for such major service
change.

Dr Lawrence Goldberg,
South East Clinical Senate Chair

Page 290 2



Table of contents

1. Introduction and remit of the review 4
2. Outline of the preferred option 6
3. General comments 8
4. Stroke prevention, and addressing health inequalities 9
5. Future stroke Incidence rates 11
6. Bed modelling 12
7. The hyperacute stroke pathway: onset of symptoms to commencement of thrombolysis 13
8. Mechanical thrombectomy 16
9. Presence of on-site co-dependent and supporting clinical services 17
10. Pathway for stroke mimics 17
11. TIA pathway 18
12. Rehabilitation pathway 18
13. Workforce strategy, gaps and development 20
14. Issues for non-HASU hospitals 23
15. Implementation and transitional arrangements 26
16. Stroke networks and clinical leadership across K&M 27
17. Summary 28
18. Appendices 31
3

Page 291




1. Introduction and remit of the review

Evidence suggeststhat modern stroke care can onlyrealistically achieve the best possible
outcomes for patientsin specialist units, that can provide the expertise and facilities, around the
clock, that are required. Inrecognition of this, Kentand Medway’s commissioners, providers and
theirclinicians have been undertakinga thorough programme over the last three years to radically
improve the quality of stroke services by the creation of specialist hyperacute and acute stroke
units (HASUs and ASUs). Through a case for change, a pre-consultation business case, public
consultation, and a sequenced process of shortlisting the various possible configurations of such
stroke units using agreed criteria, the programme board and its stakeholders have produceda
preferred option of three co-located HASUs and ASUs.

The process by which these three centres were chosen, the criteria used, and the data accessed,
are summarised in the draft Decision Making Business Case (DMBC).

Prior to finalisingthe DMBC for agreement on the preferred option by the joint CCGs’ Committee
in Common, and prior to formal assurance of the proposals by both NHS England and NHS
Improvement, the South East Clinical Senate (SECS) was asked to provide an independentclinical
review. The agreed remit of the clinical senate review was:

‘To provide advice on the final preferred option for stroke services configuration as part of the
draft DMBC'.

In undertakingthis review, andin line with that of clinical senates’ functions more generally, the
focus was on:

e Taking a population based approach in considering equitable access across Kentand
Medway to high quality stroke services.

e The clinical elements of the DMBC, and the clinical and patient pathways.

e The whole pathway of care, including prevention, pre-hospital and post-ASU care, though
acknowledgingthat the main focus would be on the acute care elementsinthe
HASUs/ASUs and theirhosting hospitals.

The review to be undertaken was specifically notto review the process by which the preferred
option had beenarrived at, not to review the pros and cons of the other optionsthat had been
assessed, and not to assess the financial aspects of the proposals.

The SECS has previously undertaken and published reviews of the case for change for stro ke
servicesin Kentand Medway?, and a detailed review of the draft PCBC? prior to public

! Review of the case or change for stroke services in Kent and Medway. South East Clinical Senate, June 2015.
http://www.secsenate.nhs.uk/files/3914/4118/1216/SECS Kent and Medway Stroke Services Review Report June 2015.pdf?PDEPATHWAY=PD
F

Page 292 4


http://www.secsenate.nhs.uk/files/3914/4118/1216/SECS_Kent_and_Medway_Stroke_Services_Review_Report_June_2015.pdf?PDFPATHWAY=PDF
http://www.secsenate.nhs.uk/files/3914/4118/1216/SECS_Kent_and_Medway_Stroke_Services_Review_Report_June_2015.pdf?PDFPATHWAY=PDF

consultation, and detailed reference is made to the recommendations from the SECS on these two
documents inthe DMBC. Reference to these documents in addition to this current review provides
the breadth of inputand recommendations provided to the Kent and Medway stroke programme.

? Future acute stroke services in Kent and Medway: A clinical senate review of the STP’s draft proposals prior to public consultation. South East
Clinical Senate, Jan 2018. (web address awaited)

Page 293 5



2. Outline of the preferred option’

Kent and Medway had agreed firstly that the HASUs and ASUs in Kent and Medway should be co-
located, and secondly that there would be three combined HASU/ASUs in total. The preferred
optionwas arrived at from the final shortlist of five options usingthe decision making process as
describedin the DMBC. The three HASU/ASUs in the preferred option would be located at the
followingthree hospitals (and see figure 1):

e William Harvey Hospital, Ashford (WHH)
e Maidstone General Hospital (MGH)

e Darent Valley Hospital, Dartford (DVH)

Figure 1. The location of the three HASU/ASUs in the DMBC preferred option in relation to the otheracute
hospitals in Kent and Medway, and population density.
= ‘ oA Grays IStana

_Sheerness

Isle of Sheppey

Margate

A Herne
3 R S \; churck Ba d{?, North
P » > “Queen
Wl vedway, : e = | ¢ Elizabeth
A Maritime 2 ~——Queen
4 Hospital y Mother |
Hospital
P v sndwich

2F

.. _ Folkestone

“Population density
Total population per Hectare

.-
[ 30t0 40 .
20 to 30 I "Northian
I 10t020 '
- 0

* Based on theinformation providedto the SECS panel inthe draft DMBCandsupporting appendices.

Page 294



The activity and projected bed numbers (that assumes no growth in the coming years for each of
the three HASU/ASUs) isshown in table 1.

Table 1. Planned HASU activity per annum, and associated HASU and ASU bed requirements.

Site Confirmed TIAs Stroke HASU beds | ASU beds | Total Beds
stroke mimics
DVH 807 81 202 10 24 34
MGH 896 90 224 11 27 38
WHH 1239 123 309 14 38 52
Totals 2942 294 735 35 89 124

As a result of the centralisation of acute stroke care to three centres, there will be a transfer of
current stroke activity from the other three acute hospitals that currently admit stroke patients,

and with additional impact on patient flows and activity in the two neighbouring HASUs outside of

Kent and Medway, Eastbourne District General Hospital (DGH) in Sussex and Princess Royal
University Hospitalsin South East London (Bromley).

Table 2. The transfer of future stroke activity from current providers tothe three HASU/ASUs in the preferred

option, and the impact on surrounding HASUs.

Projected transfer of stroke activity to the three HASUs in the preferred option
Future DVH MGH Tunbridge | Medway WHH QEQM, Future
HASUs Wells Margate |HASU total
DVH 604 0 93 110 0 0 807
MGH 0 314 197 385 0 0 896
WHH 0 0 21 7 643 568 1239
Impact on neighbouring HASUs
PRUH 0 0 2 0 0 0 2
Eastbourne 0 0 94 0 0 0 94
East Surrey 0 0 18 0 0 0 18
Total 604 314 425 502 643 568 3056

Page 295




3. General comments

e The plans to have a standardised model for the delivery of stroke care across Kent and

Medway is to be commended. The keyis developing and implementing asustainable
service that can deliverthis model of care.

e The DMBC wouldbenefitfroma clear overview and summary up front of the preferred
option, which is of course the main focus and conclusion from the processes described
withinthe document. It is currently obscured within the document, and a greater
prominence to the preferred option would help to orientate those consideringthis case.

e There should be a stated ambitionto achieve SSNAP grade As across the board in all three
HASU/ASUs. Thisshould include the criteria in the post-acute as well as the acute
organisational and clinical audit. That is the implied purpose of establishing HASUs and
ASUs and theirassociated networks, as compliance with SSNAP audit criteria leadsto
improved patient outcomes. The timescale for achieving this will be challenginginthe
short term, so providinga timescale forwhen it isintended to achieve such high
performance would also be required.

e The DMBC should also make clear the intention to comply with the Royal College of
Physicians’ recommendations for stroke care by those deliveringand commissioning stroke
4,5
care™”.

e The co-location of HASUs with ASUs will likely have a significantand positive impact on
length of stay and patientflowin comparison to London, where HASUs are generally not
co-located with ASUs and requirestransfer of patients back to another hospital for their
ASU care.

* Key recommendations for stroke 2016. Royal College of Physicians 2016.
https://www.strokeaudit.org/SupportFiles/Documents/Guidelines/Profession-Specific-Guides/11-Key-
Recommendations.aspx

> Commissioning concise guide for stroke services 2016. Royal College of Physicians.
https://www.strokeaudit.org/SupportFiles/Documents/Guidelines/Profession-Specific-Guides/10-Commissioning.aspx

Page 296 8


https://www.strokeaudit.org/SupportFiles/Documents/Guidelines/Profession-Specific-Guides/11-Key-Recommendations.aspx
https://www.strokeaudit.org/SupportFiles/Documents/Guidelines/Profession-Specific-Guides/11-Key-Recommendations.aspx
https://www.strokeaudit.org/SupportFiles/Documents/Guidelines/Profession-Specific-Guides/10-Commissioning.aspx

4. Stroke prevention, and addressing health inequalities

e K&M'’s sustainability and transformation plan emphasises the importance of prevention
withinthe goal or ‘care transformation’ by ‘enlisting publicservices, employers and the
publicto support health and wellbeing, with efforts to tackle the future burden of
cardiovascular disease and diabetes’®. The inclusion of the full stroke pathway, including
prevention, isto be commendedin that regard, and includes key areas that we would have
expectedincluding tackling obesity, physical inactivity, diabetes, atrial fibrillation and
hypertension.

e Aclearer statement of the ambitious targets from the STP that are beingaimedfor across
these various risk factors for stroke would give more weightto the preventionstrategy in
the DMBC. These shouldinclude interventionsthat cover wider determinants of health
and cover primary and secondary preventioninterventions.

e Anexample of where improvementisrequiredis for smoking, given that Kentand Medway
prevalence rates have not decreasedinline with national trends. Statements such as
‘encourage GPs and frontline workersto encourage patients to stop smoking’ are unlikely
to achieve the radical upgrade in prevention needed.

e The stroke strategy should ensure that the preferred option does not make health
inequalitiesworse. One way is to demonstrate an increased focus on preventioninthe
more deprived areas. There is a need for close links and alignment with local authority
ambitions and plans, particularly in areas of high deprivation (thisisan important
mitigation for the increased travel times from these areas).

e Asystemfocus on ‘primordial prevention’ (strategies toavoid the development of risk
factors inthe first place, as opposed to primary prevention whichis the treating of risk
factors) is recommended, particularly in the context of healthy diets and physical activity
startingin childhood”2.

e The ‘Inverse care law’ currently exists around stroke care in England, Bray et al recently
found that patientsfrom lower socioeconomic groups have strokes around seven years
earlierthan the highest, are more likely to die within the first year, have a higher

® Kentand Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan: Transforming Healthand Social Carein Kentand
Medway. October 2016. https://kentandmedway.nhs.uk/stp/stp/

7 Primordial prevention of cardiovascular disease —the role of blood pressure. GiampaoliS. European Cardiology
Review 2007. https://www.ecrjournal.com/articles/primordial-prevention-cardiovascular-disease-role-blood-
pressure

& Primordial Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease. Gillman M. Circulation 2015.
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4349501 /pdf/nihms6567 25.pdf

Page 297 °


https://kentandmedway.nhs.uk/stp/stp/
https://www.ecrjournal.com/articles/primordial-prevention-cardiovascular-disease-role-blood-pressure
https://www.ecrjournal.com/articles/primordial-prevention-cardiovascular-disease-role-blood-pressure
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4349501/pdf/nihms656725.pdf

prevalence of pre-stroke disability and diabetes and are lesslikelyto receive good care”.
The integrated impact assessment (page 3) highlights that the preferred option will have
disproportionately longerjourney times for those from deprived areas. The DMBC should
be cleareras to how the risks to worseninginequalities might be mitigated by the better
patient outcomes that will result fromthe improved stroke care that will resultfrom
treatment ina high performingcentralised stroke service.

? Socioeconomic disparities in first stroke incidence, quality of care, andsurvival: a nationwide registry-based cohort

study of 44 million adultsinEngland. Brayetal, Lancet PublicHealth 2018. 3 €185-93.
https://www.thelancet.com/pdfs/journals/lanpub/PIIS2468-2667(18)30030-6.pdf

Page 298

10


https://www.thelancet.com/pdfs/journals/lanpub/PIIS2468-2667(18)30030-6.pdf

5. Future stroke incidence rates

e Achievingstable overall stroke incidence rates requires effective ongoing prevention

measures to mitigate and preventa rise (see previous section), and previous improvements
in population based risk factors need to be maintained and augmented.

e Detailed modellingon future stroke incidence has been undertaken by K&M (in 2015), and
referencedinthe PCBC and DMBC. This showed that based on recent data, stroke
incidence had not increased in recent years. One explanation forthis, in addition to any
impact of prevention measures, isthought to be that the betterunderstandingand
diagnosis of stroke has ledto a reductionin numbers of hospital events being classified as
stroke inrecent years. Therefore the apparent absence of an increasingincidence may be
misleading.

e The projectedincreasing proportion of elderly people inthe population, together with the
forecast increase in the overall population of K&M, is however likely to resultin an actual
rise in the total number of stroke cases per year, evenif the age-related stroke incidence
remains the same. In this regard, note should be made of the important recent publication
‘The burden of stroke in Europe’ which forecasts a rise across Europe in total stroke events
of 34% between 2015 and 2035™. For the UK Kings College estimatesanincrease in the UK
of 44% from 2015-2035™.

e ltistherefore recommendedto take note of this longerterm predicted trend and explore
what the implications of this could be in the final DMBC (includingthe impact on
HASU/ASU bed capacity requirements), orre-model activity using a range of activity that
includesthe current “noincrease” and a moderate increase in later years in line with the
conclusions of the Kings College report. It would also be worth re-examining the data for
the under75s especiallyinrelationto healthinequalities and areas of deprivation, as it has
been shown that patientsfrom lower socioeconomicgroups have strokes around seven
years earlierthan the highest, so the incidence of stroke is likely to be higher in deprived
areas in this age grouplz.

1% See pages 35-37 from The Burden of Stroke in Europe report. Kings College London for the Stroke Al liance of
Europe, 2017. https://www.stroke.org.uk/sites/default/files/theburdenofstrokeineuropereport.pdf and
http://strokeeurope.eu/index/the-burden-of-stroke-in-europe/1-7-what-do-we-predict-about-the-future-burden-of-
stroke-in-europe/

" Report predicts growth in stroke rates for UK. Kings College London News. May 2017.
https://www.kcl.ac.uk/newsevents/news/newsrecords/2017 /05-May/Report-predicts-growth-in-stroke-rates-for-
UK.aspx (i) Incidence estimate: 43,326 strokesinthe UKin 2015, 39.3 strokes per 100,000 inhabitants annually, age-
and sex-adjusted. Thisis projected to rise to 62,366 strokes in 2035.

12 Socioeconomic disparities in first stroke incidence, quality of care, andsurvival: a nationwide registry -based cohort

study of 44 million adultsinEngland. Brayetal, Lancet PublicHealth 2018. 3 €185-93.
https://www.thelancet.com/pdfs/journals/lanpub/PIIS2468-2667(18)30030-6.pdf

Page 299 11


https://www.stroke.org.uk/sites/default/files/theburdenofstrokeineuropereport.pdf
http://strokeeurope.eu/index/the-burden-of-stroke-in-europe/1-7-what-do-we-predict-about-the-future-burden-of-stroke-in-europe/
http://strokeeurope.eu/index/the-burden-of-stroke-in-europe/1-7-what-do-we-predict-about-the-future-burden-of-stroke-in-europe/
https://www.kcl.ac.uk/newsevents/news/newsrecords/2017/05-May/Report-predicts-growth-in-stroke-rates-for-UK.aspx
https://www.kcl.ac.uk/newsevents/news/newsrecords/2017/05-May/Report-predicts-growth-in-stroke-rates-for-UK.aspx
https://www.thelancet.com/pdfs/journals/lanpub/PIIS2468-2667(18)30030-6.pdf

6. Bed modelling

e The bed numbersrequired over the coming decade needsto take account of any increase

in stroke activity in K&M, and planning should include the potential forthe need for
additional beds over time.

e The bed modellingbased onthe current stroke incidence rates, and length of stay of
stroke, TIA and stroke mimicpatientsis considered appropriate.

e The catchment populationsforeach HASU and of the neighbouring HASUs outside of K&M
needto be agreed, so that capacity is aligned with demand. The ambulance service also
needsto be clear where to take the patientafter on site triage based on the pick-up
location. There are apps available to assist paramedics in this regard 4

e Meeting the LoS assumptions needs effective onward care and rehabilitation pathways and
capacity to be inplace, and for repatriation to a non-HASU hospital (e.g. for stroke mimic
patients) agreements with neighbouring trusts (especially for Medway Maritime as the
onlyacute trust withouta HASU).

e The abilityto deliverthe additional beds for the HASUs and ASUs on time and with
sufficient capital needs careful review once plansare presented. The DMBC needsto
acknowledge more explicitly the risks around this. This was a particular concern with
regard to Maidstone, which will absorb the biggestincrease in stroke cases (from 314 to
896 p.a.) with a potential go live date of October 2019.

e We were reassured that the anticipated changes to patient flows resulting from the
preferred option have been clearly modelled, quantified and agreed with the relevant
neighbouring Trusts that host a HASU (East Sussex Hospitals NHS Trust, and Princess Royal
University Hospitals NHS Trust, Bromley). The net effect as presented to us was:

Table 3. Change in stroke activity and associated bed requirements at neighbouring HASUs

Changein confirmed stroke cases | Change in stroke bed

from K&M catchment area numbers vs current
Eastbourne* + 49 +2
PRUH -209 -8

Key: *assumed from datain table 2.

3 Further information available from panel member Jo Dent, Advanced Practitionerfor stroke at Salford Royal
FoundationTrust, atdentjjpd @gmail.com

Page 300 12


mailto:dentjjpd@gmail.com

7. The hyper-acute stroke pathway: onset of symptoms to
commencement of thrombolysis

e Thrombolysisreducesdisability after stroke but this benefit reduces rapidly with time so
urgent assessmentand treatment are vital: RCP guidelines state that ‘patients with acute
ischaemicstroke, regardless of age or stroke severity, inwhom treatment can be started
within 3 hours of known onset should be considered for treatment with alteplase”’.
Unfortunately there are many contra-indicationsto thrombolysis so not all patientsare
appropriate for treatment. It is estimated that around 15% of patients will meet the
criteria.

e The time window from the onset of stroke symptoms to the administration of thrombolysis
is an aggregate of differentstepsinthe overall:

e Time from onset of symptoms to call to ambulance service (or GP) by patient, relative
or bystander

e Time forambulance to arrive at the caller’saddress (response time), assess the patient
and transfer to the ambulance (on site assessmenttime)

e Time to bluelightdrive to the HASU ‘front door’ (travel time)

e Time to assessthe patientand undertake a CT scan (door to scan time)

e Time from scan to administration of thrombolysis

e Therefore longertravel timescan be mitigated by slicker processes on arrival at the HASU
hospital. This is one of the many benefits of HASUs, where systems, staff and equipment
are in place to deliveran efficient pathway. This point should be emphasised to partly
address the concerns of those faced with longerambulance travel timesto get to their
nearest HASU hospital. To mimimise the impact of longertravel timesfor some patients,
K&M have set 120 minutes from the call to the ambulance service to administration of
thrombolysis at the HASU hospital (the ‘call to needle time’) astheir standard, in line with
standards set by the South East Strategic Clinical Network Stroke and TIA Service and
Quality Core Standards (2016) 14

e There are parallels with a number of other specialist services such as major trauma, pPCl
for acute coronary syndromes, acute kidney failure, and aortic aneurysm rupture, that
have been centralised foryears with associated evidence of the improved outcomes that
arise from the 24/7 availability and provision of specialist care which can only be provided
in fewerbut biggerspecialist centres.

! South East Strategic Clinical Network Stroke and TIA Service and Quality Core Standards (2016).
http://www.secn.nhs.uk/files /6814/8095/2230/SE_Clinical_Network Stroke and_TIA standards_v21 Final.pdf

Page 301 13


http://www.secn.nhs.uk/files/6814/8095/2230/SE_Clinical_Network_Stroke_and_TIA_standards_v21_Final.pdf

7.1. Response times and ambulance travel times

e The travel time modellingundertaken forthe programme board by Basemap used ‘off
peak’ travel timesas a proxy for blue light travel. We recommend that South East Coast
Ambulance (SECAmb) provide actual blue light travel time data for pPCl or trauma transfer
from Thanet to William Harvey Hospital, Ashford, as it is expected that thiswould be less
than that estimated by Basemap. If the blue light data is available forother journeys, this
would add furtherdata and perspective.

e There should be greater transparency providedin the DMBC about the travel times for
residents living furthest from HASUs. This particularly applies to residentsin Thanet who
have the further journey times (to Ashford). The travel time map (figure 6) in the
Integrated Impact Assessment (Mott Macdonald Sept 2018) providesa clear visual
demonstration of the areas of K&M (and of East Sussex) of the issue.

e The standard for ambulance response times for category 2 calls (that includes FAST stroke
calls) is 18 minutes, though we understand that currently 90% respond within 40 minutes.
We understand that SECAmb believesthe standard is achievable, but with additional
fundingand resources, which would need to be agreed. The knock on effects of longer
ambulance journeys for stroke conveyances on the availability for the conveyancing of
non-stroke patients needsto be understood.

e Minimisingthe time from ambulance arrival to departure for a HASU requires additional
paramedic training togetherwith senior triage and will benefitfromthe use of technology
to support the on-site clinical assessment. We understand that a pilot was undertaken by
SECAmb that, through more accurate on-the-scene diagnosis couldresultin one third of
patients followinga different clinical pathway (though details or confirmation of this were
not available to us).

7.2. Door to needle

e  Whilstthe SSNAP audit standard for door (arrival at the HASU hospital) to needle is 60
minutes, many well-functioning HASUs can achieve a median of 30 minutes, and this
should be the aspiration, which would help compensate for longer travel timesfor some
patients, and brings the overall call to needle time down for all patients with the associated
improvementinoutcomes.

e This can be achievedin part by advance notification fromthe ambulance service to the

receiving stroke team so that it meetsthe patienton arrival, makes an immediate
assessmentthentakes the patientdirect to CT.

Page 302 14



Rapid CT scanning needs access to a scan. This is much harder to achieve with only one
scan inoperation, with patients with other conditions competing for the available scanner
time, and it is the expectation that hospitals housing HASUs have at least two functioning
CT scanners, and that they prioritise new stroke patients accordingly.

Page 303

15



8. Mechanical thrombectomy

Thrombectomy of a large occlusive clot in the cerebral circulation with or without
thrombolysis as soon as possible afterthe onset isnow an evidence based intervention
that improves stroke outcomes in selected patients. Itis estimated that around 10% of
confirmed stroke cases would benefitfromthrombectomy. Across the country, there isa
nationally led programme to establish how this specialist treatment can be provided.
Currently some K&M stroke patients receive thrombectomy at BSUH (Brighton), Kings or St
Georges, though there is no formal, commissioned pathway, and the numbers are small.

The ambition to have a single thrombectomy centre in K&M is clearly articulatedin the
DMBC.

The case for a K&M thrombectomy centre could be strengthened by estimatingthe
potential number of patients who should receive it, and the health impact.

We were provided with the vision to have a single ‘spoke’ thrombectomy associated with
one of the three HASU sitesin place by April 2020, which might provide the service (initially
at least) Monday - Friday day time, but with the hub centre (at BSUH or Kings) providing
out of hours cover, training and support. More detail about this could be included, and
how the service would be staffed (e.g. by trainingnon-neurointerventional practitioners
(e.g.interventional cardiologists and interventional radiologists)), thoughitis recognised
that stroke units around the country are currently grappling with the same issues.

There will presumably be capital investmentrequirementstodelivera de novo

thrombectomy service, which should be appear somewhereinthe final DMBC as a future
cost.

Confirmationthat all three HASUs will be able to provide 24/7 CT angiography should be
sought, as this is required to select patients urgently for thrombectomy.

The HASU hospital that ends up providing the thrombectomy service for K&M would
increase admissions to that HASU. The impact that this may have on patientflows and bed
capacity required at the thrombectomy hospital and the other non-thrombectomy HASU

hospitals should be explicitly considered, as part of the risk analysis of the overall bed
modelling.

To avoid the risk of secondary transfer of severe stroke patients from one HASU to another
that hosts the thrombectomy service, on scene triage by the ambulance service (with
appropriate guidelines, and communication with the stroke centres) will facilitate transfer
to the correct site first time.

Page 304 16



9. Presence of on-site co-dependent and supporting
clinical services

e The stroke pathway as describedin the DMBC (section 2.3.4) refers to the South East
Clinical Senate’s report ‘The clinical co-dependencies of acute hospital services’ inwhich is
described the clinical servicesthat should co-locate witha HASU. It isassumed, but not
stated in the document, that each of the three HASUs in the preferred option meets that
guidance. It would be important to confirm that for each of the three HASU hospitals.

e The evaluationcriteriafor the selection of the preferred option (section 3.5.1) does
howeverreferto the ‘co-adjacencies’ with vascular surgery and trauma, to mechanical
thrombectomy co-adjacencies (onsite availability of pPCl and interventional

neuroradiology) and ‘major emergency centre requirements —whether all services are
available on site’ (though what those servicesare, is not specified).

e Ongoing relationships with neurosurgical centres should be maintained for patients

requiring neurosurgical intervention such as for malignant MCA syndrome, sub-arachnoid
haemorrhage, subdural haemorrhage and intracranial hypertension

10. Pathways for stroke mimics

e The proportion of stroke mimic patients admitted to HASUs is estimated to be 25% of
confirmed stroke cases, and it is advised that the pathways of care are presentedin more
detail than is currently available in the DMBC. Afteradmissionto a HASU and exclusion of a
stroke, ongoing inpatient care (if required) could continue a) inthe HASU if discharge is

impending, b) in another ward in the same hospital under a differentclinical team, orc) in
the patient’slocal hospital (if that is not the HASU hospital).

e The DMBC refersto ongoing care in the HASU hospital underthe ‘general team’ if
predicted LoS is 2 days or less, or transfer of care to the general team at the patient’s local
hospital (if not the HASU hospital) of predicted LoS is >2 days. There will need to be
flexibility in this outline pathway depending on the clinical condition of the patient, what
theirother specialty needs are, and to avoid unnecessary breaks in the continuity of care. It
is likely thata significant number of such patients will remainin the HASU hospital till

discharge, and those hospitals should factor in the implications of this for their non-stroke
bed base.

e Dailyneurology ward rounds on the HASU, to review stroke mimic patients, islikelyto help
in rapid diagnosis and clinical management.

Page 305 17



11. TIA pathway

e The effective and timely management of patients with TIAs is a vital component of stroke
prevention care. The DMBC confirms that the stroke cliniciansin K&M have agreed the
NICE pathway for TIA management. How this is delivered within each of the three
proposed HASU networks is likely tovary in the detail, but the panel agrees that the model
is an appropriate framework to follow.

e Patientswith possible TIA presenting eitherat the HASU hospital or local non-HASU
hospital should be effectively triaged by the on call acute medical teams, with the

telephone of telemedicinelinks to stroke specialistsif required on a case by case basis, to
avoid overloadingthe TIA service, and to avoid unnecessary transfer or travel of patients.

e High risk cases will need to attend the 7/7 urgent referral service at the HASU site, where
timely diagnosticsand management can be provided. The role for local (e.g. weekly) TIA
clinics for less urgent patients, or to follow up on outpatientinvestigations, should be
agreed withinthe network.

12. Rehabilitation pathways

e Effective rehabilitation services afterastroke are key to improvinglong term functional
outcomes for patients. This iswell recognisedin the DMBC, inwhich thereis an extensive
description of the model of care thatis intended for K&M, whichit to be commended.

e Meeting the length of stay on ASUs (modellingan average of 15 days) requires the capacity
in the community to discharge patientsto, whetherto home with early supported
discharge, to inpatient rehabilitation, orto nursinghome or palliative care. Therefore
addressingthe current apparent capacity gap iscritical for the sustainability of the
proposed new HASU/ASUs. Inpatientrehabilitation capacity should be considered
alongside ASU bed requirements, not separately.

e The establishment of a Rehabilitation Working Group (RWG) reporting to the Stroke
Clinical Reference Group (CRG) will have been an importantstep in establishingthe needs
of these post-acute pathways, the required manpowerand capacity, and where they
should be located. The CRG should ensure that the two current workstreams for acute
stroke care and rehabilitation stroke care are fully aligned and mutually consistent, to
ensure timely delivery of the overall pathway of care for stroke patients.

Page 306 18



The input from and collaboration from adult social care is critical to the success of the
rehabilitation pathway. Social worker input to stroke unitsis vital to planning onward care
in the community, and this should be emphasised. Social worker assessmentis
complicated by the centralisation of acute stroke care, and the need for input from the
patient’s local social work services. This issue should be considered and ways developed to
ensure patientsare not stranded inthe HASU/ASU whilst waiting for their needs and local
service provisionto be evaluated and set up.

The membership of the RWG was not provided, soitis unclear if there is representation
from local authority adult social care services. Collaboration with local authoritiesis vital to
the provision of a comprehensive, holisticrehabilitation pathway, and planning should be
integrated between health and social care.

The timescales provided forthe RWG’s work in the DMBC (High level plan for community
rehabilitation, fig 16) indicate that a business case will be produced in Spring 2019. Given
the timerequiredto approve the business case thenrecruit the staff required, this must be
seenas a risk to the smooth running of the new HASU/ASUs at their predicted go live
dates, and planning for any community rehabilitation transition period should be
undertaken.

Commissioning principlesforrehabilitation are listed inthe DMBC, and have been agreed
by the RWG and the stroke CRG. We did not get a sense of the firm commitment of the
K&M commissioners to these principles and the importance of resourcing this key aspect
of the stroke pathway, but this is clearly required.

For patients with devastating strokes, end of life care is often appropriate, and the DMBC
shouldrefer to this palliative care pathway and how it would be provided.

It will be important to ensure that the stroke rehabilitation service is clearly distinguished
from general or neurorehabilitation, as the pathway required specificskills and approach.

Stroke-specificrehabilitation is mandatory for patients where stroke isthe main problem

but where there is formal multidisciplinary agreementthat stroke is no longer the main
problem the pathway should provide the option of appropriate local rehabilitation.

Stroke specificcommunity rehabilitationinlocal nursing homes should be considered as an
alternative to prolonged stay in hospital far from the patient’s home.

An important measure of the impact of stroke rehabilitationis functional performance at
the 6 month post-stroke patientreview. These reviews are required by the RCP standards,
and functional status will be a key metricin evaluatingthe improvementsinthe quality of
care beingdelivered usingthe SSNAP methodology.

Page 307 19



13. Workforce strategy, gaps, and development

13.1. General points

e There isan appropriate major focus on the workforce requirements and implications of
HASUs and ASUs, and K&M have demonstratedin the DMBC a wide range of initiatives and
collaborationsto address this challenge. A detailed workforce implementation plan is
containedin the DMBC, but the risks around it need to be made more explicit, with the
need for interim contingency planning.

e The gap between currentstaffinglevels (medical, nursingand therapies) and that required
for the three preferred HASU/ASUs to comply with national recommendationsisvery
significant, and there was concern from the panel about the ability to address these gaps in
the timescales being proposed, and creative interim solutions are likely to be required.

e There were a numberof ways proposed inthe DMBC for the gaps to be addressed through
flexible working, new roles, and transfer of staff from hospitals that will lose theirown
stroke service. Thereis a significantrisk that these won’t fill the gaps in the timescales for
openingthese HASUs.

e Itwas considered likely thata significant proportion of the staff currently working with
stroke patientsin non-HASU/ASU hospitals would not move towns to the newly designated
HASU/ASU hospital. Howeverthere is clearly excellent ongoing staff engagement, including
on a 1:1 level (particularly at EKHFT) which may bear fruitin encouraging retention of
stroke skillsin K&M stroke services.

e Astaged approach that adopts a transitional staffing model may be necessary inthe short
to mediumterm that is less dependent on solely medical staff, with contingency planning
for the likely eventthat not all posts will be filled at the planned go live dates. This might
include for example the more extensive use of stroke nurse specialists forward cover of
stroke units with consultant supervision.

e Developinghigh quality standardised stroke nursing care across K& M might benefitfrom
pan-Kentstudy days delivered by Kent clinicians for shared learning between the trusts.
Pan-London nursing competencies for the training of band 5+ nursing staff are also
available™.

> Contact Angela Roots, Advanced Nurse Practitionerin Stroke and Neuro Rehabilitation, Guys and St Thomas’
Hospital (panel member) for moreinformationat angela.roots@ gstt.nhs.uk

Page 308 20


mailto:angela.roots@gstt.nhs.uk

13.2. Medical

Giventhe current national shortage of stroke consultants, the upskilling of other medical
specialtiesin stroke competenciesto support stroke unitsand on call rotas (particularly
Care of the Elderly consultants, whose traditional skill set would provide additional value
for the care of older stroke patients) should be considered.

We were concerned from what we heard that the Medway stroke service might become
unsustainable before early 2020 (when services are anticipated to have been movedto
Darent Valley and Maidstone) based on stroke consultant staffinglevels. It may be helpful
to consider the feasibility of transferring services/patients earlierto Maidstone, particularly
if the one full time stroke consultant could move with the service. This would support the
developmentand establishment of a critical mass at Maidstone, though the interim
implicationforbeds at Maidstone would need to be addressed.

Each of the three proposed HASU/ASU hospital trusts have different numbers of stroke

consultants currentlyin place, and will require (based on sound job plan modellinginthe
DMBC) 7.1 WTE stroke consultantsto run each HASU/ASU service:

e EKHFT is best placed, with 9 consultants in post across the trust. It is not clear though

how many of those currently working at QEQM would transfer to Ashford as their main
place of work, but we understand that substantial staff engagementis ongoing.

e In Darent Valley, thereis currently 1 full time stroke consultant and one locum. An
interimsolutionislikely to be required at the go live date.

e |In Maidstone and MTW Trust, there are plans to increase stroke consultant numbers

rapidly, and encourage staff in Tunbridge Wellsto transfer to Maidstone, but they
acknowledge the challenge of gettingto a full complementin the short term.

e In Medway, there are very few stroke consultants, and it is considered that only one

would be potentially available towork either at the Maidstone or Darent Valley
HASU/ASU.

Creative ways will be neededinthe short to mediumterm to address these likely gaps. This
might include:

e Ashared out of hours thrombolysis rota across the 3 HASUs
e Recruitmentof specialty and staff grade doctors

e Upskilling of non-stroke medical consultants to participate inspecialist stroke care and
the rotas.

Page 309 21



13.3. Nursing and therapies

The potential nursing and therapies gap is sizable across all three prospective HASU/ASUs.

Significant engagement work with staff currently involved with stroke care is ongoing
across the three trusts, to consider theircareer development.

Itis consideredless likely that nursing and therapies staff would move to work ina
different hospital, so assumptions about utilisation of stroke staff from hospitals losing

theirstroke units (e.g. QEQM to William Harvey) need to be qualified and alternative ways
of staffingthe HASU/ASUs considered.

Rotational posts, working both inthe hospital and the community, should be considered

for stroke nursing and therapies staff. This would develop broad skills, and may enhance
recruitmentand retention.

Page 310 22



14. Issues for the non-HASU hospitals

e The South East Clinical Senate has previously produced detailed guidance for stroke
networks on hospitals without acute stroke units®®. It is strongly recommended that the
K&M stroke programme board and its stakeholdersreview this documentand the
recommendations contained within it, as they are all highly relevantto the current K&M
plans and theirability to deliverthe benefits of centralised acute stroke care.

e Of the sevenacute hospitalsin K&M, four of them will not have stroke units inthe future.
Medway isthe only hospital whose trust does not have a HASU on another of their sites,
but many of the issuesare similarfor all four,and the DMBC should outline how these four
hospitals will work with the HASUs in the future, and provide greater clarity on the patient
pathways. Thereis currently insufficient detail about thisin the DMBC.

e Keypoints the SECS panel would emphasise following review of the DMBC are the
following:

e Patientsin the local catchment area should receive the same access to and quality of
stroke care as those presentingdirectly to a HASU hospital.

e The non-HASU hospitals must have representation onand involvement with the HASU-
led stroke network.

e Each non-HASU hospital should have a clinical champion(s) for stroke, to maintainthe
professional links and liaison with the HASU and stroke network, and to ensure the
stroke-relatedissues of the local population, the hospital’s patients, and its staff are
considered and addressed.

e The IM&T isin place to ensure ready access to imaging, pathology and correspondence
at both the HASU hospital and the non-HASU hospital.

e Clear patient pathways needto be in place for:

=  Patients presenting to the hospital with a possible stroke. This would need to take
account of time from onset of symptomsto presentation, and allow for the urgent
transfer to the HASU of those who may be eligible forthrombolysis, butalso
transfer of other stroke patients who would benefitfromthe full range of stroke
servicesavailableina HASU.

= Patients sustaining a stroke within the hospital. Rapid communication withthe
HASU on call team to decide on best managementand whetherto transfer will be

'® Hospitals without stroke units: A review of the clinical implications, and recommendations for stroke networks.

South EastClinicalSenate.Jan 2016.

http://www.secsenate.nhs.uk/files/3814/5503/1676 /Hospitals_without_acute_stroke units_-
implications_and_recommendations._South_East_Clinical_Senate_Jan_2016.pdf

Page 311 23


http://www.secsenate.nhs.uk/files/3814/5503/1676/Hospitals_without_acute_stroke_units_-_implications_and_recommendations._South_East_Clinical_Senate_Jan_2016.pdf
http://www.secsenate.nhs.uk/files/3814/5503/1676/Hospitals_without_acute_stroke_units_-_implications_and_recommendations._South_East_Clinical_Senate_Jan_2016.pdf

determinedby:the severity of the stroke (and ability to safely transfer); the primary
medical condition alongside the acute stroke, and where that would be best
managed; and whetherthe patientis for palliative care only.

= TIAs. The NICE pathway for TIA management dependingon the level of stroke risk
and the likelihood of the TIA diagnosisis referencedinthe DMBC, and the K&M
clinicians have agreed this as the model of care. The non-HASU hospital could see
and assess locally those patientsin whom TIA is unlikely, orin whom non-urgent
investigations are required, following agreed timescales and network-based
guidelines, andin coordination with the HASU.

= Repatriation of patients in whom a stroke is excluded at the HASU (stroke mimic)
and need ongoing acute inpatientcare. The DMBC refersto a pathway that involves
such patients, if their predicted length of stay is more than two days, being
transferred back to their local hospital for ongoinginpatient care. This cannot be a
blanket policy, as continuity of care, the specialty(ies) of care required, and other
individualised criteria, will need to be taken in to account.

= Stroke patients needing ongoing inpatient rehabilitation. Ideally, patients would
remain on the ASU in the HASU/ASU hospital until a definitive plan forcommunity
based rehabilitation was possible and in place, and transferto another acute
hospital bed would likelyincrease the length of stay and disrupt continuity of care.
Howeverfor patients living furthest from the HASU/ASU hospital whose have a
predicted need for prolonged inpatient rehabilitation, the requirementsand
specification for such local stroke rehabilitation capacity should be mapped and
planned for. This would reduce the impact on patients and their relatives and carers
whenthey are unable to return home directly.

= Stroke patients being discharged home or to residential care, ensuring provision of
theirongoing stroke rehabilitation.

Itis vital to avoid destabilising existing non-stroke services by the transfer of any staff to a
HASU hospital.

As describedinthe section inthe implementation of the model, there is a high level of risk
that the stroke service as it currently exists will notendure through to the formal date of
HASU opening, though staff redeployments orchoice. Detailed discussions with stroke care
staff inthese hospitalsis required to explain the transition, and to understand the
opportunitiesforand plans of such staff.

There will be an impact on trainingin the medical specialties as experience of stroke care
will not be available inthe non-HASU hospital. Training rotations with need to take account
of this, and provide clinical experience in HASU/ASU centres, in line with RCP curriculum
requirements.

Page 312 24



There isa needto maintain core skills on site in diagnosing or excluding stroke, and to
manage patients with stroke mimic symptoms who don’tneed transferto the HASU. This is
likely to be provided by medical staff (consultants and trainees) in A&E, acute on call
medicine, elderly care and neurology.

Rapid access to advice from the on call stroke team at HASU essential. Networks should
exploreifthere are benefits of developing or maintaining telemedicine links overand
beyond rapid telephone access to specialists.

The provision of local outpatientclinics for post-discharge follow up of stroke patients will

reduce the need for patients and carers to travel to the more distant HASU hospital for
such reviews.

The many benefits of centralising stroke services to patient outcomes followingastroke
must be clearly communicated to the publicand service users. The inevitable concerns
from the local population of losing stroke services from theirlocal hospital must be met
with a clear explanation of the new pathways, providing re-assurance that patient safety
issues are addressed, that patient transfers to the centre will be appropriate and timely,
and that post-acute stroke care will be of a high standard that maximises rehabilitation
outcomes, with rehabilitation athome as soon as possible.

Commissioners and providers should engage with the public, stroke patientsand their
carers in considering the impact of their local hospital not having a specialist stroke unit.
Meaningful and demonstrable engagementshould be part of any commissioning
specification. Such engagement needs to acknowledge the potential trade-off between the
benefits of travelling for specialist treatment, and the lack of more local provision of the
service.

Any stepsthat could be taken to mitigate the impact on relatives and carers who may have

to travel longerdistances to visit the patient whilstinthe HASU or ASU should be
considered. This might include longer permitted visiting hours, and support with transport.

Page 313 25



15. Implementation and transitional arrangements

The period between status quo and the establishment of the three HASUs willinvolve a
number of uncertainties, most prominently the decisions made by the relevant staffing
groups at the hospitalsthat are destined to lose theirstroke services. There has been good
engagementwork with staff that may be affected (particularly within EKHFT that we
heard), to considerthe roles that may be available within the new HASU.

The four factors listedinthe DMBC are an appropriate starting pointfor planningthis
transition period, i.e. (as worded inthe DMBC):

e To implementthe new servicesas quickly as possible whilstensuringthat quality and
patientsafety are not compromised

e To recognise the risk of closing units becoming unsustainable due to an inability to
retain and recruit staff

e To reflectthe projected flows between hospitals and the impact on activity, beds,
travel time and workforce over the transition period

e The ability of site operational teams to accommodate the transition based on seasonal
variationin demand and staffing shortfalls

Comprehensive ‘key implementation activities’ are also listed in detail.

There was particular concern that the Medway stroke unit could cease to be able to
provide adequate services quickly after the decision on the preferred options for HASUs is
made, and plans should be prepared for a rapid transfer of stroke activity to the hospitals
that will take on this activity (Maidstone and Darent Valley).

There are similarrisks for QEQM and Tunbridge Wells hospitals, butthese may be easier
to mitigate as they each will have a HASU in one of their trust’s other hospitals.

For all these reasons, the implementation period should be minimised.

IM&T requirements mustbe in met before the new pathways are rolled outto ensure safe
and high quality care can be provided across the stroke networks. This includes ready
access to any imagingor blood results done in the referring hospitals, and streamlined
ways of sharing patientclinical information at the point and time of need.

There are parallel discussions ongoing about the future configuration of acute hospitalsin
East Kent, with an alternative major emergency hospital located in Canterbury being
considered. The potential impact of such a future reconfiguration on the flow of patients
with acute stroke, are not discussedinthe DMBC. Whilst there is significant uncertainty

Page 314 26



about this alternative at present, and if agreed and implementeditwouldlikely be some
years before it was established, there should be explicitreference tothisissuein the
DMBC.

16. Stroke networks and clinical leadership across K&M

e Strong and effective clinical leadership and programme management will be requiredin
setting up the new stroke pathways and HASU/ASUs within Kent and Medway. There needs
to be commitmentto thisneed, and appropriate resourcing. A clinical director for stroke
servicesacross Kentand Medway isrecommended, with appropriate managerial support.

e Inaddition, each HASU should have strong clinical leadership from the medical, nursing

and therapies professions to oversee implementation, and be responsible forthe quality of
stroke care in the HASU, ASU and the local stroke networkit is responsible for.

Page 315 27



17.Summary

Kent and Medway’s commissioners and providers have agreed on the needto delivermodern,
high quality care for patients with stroke in K&M. They have acknowledged that the current
arrangements are struggling to provide this, and that by centralising specialist stroke care in three
co-located HASUs and ASUs they will address the challenge of providingimproved patient care.

Through an assiduous process over the last three years, that has included makinga strong case for
change and evaluating the many possible combinations of hospitals that might provide future
stroke care, a preferred option has beenarrived at, and is presentedin a decision making business
case.

The clinical senate was tasked with providing an independent, clinical review of this preferred
option of three HASU/ASUs for K&M, which would be based in Ashford, Maidstone and Dartford,
as describedin the draft DMBC and associated supporting material provided to us. The review was
not of the process by which the preferred option was arrived at, nor of the financial aspects of the
case, but a review of the clinical and patient pathways that are the consequence of this
configuration of stroke care. The review considered the full pathway from prevention, to acute
stroke care, and through to rehabilitationin the community.

Future stroke activity

The panel was not entirely confidentinthe current projectionsfor no growth in stroke activity in
the years ahead, given the growth in the projectedsize and age of the population of K&M, and
recent publications. This underlines the importance of prevention measures (that also impact on
the development of many other long term conditions) in improving population health and
reducing future need and demand for stroke care, and reducing healthinequalities. Meanwhile,
capacity planningat the trusts hosting the HASU/ASUs should take account of a potential increase
in activity in the years ahead.

The hyperacute pathway, from call to needle, and travel times

The impact of longer travel times for patients living furthest from the planned HASU/ASUs needs
to be more fully acknowledged, and the ways of mitigatingthat impact described more clearly.
The key metricis the time from the onset of stroke symptoms to the administration of
thrombolysis (forthe 15% or so of stroke patients who would benefitfromit). Longer travel times
can be compensated for by rapid response from the ambulance service to the first call, rapid
assessmentand scanning on arrival at the HASU hospital. The standard that is beingadopted of
120 minutesfrom call to needle isambitious but achievable if all the components of the call to
needle pathway are addressed and made as efficientas possible.

The benefits of HASU/ASU care are not just for those receiving thrombolysis, but for all stroke
patients, who will benefitfrom the specialist, round the clock care from the full multidisciplinary

Page 316 28



team that can only realistically be providedina fully resourced and staffed HASU/ASU. The
benefits to ultimate patient outcomes should be seen as outweighingthe longertravel timesfor
some to get to such units.

Thrombectomy

The evidence base for thrombectomy (mechanical clot extraction) after or instead of thrombolysis
in a selected group of stroke patientsis now strong, and the implications of this new standard of
care are beingworked through nationally as well as locally. The DMBC describes plansfor a single
thrombectomy service for K&M, though the siting of thisis yet to be decided. The impact of such a
centre on patient flows and capacity planning of the three proposed HASUs across the county will
need to be consideredin more detail.

Stroke mimics

Patients with stroke mimic symptoms make up around 25% of admissions to HASUs, and the
subsequent pathways of care need to be mapped out in more detail, particularly for those patients
initially admitted from more distant sites, and for whom the location of theirongoing care needs
to be carefully considered.

Workforce
There are significant challengestofillingall the posts required (medical, nursingand therapies) to

meetthe workforce standards for HASUs and ASUs inthe planned go live time scale, and medium
term contingenciesare likely to be required until full recruitment has been achieved.

Once the decision has been made about the future siting of the HASU/ASUs, there is a risk of
destabilising the stroke workforce in units that won’t be providing stroke care infuture, and full
and meaningful engagement with affected staff in exploringthe opportunitiesavailable atthe
future HASU/ASU units, should continue.

Issues for non-HASU hospitals

For the four acute hospitalsin K&M that will not have HASUs, reference should be made to the
recommendationsin the South East Clinical Senate’s report (Jan 2016) . Patient pathways to and
back from HASU/ASUs need to be clear, clinically appropriate, and maximise continuity of care.
Such pathways include patients sustaining a stroke in one of these hospitals, patients presenting
to their urgent and emergency care services with a possible stroke, stroke mimicpatients and
those needinglongertermrehabilitation. Effective ITlinks must be in place for the seamless
transfer of clinical information (imaging, pathology results and correspondence). These hospitals
must be represented ontheir local stroke network.

' Hos pitalswithout stroke units: Areview of the clinical implications, and recommendations for stroke networks.

South EastClinicalSenate.Jan 2016.

http://www.secsenate.nhs.uk/files/3814/5503/1676 /Hospitals_without_acute_stroke units_-
implications_and_recommendations._South_East_Clinical_Senate_Jan_2016.pdf

Page 317 29


http://www.secsenate.nhs.uk/files/3814/5503/1676/Hospitals_without_acute_stroke_units_-_implications_and_recommendations._South_East_Clinical_Senate_Jan_2016.pdf
http://www.secsenate.nhs.uk/files/3814/5503/1676/Hospitals_without_acute_stroke_units_-_implications_and_recommendations._South_East_Clinical_Senate_Jan_2016.pdf

Rehabilitation

Fully resourced and staffed pathways for the onward care post-ASU of stroke patientsand their
rehabilitation are critical for improving patient outcomes, for maintaining flow and managing
capacity in HASUs and ASUs. There are large gaps currently in stroke-specificrehabilitation
services across K&M which will need to be addressed by commissioners. The acute and
rehabilitation work-streams, programmes and timelines need to be fully coordinated and aligned,
and include full engagement with local authorities and theirsocial servicesleads.

Implementation, and the need for leadership and stroke networks

The transition period to the new model of care needsto be closely overseen, and the time
minimised, in view of the risk of stroke services becomingdestabilisedin the hospitalsthat won’t
have HASUs. There will likely be a need to be transitional arrangements for patient flows, staffing
models and rotas.

Strong and effective clinical and managerial leadership will be required, and a formalised stroke
network for Kentand Medway, and for the three individual HASU-based networks, is strongly
recommended to ensure the successful implementation of the new model of care, and the
delivery of the patientbenefitsthatare the prime purpose of this programme.

Page 318 30



18. Appendices

Appendix 1. South East Clinical Senate Council Review Group
membership, declarations of interest and agenda

1.1. South East Clinical Senate Council Review Group Membership

No. Panfel Sl Name Job Title/Role/ Employing organisation
Functional area
Chair Dr Lawrence Goldberg Chair of the South East Clinical Senate, and
1 Consultant Nephrologist, Brighton and Sussex
University Hospitals NHS Trust
2 DrTilly Spiers Frimley Health FT
3 | stroke Consultants DrSimone Ivatts Western Sussex Hospitals NHS FT
4 Dr Patrick Gompertz BartsHealth NHS Trust
Interventional Dr Panos Koumellis Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS
5 Neuroradiology Trust
Nursing Angela Roots Advanced Nurse Practitioner, Stroke and
6 Neuro Rehabilitation, Guys and St Thomas'
Hospital
. General Practice DrSarah Pledger Clinical lead for Transformation, Frail and
Aging populations, Central West Sussex CCG
Public Health Dr Michael Baker Deputy Director of Healthcare, Public Health
8 England (SE)
Allied Health Lucy Carter Head of Therapies, Lewisham and Greenwich
9 Professional NHS Trust
Ambulance and Joe Dent Advanced Practitioner (stroke). Salford Royal
10 | transportservices, Foundation Trust
and 111 services
1 Public and patient | Priscilla Chandro PPE
perspective
1 SE Clinical Senate | Ali Parsons NHS England
Associate Director
SE Clinical Senate Helen Bell NHS England
13 | Programme
Manger

Page 319

31



1.2. Declarations of Interest

Name Personal Personal Non-personal Personal
pecuniary family interest pecuniary non-

interest interest pecuniary

interest
Lawrence Goldberg None None None None
Tilly Spiers None None None None
Simone Ivatts None None None None
Patrick Gompertz None None None None
Panos Koumellis None None None None
Angela Roots None None None None
Sarah Pledger None None None None
Michael Baker None None None None
Lucy Carter None None None None
Joe Dent None None None None
Priscilla Chandro None None None None
Ali Parsons None None None None
Helen Bell None None None None

Page 320

32



1.3 Attendees at the Clinical Senate Panel Review meeting 18.10.18

Name

Role

Organisation

Caroline Bates

Head of Nursing

Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust

Steve Fenlon

Medical Director

Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust

David Hargroves

Stroke Consultant

EKHUFT

Anne Neal

Interim Director of Strategyand
Business Development

EKHUFT

Rebecca Brad

Workforce Programme Director

Kent and Medway STP

RachelJones

Director of Acute Strategy

Kent and Medway STP

Nicola Smith Acute Strategy Programme Lead Kent and Medway STP

James Lowell Director of Planning and Partnerships Medway Foundation Trust

David Sulch Stroke Consultant Medway Foundation Trust

Tak Ellis Stroke Consultant Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells Trust

Sarah Overton

Head of Strategy

Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells Trust

Louise Rattray

Stroke Clinical Nurse Specialist

Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells Trust

Claire Hall

Clinical Education Lead, Stroke, pCl,
Trauma Pathways Lead

South East Coast Ambulance Services NHS
Foundation Trust

James Pavey

Regional Operations Manager (East)

South East Coast Ambulance Service NHS
Foundation Trust

Jackie Huddleston

Associate Director

South East Clinical Networks

Martyn Denny Healthwatch, Kent
John Potts Patient Representative

Ellie Davies Programme Support Carnall Farrar
Alice Caines Principal Carnall Farrar

Page 321

33




1.4 Clinical Senate Council Review Group Agenda 18" October 2018

South East Clinical Senate:
Panel Review of Kent and Medway STP Stroke Decision Making Business Case
18" October 2018, 10.00 am —4.00pm
(Please note: Clinical Senate Panel Pre meet 10.00-10.30am
post meeting review 2.00-4.00pm)
Venue details
Holiday Inn, Povey Cross Road, Surrey, Gatwick RH6 OBA

Item Time Item Lead
1. 9.30 Arrival, registration and refreshments
2. 10.00 South East Clinical Senate Expert Review Panel pre-meet LG
10.30 K&M Stroke Programme Board members to join the meeting

3. 10.30 Introduction, context and approach to the review LG

4, 10.35 K&M STP DMBC presentation Rachel
Presentationfromthe K& M stroke team, summarising the DMBC, the strategicapproach for Jones
getting there and finalising the preferred option, response to consultation etc.

5. 10.55 | Discussion between the clinical senate panel and the K& M team, relating to the strategic LG

approach and overarching themes (Q&A).

6. 11.15 Provider presentations and discussion
Review of the three HASU/ASU hospitals’ models of care and plans, and of Medway NHS Trust’s planned
patient pathways (asanon-HASU/ASU hospital). Foreachtrust, a 10 minute presentation, followed by 10
mins Q&A.
David Hargroves —Stroke Consultant EKHUFT; Steve Fenlon —Medical Director, DVH; Tak Ellis — Stroke
Consultant, MTW; David Sulch -Stroke Consultant Medway

There will be a 15 minute coffee break from 11.35-11.50

7. 12.50 STP/Providers presentation and discussion Rachel Jones

Transition and Implementation planning (10 minute presentation followed by Q&A).
1.15 Close of joint meeting and lunch

8. 2.00 Clinical senate review panel only: LG
Panel discussion, conclusions and agree on mainrecommendations

9. 3.50 Summing up, next steps LG

10. 4.00 Meeting close LG

34

Page 322




Appendix 2. Key Lines of Enquiry (KLOEs)

Strategic, Kent and Medway-wide

Ambition and anticipated benefitsin patientout-comes

Publichealth measures, stroke prevention strategy and addressing healthinequalities

Modeling of future stroke numbers up to 2030

Rehabilitation pathways and plans

Transport issuesto meetthe 120 minute call to needle standard: ambulance response
times, journey times and impact on ambulance service capacity

Mechanical thrombectomy

Impact of preferred option on surrounding HASUs outside of K&M

Workforce strategy, gaps, development

For each HASU/ASU hospital and its network

Current vs planned SSNAP performance, and trajectory for improvement

Clarification of catchment area and associated stroke activity

Bed modelling

Travel times

Door to needle path

Presence of on-site co-dependent/supportingclinical services

Mechanical thrombectomy pathway

Pathway for patients presentingat their non-HASU networked hospitals

Onward care pathways

Pathways for stroke mimics

TIA pathways

Workforce: Medical

Workforce: Nursing

Workforce: Therapies

Issues for non-HASU hospitals within the HASU’s network (i.e. Medway, Tunbridge Wells,
Kent and Canterbury, QEQM)

Pathway for patients presenting with possible stroke diagnosis

Pathway for inpatients sustaininga stroke

Repatriation and rehabilitation of patients post-HASU

Role of the future local HASU-centred stroke network

Workforce issues

Clinical information sharing between hospitals

Implementation and transition

Implementation planand oversight

Nature of future clinical network(s) across K&M

Impact of EKHFT act reconfiguration options appraisal on K&M stroke networks and HASUs

Page 323

35



Appendix 3. Abbreviations

ASU Acute Stroke Unit

CQUIN Commissioning for Quality and Innovation
CSR Community Stroke Rehabilitation

CTA CT Angiography

DMBC Decision Making Business Case

EqlA Equality Impact Assessment

ESD Early Supported Discharge

HIA Health Impact Assessment

HTA Health Technology Appraisal

HASU Hyper Acute Stroke Unit

ICST Integrated Community Support Team

A Integrated Impact Assessment

IR Inpatient Rehabilitation

JCCCG Joint Committee of Clinical Commissioning Group
JHOSC Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee
K&M Kent and Medway

LSOA Lower Super Output Areas

NIHSS National Institute of Health Stroke Scale
PCBC Pre Consultation Business Case

SSNAP Sentinel Stroke National Audit Project

TIA Transient ischaemicattack

Page 324

36



	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 September 2018 Minutes

	4 Kent and Medway Stroke Review
	NHS Report
	181112 KM stroke draft unvalidated DMBC v0.6 FOR JHOSC
	20181005_Post-consultation report-stroke-FINAL
	A clinical senate review of the STPs preferred option for stroke service configuration FINAL DRAFT


